Inaugural-Dissertation zur Erlangung der Doktorwürde der Tierärztlichen Fakultät der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

From low to high pathogenicity –

Characterization of avian influenza viruses of subtypes H7 and H5

von Annika Graaf

aus Essen

München 2019

# Aus dem Veterinärwissenschaftlichen Department der Tierärztlichen Fakultät der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

Lehrstuhl für Virologie

Arbeit angefertigt unter der Leitung von Univ.-Prof. Dr. Gerd Sutter

Angefertigt am Institut für Virusdiagnostik des Friedrich-Loeffler-Instituts, Bundesforschungsinstitut für Tiergesundheit, Insel Riems Mentor: Prof. Dr. Martin Beer

### Gedruckt mit der Genehmigung der Tierärztlichen Fakultät der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

Dekan:	UnivProf. Dr. Reinhard K. Straubinger, Ph.D.			
Berichterstatter:	UnivProf. Dr. Gerd Sutter			
Korreferenten:	UnivProf. Dr. Rüdiger T. Korbel PrivDoz. Dr. Sonja Härtel			
	UnivProf. Dr. Manfred Gareis			
	UnivProf. Dr. Mathias Ritzmann			

Tag der Promotion: 25. Februar 2019

Meinen Eltern.

Die vorliegende Arbeit wurde gemäß § 6 Abs. 2 der Promotionsordnung für die Tierärztliche Fakultät der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München in kumulativer Form verfasst.

#### Folgende wissenschaftliche Arbeiten sind in dieser Dissertationsschrift enthalten:

<u>Graaf A</u>, Beer M, Harder T. **"Real-time reverse transcription PCR-based sequencingindependent pathotyping of Eurasian avian influenza A viruses of subtype H7"**, erschienen in *Virology Journal* 2017, online verfügbar unter doi:10.1186/s12985-017-0808-3.

Naguib MM, <u>Graaf A</u>, Fortin A, et al. "Novel real-time PCR-based patho- and phylotyping of potentially zoonotic avian influenza A subtype H5 viruses at risk of incursion into Europe in 2017", erschienen in *Eurosurveillance* 2017, online verfügbar unter doi:10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2017.22.1.30435.

Dietze K\*, <u>Graaf A\*</u>, Homeier-Bachmann T, et al. **"From low to high pathogenicity— Characterization of H7N7 avian influenza viruses in two epidemiologically linked outbreaks**", erschienen in *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 2018, online verfügbar unter doi:10.1111/tbed.12906 (\* geteilte Erstautorenschaft).

<u>Graaf A</u>, Ulrich R, Maksimov P,et al. **"A viral race for primacy: Co-infection of a natural pair** of low and highly pathogenic H7N7 avian influenza viruses in chickens and embryonated chicken eggs", erschienen in *Emerging Microbes & Infections* 2018, online verfügbar unter doi:10.1038/s41426-018-0204-0.

#### Weitere wissenschaftliche Arbeiten, die nicht in der Dissertationsschrift enthalten sind:

Scheibner D, Ulrich R, Fatola O et al. "The variable impact of the hemagglutinin 1 polybasic cleavage site on virulence and pathogenesis of avian influenza H7N7 virus in chickens, turkeys and ducks", eingereicht bei *Scientific Reports* (November 2018).

### CONTENTS

I. INTRODUCTION
II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE
1. AVIAN INFLUENZA VIRUS7
1.1 Virus taxonomy7
1.2 Virion structure
1.3 Genome organization9
2. Avian influenza ECOLOGY AND INFECTION14
2.1 Antigenic diversity and viral evolution14
2.2 Avian influenza virus in a global perspective16
2.2.1 Low pathogenic avian influenza virus16
2.2.2 Highly pathogenic avian influenza virus17
2.3 Avian influenza virus in Europe19
2.4 Avian influenza H7 virus in Europe20
2.5 Clinical disease in avian species23
2.6 Avian influenza virus as a zoonotic agent24
3. Avian influenza PATHOGENESIS
3.1 Definition of avian influenza pathogenicity26
3.2 Molecular basis of pathogenicity
3.3 Mutational switch from low to high pathogenicity28
III. STUDY OBJECTIVES
IV. RESULTS
4.1 PUBLICATION I: Real-time reverse transcription PCR-based sequencing-
independent pathotyping of Eurasian avian influenza A viruses of subtype H7 39
4.2 PUBLICATION II: Novel real-time PCR-based patho-and phylotyping of potentially
zoonotic avian influenza A subtype H5 viruses at risk of incursion into Europe in 2017

4.3 PUBLICATION III: From low to high pathogenicity - Characterization of H7N7 avian
influenza viruses in two epidemiologically linked outbreaks
4.4 PUBLICATION IV: A viral race of primacy - Co-infection of a natural pair of low and
high pathogenic H7N7 avian influenza viruses in chickens and embryonated chicken
eggs
V. DISCUSSION
VI. SUMMARY149
VII. ZUSAMMENFASSUNG153
VIII. REFERENCES
IX. SUPPLEMENT
1. List of abbreviations 185
2. List of figures
3. List of tables
4. Permissions for reproduction188
X. ACKNOWLEDGMENT

### **CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION**

#### I. INTRODUCTION

During the last decade, the emergence and spread of new avian influenza viruses (AIV) have caused huge economic losses in poultry production worldwide and have adversely affected wild bird populations (OIE, 2018a). While the infection with low pathogenic (LP) AIV is widespread in wild birds and leads, when transmitted to poultry, to sporadic outbreaks with no serious concern for animal health, the potential emergence and spread of highly pathogenic (HP) AIV from LPAIV precursor viruses has a high negative impact on poultry production (Dhingra et al., 2018; Spackman, 2008). Among all AIV, only viruses of the subtypes H5 and H7 have the natural potential to mutate spontaneously from LP into HP phenotypes (Capua et al., 2013b; Deshpande et al., 1987). Apart from causing devastating losses in poultry, due to the zoonotic propensity of some of these viruses, they also pose a threat to public health (Kalthoff et al., 2010).

The described natural history of AIV dates back to 1878 in Northern Italy (Perroncito, 1878). Although the first documented isolation of influenza virus of subtype H7 (A/Chicken/Brescia/1902 (H7N7) was made in 1902 in Italy (Horimoto et al., 2001), it was not before 1955 that Schäfer characterized these agents as influenza A viruses (Schäfer, 1955). AIV of subtype H7N7 is still endemic in wild birds in Europe and is rarely though regularly isolated also from domestic poultry (Abdelwhab et al., 2014b). Moreover, several strains of AIV H7 also pose a threat to human health and have led to several sporadic mild to fatal infections in humans (Wong et al., 2006). Highly zoonotic LPAIV H7N9 surfaced in China in 2013 and since then spread in at least five waves among poultry populations across the country with spill-over transmissions to humans which resulted in 1625 confirmed human infections and 623 deaths (FAO, 2018; Li et al., 2014; Shi et al., 2017).

Further, subtype H5 viruses of low pathogenicity are endemic in migratory wild bird populations and potentially mutate into HPAIV strains following transmission into poultry (Swayne et al., 2000). The currently most widespread HPAIV lineage of subtype H5 emerged from geese in the Chinese Guangdong province in 1996 and led since then to unprecedented global spread and mortality in wild bird species and poultry as well as to 860 human cases and 454 deaths (Peiris et al., 2007; WHO, 2018b).

3

Determining the drivers of emergence and spread of HPAIV is crucial for a better understanding why and when certain LP strains pose a risk of evolving to HP. Although there are various hypotheses describing the emergence of HPAIV from LPAIV precursors (Richard et al., 2017), there is insufficient knowledge why the HP phenotype emerges (naturally) only in H5 and H7 subtypes. It is also unclear how the HP variant escapes from the index bird which necessarily is infected by the LP precursor. So far, only a few cases worldwide have been reported in which both the LPAI precursor virus and the descant HPAIV strain (i.e. a natural "matching LP/HPAI virus pair") were detected and epidemiologically linked (Dhingra et al., 2018; Wood JM, 1985).

Therefore, the present study is aiming at casting some light on the mechanisms by which HPAIV (i) emerge, (ii) initially spread in the index bird and (iii) are transmitted to in-contact birds.

## CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF LITERATURE

#### II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE

#### **1. AVIAN INFLUENZA VIRUS**

Avian influenza (AI) is an infectious viral disease of birds caused by influenza A viruses (Lupiani et al., 2009; Swayne et al., 2000; Thomas et al., 2007). Metapopulations of wild waterfowl represent the primary reservoir of AIV from where the virus can be transmitted to domestic poultry (Alexander et al., 2009; Webster et al., 1992a). Some virus strains may also be of concern for mammalians including humans (Freidl et al., 2014; Herfst et al., 2014; Webster et al., 1992a).

#### 1.1 Virus taxonomy

AIV belong to the family Orthomyxoviridae that contains seven different genera of influenza viruses: Influenza A, B, C and D viruses, Thogoto virus, aquatic infectious salmon anemia virus and Quaranjavirus (Hause et al., 2014b; ICTV, 2017; Presti et al., 2009). AIV themselves are members of the influenza A virus (IAV) genus and, based on the antigenic variation of the two integral major surface glycoproteins hemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA), can theoretically be classified into 154 different subtypes (Bouvier et al., 2008). Eighteen subtypes of HA (H1-H18) and eleven subtypes of NA (N1-N11) have been identified so far (Hause et al., 2014a; ICTV, 2017; Schrauwen et al., 2014). While H1-H16 have been described in waterfowl (Spackman et al., 2003), H17N10 and H18N11 have been found in bats only (Mehle, 2014; Tong et al., 2013b). IAV can further be distinguished into several lineages according to their main host reservoirs including human, swine, equine, and avian influenza viruses (Gorman et al., 1990) and bat influenza viruses (Tong et al., 2013a). According to their pathogenicity in chickens, AIV can be categorized into two phenotypes: Low pathogenic (LP) and highly pathogenic (HP) AIV. While LPAIV cause no or only mild clinical signs in birds, HPAIV can cause up to 100% morbidity and mortality within a few days (Alexander, 2000). A standard nomenclature for influenza viruses was established in February 1980 by the World Health Organization (WHO): This supplies information on the influenza type A, B or C, the host of origin (for non-human viruses), geographical origin, strain number (laboratory number/code), HA/NA year of isolation and the subtype (e.g. A/chicken/Germany/AR915/2015 (H7N7)) (Assaad et al., 1980). In case of human-derived viruses, the host origin is omitted (e.g. A/Germany/767/95 (H3N2)) (IRD, 2018).

#### 1.2. Virion structure

IAV, including those of avian origin, are polymorphic in shape and appear as either spherical (about 100-120 nm in diameter) or filamentous (with a length of up to 1000 nm) particles (Samji, 2009). The virus particle contains a lipid bilayer envelope obtained from the host cell membrane after egress by budding. IAV harbor a negative-sensed, single-stranded (ss), encapsidated ribonucleic acid (RNA) eight-fold segmented genome of about 13.5 kilo base pairs (kbp) in total. Two major surface glycoproteins, the HA and NA, are anchored within the virus membrane. Another surface protein, the matrix-2 (M2) protein, forms a transmembrane ion channel. In addition to this, six internal proteins comprising of polymerase basic protein 2 (PB2), polymerase basic protein 1 (PB1), polymerase acidic protein (PA), nucleoprotein (NP), matrix protein (M) and non-structural protein 2 (NS2) are present in the virion.



Figure 1. Structure of influenza A virus (Horimoto et al., 2005)\*.

\* For permission rights see chapter IX. Supplement, page 188.

#### 1.3. Genome organization

The genome of AIV contains all genetic information necessary for replication and assembly of progeny virions (Brown, 2000) and is composed of eight gene segments (designated PB2, PB1, PA, HA, NP, NA, M, NS) that are numbered in order of decreasing length. These segments hold coding capacities for nine structural proteins (surface and/or internal proteins PB2, PB1, PA, HA, NP, NA, M1, M2, NS2) and up to five non-structural proteins which have been identified in infected cells but not in virions (PB2-S1, PB1-F2, PB1-N40, PA-X and NS1; (Alexander et al., 2009; Nayak, 1969; Nayak et al., 2009; Webster et al., 1992a). The encoded polypeptides and their respective functions are summarized in Table 1.

Critical for the formation of the ribonucleoprotein complex (RNP) and for the binding of the polymerase complex (composed of each one copy of the PB2, PB1 and PA proteins), all gene segments harbor 12 highly conserved nucleotides in the 3' terminus and 13 nucleotides in the 5' terminus which are partially complementary and form a short double-stranded (ds) RNA structure known as the "panhandle" (Crescenzo-Chaigne et al., 2013; Fodor et al., 1994). Further, each gene segment has a segment-specific packaging signal that is located in the noncoding and terminal coding regions of both 3' and 5' ends of each viral RNA (vRNA) to ensure packaging of one copy of each segment into mature virions (Brown, 2000; Rossman et al., 2011). However, this concept has recently been challenged as more than 90 % of the virions seem to portray a wrong number or wrong combination of genome segments (Suarez, 2016).

PB1, PB2 and PA are the three proteins forming the viral RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRP) complex and are encoded on separate segments. While PB1 and PB2 are basic proteins (Bouvier et al., 2008; Eisfeld et al., 2015)), PA is an acidic protein and tightly associated with PB2 and PB1 to form a compact structure (Area et al., 2004).

Segment 1 encodes the PB2 protein which recognizes and binds the 5'cap structures of host cell viral messenger RNA (mRNA). That is used as a viral mRNA transcription primer via a capsnatching mechanism which plays an important role during initiation of mRNA transcription (Dias et al., 2009). In addition to this, a newly discovered protein, PB2-S1, translated from a spliced PB2 mRNA, has been described to inhibit the RIG-I dependent signaling pathway *in vitro* (Yamayoshi et al., 2015).

9

The PB1 RNA polymerase subunit is encoded by segment 2. PB1 is responsible for binding to the terminal 5' and 3' ends of both vRNA and complementary RNA (cRNA) and thus initiates the process of genome transcription and replication. PB1 also encodes the PB1-F2 protein (Chen et al., 2001) known to act as a virulence factor affecting pathogenesis, viral dissemination and transmission (McAuley et al., 2007).

The PA protein is encoded by segment 3. Although no specific function has been detailed so far, mutations in the PA may affect both transcription and replication procedures (Fodor et al., 2002). PA associates with PB2 and PB1 in the cap snatching process, aids in the initiation of mRNA synthesis and also has proteolytic activity. PA-X is a protein encoded by an alternate open reading frame of the PA gene and affects host protein expression and pathogenicity by controlling host inflammation, cell differentiation, apoptosis and tissue remodeling (Hayashi et al., 2015; Jagger et al., 2012).

The HA, as one of the two major glycoproteins, is encoded by segment 4 and embedded in the lipid bilayer of the viral envelope as a type I transmembrane protein (Veit et al., 2011). This protein is synthesized as a precursor protein (HA0) and must undergo posttranslational endoproteolytic cleavage into HA1 and HA2 (which remain connected by disulphide linkage) by cellular proteases (Steinhauer, 1999) in order to be activated and to render progeny virions infectious. HA monomers form a homotrimer resulting in two structurally distinct domains, HA1 and HA2 (Figure 2). The HA1 domain forms a globular head comprised of antiparallel  $\beta$ -sheets and loops that contains the receptor binding domain (RBD) and mediates HA attachment to the host cell surface. The HA2 part, comprised mainly of  $\alpha$ -helices, function as a stalk and also harbors the membrane spanning anchor. The HA2 aminoterminal region, also known as the fusion peptide, is responsible for membrane fusion of the viral envelope with the cell endosome (Mair et al., 2014).

10



**Figure 2.** Structure of the hemagglutinin monomer (left) or trimer (right). The endoproteolytic cleavage site (CS) is shown in dark red close to the fusion peptide (Amorij et al., 2008)\*.

\* For permission rights see chapter IX. Supplement, page 188.

The NP protein is encoded by segment 5 and is one of the essential components of the RNP complex (Cheung et al., 2007). As the amino terminus of the NP protein contains an RNA-binding domain, it has a structural role in binding and encapsidating vRNA through association with the polymerase proteins (Turrell et al., 2013).

The NA, also known as sialidase, is encoded by segment 6. NA is a type II transmembrane protein and encodes the most abundant surface glycoprotein, containing both antigenic and enzymatic properties (Gamblin et al., 2010). It is tetrameric, mushroom-shaped and bears cytoplasmic, transmembrane, stalk and head domains (Bouvier et al., 2008). NA, along with HA, plays an important role for the virulence of IAV. The NA head domain provides sialidase enzymatic activity. The main function of the NA is to cleave the sialic acid (SA) residue attached to the newly formed virions to release the viral particle from the plasma membrane during the budding process (Gamblin et al., 2010). This action also prevents self-aggregation and reattachment of the virus to the infected cell (Luo et al., 1993; Wagner et al., 2002). Epithelial cells in the respiratory tract secrete a mucus layer rich in sialylated glycoproteins, where IAV virions may easily get stuck by binding to such glycoproteins and never reach

sialylated receptors on the surface of the cell. In such cases it is believed that the NA protein cleaves those sialylated decoys and allows the virion to penetrate the mucus and gain entry into the host cell (Cohen et al., 2013).

The matrix (M) protein, encoded by segment 6, is the major structural component of the viral envelope, important for virus formation and induction of particle formation (Gomez-Puertas et al., 2000) and encodes two proteins: M1 and M2. Dimeric M1 forms a layer beneath the viral envelope stabilizing particle integrity. M1 interacts with the viral ribonucleoprotein (vRNP) complexes, forming a bridge between the inner core components and the membrane proteins (Boulo et al., 2007). The M2 protein is a homotetrameric integral membrane protein that functions as an ion channel and allows protons in the endosomal environment to flow into the virion during viral entry to the cell; M2 is encoded by a spliced M gene-derived mRNA (Manzoor et al., 2017; Moorthy et al., 2014). In addition to this, it has a role in genome packaging and in formation of virus particles (Chen et al., 2008).

Segment eight of the influenza genome codes for two major non-structural (NS) proteins. (Bouvier et al., 2008). The principle function of NS1 is suppressing the host antiviral response: NS1 has been shown to antagonize interferon (IFN) expression in infected cells by two pathways. The first one is binding to dsRNA (synthesized during viral replication), inhibiting the pre-transcription pathway for activation of IFN due to inactivation of cellular sensors such as protein kinase R (PKR), retinoic-acid inducible gene I (RIG-I) and 2'-5' oligoadenylate synthetase-RNase (2'-5'OAS). In the second pathway, NS1 interacts with several IFN-induced cellular proteins/factors like cleavage and polyadenylation specificity factor 30 (CPSF30) and polyadenine binding protein II (PABPII) that are responsible for host mRNA maturation and export. Thus, post-transcriptional inhibition of IFN production occurs via binding of the NS1 protein to these proteins/factors that paralyses cellular gene expression and translation (Garcia-Sastre, 2001; Guo et al., 2007; Hatada et al., 1992; Krug, 2014; Min et al., 2006; Seo et al., 2012). The NS2 protein, renamed as nuclear export protein (NEP) after being demonstrated in the virion (Yasuda et al., 1993), is a structural protein which interacts with M1 protein (O'Neill et al., 1998) and is involved in the nuclear export of vRNPs and responsible for blocking the re-entry of vRNPs into nucleus (Eisfeld et al., 2015). More recently, a new protein product of the NS segment, NS3, was discovered and tentatively described as a potential factor for adaptation of influenza A virus to mammalian (murine) hosts. (Selman et al., 2012).

Segment	Name	Nucleotides	Encoded	Protein length	Protein function
		(nt)	polypeptide	(aa)	
1	PB2	2341	PB2	759	Polymerase subunit; mRNA cap
					recognition; interacts with PA
			PB2-S1	510	inhibits the RIG-I dependent
					signalling pathway <i>in vitro</i>
2	PB1	2341	PB1	757	Polymerase subunit; RNA
					elongation,endonuclease activity;
					interacts with PB2 and PA
			PB1-F2	87	Pro-apoptotic activity; inhibits RIG-
					I-dependent interferon (IFN)
					signaling and NOD-like receptor
					family pyrin-domain containing 3
					(NLRP3)-mediated inflammasome
					formation; interacts with PB1;
					influences the polymerase activity
			PB1-N40	718	Maintains the balance between
					PB1 and PB1-F2 expression
3	PA	2233	PA	716	Polymerase subunit; protease
					activity/ Endonuclease activity (cap
					snatching); PA interacts with PB1
			PA-X	252	modulates the immune response
					(host inflammation)
4	HA	1778	HA	566	Surface glycoprotein; major
					protein; receptor binding and
					fusion activities
5	NP	1565	NP	498	RNA binding protein; nuclear
					import regulation
6	NA	1413	NA	454	Surface glycoprotein; sialidase
_					activity, virus release
7	М	1027	M1	252	Matrix protein; vRNP interaction;
					RNA nuclear export regulation,
					viral budding
			M2	97	lon channel; virus uncoating and
					assembly
8	NS	890	NS1	230	Interferon antagonist protein;
					regulation of host gene expression
			NS2	121	Nuclear export of vRNP to the
					cytoplasm
			NS3	194	Potential factor for adaptation of
					Influenza A virus to mouse host
					(not yet proven)

**Table 1.** The gene segments of avian influenza virus and their encoded proteins (modifiedfrom (Bouvier et al., 2008; Naguib, 2017).

\* Length of the proteins of PB1-F2, HA, NA and NS1 varies among different subtypes/strains.

#### 2. Avian influenza ECOLOGY AND INFECTION

#### 2.1 Antigenic diversity and viral evolution

AIV has the ability to generate a high degree of genetic and antigenic diversity. According to the antigenic variation of the two surface glycoproteins HA and NA, currently 16 HA and 9 NA AIV subtypes are known and consequently 154 possible HA and NA combinations theoretically exist although not all have been described in nature (Hause et al., 2014a; ICTV, 2017). In contrast to this, bat IAV (H17N10 and H18N11) fail to reassort with conventional IAVs (Ciminski et al., 2017) and are therefore not included here.

The NP and M genes share a higher degree of conservation among all influenza viruses and have therefore historically been used to determine the Influenza virus type (A, B, C or D) (Yoon et al., 2014). Apart from their natural host reservoir, AIV is known to rapidly evolve in several avian hosts (Oxford J, 2003; RG. et al., 1975). Diversifying evolution of AIV is driven by three mechanisms: point mutations (genetic drift), genome segment rearrangement (reassortment; genetic shift) and RNA recombination (Shao et al., 2017).

A high rate of both synonymous and nonsynonymous point mutations is due to error-prone activity of the RdRP and the fact that there is no proof-reading mechanism for replicating negative sensed single-stranded RNA replication in eukaryotic cells (Boni, 2008; Chen et al., 2006). In case the two major surface glycoproteins of the AIV genome, the HA and/or NA gene, are affected by non-synonymous mutations, antigenic variants may result. These mutations may accumulate continually over time, and the process as such is often referred to as *antigenic drift*. Consequently, recognition by neutralizing antibodies (synthesized due to previous virus infection or vaccination) may be negatively affected (Carrat et al., 2007). This may compromise vaccination strategies as it is of utmost important to select vaccine strains that antigenically match the circulating field viruses as closely as possible. Therefore, influenza surveillance efforts are useful to detect short-term antigenic drift and, thus, aids in vaccine selection. Rates of the genetic drift of the influenza HA protein in poultry are similar to those observed in human H3 IAV that show approximately 7.9 nucleotide and 3.4 amino acid substitutions per year in the HA1 gene (Suarez et al., 2000). In contrast to this, the mutation rate of the HA1 protein of AIV H5 and H7 subtypes infected poultry species from

live bird markets in the United States showed 7.8 and 4.9 substitutions per 1000 nucleotide sites per year, respectively.

Secondly, genome segment rearrangement or *reassortment* acts as an important mechanism for genetic and antigenic diversity of influenza viruses: Simultaneous infection of a single cell with two different parental influenza viruses of different sub- and/or genotypes allows the swapping of whole gene segments during assembly of virions, thereby producing different genotypes among the progeny virions (Baigent et al., 2003; Scholtissek, 1990; Scholtissek, 1995). Hence, a new genotype can be formed if one or more of the internal gene segments are replaced and a new subtype if either HA and/or NA segments are exchanged (Steel et al., 2014). Exchanging the HA segment may lead to a complete changing of antigenic properties of the virus, hence it is referred to as antigenic shift. For instance, several reassortant influenza subtypes have been documented during the last decade that harbor one or more of the internal gene segments of subtype H9N2 viruses (e.g. H5N1 and H10N8 (Chen et al., 2014; Monne et al., 2013) or LPAIV H7N9 in China (Lam et al., 2013)). A pandemic may occur if a new reassortant virus (i) carrying an antigenically altered HA segment and (ii) readily transmissible, is introduced into an immunologically naïve global human population (McDonald et al., 2016; Webster et al., 1992a). Historically, AIV gene segments were contributing to the generation of human pandemic viruses that emerged in Spain in 1918-1919 (H1N1), in Asia in 1957 (H2N2), in Hong Kong in 1968 (H3N2) and in 2009 as the so-called "swine flu" in Mesoamerica (H1N1) (Garten et al., 2009; Morens et al., 2010; Shao et al., 2017). All four pandemics had their origin linked to reassortant influenza viruses of either human and avian or swine (in 2009) origin (Kilbourne, 2006; Taubenberger et al., 2009) and together cost the lives of an estimated more than 50 million human beings (Baigent et al., 2003; Johnson et al., 2002; LaRussa, 2011; Webster et al., 1992b). Due to the highly zoonotic character of some AIV, a continuing potential threat to human health is given and an influenza pandemic still remains one of the most serious threats to public health.

As a third though rare mechanism *recombination* has been described to contribute to AIV divergence. During recombination, an insertion or shuffling of viral sequences of other than HA genome segments into the HA genome segment has been reported, resulting in the emergence of HPAIV in poultry (Dhingra et al., 2018; Holmes, 2003; Maurer-Stroh et al.,

2013). For instance, HPAIV H7N3 in Chile (2002) and Canada (2004) appear to have arisen as a result of recombination with the viral NP and M genes, respectively (Pasick et al., 2005; Suarez et al., 2004).

#### 2.2 Avian influenza virus in a global persepective

Al was first described as a clinical entity in poultry in Italy in 1878 (Perroncito, 1878) and thereafter defined as "bird/fowl plague" by the beginning of the 20<sup>th</sup> century. AIV are responsible for huge economic losses in the poultry industries nowadays (especially in Asia) and some strains pose a health risk for human beings. Based on their pathogenicity in chickens *in vivo* and the composition of the endoproteolytic cleavage site (CS, also referred to as HACS) of the HA protein a classification into two pathotypes is achieved (OIE, 2017). While the majority of AIV is of the LP pathotype, only viruses of subtypes H5 and H7 have the potential to emerge to HP variants in nature.

#### 2.2.1 Low pathogenic avian influenza virus

LPAIVs mainly run an asymptomatic course of infection in reservoir hosts (aquatic wild birds) and induce only mild or even no obvious clinical signs in gallinaecous poultry. Due to their widespread occurrence in wild bird populations, they are sporadically transmitted to poultry populations and rarely also to mammals, including humans. LPAIV infections of H7 and H9 subtypes are the most frequently detected ones in domestic poultry, causing sublinical infections (Fusaro et al., 2011; Sun et al., 2015) which however may progress to clinical disease given presence of opportunistic co-pathogens (e.g. E. coli, Ornithobacterium rhinotracheale etc.; (Hassan et al., 2017; Samy et al., 2018)) and/or adverse environmental conditions (e.g. high ambient temperatures, (Harder et al., 2016)). LPAIV of subtype H9N2 continue to circulate and are actually the most prevalent subtype in poultry worldwide. There are distinct lineages endemic in several Asian and Middle-East countries affecting all poultry sectors, including commercial farms, backyards and live bird markets (Capua et al., 2007; Fusaro et al., 2011). Moreover, some H7 virus strains such as H7N2, H7N3, and H7N7 have occurred sporadically in several countries in Europe, Asia and America (Abdelwhab et al., 2014b). LPAIV of subtype H7N9 of Chinese origin shows an increased zoonotic potential (although LPAIV). Since 2013, five epidemic waves of this virus have been reported, mainly affecting China and involving over 1500 human cases and more than 600 deaths (FAO, 2018; Su et al., 2017). Although no human-to-human transmissions have been reported so far (Bui et al., 2016), the continuous evolution of this virus represents an ongoing long-term threat to public health and the poultry industry.

Some AIV subtypes have a predilection for a narrow spectrum of avian host species (e.g. the "gull lineages" of H13 and H16 for *Charadriiformes*; (Brown et al., 2012; Munster et al., 2007) or vary according to time and location (e.g. H14 and H15 which seem to be confined to southern Siberia). Subtypes H14 and H15 have only been detected rarely even in large surveillance studies, (Kawaoka et al., 1990; Rohm et al., 1996) which leads to the suggestion that the host reservoir of these viruses may be infrequently sampled in "common studies". Within their natural reservoir, subtypes H3, H4, H5, H6 and H11 are most frequently reported from migratory birds (Kuiken, 2013; Latorre-Margalef et al., 2014; Munster et al., 2007; Olsen et al., 2006). Sporadically, some of these subtypes are transmitted to poultry and are detected in backyard flocks, commercial poultry and life-poultry markets (Lee et al., 2010; Negovetich et al., 2011).

#### 2.2.2 Highly pathogenic avian influenza viruses

HPAIVs cause severe clinical signs, leading to high mortality rates of up 100 % especially in gallinaecous species. By definition, HP pathotypes show at least two characteristic features: An intravenous pathogenicity index (IVPI) of >1.2 and a multibasic cleavage site (MBCS) within the HA protein (Anonymous, 2005; OIE, 2017). The phenomenon of the emergence of HPAIV appears to be associated with the adaption of LPAIV precursors to domestic poultry, mainly to chickens or turkeys (Richard et al., 2017). While the majority of AIV remains LP, only viruses of the subtypes H5 and H7 have the potential (under natural conditions) to evolve from LP to HP variants (Figure 3) (Bonfanti et al., 2014; Capua et al., 2007). Nevertheless, a few viruses of subtypes H10N4 and H10N5 have been considered as HP by IVPI, although they do not harbour a MBCS and do not cause severe clinical disease when inoculated occulo-nasally (Wood et al., 1996). In addition to this, four AIV of subtype H5 have been described that express a MBCS but did not show the HP phenotype *in vivo* (IVPI of <1.2) (Londt et al., 2007). A total of 26 epizootics caused by HPAI of either subtype H5 or H7 were documented between 1959-2008 worldwide (Alexander et al., 2009; Swayne, unkown).

In 1996, the goose/Guangdong (gs/GD) H5N1-lineage emerged in Southeast Asia and was first detected at a commercial geese farm in China, Guangdong province. Over time, the HPAIV H5N1 of the gs/GD-lineage and its resassortant derivates (H5N2, H5N6, H5N5 and H5N8) spread widely and affected Europe, Africa and the Middle East, (Neumann, 2015; Wong et al., 2015; Wu et al., 2015). Some strains of this lineage even established endemic status in several Asian, Middle East and African countries including China, Vietnam, Indonesia and Egypt (Hagag et al., 2015; Kim, 2018) and repeatedly caused epizootics in Europe and North America (Guan et al., 2009). So far, the virus continues to evolve and has differentiated into ten major clades (clade 0-9) and further differentiated subclades, based on phylogenetic analysis of the HA gene (Smith et al., 2015). Three "major clades" are acutally circulating: clade 2.2.1.2 (in Egypt), clade 2.3.2.1 (mostly in Africa, Asia and Europe) and clade 2.3.4 (in Asia, Europe and North America). In additon to this, three "minor clades" (clade 1.1.2, 2.1.3.2 and 7.2) revealed an endemic status in poultry of several Asian countries. Transcontinental spread of gs/GD viruses had been linked to migratory wild birds (Capua et al., 2007; Chen et al., 2005; Viruses, 2016). Recently, outbreak waves of a new reassortant gs/GD HPAIV of subtype H5N8 occurred in Europe, Middle-East, Asia and Africa in 2016-2017 due to incursions via migratory wild birds (ECDC, 2016; Globig et al., 2017; Pasick et al., 2015; Pohlmann et al., 2017). Speed and extent of spread of the gs/GD-lineage is unprecendented to date.



**Figure 3.** Geographic distribution of highly pathogenic avian influenza H5 and H7 outbreaks among poultry and wild birds in 2017 (EFSA et al., 2017).

#### 2.3 Avian influenza virus in Europe

Over the past decades, the impact of LPAIV and HPAIV on the poultry industry in Europe has increased both in terms of numbers of infected birds and costs of applied control measures (WHO, 2018c). A drastic restructuring of industrial poultry production since the mid 1990 from small flocks into huge production units is believed to have contributed to this process (Kalthoff et al., 2010). The primary introduction of AI viruses into a poultry population often takes place as a result of direct or indirect contact to endemically infected wild bird populations (Capua et al., 2007). Therefore, the prevention of AIV incursions depends mainly on enforcement of biosecurity measures in poultry holdings (e.g. segregation, cleaning and disinfection). Europe has experienced several incursions by viruses of the H5-gs/GD lineage in both wild birds and poultry over the past decade. Contrary to several Asian countries and Egypt, no spillover infection of humans was reported from Europe until now although some of the gs/GD viruses in Europe showed zoonotic potential (Adlhoch et al., 2014).

Nevertheless, continous co-circulation in poultry in endemically infected regions in Asia and sporadic spillover into migratory wild bird populations of different HPAIV gs/GD H5 lineages poses constant risks of new incursions into Europe by migrating wild birds or in associaton with (illegal) poultry trading practices (Adlhoch et al., 2014).

Eurasian-origin LPAI H5 viruses (unrelated to the gs/GD lineage) are routinely detected in aquatic wild bird species in Europe with a higher incidence during the autumn migration period (Munster et al., 2007). Each spillover infection of LPAIV of subtype H5 and H7 into poultry bears the risk of a *de novo* generation of HP phenotypes (Franca et al., 2014). A recent example of such emergence are the HPAIV H5 N1/N3/N9 outbreaks in France that were unrelated to the concurrent gs/GD epizootics of HPAIV H5N8 (clade 2.3.4.4) that affected Europe in 2016-2017 (Guinat et al., 2018; Napp S et al., 2017). In addition to subtype H5, LPAIV of subtype H9N2 affected domestic ducks, chickens and turkeys in several countries in Europe since the mid-1990s, for instance Germany and Poland in 2013/2014 (Swieton et al., 2018). In addition to this, annual presence of LPAIV H7 subtypes in Eurasian wild bird populations as well as sporadic HPAIV H7 outbreaks have been detected and are presented in chapter 2.4.

#### 2.4 Avian influenza virus H7 in Europe (low and highly pathogenic)

Several incursions of LPAIV subtype H7 into poultry as well as the *de novo* generation and spread of HPAIV subtype H7 have been reported from Europe over the past two decades (Table 2; (Abdelwhab et al., 2014b; Dietze et al., 2018; OIE, 2018a). Due to the high mortality rate of HPAIV in domestic poultry (Richard et al., 2017), huge economic losses of the poultry industry may ensue. The HPAIV H7 outbreak in Italy in 1999-2000 is the best known example that resulted in the death of 14 million domestic birds (Capua et al., 2000b). Moreover, HPAIV H7N7 occurred in the Netherlands, Belgium and Germany in 2003 and led to the death and culling of around 30 million chickens as well as to 89 confirmed cases of human infection and one fatal case in the Netherlands (Fouchier et al., 2004; Jonges et al., 2011; Koopmans et al., 2004). HPAIV H7 outbreaks further occurred in the UK in 2008 and 2015 (Defra, 2008, 2015; Seekings et al., 2018), in 2009/2010 in Spain (Iglesias et al., 2010), in Italy in 2013 (Bonfanti et al., 2014) and in Germany in 2015 (Dietze et al., 2018). In very

few HPAIV outbreaks, also the LPAIV precursor has been identified (Table 2). These comprise the H7N1 outbreak in Italy in 1999-2000 (Bonfanti et al., 2014; Monne et al., 2014), the H7N7 outbreak in the UK (Defra, 2008, 2015), H7N7 in Spain 2009/2010 (Iglesias et al., 2010) and H7N7 in Germany in 2015 (Dietze et al., 2018). Risks of new incursions into the poultry population in Europe are perpetuating due to the annual presence of LPAIV subtype H7 in Eurasian wild bird populations (Abdelwhab et al., 2014b). **Table 2.** Outbreaks in poultry of subtype H7 avian influenza viruses of low (LP) and high (HP)pathogenicity in Europe, 1979–2016 (modified from (Abdelwhab et al., 2014b; Graaf et al.,2017; OIE, 2018a; Richard et al., 2017).

Subtype	Country	Wild birds, year*	Domestic poultry, year*
H7N1	Belgium	2008, 2009	
	Denmark	2007, 2008, 2009	2008, 2010
	France	2001	
	Germany	2004	
	Italy	2002	<b>1999-2000</b> , 2001, 2008
	Netherlands	2007	2011
	Spain	2006-2009	
H7N2	Denmark	2009	
	Italy	1993	
	Netherlands	2006	
	Spain	2009	
	United Kingdom		2007
H7N3	Germany		2008
	Italy	2001	2002-2003
	Netherlands	2000	
	Portugal	2005-2009	
	Ukraine	2010-2011	
	United Kingdom		2006
H7N4	Italv	2004-2006	
H7N6	Ukraine	2010-2011	
H7N7	Belgium	2010	2003
	Bulgaria	2008	
	Czech Republic	2011	
	Denmark		2013, 2016
	bennun		2001. 2003. 2009. 2011. 2013.
	Germany	2005-2006	2015
	Hungary	2007	2020
	Ireland	2007	1998
	Italy	2004 2005	1999-2000 2013 2016
	reary	2001,2000	2003 2006 2011 2012 2013
	Netherland		2015
	Northern Ireland		1998
	Poland	2008 2009	1990
	Portugal	2005-2009	
	Slovenia	2009 2005	
	Snain	2005	2009-2010
	Sweden	2002 2003 2005 2008	2003-2010
	United Kingdom	2002, 2003, 2003, 2008	2008 2015
	Ukraine	2010-2011	2008, 2015
	Netherlands	2010-2011	
117100	Spain	2000	
	Sweden	2004	
	Sweden	2004	
	Okraine Croch Bonublic	2000	
11/119		2009	
	Spain	2005, 2008	
1170.	Sweden	2002	
H/NX	Denmark	2007-2010	
	Portugal	2005-2009	
	Switzerland	2006-2009	

\* Outbreaks in poultry caused by HPAIV appear in bold face and human infections are highlighted in blue.

#### 2.5 Avian influenza - Clinical disease in avian species

The ability of AIV to cause disease is influenced by several factors like the subtype of the virus, the dose of the inoculum, the host species, the age and genetic lineage of the bird, concurrent co-infections and environmental conditions (Alexander, 2000; Blohm et al., 2016; Umar et al., 2017; Werner, 2006). Aquatic birds, especially dabbling ducks (e.g. mallards - *Anas platyrhynchos*) represent the natural host reservoir for AIV (Causey et al., 2008; Jourdain et al., 2010). However, also other avian species and even mammals can acquire AIV infections (Freidl et al., 2014; Imai et al., 2013; Kalthoff et al., 2010; Parrish et al., 2015). According to their pathogenicity in gallinaceous poultry (e.g. chickens and turkeys), AIV can be distinguished into LP and HP. Usually, LPAIV cause mild and primarily respiratory signs that are often not associated with severe losses in poultry (Elbers et al., 2005). Depending on aggravating factors as mentioned above, reduction in weight gain in broiler chickens or a temporary decrease in egg production in layer chickens are most notable. Mortality can reach, in some rarer cases, up to 30% (Halvorson, 2008; Spackman et al., 2003).

In contrast to this, HPAIV infection in avian species, mainly in gallinaceous poultry, causes systemic disease leading to multiple organ dysfunction and death. HPAIV leads up to 100% morbidity and mortality within 36-48 hours in highly vulnerable gallinaceous species like chickens and turkeys (Alexander, 2000; Swayne et al., 2000). Infected birds rapidly develop severe clinical signs like cyanosis of the comb, wattles and legs, oedema, diarrhea, severe depression and various neurological signs (Anonymous, 2015). In contrast to chickens or turkeys, waterfowl show a protracted course of infection, ranging from nearly no clinical signs to benign enteric disease (Capua et al., 2001; Perkins et al., 2003; Shortridge et al., 1998). However, few outbreaks are known so far in which ducks developed severe clinical signs including neurological symptoms and high mortality. This includes an HPAIV H7N1 outbreak in Italy in 1999-2000 where muscovy ducks were severely affected (Capua et al., 2002), an anseriform species that seems to be more vulnerable in general compared to mallards or Pekin ducks. In addition, some strains of HPAIV gs/GD H5N1 have caused high morbidity and mortality rates in domestic and wild ducks since 2002 (Londt et al., 2008; Pantin-Jackwood et al., 2007; Sturm-Ramirez et al., 2004), and recent HPAIV H5N8 virus strains of clade 2.3.4.4b have proven lethal in several species of dabbling and diving ducks (Grund et al., 2018; van den Brand et al., 2018).

#### 2.6 Avian Influenza virus as a zoonotic agent

The actual number of documented AIV cases in humans, although steadily growing over time, must be still considered as being comparatively low and as rare events (WHO, 2018c). Nevertheless, the potential threat to public health and society remains high due to the inherent capacity of AIV to donate by reassortment genome segments to human pandemic viruses (Freidl et al., 2014; To et al., 2012; Wei et al., 2013). In most documented cases, human infections - including fatal cases - have a history of exposure to infected poultry by either direct or indirect contact (Peiris et al., 2007). A higher zoonotic potential has been reported for the HPAIV gs/GD H5-lineage and for LPAIV/HPAIV H7N9 (Lai et al., 2016; Perkins et al., 2003; WHO, 2018c).

An important determinant of host range, and hence of zoonotic propensity, is the receptor binding site (RBS) of the HA protein that is critical for cellular receptor specificity (Gambaryan et al., 2003; Mair et al., 2014; Wilks et al., 2012). IAV bind to terminal SA of glycan structures on the host cell surface to initiate infection (Byrd-Leotis et al., 2017). Based on their chemical composition (N-acetylneuraminic acid or N-glyconeuraminic acid) and the type of glycosidic linkage to the  $\alpha$ 2-carbon of the subterminal galactose residue, by  $\alpha$ 2,3 or  $\alpha$ 2,6 connectivity, species-specific affinity varies. HA of avian viruses mainly bind to  $\alpha$ 2,3linked SA, while the  $\alpha$ 2,6-SA is the predominant receptor in many mammalian species, including humans (Connor et al., 1994; Ito et al., 1997). Host species show different expression patterns of these two receptors:  $\alpha 2,3$ -linked SA is present in duck intestinal epithelium (Ito, 2000), while the upper respiratory tract epithelium of humans expresses mostly  $\alpha$ 2,6-linked SA (Baum et al., 1990). However, both avian and mammalian/human cells may express (often in a tissue-specific manner) SA of both linkage types, hence there is no absolute HA specificity (Wilks et al., 2012). For instance, the  $\alpha 2,3$  SA is also present on ciliated cells of the human lower respiratory tract, and these cells can be infected with and are permissive for AIV (Matrosovich et al., 1999; Matrosovich et al., 2004a, b; Shinya et al., 2006). Consequently, extensive exposure of cells in the human lower respiratory tract might initiate interspecies infection (Peiris et al., 2007). Several amino acid sites in the HA RBS govern receptor specificity: Substitutions Q226L and G228S (H3 numbering) in the HA protein alter the host receptor binding specificity from  $\alpha 2,3$  (avian= Q226, G228) to  $\alpha 2,6$ (human=L226, S228) SA receptors in HPAIV H5 viruses of the gs/GD-lineage (Connor et al.,
1994; Gambaryan et al., 2012).

According to the World Health Organization (WHO), various clades of gs/GD HPAIV H5N1 have been associated with more than 860 human cases of which 454 were fatal (WHO, 2018b). These infections included only a few family clusters of human-to-human transmission but generally these viruses are not yet adapted to efficacious transmission between human hosts. However, several amino acid substitutions located near the RBS or affecting pH stability of the protein correlated with a shift in affinity of the HA skewing it toward a more affine binding of the human SA receptor type (Herfst et al., 2012; Imai et al., 2012; Watanabe et al., 2011; Zhao et al., 2013). In addition, HPAIV H5N6 clade 2.3.4.4c recorded 19 confirmed human cases including 6 deaths in China since 2014 (WHO, 2018a).

Chinese LPAIV subtype H7N9 raised public health concern as the only LPAIV that has caused severe human disease and fatalities since February 2013 due to the presence of the Q226L substitution in the HA gene (1625 confirmed human cases and 623 deaths) (FAO, 2018). However, no human-to-human transmission has been observed for these viruses so far (Bui et al., 2016).

Some other H7 subtypes express zoonotic properties, and several sporadic human infections have been reported since 2002 (Belser et al., 2009; Belser et al., 2007), Table 2). Affected humans usually showed only minor clinical signs like conjunctivitis, sneezing or coughing (Anonymous, 2007; Nguyen-Van-Tam, 2006a; Nguyen-Van-Tam, 2006b; Puzelli et al., 2005, 2006). During an HP H7N7 epizootic in the Netherlands in 2003, mild conjunctival infections in 88 human cases and one severe fatal case were recorded (Elbers et al., 2004; Fouchier et al., 2004). Another HPAIV H7N7 outbreak in Italy in 2013 resulted in infections of three poultry workers and farmers presenting with conjunctivitis and influenza-like-illness (Puzelli et al., 2016; Puzelli et al., 2014). Both, HPAIV H7N7 in humans of the Dutch and Italian outbreak, revealed a substitution at position 143 of the HA gene (A143T) known to introduce a potential glycosylation site at position 141 (near to the RBS) that may affect the receptor binding specificity or affinity of the HA (de Wit et al., 2010b).

In addition, LPAIV subtype H9N2 of the G1 lineage have caused 31 human infections in several Asian countries; these viruses carry HA aa substitutions H191 and L234 (H9 numbering) that enable binding of a wider range of SA receptors including human ones (Sun

25

et al., 2015; Wan et al., 2007). Moreover, LPAIV H9N2 in Egypt that also acquired human-like  $\alpha$ 2-6 SA receptor specificity (Matrosovich et al., 2001), provoked four human cases with only mild symptoms and no evidence of human-to-human transmission until now (Flutrackers, 2017; WHO, 2018c). In December 2013, a severe disease was triggered by LPAIV subtype H10N8 in China where two out of three infected humans died (Chen et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2015). There is actually only a single human case of H6N1 infection that took a benign course (Yan et al., 2014).

# 3. Avian influenza PATHOGENESIS

# 3.1 Definition of avian influenza pathogenicity

Based on the pathogenicity in chickens, AIV has been distinguished as phenotypes of low and high pathogenicity. The World Organization for Animal Health (OIE) established criteria for the pathotype identification based on (i) the nucleotide sequence of the HA cleavage site (CS) and (ii) *in vivo* testing in either eight four-to-eight week-old or 10 six-week-old chickens (IVPI) (OIE, 2015b). Therefore, any H5 or H7 virus with a multibasic HACS, or any AIV that expresses an IVPI of >1.2 (equivalent to at least 75% mortality of four-to-eight-week old chickens within 10 days after intravenous inoculation) is considered to be of the HP phenotype. All other viruses are referred to as LPAIV.

# 3.2 Molecular basis of pathogenicity

Determining the AIV pathotype is mandatory for any legal binding diagnosis during surveillance, investigations of suspect cases and establishment of control measures of notifiable AIV infections. Molecular pathotyping by nucleotide sequencing of the HACS has been routinely established in order to save time to diagnosis and avoid animal experiments. The activation of HA by endoproteolytic cleavage into two subunits (HA1 and HA2) is indispensable for AIV infectivity (Klenk et al., 1975), and differences in pathogenicity of AIV subtypes H5 and H7 are mainly due to structural variations at the HACS (Chen et al., 1998). While LPAIV harbor a monobasic CS that is also referred to as single-basic cleavage site (SBCS) with a single basic amino acid (aa) (either arginine "R" or lysine "K") at position -3 or

-4, HPAIV possess multibasic CS motifs with more than one R and/or K at least at positions -2 and -3, therefore considered as multi-basic CS (MBCS) (Figure3). An SBCS is processed by extracellular trypsin-like enzymes that are limited to the respiratory and intestinal tract (Bottcher-Friebertshauser et al., 2014). Due to the specific tissue distribution of these proteases, the spread of LPAIV infection in avian and mammalian hosts is limited. MBCSs are processed by subtilisin-like enzymes like furin which are ubiquitous in all tissues (Garten et al., 2008a); viruses expressing an MBCS therefore are capable of systemic infection. Nevertheless, the MBCS is apparently not always the sole feature that defines the HP phenotype (Abolnik et al., 2009; Londt et al., 2007; Stech et al., 2009; Veits et al., 2012). Thus, shifting of pathogenicity is not fully limited to the molecular composition of the HACS but further, as yet ill-defined, mechanisms and/or other gene segments may be also involved (Abdelwhab et al., 2013).

A list of HACS motifs obtained from outbreaks around the world has been published by the "OIE FAO network of expertise on animal influenza" (OFFLU et al., 2018) that lists variations in the sequence and critical number of basic aa and represents a helpful tool in defining molecular HP criteria. An isolate should be considered as HP pathotype, if the aa motif is similar to at least one of the HP isolates in that list.

(a)															
	position				-3	-2			-	1					
LPAIV H7N7	Р	Е	I	Ρ	K	G			F	R	G	L	F		
	CCTG	AAA	ATC	ССА	AAG	GGG	A			٩Ġ	AGG	бССТ	ATTT		
HPAIV H7N7	ССТС	iAA/	АТС	CCA	AAG	G <b>A</b> G	AAA	٩G	AGA	AG	AG	GCC	TATT	Г	
	Р	Е	I	Ρ	Κ	R	K	F	2	R	G	L	F		
	position				-5	-4	-3	-	2 -	1					
(b)															
	position						-	4	-3	-2	2	-1			
LPAIV H5N1	Ρ	Q						R	Ε	٦	Г	R	G	L	F
	CCT	CAA						AG	AGA	AA	CAA	AGA	GGAC	TGT	ТΤ
HPAIV H5N1	ССТ	CAA	GG	AG	٩GA	GAA	GA	AG	A <b>A</b> A	AA	AG/	٩GA	GGAG	TAT	тт
	Р	Q	Ģ	6 6	E F	R	R	R	К		К	R	G	L	F
	position				-(	5-	-5	-4	-3		-2	-1			

Figure 4a-b. Hemagglutinin cleavage sites (HACS) of LP and HPAIV subtypes H7 and H5, respectively. The figures show the HACS of an LPAIV isolate with a single-basic HACS with a single basic residue and a corresponding HPAIV isolate with more than one basic residue. Basic amino acids residues K (lysine) or R (arginine) present at the HACS (excluding position -1) are highlighted in red. Figure (a) shows the pair of LP/HP H7N7 viruses (deposited in the EpiFlu<sup>™</sup> database (platform.gisaid.org) under accession numbers EPI\_ISL\_191763-64 and EPI\_ISL\_191941-42) that has been detected in Germany in 2015. In Figure (b) the HACS of a typically Eurasian wild bird LPAIV subtype H5 is shown (accession number CY107849) and the MBCS of a gs/GD descending HPAIV H5 of clade 2.3.4.4a (accession number AM408215.1).

F

# 3.3 Mutational switch from low to high pathogenicity

The exact molecular mechanisms that favor a mutation from LP to HPAIV are still unknown. Conceivable mechanisms for the emergence of HPAIV from LP precursors by converting a single-basic to a multibasic HACS have been proposed based on outbreaks that have occured in nature (Table 3). The three commonly observed "major mechanisms" are (i) substitution,

(ii) insertion and (iii) recombination (Perdue et al., 2003).

Nucleotide substitution refers to the mechanism, during which one or more bases of a codon in the HACS are mutated non-synonymously leading to the coding of an additional R or K. Until now, this mechanism has only been observed in association with the insertion of nucleotides (mechanism ii). HPAIV outbreaks that included base substitutions have been described in Mexico in 1994-1995 (H5N2; (Garcia et al., 1996; Horimoto et al., 1995b; Perdue et al., 1997), in Pakistan in 1995/1995 (H7N3; (Abbas et al., 2010) and in the UK in 2008 and 2015 (H7N7; (Defra, 2008, 2015; Seekings et al., 2018).

Insertion (ii) of a series of untemplated A and G residues encoding basic aa at the HACS as a result of repeated reading and duplication of an existing template by a polymerase stuttering mechanism seems to be the most frequent mechanism (Pasick et al., 2005). For instance, this mechanism has been proposed at the basis of outbreaks in chickens of HPAIV H7N7 in Australia in 1976 (Bashiruddin et al., 1992), Spain in 2009/2010 (Iglesias et al., 2010), Germany in 2015 (Dietze et al., 2018) and recently in turkeys in the United States, Indiana, 2016 (H7N8; (Killian et al., 2016), in Mexico in 1994-1995 (H5N2), in Pakistan in 1995 and 2003 (H7N3), and in England 2008 and 2015 (H7N7).

Rarely observed non-homologous recombination (iii) results in the insertion of nucleotides from another viral gene segment or other non-viral (host) sources into the HACS. For instance, the HACS of an H7N1 LPAIV from Italy mutated into unique HPAIV HACS motifs in 1999-2000 (PEIPKG<u>SRMR</u>\*GLF or PEIPKR<u>SRVR</u>\*GLF, respectively) by insertion of four aa (underlined) likely by a recombination step from an unknown source (Banks et al., 2001; Capua et al., 2002; Monne et al., 2014). As further experiments with these viruses showed, the MBCS was not sufficient for conversion to high virulence alone; accordingly, further virulence markers i.e. three aa substitutions in the HA2 domain were found to be required for full virulence conversion in chickens (Abdelwhab et al., 2016a). In addition, the HACS of an H7N3 virus in Chile in 2002, and an H7N3 virus from Canada in 2004 harbored several nucleotides from the NP and the M gene, respectively, at the HACS (Pasick et al., 2005; Suarez et al., 2004). Two examples of recombination with chicken ribosomal RNA were seen in Canada in 2005 (H7N3, 18 nucleotides; (Berhane et al., 2003).

Positive selection of minor variants of HPAIV (Domingo, 2010) from a quasispecies cloud of LP variants have been proposed as a further HPAIV emergence mechanism, for example during the H7N1 outbreak in Italy in 1999-2000 or the German HPAIV H7N7 outbreak in 2015. In both examples, next generation sequencing (NGS) technology detected minor variants of HPAIV that existed as a minor population in the quasispecies of the LPAI progenitor virus (Dietze et al., 2018; Monne et al., 2014).

Unusual in comparison to other HPAI viruses, four AIV of subtype H5 that mutated to HP variants have been described that expressed a MBCS but did not show the HP phenotype *in vivo* (IVPI of <1.2) (Londt et al., 2007), confirming that virulence markers need not be limited to the HACS. For instance, the HPAIV H5N2 strain A/chicken/Pennsylvania/1370/83 isolated during an epizootic in Pennsylvania, mutated from a LPAI precursor virus that was in circulation for months and already harbored a MBCS, even though it was of low pathogenicity in chickens. When suddenly a HP variant of this virus popped up, sequencing revealed a non-synonymous mutation at position 11 of the HA protein which resulted in the loss of a glycosylation site (Deshpande et al., 1987; Ohuchi et al., 1989). It is postulated that the glycosylation at HA11 shielded access of furin-like proteases which only became fully processible after loss of the glycosylation.

Historically, layer chickens appeared to be mainly involved in the natural genesis of HPAI variants; exceptions are two events in turkeys (H5N9 in Ontario in 1996, H7N8 in Indiana, 2016 (Table 2)). In addition to this, the majority of naturally occurring emergence events with known LPAIV precursors is of subtype H7 compared to relatively few ones of subtype H5 (Richard et al., 2017). The reason for this is still unknown but highlights that the emergence of HPAIV H7 (and H5) remains a major concern for the global poultry industry as long as LP precursor viruses are in circulation as has been demonstrated repeatedly and recently in England in 2008 and 2015, Spain in 2009, Italy 2013 and Germany in 2015, demonstrating that mutation of subtypes H7 from LPAIV to HPAIV poses a recent threat (OIE, 2018b).

*In vitro, in vivo* and *in ovo* experiments or rather a combination of these methods have been established to mimic the natural mutation of LPAIV to HPAIV in the field and to further explain the mechanisms involved in the emergence by either passaging and/or the use of

30

reverse genetics. The emergence of HPAIV has been successful several times *in vitro* (in chicken embryo cells and Madin Darby Canine Kidney (MDCK) cells) and *in ovo* following passaging of LPAIV H5 and H7, and resulted in the insertion of basic amino acid at the HACS (Brugh, 1988; Horimoto et al., 1995b; Khatchikian et al., 1989; Li et al., 1990; Orlich et al., 1994; Orlich et al., 1990). Further successful attempts of HPAIV generation were achieved by chicken air sac passaging, followed by cerebral passaging of LPAIV H5N2 and H5N3 in chickens (Ito et al., 2001; Soda et al., 2011b). Regarding reverse genetic techniques, several studies have shown that the furin-sensitive HACS motif plays a major, but not exclusive, role in the conversion of phenotypes, when inserting a MBCS into a LPAIV strain of either H5 or H7 subtype (Abdelwhab et al., 2016a; Bottcher-Friebertshauser et al., 2014; Gohrbandt et al., 2011; Munster et al., 2010). Some studies failed to generate HPAIV by use of this technique (Schrauwen et al., 2011; Stech et al., 2009) indicating that further, as yet undefined, arrangements (in addition to the insertion of a MBCS) in either the HA and/or other gene segments of the AIV are required (Abdelwhab et al., 2013; Diederich et al., 2015; Soda et al., 2011b).

Subtype	Country	Year	Species	Proposed mechanism
H5N2	Pennsylvania	1983	chicken	Deglycosylation by a T13K mutation in the HA protein
Subtype         P           H5N2         N           H5N9         C           H7N1         H           H7N3         C           H7N3         C           N         C           H7N3         C           N         C           H7N3         C           K         C           K         C           K         C           K         C           K         C           K         C           K         C           K         C           K         C           K         C	Mexico	1994-1995	chicken	Insertion, base substitution
H5N9	Ontario	1966	turkey	Presumed reassortment with H5N1
H7N1	Italy	1999-2000	turkeys; chickens; other	Recombination; minor variants in the LP progenitor quasispecies
H7N3	Pakistan	1994-1995	chicken	Base substitution and interstion
	Chile	2002	chicken	Non-homologous recombination with NP
	Canada	2004	chicken	Recombination with M1, base substitution mutation
	Canada	2007	chicken	Recombination with host RNA
	Mexico	2012	chicken	Recombination with host 28s rRNA
	Australia	1976	duck; chicken	Duplication insertion
	Netherlands	2003	chicken	presumed reassortment with H7N3 2003 and H10N7 2000
	United Kingdom	2008	chicken	Base substitution and interstion
H7N7	Spain	2009-2010	chicken	Insertion of foreign nucleotides
	United Kingdom	2015	chicken	Base substitution and interstion
	Germany	2015	chicken	Substitution and insertion; minor variants in the LP progenitor quasispecies
H7N8	Indiana	2016	turkey	Insertion

**Table 3.** Naturally occurring cases of HPAIV emergence from known LP precursor viruses(modified from Seekings (2017)).

# CHAPTER III: STUDY OBJECTIVES

# III. STUDY OBJECTIVES

Although several studies already support the concept of HPAIV emergence from LPAIV precursors after transmission of subtype H5 and H7 AI viruses from wild birds to poultry, the present knowledge of the factors governing the mutation event and the spread of de novo generated HPAIV remains patchy. This project defined three objectives to improve the understanding of these processes:

**1.** Complementing the AI diagnostic algorithm by developing rapid, sequencingindependent pathotyping assays based on real-time RT-PCRs (RT-qPCR) (chapters 4.1 and 4.2, pp. 39-52 and 53-66).

Risks of new incursions of LPAIV and HPAIV H5 and H7 into wild birds and poultry populations in Europe are perpetuating and justify stringent control measures. Rapid differentiation between LP and HP phenotypes of these subtypes is an essential step in the diagnosis of these notifiable infections. In order to circumvent biological pathotyping (virus isolation, animal inoculation) as well as nucleotide sequencing (molecular pathotyping) and to gain precious time, development of sensitive RT-qPCRs that allow identification and distinction of Eurasian subtype H5 and H7 by probe-assisted detection of the HACS was attempted.

# 2. Dissecting the LP precursor/HP relationship by molecular and epidemiological analysis of a linked LP/HPAIV H7N7 outbreak in Germany in 2015 (chapter 4.3, pp. 67-91).

Direct evidence from the field of LP to HP mutations has rarely been reported. By use of available specimens of two spatio-temporally linked outbreaks of H7N7 in layer chickens in Germany in 2015, molecular characterization enabled the identification of a potential LPAIV precursor and an HPAIV effector virus. Epidemiological and molecular factors fostering this conversion were investigated taking advantage of the tools developed under item 1 of the objectives.

**3.** Understanding the escape of the HP effector virus following *de novo* generation from its LP precursor by experimental co-infection studies in chickens and in embryonated chicken eggs (chapter 4.4, pp. 93-138).

Determining the drivers of HPAIV emergence from LPAIV is crucial for a better understanding why and when certain LP strains pose a risk of becoming HP. There is insufficient knowledge how the two AIV pathotypes interact when simultaneously infecting poultry. *In vivo* and *in ovo* co-infection experiments were conducted using the natural pair of LPAIV and HPAIV H7N7 identified in item 2 of the objectives, involving the tools developed under item 1. The study concentrated on how a minority of mutated HP virions after *de novo* generation in a single host might individually amplify and spread in that host and become transmitted within a poultry population that experiences concurrent infection by an antigenically identical LP precursor virus.

# CHAPTER IV: RESULTS

# IV. RESULTS

The reference section of each manuscript/the results is presented in the style of the respective journal and is not included at the end of this document. The numeration of figures and tables corresponds to the published form of each manuscript.

# 4.1 PUBLICATION I

# Real-time reverse transcription PCR-based sequencing-independent pathotyping of Eurasian avian influenza A viruses of subtype H7

Annika Graaf<sup>1</sup>, Martin Beer<sup>1</sup> and Timm Harder<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Institute of Diagnostic Virology, Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut, Suedufer 10, 17493 Greifswald -Insel Riems, Germany

> Virology Journal Article number: 14:137 (2017) doi: 10.1186/s12985-017-0808-3

Graaf et al. Virology Journal (2017) 14:137 DOI 10.1186/s12985-017-0808-3

# SHORT REPORT

# Virology Journal



CrossMark



Annika Graaf, Martin Beer and Timm Harder

# Abstract

Low pathogenic avian influenza viruses (LPAIV) of the subtypes H5 and H7 are known to give rise to highly pathogenic (HP) phenotypes by spontaneous insertional mutations which convert a monobasic trypsin-sensitive endoproteolytical cleavage site (CS) within the hemagglutinin (HA) protein into a polybasic subtilisin-sensitive one. Sporadic outbreaks of notifiable LPAIV H7 infections are continuously recorded in Europe and in Asia, and some lineages showed zoonotic transmission. De novo generation of HPAIV H7 from LPAIV precursors has been reported several times over the past decade. Rapid differentiation between LP and HP H7 virus strains is required as a prerequisite to emplace appropriate control measures. Here, reverse transcription real-time PCR assays (RT-qPCR) were developed and evaluated that allow LP and HP pathotype identification and distinction by probe-assisted detection of the HACS. These new RT-qPCRs allow a sensitive and highly specific pathotype identification of Eurasian subtype H7 AIV in allantoic fluids as well as in diagnostic field samples. RT-qPCR assisted pathotyping presents a rapid and sensitive alternative to pathotyping by animal inoculation or nucleotide sequencing.

Keywords: Avian influenza, Hemagglutinin subtype H7, Pathotyping, Real-time RT-PCR, Diagnosis, Cleavage site

# Background

Avian influenza viruses (AIV) are members of the family *Orthomyxoviridae*, specified as influenza virus type-A. These viruses are further classified by the serologically defined subtypes of the predominant viral surface glycoproteins, the hemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA) [1]. Their genome is composed of single-stranded, negative-sense RNA and comprises eight genome segments which encode at least ten proteins [2]. All 16 HA and nine NA AIV subtypes can be detected in populations of aquatic wild birds which form the natural reservoir of these viruses [3].

Based on their pathogenicity in chickens, two phenotypes of AIV are distinguished: highly pathogenic (HP) AIV and AIV of low pathogenicity (LPAIV). In nature,

\* Correspondence: timm.harder@fli.de Friedrich Loeffler Institute, Institute of Diagnostic Virology, Südufer 10, Greifswald 17493, Germany HP phenotypes have been restricted to viruses of subtypes H5 and H7. HPAIV arises from LPAI precursor viruses by spontaneous mutations leading to the insertion of basic amino acids into the cleavage site (CS) of the hemagglutinin protein (HA) which renders the HACS processible to subtilisin-like host proteases that are ubiquitous in all host tissues. Such viruses, therefore, gain competence for fatal systemic infections in avian hosts. LPAIV, in contrast, depends on local provision of trypsin-like proteases at the epithelial surfaces of the respiratory and/or gastrointestinal tracts and per se do not cause severe clinical signs [4]. All LPAIV and HPAIV infections of subtypes H5 and H7 in poultry are notifiable to the World Organization for Animal Health (O.I.E.). [5] Determination of the type of HACS is of utmost importance for the diagnosis of these infections. This can be achieved biologically by determination of the intravenous pathogenicity index (IVPI) in experimentally inoculated chickens or molecularly by nucleotide sequence analysis of the site encoding the HACS [6]. Since animal



© The Author(s). 2017 **Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

Page 2 of 10

 Table 1 Outbreaks in poultry of subtype H7 avian influenza

 viruses of low (LP) and high (HP) pathogenicity in Europe,

 1999–2016 [20]

Year	Country	Subtype	Pathotype	Number of infected holdings
1999-2000	Italy	H7N1	HP	1
2003	Netherland	H7N7	HP	255
2008	United Kingdom	H7N7	HP	1
2009	Germany	H7N7	LP	1
2009/2010	Spain	H7N7	LP/ HP	1/1 <sup>a</sup>
2011	Germany	H7N7	LP	23
2013	Denmark	H7N7	LP	1
2013	Italy	H7N7	HP	6
2015	United Kingdom	H7N7	LP/ HP	1/1
2015	Germany	H7N7	LP/ HP	1/1
2015	Netherland	H7N7	LP	2
2016	Denmark	H7N7	LP	1
2016	Italy	H7N7	HP	2

<sup>a</sup> Slash indicates that a matching pair of LP precursor and HP mutant viruses had been detected

experiment facilities or expensive equipment are required for either pathway, solutions for alternative techniques have been sought in the past: These included restriction enzyme cleavage patterns [7], probe hybridization [8] and real time RT-PCR (RT-qPCR) approaches [9]. Based on the widespread availability of RT-qPCR technology in diagnostic laboratories and its recent favorable use in pathotyping of HPAIV H5 of the goose/Guangdong (gs/GD) lineage [10], this study was conducted to develop and validate sequencing-independent RT-qPCRs for pathotyping of Eurasian H7 AI viruses. Over the past two decades, several incursions into poultry of subtype H7 LPAIV as well as the de novo generation and (in one case) spread of H7 HPAI viruses have been reported from Europe (Table 1). Other H7 LPAIV lineages have arisen in Eastern Asia, and one of them (H7N9/China) showed significant zoonotic propensities in annual waves of poultry-to-human transmission with more than 550 fatal human cases [11, 12]. Recently, the H7N9 lineages has also yielded an HP mutant which is spreading in southern China [13]. Considering the annual presence of LPAIV of subtype H7 in Eurasian wild bird populations [14] risks of new incursions into poultry in Europe are perpetuating.

## Methods

Based on the alignments of the HA H7 gene of a comprehensive selection of sequences from LP (n = 60) and HPAIV (n = 21) of Eurasian origin collected over the last decade in sequence databases (GenBank at NCBI; EpiFlu of the Global Initiative on Sharing Avian Influenza Data (GISAID)), a set of six primers was designed (Table 2). The selected primers targeted a short fragment of the HA gene that spans the endoproteolytic CS region [15–17]. The primers were designed for the broadest possible reactivity with recent Eurasian H7 sequences.

For validation of the assays, viral RNA from reference H7 LPAIV and HPAIV was used. Moreover, non-H7 influenza subtypes H5 and H9 as well as other avian respiratory viruses (infectious bronchitis virus (IBV), Newcastle disease virus (NDV)) were tested (Table 3). Viral RNA was purified with the QIAamp\*Viral RNA Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Primers were first evaluated in conventional RT-PCRs. The PCR reactions were carried out on a CFX96 thermocycler machine (Bio-Rad) using the following temperature profile: 30 min at 50 °C (RT), 2 min at 94 °C (inactivation of reverse

 Table 2 Primers and probes used for sequencing-independent pathotyping of Eurasian avian influenza A subtype H7 viruses by real time RT-PCR

Primer/Probe ID	Sequence (5' to 3')	Location	Amplicon size	Accession number <sup>a</sup>
H7_CS-F1	TGMTGCTRGCAACAGGAAT	989-1007	107 <sup>b</sup>	KX979524
H7_CS-F2 N	TGCTACTRGCAACAGGGAT	989-1007		
H7_CS-F3	TGMTGCTGGCAACWGGRAT	968-986		
H7_CS-R1N	CGTCAATKAGRCCTTCCCA	1096-1078		
H7_CS-R2N	TCCATTTTCWATRAAACCYGC	1056-1036		
H7_CS-R3	CATCAAYCAGACCYTCCCA	1056-1076		
H7_CS-LP-FAM	C + C + AAAG + GGA + A + GAG + GC	1026-1040		KY676327.1
H7_CS-HP_EMS-FAM	CCAAAGAGAAAGAGAGAGAGGCC	1027-1046	120 <sup>c</sup>	AB438941
H7_CS-HP_IT-FAM	TTCCAAAAGGATCGCGTGTGAGGA	1004-1027		KF493066

<sup>a</sup>Accession number of sequence/virus used to position the oligonucleotide along the HA gene

<sup>b</sup>size applied to LP sequences

<sup>c</sup>size applied to HP sequences

+ indicates that the following position constituted a "locked" nucleotide (LNA)

Page 3 of 10

Table 3	Analytical performance	characteristics of real	l time RT-PCR (RT-qPCR)	assays for sequencing-inde	pendent pathotyping of Eurasian	
reference	H7 viruses					

Reference virus	Accession	Sub- and	RT-qPCR met	RT-qPCR method					
	number of HA	pathotype	LPAI H7	HPAI H7 'Emsland'	HPAI H7 'Italy'				
A/mute swan/Germany/R901/2006	EP1359695	LP H7N7	Pos	Neg	Neg				
A/Anhui/1/2013	AHZ60096	LP H7N9	Pos	Neg	Neg				
A/chicken/Germany/AR1385/2015	SA	HP H7N7	Neg	Pos	Neg				
A/broiler/Italy/445/1999	AJ580353	HP H7N1	Neg	Neg	Pos				
A/turkey/Germany/R2025/2008	SA	LP H5N3	Neg	Neg	Neg				
A/turkey/Germany/AR2485-86/2014	EPI552746	HP H5N8	Neg	Neg	Neg				
A/chicken/Egypt/AR753–14/2013	EPI557457	HP H9N2	Neg	Neg	Neg				
A/chicken/Sudan/AR251-15/2014	KX272465	IBV	Neg	Neg	Neg				
A/chicken/Egypt/AR254–15/2014	SA	NDV	Neg	Neg	Neg				

LP low pathogenic, HP high pathogenic, Neg negative, Pos positive, SA sequence available from the authors, also represented in the alignment in Additional file 1: Figure S1, IBV Infectious bronchitis virus, NDV Newcastle disease virus

transcriptase/activation of *Taq* polymerase), followed by 42 cycles of 30 s at 94 °C (denaturation), 30 s at 56 °C (annealing), and 30 s at 68 °C (elongation). Twenty-five  $\mu$ L per reaction were prepared using the SuperScript III One-Step RT-PCR system with Platinum *Taq* DNA polymerase (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA): For one reaction, 6.5  $\mu$ l of RNase-free water, 12.5  $\mu$ l reaction mix (2×), 1  $\mu$ l of SuperScript III RT/Platinum *Taq*, and 5  $\mu$ l of template RNA were mixed. Pre selected primers were then screened for their specifity using non H7-subtypes. Amplificates of the expected sizes were generated from both LP and HP phenotypes of subtype H7 viruses by conventional RT-PCR and visualized on an 2% agarose gel (Fig. 1).

Having assured the broad but exclusive specificity of the selected primers for Eurasian H7 viruses, matching probes for use in the RT-qPCR assays were developed. Initially, probes were designed with the aim to universally differentiate between LP and HP Eurasian H7 CS sequences. Probes were therefore placed directly across



the sequence stretch encoding the CS. Closer inspection of the alignments, and taking into account also the list of HP H7 CS sequences provided by OFFLU [6], revealed that HP H7 CS sequences of Eurasian origin viruses were highly divergent: Viruses of separate outbreaks and epizootics represented unique CS sequences with little homology to viruses of other outbreaks. Within an outbreak series, however, HP H7 CS sequences proved to be conserved. This situation is opposed to HPAI H5 viruses of the gs/GD lineage which show considerable conservation even across different clades and allowed designing of a universal conserved probe for the HP phenotype of these viruses [10]. In contrast to HP H7, the HA CS of LP H7 viruses of Eurasian origin origin appeared to be fairly conserved [6]. Therefore, two strategies were followed to prove that sequencing-independent pathotyping by RT-qPCRs is principally possible also for Eurasian H7 viruses:

- For HP H7, probes were designed that are specific for viruses of distinct outbreaks. Two distinct HP H7 outbreaks were selected: Isolates from a historic epizootic (Italy 1999, H7N1) and from the most recent HP H7 outbreak in Germany (referred to as 'Emsland'; a region in the Northwest of Germany where a very high density of poultry population is reared) affecting a single holding in 2015 (H7N7) were chosen and specific Taqman probes matching the HA CS consensus sequences of each of these outbreaks designed (Table 2).
- For Eurasian LP H7 a universal probe was developed and several universal Taqman probes were synthesized for comparison.

Page 4 of 10

The same PCR conditions as described above for conventional RT-PCR were used for RT-qPCR, however, 2 µL of the RNAse-free water were replaced by 2 µl specific primer-probe mix. The HP mixes were composed of 1,25 pmol probe/µl and 3,75 pmol/µl for each forward and reverse primer.

### Results

Specificity was initially confirmed only for the two HP probes which specifically reacted with their homologous sequences but did not cross react with LP H7 or other HP H7 viruses (Table 3). The standard Taqman LP probes, however, did not sharply distinguish between pathotypes and cross reacted with various HP H7 viruses (not shown). Closer inspection of the alignments revealed that a single G/A mutation in the HA CS distinguished between LP and HP pathotypes (Fig. 2). Consequently, an LNA probe was designed placing the critical nucleotide position at the centre of the respective probe. Using this probe at a concentration of 2,5 pmol in the reaction mix finally allowed clear-cut distinction between LP and HP pathotypes by RT-qPCR (Table 3).

The detection limit of the H7 pathotyping RT-qPCRs was determined by testing ten-fold serial dilutions of viral RNAs extracted from representative H7 LPAI and HPAI viruses. Average values of three independent runs were used for comparisons to a generic RT-qPCR for the M gene of these viruses [18]. A standard curve of each assay was generated showing a linear relationship between the log dilution of the viral RNA and the cycle quantification (Cq) value for both the specific and the generic assays (Fig. 3a-c). Considering the universal LP as well as the 'Emsland'-specific HP probe, no significant difference between the median Cq values of each specific assay and the M RT-qPCR was found indicating that the newly developed and the generic RT-qPCRs have a similar analytical sensitivity. In contrast, the RT-qPCR detecting the historic Italian H7 HP lineage showed slightly higher sensitivity than the generic M RT-qPCR.

Furthermore, we determined the ability of the H7 pathotyping RTqPCRs to detect mixtures of RNAs of LPAIV and HPAIV derived from the Emsland outbreak in Germany, 2015, and compared it to the M genespecific generic RT-qPCR (Fig. 3d). Different concentrations of LP/HPAIV-mixtures (0, 0.1%, 1%, 10%, 50% and 100% LP) were generated, and HP H7 RNA was added to 100%. Both RNA species were detected by the specific RT-qPCRs in the mixtures, and the respective Cq values reflected the concentration of the RNA species in the mixtures (Fig. 3d). H7 LP RNA was not detected in the sample containing 100% H7 HP RNA, and vice versa, once more confirming the specificity of the pathotyping RT-qPCRs (Fig. 3d). Thus, these PCRs can be used to study the generation and co-circulation of H7 HPAIV from its LPAI precursor viruses.

Assessment of the diagnostic performance characteristics of the established RT-qPCRs was carried out with a collection of H7 AIV isolates (n = 48) and H7positive field samples (n = 27) collected between 1999 and 2016. Samples were obtained from the virus repository of the German National Reference Laboratory for Avian Influenza at the Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut, Germany, or kindly provided by the OIE Reference Laboratory for Newcastle Disease and Avian Influenza in Italy, ISZVe, Padua, the Central Veterinary Research laboratory at Dubai, United Arab Emirates, the National Centre for Foreign Animal Disease, Winnipeg, Canada and the WHO Collaborating Centre, London, United Kingdom, under the patronage of the global influenza programme (Table 4). Amplificates produced from these viral RNAs by H7-specific RT-qPCR analysis were



(and cross reacting with) a Eurasian HP H7 sequence. Lower panel shows hybridization of the LNA probe to an HP H7 'Emsland' sequence; two hybridization positions are possible: The locked 'G' mismatch placed in the centre of the probe (red box) disabled binding and cross reaction at each of the two hybridization sites

Page 5 of 10



Page 6 of 10

(See figure on previous page.)

Fig. 3 Determination of the limit of detection of three newly developed RT-qPCRs for sequencing-independent pathotyping of Eurasian avian influenza H7 viruses (blue dots/lines) compared to a matrix gene-specific generic RT-qPCR (Hoffmann et al., 2010; black diamonds/ lines). The detection limit was determined based on serial ten-fold dilutions using RNA of the reference viruses (a) A/chicken/Germany/ AR1385/2015 (HPAIV H7N7), (b) A/mute swan/Germany/R901/2006 (LPAIV H7N7) and (c) A/broiler/Italy/445/1999 (HPAIV H7N1). d Detection of artificial mixtures of H7 LP and HPAIV RNA of the 'Emsland' outbreak compared to a matrix gene-specific generic RT-qPCR (black diamonds). RNA of the reference viruses A/chicken/Germany/AR915/2015 (LPAIV H7N7) and A/chicken/Germany/AR1385/2015 (HPAIV H7N7) were mixed and the percentage ratios indicated on the X-axis. Identification of Cq values (results of triplicate analyses) obtained for each mixture sample by H7 specific RT-qPCRs is as follows: blue circles – LPAI H7; green triangles – HPAI H7 'Emsland'

also further processed for sequence analysis using the H7specific reverse primer mix (Table 2) for Sanger sequencing: Following agarose gel electrophoresis and amplicon purification using the QIAquick Gel Extraction Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) they were cycle-sequenced (BigDye Terminator v1.1 Cycle Sequencing Kit, Applied Biosystems, California, United States) and analysed on an ABI PRISM 3130 Genetic Analyzer (Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany) [10]. Partial HA sequences of the diagnostic samples are shown in the sequence alignment of Additional file 1: Figure S1; in all cases subtype H7 was confirmed. Pathotypes were assigned as based on the deduced amino acid sequence of the HACS according to the list of published H7 CS sequences (Additional file 1: Figure S1 and Table 4).

In total, 75 samples positive for AIV of subtype H7 were used. Based on nucleotide sequence analysis and/or IVPI, 49 samples were classified as LPAIV and 15 as HPAIV (Table 4, Additional file 1: Figure S1). They were of both historic and recent origin and mainly derived from European locations. Four samples originated from North America, nine from the United Arab Emirates/ Dubai and one represented the Chinese LP H7N9 lineage. The samples mainly consisted of egg-derived isolates or native combined oropharyngeal and cloacal swabs obtained from poultry or wild birds. Seven samples were taken from the environment during a recent HPAIV outbreak in a chicken layer holding in Germany (referred to as 'Emsland'). For the H7 LP RT-qPCR, 48 out of 56 samples were correctly identified as LP (Table 4, Fig. 4), also including the Chinese LP H7N9 reference virus. Three historic LP isolates (Table 4, nos. 1-3) and the two North American LP H7 viruses (Table 4, nos. 71-72) were not detected despite high viral loads. Sequence mismatches affected binding of either probe and/or primers in these cases. In three further samples (Table 4, nos. 26, 37, 38) low virus loads were detected by the generic M RT-gPCR and these were missed by the H7 LP specific RT-qPCR. However, in most samples, the H7 LP specific RT-qPCR proved to be more sensitive as compared to the generic M specific one (Table 4, Fig. 4). Since none of the HP H7 positive samples cross reacted in the H7 LP RT-qPCR, complete specificity was achieved.

A total of 19 samples harbored HP H7 RNA. None of them was detected by the LP specific RTqPCR (Table 4, Fig. 4). Two isolates originating from the Italian HP H7N1 epizootic of 1999 were detected by the H7 HP 'Italy'-specific RT-qPCR (Table 4, nos. 57-58); no further viruses were identified by this PCR. This includes another HPAIV H7N1 isolate from Italy originating from 2002 and distinguished from the 1999 viruses by 13 mutations in the primer and probe binding sites (Table 4, no. 56). Thus, the 'Italy 99' RT-qPCR proved to be highly lineage-specific. The second H7 HP RTqPCR aimed at detecting HP AIV related to the most recent outbreak in Germany in 2015. All nine samples classified to harbor HP H7 were identified by this PCR with a high sensitivity (Table 4, nos. 43-51). At similarily high sensitivity four historic European HP H7 viruses (Table 4, nos. 39, 40, 42, 69), but none of the Italian HP viruses, or an isolate (Table 4, no. 41) representing the large HP H7N7 epizootic affecting the Netherlands, Belgium and Germany in 2003, reacted with either of the two HP specific RT-qPCRs. No cross reactivity to any of the LP H7 samples was detected indicating excellent performance values regarding sensitivity and specificity. Due to our results, the threshold distinguishing reliably between positive and negative samples was set at Cq = 38.

## Discussion

Although not all of the LP and HP H7 samples did show a positive signal with the respective RT-qPCR due to mismatches in the probe binding regions, the newly developed set of primers produced a sequenceable amplificate even of those virus strains. Consequently, pathotype confirmation of a H7 positive sample that tested negative by the LP and HP RT-qPCRs is still possible by nucleotide sequence analysis using the amplificate produced by these RT-qPCRs. In this respect, the newly developed RT-qPCRs resemble the one introduced by Slomka et al. [19] which also spanned the H7 HACS but its probe targeted a highly conserved sequence stretch outside the CS.

# Results: Real-time reverse transcription PCR-based sequencing-independent pathotyping of Eurasian avian influenza A viruses of subtype H7

Graaf et al. Virology Journal (2017) 14:137

Page 7 of 10

No.	Sample ID	Type of	Accession Number <sup>a</sup>	Subtype/	PCR res	sults (cq v	Its (cq value)	
		sample		pathotype	M1.2	LP H7	HP H7 Italy	HP H7 Ems
1	A/duck/Potsdam/15/1980	I	AJ704797	H7N7 LP	17,03	NEG	NEG	NEG
2	A/duck/Potsdam/13/1980	1	SA	H7N7 LP	17,55	NEG	NEG	NEG
3	A/swan/Potsdam/64/1981	1	AM922155	H7N7 LP	20,07	NEG	NEG	NEG
4	A/turkey/Germany/R11/2001	Ĩ	AJ704812	H7N7 LP	18,89	12,74	NEG	NEG
5	A/mallard/NVP/1776-80/2003	1	NAV	H7N3 LP	25,3	16,41	NEG	NEG
6	A/mallard/NVP/41/2004	1	SA	H7N1 LP	15,44	12,49	NEG	NEG
7	A/mallard/Föhr/Wv190/2005	1	NAV	H7N7 LP	27,35	24,10	NEG	NEG
8	A/teal/Föhr/Wv180/2005	1	NAV	H7N2 LP	14,28	10,76	NEG	NEG
9	A/teal/Föhr/Wv177/2005	1	AM933237	H7N7 LP	24,41	21,76	NEG	NEG
10	A/mallard/Germany/R721/2006	1	SA	H7N7 LP	31,38	27,31	NEG	NEG
11	A/graylag goose/Germany/R752/2006	1	AM933236	H7N7 LP	26,15	17,27	NEG	NEG
12	A/mallard/Germany/R756/2006	1	SA	H7N4 LP	24,81	24,13	NEG	NEG
13	A/mute swan/Germany/R57/2006	1	EPI492518	H7N7 LP	27,73	24,20	NEG	NEG
14	A/mute swan/Germany/R901/2006	1	EPI359695	H7N1 LP	23,14	20,08	NEG	NEG
15	A/swan/Germany/736/2006	1	EPI492517	H7N4 LP	15,39	14,07	NEG	NEG
16	A/common pochard/Germany/R916/2006	1	SA	H7N7 LP	19,03	20,32	NEG	NEG
17	A/duck/Germany/R3129/2007	1	SA	H7N7 LP	15,34	11,59	NEG	NEG
18	A/sentinel-duck/Germany/SK207R/2007	1	NAV	H7N3 LP	27,64	22,09	NEG	NEG
19	A/mallard/Sko212-219 K/2007	1	SA	H7N3 LP	25,97	21,04	NEG	NEG
20	A/guineafowl/Germany/R2495/2007	1	AM930528	H7N3 LP	29,58	27,14	NEG	NEG
21	A/mallard/Germany/R192/2009	Ĩ	SA	H7N7 LP	14,65	13,28	NEG	NEG
22	A/turkey/Germany/R655/2009	F	EPI302173	H7N7 LP	13,34	11,76	NEG	NEG
23	A/nandu/Germany/AR142/2013	F	SA	H7N7 LP	28,35	28,90	NEG	NEG
24	A/turkey/Germany/AR502/2013	F	SA	H7N7 LP	18,67	19,12	NEG	NEG
25	A/turkey/Germany/AR618/2013	F	NAV	H7Nx LP	16,11	16,20	NEG	NEG
26	A/chicken/Germany/AR909/2013	F	SA	H7Nx LP	35,59	NEG	NEG	NEG
27	A/turkey/Germany/AR979/2013	F	NAV	H7Nx LP	25,59	21,79	NEG	NEG
28	A/environment/Germany/AR1251/2013	F	NAV	H7N LP	21,31	14,93	NEG	NEG
29	A/chicken/Germany/AR929/2015	F, EL	SA	H7N7 LP	30,39	30,02	NEG	NEG
30	A/chicken/Germany/AR930/2015	F, EL	SA	H7N7 LP	30,39	35,77	NEG	NEG
31	A/chicken/Germany/AR934/2015	F, EL	SA	H7N7 LP	30,07	32,88	NEG	NEG
32	A/chicken/Germany/AR943/2015	F, EL	SA	H7N7 LP	30,07	32,70	NEG	NEG
33	A/chicken/Germany/AR944/2015	F, EL	SA	H7N7 LP	30,07	31,03	NEG	NEG
34	A/chicken/Germany/AR945/2015	F, EL	SA	H7N7 LP	29,9	33,18	NEG	NEG
35	A/chicken/Germany/AR946/2015	F, EL	SA	H7N7 LP	29,9	33,32	NEG	NEG
36	A/duck/Germany/AR234/1/2016	F	SA	H7N7 LP	33,42	35,43	NEG	NEG
37	A/duck/Germany/AR2112/2016	F	NAV	H7N7 LP	36,17	NEG	NEG	NEG
38	A/duck/Germany/AR2868/2016	F	NAV	H7N7 LP	35,3	NEG	NEG	NEG
39	A/FPV/Rostock/45/1934	1	CY077420	H7N1 HP	17,25	NEG	NEG	13,94
40	A/chicken/Germany/"Taucha"/1979	1	SA	H7N7 HP	14,25	NEG	NEG	10,63
41	A/chicken/Germany/R28/2003	1	AJ704813	H7N7 HP	14,77	NEG	NEG	NEG
42	A/FPV/dutch/1927	1	NAV	H7N1 HP	16,52	NEG	NEG	32,14

 Table 4 Diagnostic performance characteristics of the H7 pathotyping RT-qPCRs using HP and LP influenza A subtype H7 virus isolates

 and field samples collected from different countries and poultry holdings or wild bird species, 1999–2016

Page 8 of 10

43	A/chicken/Germany/AR1385/2015	F, EL	SA	H7N7 HP	18,76	NEG	NEG	19,01
44	A/chicken/Germany/AR1413/2015	F, EL	SA	H7N7 HP	29,9	NEG	NEG	35,48
45	A/chicken/Germany/AR1488/1/2015	F, EL	SA	H7N7 HP	29,31	NEG	NEG	22,72
46	A/environment/Germany/AR1536/2015	F, EL	SA	H7N7 HP	29,38	NEG	NEG	21,18
47	A/environment/Germany/AR1537/2015	F, EL	SA	H7N7 HP	29,38	NEG	NEG	25,7
48	A/environment/Germany/AR1539/2015	F, EL	SA	H7N7 HP	29,38	NEG	NEG	22,19
49	A/environment/Germany/AR1540/2015	F, EL	SA	H7N7 HP	29,38	NEG	NEG	24,69
50	A/environment/Germany/AR1541/2015	F, EL	SA	H7N7 HP	29,38	NEG	NEG	26,35
51	A/environment/Germany/AR1546/2015	F, EL	SA	H7N7 HP	30,12	NEG	NEG	25,19
52	A/turkey/Italy/472/1999	1	AJ704811	H7N1 LP	15,24	9,80	NEG	NEG
53	A/chicken/Italy/473/1999	Ι	EPI624438	H7N2 LP	13,73	10,71	NEG	NEG
54	A/turkey/Italy/2043/2003	I	CY022613, CY022615	H7N3 LP	24,34	21,45	NEG	NEG
55	A/duck/Italy/636/2003	1	NAV	H7N3 LP	22,05	20,49	NEG	NEG
56	A/chicken/Brescia/19/2002	E.	AM922154	H7N1 HP	16,59	NEG	NEG	NEG
57	A/hen/ltaly/444/1999	1	AJ704810	H7N1 HP	16,22	NEG	18,02	NEG
58	A/broiler/Italy/445/1999	1	AJ580353	H7N1 HP	17,02	NEG	16,35	NEG
59	A/turkey/Ireland/PV8/1995	I	AJ704799	H7N7 LP	16,19	13,07	NEG	NEG
60	A/houbara/Dubai/AR433/2014	L	SA	H7N1 LP	16,81	13,51	NEG	NEG
61	A/houbara/Dubai/AR434/2014	I	SA	H7N1 LP	14,67	11,27	NEG	NEG
62	A/houbara/Dubai/AR435/2014	1	SA	H7N1 LP	15,47	12,66	NEG	NEG
63	A/houbara/Dubai/AR436/2014	L	SA	H7N1 LP	12,23	9,23	NEG	NEG
64	A/houbara/Dubai/AR437/2014	Ī	SA	H7N1 LP	16,1	13,35	NEG	NEG
65	A/houbara/Dubai/AR438/2014	1	SA	H7N1 LP	13,71	10,08	NEG	NEG
66	A/peregrine falcon/Dubai/AR439/2014	L	SA	H7N1 LP	13,79	26,82	NEG	NEG
67	A/francolin/Dubai/AR440/2014	T	SA	H7N2 LP	15,85	17,84	NEG	NEG
68	A/wild bird/Dubai/AR3452/2014	F	SA	H7N1 LP	16,18	14,57	NEG	NEG
69	A/alexandria tyrode/T145/1948	1	SA	H7N1 HP	14,48	NEG	NEG	10
70	A/duck/Alberta/48/1976	1	SA	H7N3 LP	15,8	14,08	NEG	NEG
71	A/turkey/Ontario/18-1/2000	I	AF497552	H7N1 LP	28,61	NEG	NEG	NEG
72	A/mallard/Alberta/8734/2007	1	AM933238	H7N3 LP	18,63	NEG	NEG	NEG
73	A/chicken/BritishColumbia/CN-06/2004	1	KP055066	H7N3 HP	16,42	NEG	NEG	NEG
74	A/chicken/BritishColumbia/CN-07/2004	1	KP055076	H7N3 HP	24,71	NEG	NEG	NEG
75	A/Anhui/1/2013	L	AHZ60096	H7N9 LP	11,79	9,94	NEG	NEG

Table 4 Diagnostic performance characteristics of the H7 pathotyping RT-qPCRs using HP and LP influenza A subtype H7 virus isola	ates
and field samples collected from different countries and poultry holdings or wild bird species. 1999–2016 (Continued)	

<sup>3</sup>Sequences were obtained from the EpiFlu database of the Global Initiative on Sharing Avian Influenza Data (GISAID) and from GenBank at the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI)

LP low pathogenicity, HP high pathogenicity, SA sequence shown in either Additional file 1: Figure S1 or Additional file 2: Figure S2, otherwise accession numbers are indicated, NAV sequence not available, neg no positive signal detected, I lsolate, F Field sample, F, EL field sample from recent outbreak in Germany

# Conclusion

The pathotype-specific RT-qPCRs developed here for avian influenza viruses of subtype H7 proved to be a useful, sensitive and highly specific alternative to nucleotide sequence analysis for the characterization of LPAI and HPAI H7 viruses of European origin. Proper detection of HP H7 viruses required knowledge of the HACS of the specific lineage, and specific probes are to be used for each distinct lineage. Thus, initial characterization of an H7 HP virus still depends on nucleotide sequence analysis of its HACS. However, in case of on-going spread of the identified HP H7 lineage a lineage-specific probe can then be used in a pathotyping RT-qPCR for the swift examination and pathotyping of further cases and outbreaks. Furthermore, the LP LNA probe introduced here was universally usuable for Eurasian LP H7

Page 9 of 10



**Fig. 4** Sequencing-indpendent pathotyping of isolates and clinical samples of avian influenza subtype H7 viruses by real-time RT-PCRs (RT-qPCR). Sample numbers refer to the identification of viruses in Table 4. Cq values generated for each sample by the influenza A virus-generic M1.2 RT-qPCR are depicted as blue dots. Identification of Cq values obtained for each sample by H7 specific RT-qPCRs is as follows: black diamonds – LPAI H7; green triangles – HPAI H7. 'Emsland'; red squares – HPAI H7 'Italy'

viruses circulating in Europe over the past decade. In conclusion, these here described RT-qPCRs complement a sequencing-independent approach, and allow a high-speed pathotyping helping the authorities to install necessary control measures in time.

# Additional file

Additional file 1: Nucleotide sequences encoding the HA endoproteolytic cleavage site of H7N7 low pathogenic avian influenza viruses generated within this study. (PDF 90 kb)

Additional file 2: Nucleotide sequences encoding the HA endoproteolytic cleavage site of H7N7 highly pathogenic avian influenza viruses generated within this study. (PDF 57 kb)

#### Abbreviations

AIV: Avian influenza virus; CS: Cleavage site; GISAID: Global initiative on sharing Avian influenza data; gs/GD: Goose/Guangdong; HA: Hemagglutinin; HPAIV: Highly pathogenic avian influenza virus; IBV: Infectious bronchitis virus; IVPI: Intravenous pathogenicity index; LPAIV: Low pathogenic avian influenza virus; NA: Neuraminidase; NDV: Newcastle disease virus; RT-qPCR: Reverse transcription real-time PCR

#### Acknowledgements

The authors thank Aline Maksimov, Diana Wessler and Mahmoud Naguib for excellent support. We are grateful to Christine Luttermann and her team for conducting the Sanger sequencing analyses, and we wish to acknowledge veterinarians and diagnosticians in Germany for submitting diagnostic samples. We are grateful to colleagues from various research institutions as mentioned in the text who made H7 samples and/or isolates available to the FLI virus repository. We kindly acknowledge all researchers who made available sequences, used in this study, to the EpiFlu database of GISAID.

#### Funding

The study was funded by an intramural grant of the Federal Ministry for Food and Agriculture to the Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut.

#### Availability of data and materials

The datasets used and/or analysed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

#### Authors' contributions

AG and TCH conceived the study. AG carried out the experiments. AG, MB and TCH analysed and interpreted the data. AG drafted the manuscript. All authors amended and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Ethics approval and consent to participate Not applicable.

Consent for publication

Not applicable.

#### **Competing interests**

The authors that they have no competing interests.

### Publisher's note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

#### Received: 16 May 2017 Accepted: 14 July 2017 Published online: 24 July 2017

#### References

- Spackman E. A brief introduction to the avian influenza virus. Methods Mol Biol. 2008;436:1–6.
- Cheung TK, Poon LL. Biology of influenza a virus. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2007; 1102:1–25.
- Webster RG, et al. Evolution and ecology of influenza a viruses. Microbiol Rev. 1992;56(1):152–79.
- Alexander DJ. An overview of the epidemiology of avian influenza. Vaccine. 2007;25(30):5637–44.
- (OIE), W.O.f.A.H., Avian Influenza. Chapter 10.4. Article 10.4.1. Available from: http://web.oie.int/eng/normes/mcode/en\_chapitre\_1.10.4.pdf. 2010.
- (OIE/FAO), W.O.f.A.H.F.a.A.O.o.t.U.N., Network of expertise on animal influenza. Influenza a cleavage sites. Paris/Rome: OIE/FAO; 2015. [Accessed 01 Dec 2016] Available from: http://www.offlu.net/fileadmin/home/en/ resource-centre/pdf/Influenza\_A\_Cleavage\_Sites.pdf. 2015.
   Experiedumi SB, et al. Banid molecular subtymino bu reverse transcription
- Fereidouni SR, et al. Rapid molecular subtyping by reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction of the neuraminidase gene of avian influenza a viruses. Vet Microbiol. 2009;135(3–4):253–60.
- Leijon M, et al. Rapid PCR-based molecular pathotyping of H5 and H7 avian influenza viruses. J Clin Microbiol. 2011;49(11):3860–73.
- Hoffmann B, et al. Rapid and highly sensitive pathotyping of avian influenza a H5N1 virus by using real-time reverse transcription-PCR. J Clin Microbiol. 2007;45(2):600–3.
- Naguib MM, et al. Novel real-time PCR-based patho- and phylotyping of potentially zoonotic avian influenza a subtype H5 viruses at risk of incursion into Europe in 2017. Euro Surveill. 2017;22(1). doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.2807/ 1560-7917.E5.2017.22.1.30435.
- (WHO), W.H.O., WHO RISK ASSESSMENT of human infections with avian influenza a(H7N9) virus. [Accessed 23 Feb 2015] Available from: http://www. who.int/influenza/human\_animal\_interface/influenza\_h7n9/RiskAssessment\_ H7N9\_23Feb20115.pdf?ua=1. 2015.
- Li Q, et al. Epidemiology of human infections with avian influenza a(H7N9) virus in China. N Engl J Med. 2014;370(6):520–32.
- Cima G. Another H7N9 epidemic, with possible HPAI isolates. Am J Vet Res. 2017. Available from: https://www.avma.org/News/JAVMANews/Pages/ 170415Lasox.
- EC, E.c., Annual report for avian influenza in poultry and wild birds in member states of the European Union in 2015; Available from: https://ec. europa.eu/food/sites/food/files/ad\_control-measures\_ai\_surv-rslt\_pltry-wldbrds\_2015.pdf. 2015.
- Steinhauer DA. Role of hemagglutinin cleavage for the pathogenicity of influenza virus. Virology. 1999;258(1):1–20.
- Bosch FX, et al. Proteolytic cleavage of influenza virus hemagglutinins: primary structure of the connecting peptide between HA1 and HA2 determines proteolytic cleavability and pathogenicity of avian influenza viruses. Virology. 1981;113(2):725–35.

Page 10 of 10

- Gall A, et al. Universal primer set for amplification and sequencing of HA0 cleavage sites of all influenza a viruses. J Clin Microbiol. 2008;46(8):2561–7.
- Hoffmann B, et al. New real-time reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reactions facilitate detection and differentiation of novel a/H1N1 influenza virus in porcine and human samples. Berl Munch Tierarztl Wochenschr. 2010;123(7–8):286–92.
- Slomka MJ, et al. Validated real time reverse transcriptase PCR methods for the diagnosis and pathotyping of Eurasian H7 avian influenza viruses. Influenza Other Respir Viruses. 2009;3(4):151–64.
- OIE, W.O.f.A.H., Update on highly pathogenic avian influenza in animals (type H5 and H7); Available from: http://www.oie.int/animal-health-in-theworld/update-on-avian-influenza/2015/ .2017.

# Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and we will help you at every step:

- We accept pre-submission inquiries
- Our selector tool helps you to find the most relevant journal

BioMed Central

- We provide round the clock customer support
- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- Inclusion in PubMed and all major indexing services
- Maximum visibility for your research

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit

# Supplemental material

**Additional file 1.** Nucleotide sequences encoding the HA endoproteolytic cleavage site of H7N7 low pathogenic avian influenza viruses generated within this study.

A/duck/Potsdam/13/190 A/aran/Potsdam/4/13/190 A/aran/Potsdam/4/13/191 A/aran/Potsdam/4/13/191 A/aran/Potsdam/4/13/191 A/aran/Potsdam/4/13/191 A/aran/Aran/Assi/1015 A/aran/Assi/1015 A/ar

A/duck/Potsdam/13/1990 A/avan/Fotsdam/4/1991 A/avan/Fotsdam/4/1991 A/avan/Fotsdam/4/1991 A/avan/Fotsdam/4/234/2001 A/onemonpo-chard/oremany/Re14/2013 A/chicken/dermany/AR93/2013 A/chicken/dermany/AR93/2015 A/chicken/dermany/AR93/2015 A/chicken/dermany/AR93/2015 A/chicken/dermany/AR93/2015 A/chicken/dermany/AR93/2015 A/chicken/dermany/AR93/2015 A/chicken/dermany/R853/2005 A/chicken/dermany/R853/2006 A/duck/dermany/R8125/2006 A/duck/dermany/R8125/2006 A/francolin/Dubai/AR440/2014 A/bucbara/Dubai/AR439/2014 A/bucbara/Dubai/AR439/2014 A/bucbara/Dubai/AR439/2014 A/bucbara/Dubai/AR439/2014 A/bucbara/Dubai/AR439/2014 A/bucbara/Dubai/AR439/2014 A/bucbara/Dubai/AR439/2014 A/bucbara/Dubai/AR439/2014 A/bucbara/Dubai/AR439/2014 A/bucbara/Dubai/AR435/2014 A/bubara/Dubai/AR435/2014 A/bubara/Dubai/AR43

A/duck/Rotsdam/4/13/1800 A/axian/Fotsdam/4/13/180 A/axian/Rotsdam/4/1812 A/axian/Rotsdam/4/1812 A/axian/Rotsdam/4/1813 A/commonpochard/Germany/K814/2003 A/chicken/Germany/AR913/2015 A/chicken/Germany/AR93/2015 A/chicken/Germany/AR943/2015 A/chicken/Germany/AR943/2015 A/chicken/Germany/R8135/2009 A/chicken/Germany/R8135/2009 A/chicken/Germany/R8135/2009 A/chicken/Germany/R8135/2009 A/chicken/Germany/R8135/2009 A/chicken/Germany/R8135/2009 A/duck/Germany/R8135/2009 A/duck/Germany/R8135/2009 A/duck/Germany/R8135/2009 A/duck/Germany/R8135/2009 A/facholara/n/baiA/AR439/2014 A/buck/Arbeara/Ma39/2014 A/duck/Albeara/Ma39/2014 A/duck/Albeara/Ma39/2014 A/duck/Albeara/Ma39/2014 A/duck/Albeara/Ma39/2014 A/duck/Albeara/Ma39/2014 A/bubara/DubaiA/R439/2014 A/bubara/DubaiA/R439



# **Additional file 2.** Nucleotide sequences encoding the HA endoproteolytic cleavage site of H7N7 highly pathogenic avian influenza viruses generated within this study.

A/chicken/Germany/"Taucha"/1979 A/Chicken/Germany/AR1385/2015 A/chicken/Germany/AR1413/2015 A/chicken/Germany/AR1488/1/2015 A/environmen/Germany/AR1536/2015 A/environment/Germany/AR1539/2015 A/environment/Germany/AR1540/2015 A/environment/Germany/AR1541/2015 A/environment/Germany/AR1541/2015 A/environment/Germany/AR1546/2015

A/chicken/Germany/"Taucha"/1979 A/Chicken/Germany/AR1385/2015 A/chicken/Germany/AR1413/2015 A/chicken/Germany/AR1488/1/2015 A/environmen/Germany/AR1530/2015 A/environment/Germany/AR1539/2015 A/environment/Germany/AR1540/2015 A/environment/Germany/AR1541/2015 A/environment/Germany/AR1541/2015

A/chicken/Germany/"Taucha"/1979 A/Chicken/Germany/AR1385/2015 A/chicken/Germany/AR1413/2015 A/chicken/Germany/AR1438/1/2015 A/environmen/Germany/AR1536/2015 A/environment/Germany/AR1539/2015 A/environment/Germany/AR1540/2015 A/environment/Germany/AR1541/2015 A/environment/Germany/AR1546/2015

1	10	20	30	40	50	60
1	1	L	1	1	1	E
AATGCCCCA	GATATGTGAA	ACAAGAGAGC	CTGCTACTGC	GCAACAGGGAI	GAAGAACGTT	C
AATGTCCGA	GATATGTTAA	GCAGGAGAGT	CTGATGCTAC	GCAACCGGAAT	GAAAAACGTT	C
TATGTCCGA	GATATGTTAA	GCAGGAGAGT	CTGATGCTAC	GCAACCGGAAT	GAAAAACGTT	C
TATGTCCGA	.GATATGTTAA	.GCAGGAGAGT	CTGATGCTAC	GCAACCGGAAT	GAAAAACGTT	С
TATGTCCGA	.GATATGTTAA	.GCAGGAGAGT	CTGATGCTAC	GCAACCGGAAI	GAAAAACGTT	С
TATGTCCGA	GATATGTTAA	GCAGGAGAGT	CTGATGCTAC	GCAACCGGAAT	GAAAAACGTT	С
TATGTCCGA	GATATGTTAA	GCAGGAGAGT	CTGATGCTAC	GCAACCGGAAT	GAAAAACGTT	C
TATGTCCGA	GATATGTTAA	GCAGGAGAGT	CTGATGCTAC	GCAACCGGAAI	GAAAAACGTT	C
TATGTCCGA	GATATGTTAA	GCAGGAGAGT	CTGATGCTAC	GCAACCGGAAT	GAAAAACGTT	C
TATGTCCGA	.GATATGTTAA	.GCAGGAGAGT	CTGATGCTAC	GCAACCGGAAT	GAAAAACGTT	С
61	70	80	90	100	110	120
CTGAAATTC	CAAAAAAGAA	AAAGAAAAAG	AGAGGCTTA7	TTGGTGCCAT	AGCGGGTTTT	A
CTGAAATCC	СААА	GAGAAAGAGA	AGAGGCCTAT	TTGGTGCTAT	AGCGGGATTC	A
CTGAAATCC	СААА	GAGAAAGAGA	AGAGGCCTAT	TTGGTGCTAT	AGCGGGATTC	A
CTGAAATCC	СААА	GAGAAAGAGA	AGAGGCCTAT	TTGGTGCTAT	AGCGGGATTC	A
CTGAAATCC	СААА	GAGAAAGAGA	AGAGGCCTAT	TTGGTGCTAT	AGCGGGATTC	A
CTGAAATCC	СААА	GAGAAAGAGA	AGAGGCCTAT	TTGGTGCTAT	AGCGGGATTC	A
CTGAAATCC	СААА	GAGAAAGAGA	AGAGGCCTAT	TTGGTGCTAT	AGCGGGATTC	A
CTGAAATCC	СААА	GAGAAAGAGA	AGAGGCCTAT	TTGGTGCTAT	AGCGGGATTC	A
CTGAAATCC	СААА	GAGAAAGAGA	AGAGGCCTAT	TTGGTGCTAT	AGCGGGATTC	A
CTGAAATCC	СААА	GAGAAAGAGA	AGAGGCCTAT	TTGGTGCTAT	AGCGGGATTC	A
121	130	140	150	160	187	
TTGAAAATG	GGTGGGAAGG	TCTGATTGA-		Bmd	and probe	
TTGAAAATG	GATGGGAAGG	CCTGATTGAC	GGATGGTAT	GCTT	192	
TTGAAAATG	GATGGGAAGG	CCTGATTGAC	GGATGGTAG	FCTCA		
TTGAAAATG	GATGGGAAGG	CCTGATTGAC	GGATGGTAG	GCTCA		
TTGAAAATG	GATGGGAAGG	CCTGATTGAC	GGATGGTAG	GCTCA		
TTGAAAATG	GATGGGAAGG	CCTGATTGAC	GGATGGTAG	GCTCA		
TTGAAAATG	GATGGGAAGG	CCTGATTGAC	GGATGGTAG	GCTCA		
TTGAAAATG	GATGGGAAGG	CCTGATTGAC	GGATGGTAGC	GCTCA		
TTGAAAATG	GATGGGAAGG	CCTGATTGAC	GGATGGTAG	FCTCA		
TTGAAAATG	GATGGGAAGG	CCTGATTGAC	GGATGGTAG	ADTCA		

# 4.2 PUBLICATION II

Novel real-time PCR-based patho- and phylotyping of potentially zoonotic avian influenza A subtype H5 viruses at risk of incursion into Europe in 2017

Mahmoud M. Naguib<sup>1,2</sup>, Annika Graaf<sup>1</sup>, Andrea Fortin<sup>3</sup>, Christine Luttermann<sup>4</sup>, Ulrich Wernery<sup>5</sup>, Nadim Amarin<sup>6</sup>, Hussein A. Hussein<sup>7</sup>, Hesham Sultan<sup>8</sup>, Basem Al Adhadh<sup>9</sup>, Mohamed K. Hassan<sup>2</sup>, Martin Beer<sup>1</sup>, Isabella Monne<sup>3</sup>, Timm C. Harder<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Institute of Diagnostic Virology, Friedrich Loeffler Institute, Greifswald-Riems, Germany
<sup>2</sup> National Laboratory for Veterinary Quality Control on Poultry Production, Animal Health Research Institute, Giza, Egypt
<sup>3</sup> Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale delle Venezie, Padua, Italy
<sup>4</sup> Institute of Immunology, Friedrich Loeffler Institute, Greifswald-Riems, Germany
<sup>5</sup> Central Veterinary Research Laboratory (CVRL), Dubai, United Arab Emirates
<sup>6</sup> Boehringer Ingelheim, Dubai, United Arab Emirates
<sup>7</sup> Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Cairo University, Giza, Egypt
<sup>8</sup> Birds and Rabbits Medicine Department, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Sadat City University, Egypt

<sup>9</sup> Central Veterinary Laboratory, Ministry of Agriculture, Baghdad, Iraq

*Euro Surveillance* Article number: 22 (2017) doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2017.22.1.30435

## **RESEARCH ARTICLE**

# Novel real-time PCR-based patho- and phylotyping of potentially zoonotic avian influenza A subtype H5 viruses at risk of incursion into Europe in 2017

MM Naguib 12, A Graaf 1, A Fortin 3, C Luttermann 4, U Wernery 5, N Amarin 6, HA Hussein 7, H Sultan 8, B Al Adhadh 9, MK Hassan<sup>2</sup>, M Beer<sup>1</sup>, I Monne<sup>3</sup>, TC Harder<sup>1</sup>

- 1. Institute of Diagnostic Virology, Friedrich Loeffler Institute, Greifswald-Riems, Germany
- National Laboratory for Veterinary Quality Control on Poultry Production, Animal Health Research Institute, Giza, Egypt
   Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale delle Venezie, Padua, Italy
   Institute of Immunology, Friedrich Loeffler Institute, Greifswald-Riems, Germany

- Central Veterinary Research Laboratory (CVRL), Dubai, United Arab Emirates
- Central Veterinary Research Laboratory (Critic), 200
   Boehringer Ingelheim, Dubai, United Arab Emirates
   Gizo University, Gizo
- Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Cairo University, Giza, Egypt
- Birds and Rabbits Medicine Department, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Sadat City University, Egypt
   Central Veterinary Laboratory, Ministry of Agriculture, Baghdad, Iraq

Correspondence: Timm Harder (timm.harder@fli.bund.de)

Citation style for this article: Naguib MM, Graaf A, Fortin A, Luttermann C, Wernery U, Amarin N, Hussein HA, Sultan H, Al Adhadh B, Hassan MK, Beer M, Monne I, Harder TC. Novel real-time PCR-based patho- and phylotyping of potentially zoonotic avian influenza A subtype H5 viruses at risk of incursion into Europe in 2017. Euro Surveill. 2017;22(1):pii=30435. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2017.22.1.30435

Article submitted on 30 November 2016 / accepted on 20 December 2016 / published on 05 January 2017

Since November 2016, Europe witnesses another wave of incursion of highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) A(H5) viruses of the Asian origin goose/ Guangdong (gs/GD) lineage. Infections with H5 viruses of clade 2.3.4.4b affect wild bird and poultry populations. H5 viruses of clades 2.2, 2.3.1.2c and 2.3.4.4a were detected previously in Europe in 2006, 2010 and 2014. Clades 2.2.1.2 and 2.3.2.1.c are endemic in Egypt and Western Africa, respectively and have caused human fatalities. Evidence exists of their cocirculation in the Middle East. Subtype H5 viruses of low pathogenicity (LPAI) are endemic in migratory wild bird populations. They potentially mutate into highly pathogenic phenotypes following transmission into poultry holdings. However, to date only the gs/ GD H5 lineage had an impact on human health. Rapid and specific diagnosis marks the cornerstone for control and eradication of HPAI virus incursions. We present the development and validation of five real-time RT-PCR assays (RT-qPCR) that allow sequencing-independent pathotype and clade-specific distinction of major gs/GD HPAI H5 virus clades and of Eurasian LPAI viruses currently circulating. Together with an influenza A virus-generic RT-qPCR, the assays significantly speed up time-to-diagnosis and reduce reaction times in a OneHealth approach of curbing the spread of gs/ **GD HPAI viruses.** 

## Introduction

Influenza A viruses constitute a virus species in the family Orthomyxoviridae. They harbour single-stranded negative-sense RNA arranged into eight genomic segments. Members of this species which infect avian hosts (avian influenza viruses, AIV) are grouped into 16 (H1 to H16) and 9 (N1 to N9) subtypes, respectively, based on phylogenetic and antigenic properties of their haemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA) envelope glycoproteins [1]. Different species of aquatic wild birds are the natural reservoirs for all AIV subtypes. Novel subtypes and gene constellations continue to evolve in aquatic wild birds or in infected poultry populations by genetic reassortment during infection of a single host cell with two or more distinct AIV genotypes. In addition to reassortment, the intrinsically error-prone influenza virus genome replication machinery promotes the generation of quasi-species that can be shaped by directional selection pressures, e.g. following host species switches or by specific herd immunity. In the latter case, antigenic drift variants are selected that may escape immunity by very few amino acid substitutions in the HA [2].

Based on their virulence in galliform poultry (e.g. chicken, turkey), AIV are distinguished into groups of highly pathogenic (HP) and low pathogenic (LP) phenotypes [3]. Correct AI diagnosis includes determining the HA subtype and, in case of subtypes H<sub>5</sub> or H<sub>7</sub>, also the pathotype. So far, HPAI phenotypes detected in the field (i.e. 'free' natural environment), were only described among AIV of subtypes H5 and H7 [4]. Some of these viruses including those of the HPAI H5 goose/ Guangdong (gs/GD) lineage that emerged in southern China in 1996, have zoonotic potential and are sporadically transmitted from infected birds to humans [5,6]. HPAI viruses of the gs/GD lineage have continued to circulate and evolved into numerous clades. Viruses

## FIGURE 1

 $\label{eq:compared} Evaluation of detection limits and precision of pathotyping and phylotyping quantitative reverse transcription PCRs compared with a generic matrix (M) gene RT-qPCR^a$ 



Cq: cycle of quantification; HPAI: highly pathogenic avian influenza; LPAI: low pathogenic avian influenza; M: matrix; RT-qPCR: quantitative reverse transcription PCR.

The detection limit was determined based on triplicate analyses of serial 10-fold dilutions of target RNA of reference viruses: HPAI H5: A/duck/Egypt/AR236-A3NLQP/2015 (H5N1); LPAI H5: A/teal-Foehr/Wv1378-79/2003 (H5N2) (upper panel); HPAI H5 clade 2.2.1.2: A/duck/Egypt/AR236-A3NLQP/2015 (H5N1); clade 2.3.2.1: A/duck/Egypt/AR236-A3NLQP/2015 (H5N1); clade 2.3.2.1: A/duck/Egypt/AR236-A3NLQP/2015 (H5N1); and clade 2.3.2.1: A/duck/Egypt/AR236-A3NLQP/2015 (H5N2) (lower panel). A cut-off value of Cq 38 was chosen to calculate limits of detection and confidence intervals thereof.

<sup>a</sup> Described in [29].

www.eurosurveillance.org

2

# Results – Novel real-time PCR-based patho- and phylotyping of potentially zoonotic avian influenza A subtype H5 viruses at risk of incursion into Europe in 2017

#### FIGURE 2

Pathotyping and phylotyping of virus isolates and clinical samples of potentially zoonotic Eurasian avian influenza A subtype H5 viruses by quantitative reverse transcription PCRs





Sample numbers in A and B refer to Table 3. Cq values obtained for each sample by M1.2 RT-qPCR are shown as black dots (panels A and B); Cq values obtained for each sample by the specific RT-qPCRs are depicted as follows: Panel A red lozenges - HPAI H5, green crosses - LPAI H5; panel B blue lozenges - clade 2.3.2.1, purple triangles - clade 2.3.2.1, ochre X5 - clade 2.3.4.4; panel C compares categorised Cq values obtained for all samples by M1.2 RT-qPCR (black box-and-whiskers) and the specific RT-qPCRs (colours as described for panels A and B).

of three major phylogenetic clades (2.2.1.2, 2.3.2.1 and 2.3.4.4) as well as of three further minor clades (1.1.2, 2.1.3.2 and 7.2) have become endemic in poultry populations in several countries in Asia, Africa and the Middle East [7]. Occasionally, spillover transmission from infected poultry may cause infection and viral spread in wild birds with increased mortality in some species. Infected migratory wild birds may spread such viruses across wider distances and act as the source of transmission back to poultry [7,8].

Europe has experienced several incursions by viruses of the gs/GD lineage over the past decade; both wild birds and poultry were affected but no human cases were reported [9]. This is in sharp contrast to Egypt and Asian countries where the endemicity of HPAI H5 viruses in poultry is associated with repeated spillover transmission to and infection of humans. In fact, the majority of human HPAI H5 cases worldwide were registered in Egypt [10,11]. Moreover, a new major clade, designated 2.2.1.2, evolved along with transient spread of an escape mutant-based lineage, 2.2.1.1, in this country [12].

Further potentially zoonotic gs/GD viruses of clade 2.3.2.1c are widespread in Central and Southern Asia and they were sporadically detected along the European Black Sea coast as well as in the Middle East [13-15]. In addition, viruses of this clade have caused major outbreaks among poultry in several Western African countries with ongoing virus circulation to date [16]. Interestingly, 2.3.2.1c viruses have not (yet) been reported from Egypt. Since 2010, another gs/GD cluster, termed 2.3.4.4, has evolved in eastern China

## TABLE 1

Primers and probes designed for differentiating pathotype and phylotype of Eurasian wild bird and goose/Guangdong origin potentially zoonotic avian influenza A subtype H5 viruses

Primer/Probe ID	Target	Sequence (5' to 3')	Location	Amplicon size	Accession number <sup>a</sup>	
H5_HP_EA_F1		CCTTGCDACTGGRCTCAG	984-1001			
H5_HP_EA_F2		TCCTTGCAACAGGACTAAG	983-1001			
H5_HP_EA_probe	nPAI n5	FAM- AAGAARAAARAGAGGACTRTTTGGAGCT-BHQ-1	1023-1050	109	EP104/540	
H5_HP_EA_R		GTCTACCATTCCYTGCCA	1092-1075			
H5LP-EA_F		CCCAAATACGTGAAATCAGAT	955-975			
H5LP1_EA_probe	LPAI H5	FAM-CCAAATAGYCCTCTYGTYTCT-BHQ-1	1052-1072	133	EPI356413	
H5LP-EA_R	] [	GCC ACC CTC CTT CTA TAA AG	1088-1069			
H5_2.2.1.2_Fw		CATTTTGAGAAAATTCAGATCATT	376-399			
H5_2.2.1.2_probe	Clade 2.2.1.2	FAM-TCCATACCARGGAAGATCCTCCTTT-BHQ-1	451-474	161	EPI573250	
H5_2.2.1.2_Rev	] [	GGTATGCATCGTTCTTTTGG	537-517			
H5_2.3.2.1_F		GAGATTGGTACCAAAAATAGCC	669-690			
H5_2.3.2.1_probe	Clade 2.3.2.1	FAM-ACGGGCAAAGTGGCAGGATAGATTTC-BHQ-1	707-732	146	EPI603577	
H5_2.3.2.1_R	] [	CAATGAAATTTCCATTACTCTCG	815-793			
H5_2.3.4.4_F_A		ATACCAGGGAGCATCCTCA	484-502			
H5_2.3.4.4_F_B	Clade	ATACCAGGGAACGCCCTCC	484-502		EDIssidas	
H5_2.3.4.4_probe	2.3.4.4	FAM-TCGTTCTTTTTGATGAGCCATACCACA-BHQ-1	540-560	114	281554005	
H5_2.3.4.4_R_A		ATTATTGTAGCTTATCTTTATTGTC	598-574			
H5_2.3.4.4_R_B		ATTATTGTAGCTTATCTTTATTGTT	598-574			

gs/GD: goose/Guangdong; HA: haemagglutinin; ID: identity.

<sup>a</sup> Accession number used to describe the position of the oligonucleotide along the HA gene. Sequences were obtained from GenBank at the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) or the EpiFlu database of the Global Initiative on Sharing Avian Influenza Data (GISAID).

and on the Korean peninsula [17]. These viruses have revealed a strong propensity to reassort with other influenza subtypes giving rise to novel HPAI sub- and genotypes including influenza A(H5N6) and A(H5N8). The latter subtype has proven to be highly mobile and was carried by infected wild birds to Europe and the North American continent in late 2014 [8,18]. In November 2016, HPAI H5N8 viruses of the 2.3.4.4 clade re-emerged on a large scale in wild birds in several central European countries and caused considerable mortality especially among diving duck species; sporadic incursions into poultry holdings were documented as well [19]. At the same time, this lineage was also detected in poultry in Israel [20].

Eurasian-origin LPAI subtype H5 viruses distantly related to the gs/GD lineage are routinely detected in aquatic wild bird populations with peak incidences during the autumn migration period [21]. Spillover of LPAI virus into poultry may cause notifiable outbreaks and bears the risk of the de novo generation of HP phenotypes following spontaneous mutations [3]. No human LPAI H5 virus infections have been reported so far. Continuous co-circulation in poultry and sporadic spillover into migratory wild bird populations of different endemic HPAI H5 virus lineages poses constant risks of new incursions into Europe by migrating wild birds or in association with (illegal) poultry trading practices [9]. Furthermore, co-circulation of various HPAI lineages with different antigenic properties potentiates problems of control and eradication. Given the zoonotic propensities of some of the H5 viruses, tight control of infections in poultry is essential to curtail risks of human infections and further spread [22,23]. Molecular diagnosis including patho- and phylotyping of the relevant AIV is an important prerequisite for effective control measures.

We developed rapid diagnostic solutions on the basis of quantitative reverse transcription real-time PCR assays (RT-qPCR), to pathotype, without sequencing, gs/GD lineage HPAI and Eurasian LPAI H5 subtype viruses, and to distinguish HPAI gs/GD viruses of clades 2.2.1.2, 2.3.2.1 and 2.3.4.4, including viruses of the ongoing 2016 epizootic in Europe.

www.eurosurveillance.org

#### TABLE 2

Reference viruses used to determine analytical specificity of five PCR assays to detect potentially zoonotic avian influenza subtype H5 viruses

		Accession	Patho- and	p- and PCR method <sup>b</sup>				
Referen	ce virus	number of HA <sup>a</sup>	Phylotype	HPAI H5	LPAI H5	Clade 2.2.1.2	Clade 2.3.2.1	Clade 2.3.4.4
1	A/turkey/Turkey/1/2005 (H5N1)	KF042153	HP Clade 2.2	Pos	Neg	Pos	Neg	Neg
2	A/chicken/Egypt/0879-NLQP/R737/2008 (H5N1)	GQ184238	HP Clade 2.2.1.1	Pos	Neg	Neg	Neg	Neg
3	A/chicken/Egypt/NLQP7FL-AR747/ 2013 (H5N1)	EPI557170	HP Clade 2.2.1.2	Pos	Neg	Pos	Neg	Neg
4	A/duck/Egypt/AR236-A3NLQP/2015 (H5N1)	EPI573260	HP Clade 2.2.1.2	Pos	Neg	Pos	Neg	Neg
5	A/turkey/Egypt/AR238-SD177NLQP/2014 (H5N1)	EPI573268	HP Clade 2.2.1.2	Pos	Neg	Pos	Neg	Neg
6	A/peregrine falcon/Dubai/AR3430/2014 (H5N1)	EPI603553	HP Clade 2.3.2.10	Pos	Neg	Neg	Pos	Neg
7	A/quail/Dubai/AR3445–2504.3/2014 (H5N1)	EPI603577	HP Clade 2.3.2.10	Pos	Neg	Neg	Pos	Neg
8	A/duck/Bangladesh/D3-AR2111/2013 (H5N1)	SAc	HP Clade 2.3.2.1a	Pos	Neg	Neg	Pos	Neg
9	A/turkey/Germany/AR2485–86/2014 (H5N8)	EPI552746	HP Clade 2.3.4.4a	Pos	Neg	Neg	Neg	Pos
10	A/turkey/Germany-MV/AR2472/2014 (H5N8)	EPI544756	HP Clade 2.3.4.4a	Pos	Neg	Neg	Neg	Pos
11	A/tufted duck/Germany/AR8444/2016 (H5N8)	EP1859212	HP Clade 2.3.4.4b	Pos	Neg	Neg	Neg	Pos
12	A/chicken/Indonesia/R132/2004 (H5N1)	EPI354072	HP Clade 2.1.1	Pos	Neg	Neg	Neg	Neg
13	A/chicken/Indonesia/R134/2003 (H5N1)	AM183669	HP Clade 2.1.1	Pos	Neg	Neg	Neg	Neg
14	A/chicken/Indonesia/R6o/2005 (H5N1)	AM183670	HP Clade 2.1.1	Pos	Neg	Neg	Neg	Neg
15	A/Vietnam/1194/2004 (H5N1)	GQ149236	HP Clade 1.1	Pos	Neg	Neg	Neg	Neg
16	A/chicken/GXLA/1204/2004 (H5N1)	AM183671	HP Clade 2.4	Pos	Neg	Neg	Neg	Neg
17	A/chicken/Vietnam/P41/2005 (H5N1)	AM183672	HP Clade 1.1	Pos	Neg	Neg	Neg	Neg
18	A/chicken/Vietnam/P78/2005 (H5N1)	AM183673	HP Clade 1.1	Pos	Neg	Neg	Neg	Neg
19	A/common teal/Germany/Wv1378– 79/2003 (H5N2)	HF563058	LP	Neg	Pos	Neg	Neg	Neg
20	A/duck/Germany/R1789/2008 (H5N3)	CY107849	LP	Neg	Pos	Neg	Neg	Neg
21	A/turkey/Germany/AR915/2015 (H7N7)	SAc	H7N7	Neg	Neg	Neg	Neg	Neg
22	A/chicken/Egypt/AR754-14/2013 (H9N2)	EPI557457	H9N2	Neg	Neg	Neg	Neg	Neg
23	A/chicken/Sudan/AR251–15/2014 (IBV)	KX272465	IBV	Neg	Neg	Neg	Neg	Neg
24	A/chicken/Egypt/AR254–15/2014 (NDV)	SAc	NDV	Neg	Neg	Neg	Neg	Neg

Cq: cycle of quantification; HA: haemagglutinin; HP: highly pathogenic; HPAI: highly pathogenic avian influenza; IBV: infectious bronchitis virus; LP: low pathogenic; LPAI: low pathogenic avian influenza; NDV: Newcastle disease virus; Neg: negative; Pos: positive; RT-qPCR: quantitative reverse transcription PCR; SA: sequences available.

<sup>a</sup> Sequences were obtained from GenBank at the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) or the EpiFlu database of the Global Initiative on Sharing Avian Influenza Data (GISAID).

<sup>b</sup> Positive results: Cq value in similar range as with influenza A virus generic M RT-qPCR; negative results: Cq v40. <sup>c</sup> Sequenced in the frame of the current study; sequences available from the authors upon request.

# Methods

## Virus isolates and clinical samples

A total of 24 reference virus isolates were obtained from the virus repositories at the Friedrich Loeffler Institute, Greifswald-Riems, Germany, or were provided by the National Laboratory for quality control on poultry production in Giza, Egypt, and by the Central Veterinary Research Laboratory (CVRL) in Dubai, United Arab Emirates (see also first table under Results).

Moreover, 106 field samples were included. These were obtained from holdings of different poultry sectors and wild birds from countries in Western Europe (Germany), the Middle East (Egypt, Iraq, United Arab Emirates) and Western Africa (Burkina Faso, Cameroon, Ghana, Ivory Coast, Niger), for HPAI viruses in the period between

# TABLE 3A

Pathotyping and phylotyping of different potentially zoonotic HPAI and LPAI influenza A subtype H5 virus isolates and field samples collected from poultry and wild bird species in different countries, 2013–2016

No.	Sample ID	Type of sample	Accession Number <sup>a</sup>	Clade	PCR results					
					M1.2	HPAI H5	LPAI H5	2.2.1.2	2.3.2.1	2.3.4.4
1	A/chicken/Egypt/NLQP33SD-AR748/2013	Isolate	EPI557178	HP 2.2.1.2	27.25	30.72	Neg	27.43	Neg	Neg
2	A/chicken/Egypt/NLQP2AL-AR749/2013	Isolate	EPI557186	HP 2.2.1.2	27.65	30.53	35.56	27.94	Neg	Neg
3	A/duck/Egypt/NLQP27SG-AR750/2013	Isolate	EPI557194	HP 2.2.1.2	28.01	30.01	Neg	27.41	Neg	Neg
4	A/chicken/Egypt/NLQP639V-AR752/2013	Isolate	EPI557202	HP 2.2.1.2	24.11	29.58	Neg	23.32	Neg	Neg
5	A/chicken/Egypt/NLQP20SL-AR751/2013	Isolate	EPI557210	HP 2.2.1.2	28.90	32.90	Neg	29.30	Neg	Neg
6	A/chicken/Egypt/NLQP139V-AR753/2013	Isolate	EPI557218	HP 2.2.1.2	33.32	34.13	Neg	33.51	Neg	Neg
7	A/quail/Egypt/BSU5514-AR2219/2014	Field sample	EPI557138	HP 2.2.1.2	15.12	22.12	Neg	15.47	Neg	Neg
8	A/chicken/Egypt/AR234-FAOF8NLQP/2014	Field sample	EPI573250	HP 2.2.1.2	28.60	31.95	Neg	28.75	Neg	Neg
9	A/turkey/Egypt/AR235-S240NLQP/2014	Field sample	EPI573252	HP 2.2.1.2	22.56	27.94	35.77	22.16	Neg	Neg
10	A/chicken/Egypt/AR3690A/2016	Field sample	SAb	HP 2.2.1.2	18.01	18.97	35.29	18.61	Neg	Neg
11	A/chicken/Egypt/AR3706/2016	Field sample	SA⁵	HP 2.2.1.2	19.27	22.98	Neg	20.13	Neg	Neg
12	A/chicken/Egypt/AR3707/2016	Field sample	SAb	HP 2.2.1.2	23.39	27.66	Neg	23.71	Neg	Neg
13	A/chicken/Egypt/AR3737/2016	Field sample	SAb	HP 2.2.1.2	19.53	24.16	Neg	20.58	Neg	Neg
14	A/chicken/Egypt/AR3741/2016	Field sample	SAb	HP 2.2.1.2	20.25	23.08	35.04	21.71	Neg	Neg
15	A/chicken/Egypt/AR3753/2016	Field sample	SA⁵	HP 2.2.1.2	21.22	26.21	35.55	23.10	Neg	Neg
16	A/seagull/Dubai/AR3443-2504.1/2014	Isolate	EPI603554	HP 2.3.2.1	15.62	16.32	Neg	Neg	15.72	Neg
17	A/stone curlew/Dubai/AR3444-2504.2/2014	Isolate	EPI603569	HP 2.3.2.1	13.81	14.72	Neg	Neg	14.70	Neg
18	A/duck/lvory Coast/15VIR2742-1/2015	Spleen and caecum	NA	HP 2.3.2.1	31.79	23.56	Neg	Neg	23.93	Neg
19	A/chicken/Ghana/15VIR2588-4/2015	Spleen	KU97137	HP 2.3.2.1	22.72	24.47	Neg	Neg	18.07	Neg
20	A/chicken/Ghana/15VIR2588-10/2015	Cloacal swab	KU971357	HP 2.3.2.1	26.24	26.80	Neg	Neg	24.61	Neg
21	A/chicken/Niger/15VIR2060-12/2015	Tracheal swab	KU971309	HP 2.3.2.1	25.50	25.08	Neg	Neg	24.37	Neg
22	A/chicken/Niger/15VIR2060-5/2015	Swab	KU971326	HP 2.3.2.1	23.08	21.00	Neg	Neg	20.35	Neg
23	A/domestic bird/Burkina Faso/15VIR1774-24/2015	Swab	KU971508	HP 2.3.2.1	21.05	29.03	Neg	Neg	24.01	Neg
24	A/domestic bird/Burkina Faso/15VIR1774-23/2015	Organ	KU971500	HP 2.3.2.1	21.01	30.83	Neg	Neg	24.72	Neg
25	A/chicken/Ghana/16VIR-4304-1/2016	Organ	SA <sup>b</sup>	HP 2.3.2.1	23.37	22.40	Neg	Neg	18.44	Neg
26	A/chicken/Ghana/16VIR-4304-25/2016	Organ	SAb	HP 2.3.2.1	15.51	15.62	Neg	Neg	12.00	Neg
27	A/chicken/Ghana/16VIR-4304-42/2016	Organ	SA <sup>b</sup>	HP 2.3.2.1	24.22	20.45	Neg	Neg	18.28	Neg
28	A/chicken/Ghana/16VIR-4304-9/2016	Organ	SAb	HP 2.3.2.1	21.70	21.00	Neg	Neg	10.13	Neg
20	A/duck/Cameroon/16VIR-3701-21/2016	Lungand trachea	SA <sup>b</sup>	HP 2 3 2 1	23.00	18.1/	Neg	Neg	17.08	Neg
20	A/chicken/Irag/AR5282/2016	Field sample	NA	HP 2 2 2 1	28.78	28.20	Neg	Neg	20.57	Neg
21	A/chicken/ Irag/AR5282/2016	Field sample	NΔ	HP 2 2 2 1	20.70	20.20	Neg	Neg	29.57	Neg
22	A/chicken//rad/AR5265/2016	Field sample	SAb	HP 2 2 2 1	28.21	28.10	26.50	Νοσ	28.16	Nog
22	A/chicken/Irag/AR5200/2010	Field sample	SAb	HP 2 2 2 1	28.05	27.08	Νοσ	Neg	26.80	Nog
24	A/chicken/Iraq/AR:201/2016	Field sample	SAb	HP 2 2 2 1	20.05	20.00	Neg	Neg	28.00	Neg
25	A/chicken/Irad/AR5201/2016	Field sample	NΔ	HP 2 2 2 1	29.29	29.09	26.22	Νρσ	20.09	Nog
26	A/chicken/Iraq/AR5292/2016	Field sample	S Ab	HP 2 2 2 1	28.60	28 21	Νοσ	Neg	28.52	Neg
27	A/turkey/Germany/AR2200/2016	Field sample	SAb	HP 2 2 4 4	20.00	26.48	26.71	Neg	Νοσ	24.61
28	A/turkey/Germany/AR2500/2014	Field sample	SAb	HP 2 2 4 4	27.70	20.40	Nor	Neg	Nog	24.01
20	A/turkey/Germany/AR2500/2014	Field sample	SAP	HP 2 2 4 4	29.59	27.44	Nog	Neg	Nog	25.20
39	A/turkey/Germany/AR2501/2014	Field sample	SVP SVP	HP 2 2 4 4	32.21	30.05	Nog	Neg	Nog	20.30
40	A/turkey/Germany/AR2502/2014	Field cample	SA <sup>b</sup>	HP 2.3.4.4	30.00	27.92	Neg	Neg	Neg	25.07
41	A/turkey/Germany/AR2503/2014	Field cample	SA <sup>b</sup>	ПР 2.3.4.4	30.52	20.21	110g	Neg	Neg	25.92
42	A/turkey/Germany/AR2502/2014	Field cample	SA SAb	HP 2 3 4 4	20.15	25.02	30.00	Nog	Nog	25.21
43	A/turkey/Germany/AR25/4/2014	Field comple	CAb	HP 2.3.4.4	27.49	30.23	30.30	Neg	Neg	20.01
44	A/tal/Cormany/AR2591/2014	Field comple	SA"	пр 2.3.4.4	28.09	30.00	37.13	Neg	Neg	20.57
45	A/teat/Germany/AR291//2014	Field comple	EDiscourt	ПР 2.3.4.4	31.60	30.08	30.82	Neg	Neg	35.41
40	A/turkey/Germany/AR3372/2014	Field comple	EP1553172	ПР 2.3.4.4	20.33	24.85	Neg	Neg	Neg	23.07
47	A/turkey/Germany/AK3376/2014	Field sample	5A <sup>o</sup>	HP 2.3.4.4	26.39	25.10	Neg	Neg	Neg	23.12
48	A/turkey/Germany/AK3381/2014	Field sample	5A°	HP 2.3.4.4	26.85	25.26	Neg	Neg	Neg	23.40
49	A/turkey/Germany/AK3382/2014	Field sample	5A <sup>o</sup>	HP 2.3.4.4	27.64	26.18	Neg	Neg	Neg	24.18
50	A/turkey/Germany/AR3383/2014	Field sample	5A"	HP 2.3.4.4	29.26	28.13	Neg	Neg	Neg	26.06
51	A/duck/Germany/AR3457/2014	Field sample	5A"	HP 2.3.4.4	30.29	29.30	Neg	Neg	Neg	28.34
52	A/duck/Germany/AR3465/2014	Field sample	SA <sup>®</sup>	HP 2.3.4.4	23.98	23.15	Neg	Neg	Neg	20.70
53	A/duck/Germany/AR3470/2014	Field sample	SA⁰	HP 2.3.4.4	22.15	23.89	Neg	Neg	Neg	21.78

HA: haemagglutinin; HP: highly pathogenic; HPAI: highly pathogenic avian influenza; ID: identity; LP: low pathogenic; LPAI: low pathogenic avian influenza; NA: sequence not available; Neg: negative; SA: sequence available.

<sup>a</sup> Sequences were obtained from GenBank at the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) or the EpiFlu database of the Global Initiative on Sharing Avian Influenza Data (GISAID).

<sup>b</sup> Sequenced in the frame of the current study; sequences available from the authors upon request.

www.eurosurveillance.org
2013 and 2016. Samples consisted mainly of oropharyngeal and/or cloacal swabs and tissues samples (n=70) or AIV isolated from such samples (n=36) (see also second table under Results).

A subsection of the 106 clinical samples (n=13) was provided as dried material on Whatman FTA card (Sigma Aldrich, Germany). Samples from Western African countries were exclusively assayed at the Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale delle Venezie, Padua, Italy.

### Design of primers and probes

Primers were chosen based on alignments of the HA H5 gene of a selection of influenza A virus sequences submitted over the past 10 years to GenBank at the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) or to the EpiFlu database of the Global Initiative on Sharing Avian Influenza Data (GISAID). Selected sequences represented Eurasian LP viruses and HP isolates and clades of the gs/GD lineage that were detected in Europe, the Middle East and Western Africa during the past decade. Selection of primers to amplify a small fragment of the HA gene spanning the endoproteolytic cleavage site aimed at being broadly inclusive so as to target as many of the published LP Eurasian H<sub>5</sub> HA sequences as possible and to distinguish them from HP viruses of the gs/GD lineage. The probes were placed directly onto the cleavage site in the attempt to specifically bind to sequences encoding either monoor polybasic patterns that distinguish LP and HP pathotypes, respectively (Table 1).

At first, sets of primers and probes were designed to detect and discriminate between HP and LP biotypes, i.e. Eurasian H5 viruses encoding a monobasic or a polybasic HA cleavage site. In addition, four different sets of primers and probes were developed to differentiate between gs/GD clades 2.2.1.2, 2.3.2.1 and 2.3.4.4 (A and B). Pre-selected primers were then screened in silico for their specificity properties using Shannon entropy plots implemented in the Entropy One soft-(http://www.hiv.lanl.gov/content/sequence/ware ENTROPY/entropy one.html). Oligont (oligont) were selected so as to retain full specificity for the selected clade and to maximise entropy against all other clades. Basic physical properties of oligont were checked using the online web interface Oligo Calculator version 3.27. The finally chosen oligont are shown in Table 1. Detailed results of the in silico analyses are available on request from the authors.

### One-step quantitative reverse transcription PCR assays

All reactions were performed using the AgPath-ID One-Step RT-qPCR kit (Thermofisher, scientific, United States) as follows: Reverse transcription at 45 °C for 10 min, initial denaturation at 95 °C for 10 min, 40 cycles of PCR amplification at 95 °C for 30 s, 58 °C for 15 s, and 72 °C for 15 s in a 25  $\mu$ l reaction mixture using 15 pmol of each forward and reverse primers and 5 pmol probe per reaction. For each parameter a separate reaction was used. Cycling was performed on a Biorad CFX96 Real-Time cycler (BioRad, Germany). Fluorescent signals were collected during the annealing phase, and the amplification data were analysed using Bio-Rad CFX Manager 3 software accessing automated fluorescence drift correction for baseline adjustment.

### Nucleotide sequencing and clade assignment

Patho- and phylotyping results obtained by newly developed RT-qPCRs were counter-checked by nt (nt) sequencing of the entire or parts of the HA gene of the respective isolates/clinical samples. Amplification of the HA gene was performed using primers published previously [24] and primers recommended in the European Union Diagnostic Manual for AI in a one-step RT-PCR [25]. In addition, amplificates of the HPAI H5 and LPAI H5 RT-qPCRs were used for sequencing purposes as well. Products were size-separated in agarose gels, excised and purified using the QIAquick Gel Extraction Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Purified PCR products were used for cycle sequencing reactions (BigDye Terminator v1.1 Cycle Sequencing Kit, Applied Biosystems, California, United States) the products of which were purified using NucleoSEQ columns (Macherey-Nagel GmbH and Co, Düren, Germany) and sequenced on an ABI PRISM 3130 Genetic Analyzer (Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany).

For pathotyping, deduced amino acid sequences of the endoproteolytical cleavage site of the HA gene were inspected and compared with the molecular pathotyping database provided by OFFLU [26]. Assignment of nt sequences to the gs/GD HPAI H5 virus clade system was performed by use of clade prediction tool implemented in the Influenza Research Database [27].

### Results

### Analytical specificity of pathotyping and phylotyping quantitative reverse transcription PCR assays

The specificity of the assays was evaluated with viral RNA from representative influenza A subtype H5 viruses that had been phylotyped based on full-length HA nt sequence analysis (Table 2). Furthermore, non-H5 subtypes, i.e. H9N2 and H7N7, as well as non-influenza avian viruses i.e. avian infectious bronchitis virus (IBV) and Newcastle disease virus (NDV) were employed (Table 2), and none of them was detected by any of the specific PCRs.

In the initial evaluation of the specificity of the pathotyping RT-qPCR assays carried out using two reference viruses: HPAI A/chicken/Egypt/AR236/2015 (H5N1, clade 2.2.1.2) and LPAI A/turkey/Germany/R2025/2008 (H5N3), specific reactivity exclusively with the homopathotypic virus was evident. In a second step, assays were extended to the full range of 24 reference viruses yielding a similar sharp distinction between HP and LP cleavage sites (Table 2).

#### TABLE 3B

Pathotyping and phylotyping of different potentially zoonotic HPAI and LPAI influenza A subtype H5 virus isolates and field samples collected from poultry and wild bird species in different countries, 2013–2016

No	Comple ID	Accession of the		PCR results						
NO.	Sample ID	Type of sample	Number <sup>a</sup>	Clade	M1.2	HPAI H5	LPAI H5	2.2.1.2	2.3.2.1	2.3.4.4
54	A/wild-duck/Germany/AR8603/2016	Field sample	SA <sup>b</sup>	HP 2.3.4.4b	22.51	22.90	Neg	Neg	Neg	21.14
55	A/greyleg goose /Germany/AR8604/2016	Field sample	SA⁵	HP 2.3.4.4b	22.41	22.30	Neg	Neg	Neg	20.26
56	A/greater scaup/Germany/AR9090/2016	Field sample	SA <sup>b</sup>	HP 2.3.4.4b	27.29	31.71	Neg	Neg	Neg	29.61
57	A/greater scaup/Germany/AR9091/2016	Field sample	SAb	HP 2.3.4.4b	28.95	34.40	Neg	Neg	Neg	31.74
58	A/greater scaup/Germany/AR9092/2016	Field sample	SA <sup>b</sup>	HP 2.3.4.4b	23.85	25.70	Neg	Neg	Neg	26.05
59	A/grey heron/Germany/AR9093/2016	Field sample	SAb	HP 2.3.4.4b	20.10	22.62	Neg	Neg	Neg	22.44
60	A/greater scaup/Germany/AR9094/2016	Field sample	SAb	HP 2.3.4.4b	16.31	20.62	Neg	Neg	Neg	18.92
61	A/greater scaup/Germany/AR9095/2016	Field sample	SAb	HP 2.3.4.4b	20.99	22.79	Neg	Neg	Neg	21.75
62	A/northern pintail /Germany/AR9096/2016	Field sample	SAb	HP 2.3.4.4b	22.83	28.12	Neg	Neg	Neg	23.95
63	A/bean goose/Germany/AR9097/2016	Field sample	SA⁵	HP 2.3.4.4b	22.97	24.88	Neg	Neg	Neg	24.92
64	A/herring gull /Germany/AR9098/2016	Field sample	SA⁵	HP 2.3.4.4b	20.40	22.35	Neg	Neg	Neg	23.64
65	A/mute swan/Germany/AR9099/2016	Field sample	SAb	HP 2.3.4.4b	21.12	25.83	Neg	Neg	Neg	22.75
66	A/chicken/Germany/AR9140/2016	Field sample	SAb	HP 2.3.4.4b	21.08	20.55	Neg	Neg	Neg	22.92
67	A/chicken/Germany/AR9141/2016	Field sample	SAb	HP 2.3.4.4b	21.21	20.13	Neg	Neg	Neg	23.12
68	A/chicken/Germany/AR9143/2016	Field sample	SAb	HP 2.3.4.4b	32.27	31.51	Neg	Neg	Neg	35.49
69	A/chicken/Germany/AR9144/2016	Field sample	SAb	HP 2.3.4.4b	21.89	20.89	Neg	Neg	Neg	25.92
70	A/chicken/Italy/22/1998	Isolate	CAP58165	LPAI H5N9	12.34	Neg	19.06	Neg	Neg	Neg
71	A/mallard/Germany/Wy1349-51K/2003	Isolate	CAP58164	LPAI H5N3	26.00	Neg	14.79	Neg	Neg	Neg
72	A/mallard/Germany/Wv476/2004	Isolate	NA	LPAI H5N2	29.87	Neg	29.5	Neg	Neg	Neg
72	A/mallard/Germany/Wv476-77K/2004	Isolate	NA	I PAL H5N2	20.6/	Neg	2/1.81	Neg	Neg	Neg
75	A/ostrich/Germany/R5-10/2006	Isolate	HE563057	I PAL HSN2	26.80	Neg	26.10	Neg	Neg	Neg
74	A/mallard/Germany/R2557/2006	Isolate	NA		26.24	Neg	27.61	Neg	Neg	Neg
75	A/mallard/Germany/R231/2008	Isolate	S Ab		20.24	Νοσ	22.20	Νρσ	Νοσ	Nog
70	A/mallard/Germany/R771/2008	Isolate	SAb		20.26	Neg	20.28	Νοσ	Neg	Nog
77	A/mallard/Germany/R771/2008	Isolate	SA CAD		29.24	Nog	30.20	Nog	Nog	Neg
70	A/mattaru/Germany/R/72/2008	Isolate	NA		23.00	Nog	24.50	Neg	Nog	Neg
79	A/turkey/Germany/R1550/2008	Isolate	NA		25.17	Nog	20.22	Neg	Neg	Neg
00	A/turkey/Germany/R1551/2008	Isolate	C Aba		24.03	Neg	24.91	Neg	Neg	Neg
01	A/turkey/Germany/R155//2008	Isolate	SA		23.50	Neg	24.10	Neg	Neg	Neg
82	A/turkey/Germany/R1612/2008	Isolate	NA CAb		27.43	Neg	29.25	Neg	Neg	Neg
83	A/turkey/Germany/R2014/2008	Isolate	SA	LPAI H5N3	24.33	Neg	21.99	Neg	Neg	Neg
84	A/turkey/Germany/R2015/2008	Isolate	SA	LPAI H5N3	15.69	Neg	30.13	Neg	Neg	Neg
85	A/turkey/Germany/R2016/2008	Isolate	SA	LPAI H5N3	18.13	Neg	15.96	Neg	Neg	Neg
86	A/turkey/Germany/R2017/2008	Isolate	SA	LPAI H5N3	18.32	Neg	16.92	Neg	Neg	Neg
87	A/turkey/Germany/R2018/2008	Isolate	SA®	LPAI H5N3	14.16	Neg	16.05	Neg	Neg	Neg
88	A/turkey/Germany/R2019/2008	Isolate	SA⁵	LPAI H5N3	14.55	Neg	16.84	Neg	Neg	Neg
89	A/turkey/Germany/R2020/2008	Isolate	SA <sup>D</sup>	LPAI H5N3	19.38	Neg	16.73	Neg	Neg	Neg
90	A/turkey/Germany/R2021/2008	Isolate	SA⁵	LPAI H5N3	12.71	Neg	13.51	Neg	Neg	Neg
91	A/turkey/Germany/R2022/2008	Isolate	SA⁵	LPAI H5N3	12.63	Neg	13.18	Neg	Neg	Neg
92	A/turkey/Germany/R2023/2008	Isolate	SA⁵	LPAI H5N3	19.37	Neg	17.07	Neg	Neg	Neg
93	A/turkey/Germany/R2024/2008	Isolate	SA <sup>b</sup>	LPAI H5N3	22.52	Neg	20.39	Neg	Neg	Neg
94	A/turkey/Germany/R2025/2008	Isolate	SA <sup>b</sup>	LPAI H5N3	22.44	Neg	25.22	Neg	Neg	Neg
95	A/turkey/Germany/R2026/2008	Isolate	SA <sup>b</sup>	LPAI H5N3	14.70	Neg	16.26	Neg	Neg	Neg
96	A/turkey/Germany/R2027/2008	Isolate	SA⁵	LPAI H5N3	17.80	Neg	16.06	Neg	Neg	Neg
97	A/mallard/Germany/R2892-94/2009	Isolate	EPI356412	LPAI H5N3	11.98	Neg	14.37	Neg	Neg	Neg
98	A/duck/Germany/AR1965/2013	Field sample	NA	LPAI H5N3	26.62	Neg	27.25	Neg	Neg	Neg
99	A/turkey/Germany/AR1892/1/2014	Field sample	SA⁵	LPAI H5N2	20.03	Neg	21.15	Neg	Neg	Neg
100	A/duck/Germany/AR1/2015	Field sample	SA⁵	LPAI H5N3	29.20	Neg	34.01	Neg	Neg	Neg
101	A/swan/Germany/AR111/2015	Field sample	SA⁵	LPAI H5N4	27.45	Neg	31.02	Neg	Neg	Neg
102	A/goose/Germany/AR398/2015	Field sample	SA⁵	LPAI	31.09	Neg	33.69	Neg	Neg	Neg
103	A/duck/Germany/AR1231/1/2015	Field sample	NA	LPAI H5N2	26.74	Neg	32.91	Neg	Neg	Neg
104	A/duck/Germany/AR2853/15-1/2015	Field sample	SAb	LPAI H5N3	27.06	Neg	26.25	Neg	Neg	Neg
105	A/goose/Germany/AR3264/1/2015	Field sample	SAb	LPAI H5N2	34.47	Neg	35.50	Neg	Neg	Neg
106	A/wild bird/Germany/AR221/2015	Field sample	SAb	LP H5N3	22.17	Neg	23.48	Neg	Neg	Neg

HA: haemagglutinin; HP: highly pathogenic; HPAI: highly pathogenic avian influenza; ID: identity; LP: low pathogenic; LPAI: low pathogenic avian influenza; NA: sequence not available; Neg: negative; SA: sequence available.

<sup>a</sup> Sequences were obtained from GenBank at the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) or the EpiFlu database of the Global Initiative on Sharing Avian Influenza Data (GISAID).

<sup>b</sup> Sequenced in the frame of the current study; sequences available from the authors upon request.

www.eurosurveillance.org

Primers and probes for phylotyping RT-qPCR assays distinguishing three clades of gs/GD origin HPAIV H5 were placed within the HA1-fragment of the HA gene. This region encodes the receptor binding unit and harbours a number of neutralisation-relevant epitopes that are targets of antigenic drift. Hence, the HA1 fragment harbours regions that are the least conserved within the influenza A virus genome. Primer selection aimed at the inclusion of as many as possible distinguishing nt that would define exclusivity at the five most 3' positions while probes were placed so as to accommodate distinguishing nt in the centre of the oligont. In order not to compromise amplification efficacy, amplicon size was limited to 130 nt wherever possible given the above mentioned constraints for primers and probes. The finally chosen oligont are listed in Table 1 and provided specific detection exclusively of the homologous clade. No cross-reactivity among the other gs/GD clades examined was evident on basis of the used panel of reference viruses (Table 2). Also, no cross-reactivity was detected for any of the five assays against other influenza A viruses or other avian viral respiratory pathogens (Table 2).

### Validation of the analytical sensitivity, limit of detection and precision

Detection limits of the assays were determined by testing 10-fold serial dilutions of viral RNA extracted from representative viruses of each of the three HPAI virus clades (2.2.1.2, 2.3.2.1 and 2.3.4.4), and of Eurasian H5 LPAI virus. Cycle of quantification (Cq) values were compared with a standard RT-qPCR for the matrix (M) gene of these viruses with a reported detection limit of 2 to 20 RNA copies/5  $\mu$ l [28]. Average values of three separate runs were computed and plotted using SigmaPlot V 11 software. Plotting these values revealed a linear relationship between the log of the viral RNA dilution and the Cq value for all assays and the kinetics of the assays and their sensitivity were determined to be very similar to the generic M gene RT-qPCR (M1.2 RT-qPCR [29]) (Figure 1).

The correlation coefficient of the standard curves was 0.99 for all assays, indicating a highly precise log-linear relationship between the viral RNA log dilution and the corresponding Cq-value (Figure 1). Based on these results the threshold distinguishing positive and negative was set at Cq = 38.

### Pathotyping and phylotyping of clinical samples of potentially zoonotic Eurasian avian influenza A subtype H5 viruses by quantitative reverse transcription PCR

In order to evaluate the diagnostic performance capacity of the developed assays, field samples (RNA extracted from swabs, tissues or FTA cards) and clinical virus isolates obtained during the period 2013 to 2016 (HPAI viruses) or 2003 to 2015 (LPAI viruses) were examined. The sample set was preselected on basis of a positive generic M-specific RT-qPCR.

Among the final set of 106 samples, the pathotyping RT-qPCRs sharply discerned two groups of 69 samples reacting only in the new HPAI H5 RT-qPCR while 37 samples reacted positive in the LPAI H5 RT-qPCR (Figure 2a; Table 3).

All pathotyping results matched the results obtained by nt sequence analysis of the HA cleavage site. However, in a few samples (two isolates, 10 clinical samples) of HP viruses, the LPAI H5 RT-qPCR also gave a weak positive signal (Cq>35). Compared with the LPAI H5 signal the HPAI H5 signal of these samples yielded Cq values 6–10 units lower on average ascertaining good diagnostic specificity. Depending on the clade, the HP phenotype was detected with equal (clade 2.3.2.1) or slightly reduced (clade 2.2.1.2) sensitivity; the LP H5 RT-qPCR appeared to be slightly less sensitive than the M PCR as far as clinical samples were concerned (Table 3; Figure 2a and c). Sequences across the cleavage sites of these samples are presented in a supplemental alignment (Figure 2).

In a next step, the samples that were designated HPAI H5-positive were subjected to the three phylotyping RT-qPCRs. Here, 15, 21 and 33 samples, respectively, were exclusively positive for either clade 2.2.1.2, 2.3.2.1 or 2.3.4.4 (Table 3). Thus, a clear cut clade assignment was possible for all gs/GD HP H5 samples. Results were counterchecked by feeding available HA sequences of these samples into the IRD clade prediction tool (www.fludb.org/brc/h5n1-Classifier.spg?met hod=ShowCleanInputPage&decorator=influenz): In all cases the same clade was assigned by sequence analysis and by PCR. In a final step also all LPAI H<sub>5</sub> samples were tested in the phylotyping RT-qPCRs and none of them cross-reacted. Regarding the sensitivity of these PCRs, the Cq values were compared with those of the generic M1.2-specific RT-qPCR (Figure 2b). For clade 2.2.1.2 and 2.3.2.1 the sensitivity was almost identical to the M PCR; for clade 2.3.4.4a, the clade-specific PCR proved to be slightly more sensitive while viruses of clade 2.3.4.4b were detected at a slightly lower sensitivity; detection of clade 2.3.4.4b viruses was slightly less sensitive than the M PCR (Figure 2b and c; Table 3) as far as clinical samples were concerned.

Rank Sum tests implemented in the SigmaPlot software package were performed and no statistically significant difference between the median Cq values of each specific assay and the M1.2 RT-qPCR assay was found (p>0,50) indicating that the newly developed RT-qPCRs display similar analytical sensitivity. Thus, the phylotyping RT-qPCRs allow a sensitive and highly specific detection and distinction of the three major gs/GD clades currently circulating in countries where the viruses were obtained from.

### Discussion

Rapid molecular diagnosis including patho- and phylotyping is basis to enable measures aimed at repressing the spread of potentially zoonotic HPAI viruses. The TagMan PCR technology has proven reliable, versatile, and comparatively cost-effective in the generic detection and subtype differentiation of AIV [30]. Further differentiation of clades, lineages and pathotypes was previously nearly entirely based on nt sequencing approaches which require expensive equipment and are time consuming. In epidemiologically complex settings where different lineages and pathotypes of potentially zoonotic and notifiable infectious agents co-circulate, a more rapid and direct access to testing and results, e.g. by using RT-qPCRs, is desirable. Although RT-qPCRs are inferior to sequencing techniques in terms of retrievable data details, they are superior with respect to time-to-diagnosis and ease-ofuse. This concept which we used earlier for pathotyping of H5N1 [31], was here further extended and refined for the identification and discrimination of avian influenza A subtype H<sub>5</sub> viruses of different patho- and phylotypes. The focus was put on those clades of H5 viruses (2.2.1.2, 2.3.2.1, 2.3.4.4) that had previously 'escaped' from Asia and were detected in western parts of Eurasia and in Africa.

Pathotyping of avian influenza A subtype H<sub>5</sub> viruses is mandatory from an animal health perspective. The pathotyping RT-qPCRs presented here reduce time-to-diagnosis to just three hours following sample receipt. To our knowledge this is the broadest and most detailed attempt of AIV pathotyping using RT-qPCR. The availability of highly sensitive pathotyping PCRs would also allow to detect mixtures of HP and LP H<sub>5</sub> viruses in the same sample; in fact, some of our HP-positive field samples also gave weak LP signals (Table 3, sample numbers 2, 9, 10, 14, 15, 30, 32, 35, 37, 42-5). Yet, LPAI pathotypes in these samples were detected at distinctly higher Cq values indicating either a minor population in a quasispecies of different pathotypes or expressing some cross-reactivity of LPAI primers and probe; in any case, the detection of HPAI genotypes as a major population in a set of field samples was always unequivocal. Further insight into the true nature of these mixtures would only be unravelled by deep sequencing approaches of those samples.

Rapid pathotyping enables rapid implementation of appropriate measures to prevent further spread of virus such as closure of poultry holdings and/or live poultry markets, culling of infected flocks etc. This impedes accumulation of potentially zoonotic AIV at the poultry-human interface which in turn lowers the risks of human infection.

Phylotyping of gs/GD HPAI H5 virus clades is important since each clade, and often also sublineages thereof, display distinct antigenic and pathogenetic properties. This has direct implications, as by assigning the matching clade, appropriate vaccines that ensure the closest antigenic match with the circulating viruses can be selected [32,33]. In particular, countries where gs/GD viruses have become endemic in poultry populations, rely on vaccination of poultry on a broad scale to suppress circulating viruses and to limit risks of human exposure [23]. However, it should be noted that mutant escape variants within these clades selected by vaccine-induced population immunity will not be detected as such by the assays, and in fact, such mutants may also be detected at lower sensitivity if primer and/ or probe binding sites are affected by mutations. Detection of variants will still depend on either nt sequencing or virus isolation/antigenic characterisation approaches but the newly developed assays will aid in selection of meaningful samples in this respect. In particular, samples that do not give conclusively similar Cq values in the generic and the specific assays should prompt in-depth analysis by nt sequencing.

It should be clearly stated that the assays presented here have limitations owed to the restricted geographical distribution of the targeted clades. The use of the newly developed PCRs in regions where viruses belonging to the targeted clades (2.2.1.2, 2.3.2.1c and 2.3.4.4) are reportedly absent is only recommended if immediate incursions with any of these clades are apprehended. Phylotyping indirectly may point towards zoonotic potential since different gs/GD lineages vary in their zoonotic propensity: Egyptian 2.2.1.2 viruses are characterised by increased affinity to human-like sialic acid receptors and have caused by far the largest number of human influenza A(H5N1) virus infections over the past decade [12]. For clade 2.3.2.1c viruses, repeatedly detected in the Middle East (excluding Egypt) and endemic in Western African countries, only few human cases have been recorded. The 2.3.4.4 viruses currently present in various parts of Europe have not provoked human infection so far [34].

Extended co-circulation of more than one gs/GD lineage in poultry and/or wild birds in a wider geographic region was repeatedly reported [35,36]. It is pivotal, for the above mentioned reasons, to detect incursions of distinct HPAI virus lineages in a timely manner. In this respect, the newly developed RT-qPCR assays were shown to be useful tools for an improved rapid and simple characterisation of patho- and phylotypes of Eurasian origin avian influenza A subtype H5 viruses. The assays aid in speeding up diagnosis on clinical samples because the time consuming (initial) need of virus isolation and nt sequencing is avoided. Given the high substitution rate of HP H5 influenza viruses frequent checks and, if required, updates of the primers and probes are recommended to ensure full specificity and sensitivity of the patho- and phylotyping RT-qPCRs. These PCRs are advantageous in particular for wild bird samples, especially those that contain LPAI viruses, often with low viral loads and therefore fail to yield replication-competent virus. With respect to HPAI virus, the renouncement from initial virus isolation improves biosecurity. However, the presented assays are not intended to replace virus isolation and antigenic characterisation as a means to detect emerging antigenic drift mutants. Nevertheless, they may aid in selection

of appropriate samples for such tasks. Accurate phylotyping also facilitates selection of appropriate vaccines as it serves as an early warning for the incursion of new and antigenically possibly distinct phylotypes.

### Conclusions

The assays reported here are primarily intended for screening purposes of avian samples; confirmatory assays, including nt sequence analyses and antigenic characterisation, are still required for new incursions and outbreak scenarios that feature an expansion of the geographic area and/or the range of affected species or poultry sectors. When used in the frame of on-going outbreaks, in particular in regions where vaccination is not used as a preventive measure, results of the patho- and phylotyping PCRs are deemed solid enough for reporting purposes and to justify the implementation of restriction measures. In such settings, similar to the current outbreaks of clade 2.3.4.4b HP H5N8 in Europe, the assays can be prioritised to running the HP and only one (i.e. the fitting) of the phylotyping PCRs on M1.2- and H5 PCR-positive samples. This significantly speeds up time-to-diagnosis and reduces reaction times in a OneHealth approach of repressing the spread of gs/GD HP AIV. Sequencing facilities, classically required for patho- and phylotyping, may not be available, and even not logistically accessible in many regions severely affected by H5 HPAI incursions. The prospect of having sequencing-independent, TaqMan-based specific and sensitive typing assays, as described here, available in developing regions is expected to boost regional diagnostic capacities eventually leading to improved disease control.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors greatly acknowledge Dr Joseph Adongo Awuni from Accra Veterinary Laboratory, Veterinary Services Directorate, Ministry of Food and Agriculture, Accra (Ghana), Dr Germaine L. Minoungou from the Laboratoire National d'Elevage in Ouagadougou (Burkina Faso), Dr Zangui Ibrahima Mahaman Sani and Dr Abdou Alassane from the LABOCEL - Laboratoire Central de l'Elevage, Niamey (Niger), Dr Emmanuel Couacy-Hymann from the Laboratoire Central de Pathologie Animale, Bingerville (Côte d'Ivoire) and Abel Wade from the National Veterinary Laboratory (LANAVET), Yaounde (Cameroon) for submitting samples to the Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale delle Venezie, Padova, Italy and for their interest in collaborating in the validation of the developed real-time RT-PCR assays. Field samples from Ghana, Côte d'Ivoire, Cameroon, Niger, Burkina Faso used to evaluate the diagnostic performance capacity of the developed assays were obtained through technical support provided by the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organisation (letter of agreement number 321149).

We wish to thank Aline Maksimov and Diana Wessler for excellent technical support. We are grateful to veterinarians and diagnosticians in Germany for submitting diagnostic samples.

We also gratefully acknowledge the authors, originating and submitting laboratories of the sequences from GISAID's EpiFlu Database used in this study; a detailed list of the respective sequences from the EpiFlu database is available on request from the authors.

### Conflict of interest

None declared. One of the authors (N.A.) works for Boehringer Ingelheim, Dubai, United Arab Emirates.

#### Authors' contributions

Mahmoud M. Naguib, Annika Graaf and Timm Harder conceived the study. Andrea Fortin, Ulrich Wernery, Nadim Amarin, Hussein A. Hussein, Hesham Sultan and Basem Al Adhadh were involved in the collection, initial analysis and provision of viruses and field samples. Christine Luttermann conducted the Sanger sequencing analyses. Mahmoud M. Naguib, Annika Graaf and Andrea Fortin produced, analysed and interpreted data. Timm Harder and Mahmoud M. Naguib drafted the manuscript. Isabella Monne, Martin Beer and all co-authors critically analysed and revised the manuscript and provided final approval.

#### References

- Cheung TK, Poon LL. Biology of influenza a virus. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2007;1102(1):1-25. DOI: 10.1196/annals.1408.001 PMID: 17470908
- Webster RG, Govorkova EA. Continuing challenges in influenza. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2014;1323(1):115-39. DOI: 10.1111/nya5.12462 PMID: 24891213
- França MS, Brown JD. Influenza pathobiology and pathogenesis in avian species.Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2014;385:221-42. DOI: 10.1007/82\_2014\_385 PMID: 25015786
- Wallace RG, Bergmann L, Kock R, Gilbert M, Hogerwerf L, Wallace R, et al. The dawn of Structural One Health: a new science tracking disease emergence along circuits of capital. Soc Sci Med. 2015;129:68-77. DOI: 10.1016/j. socscimed.2014.09.047 PMID: 25311784
- Malik Peiris JS. Avian influenza viruses in humans.Rev Sci Tech. 2009;28(1):161-73. DOI: 10.20506/rst.28.1.1871 PMID: 19618624
- Capua I, Munoz O. Emergence of influenza viruses with zoonotic potential: open issues which need to be addressed. A review.Vet Microbiol. 2013;165(1-2);7-12. DOI: 10.1016/j. vetmic.2013.01.044 PMID: 23567150
- Smith GJ, Donis RO. World Health Organization/World Organisation for Animal HF, Agriculture Organization HEWG. Nomenclature updates resulting from the evolution of avian influenza A(H5) virus clades 2.1.3.2a, 2.2.1, and 2.3.4 during 2013-2014.Influenza Other Respi Viruses. 2015;9(5):271-6. DOI: 10.1111/irv.12324
- Lycett S, Bodewes R, Pohlmann A, Banks J, Bányai K, Boni MF, et al., Global Consortium for H<sub>5</sub>N8 and Related Influenza Viruses. Role for migratory wild birds in the global spread of avian influenza H<sub>5</sub>N8. Science. 2016;354(6309):213-7. DOI: 10.1126/science.aaf8852 PMID: 27738169
- Adlhoch C, Gossner C, Koch G, Brown I, Bouwstra R, Verdonck F, et al. Comparing introduction to Europe of highly pathogenic avian influenza viruses A(H5N8) in 2014 and A(H5N1) in 2005. Euro Surveill. 2014;19(50):20996. DOI: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES2014.19.50.20996 PMID: 25597538
- Abdelwhab EM, Hassan MK, Abdel-Moneim AS, Naguib MM, Mostafa A, Hussein IT, et al. Introduction and enzootic of A/ H5N1 in Egypt: Virus evolution, pathogenicity and vaccine efficacy ten years on. Infect Genet Evol. 2016;40:80-90. DOI: 10.1016/j.meegid.2016.02.023 PMID: 26917362
- World Health Organization (WHO). Cumulative number of confirmed human cases for avian influenza A(H5N1) reported to WHO, 2003-2016. Geneva: WHO; 2016. [Accessed o1 Jan 2017]. Available from: http://www.who.int/influenza/ human\_animal\_interface/H5N1\_cumulative\_table\_archives/ en/.
- Arafa AS, Naguib MM, Luttermann C, Selim AA, Kilany WH, Hagag N, et al. Emergence of a novel cluster of influenza A(H5N1) virus clade 2.2.1.2 with putative human health impact in Egypt, 2014/15. Euro Surveill. 2015;20(13):2-8. DOI: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES2015.20.13.21085 PMID: 25860390
- Tosh C, Nagarajan S, Kumar M, Murugkar HV, Venkatesh G, Shukla S, et al. Multiple introductions of a reassortant H5M1 avian influenza virus of clade 2.3.2.1c with PB2 gene of H9N2 subtype into Indian poultry. Infect Genet Evol. 2016;43:173-8. DOI: 10.1016/j.meegid.2016.05.012 PMID: 27174088

- Bi Y, Chen J, Zhang Z, Li M, Cai T, Sharshov K, et al. Highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1 Clade 2.3.2.1c virus in migratory birds, 2014-2015. Virol Sin. 2016;31(4):300-5. DOI: 10.1007/S12250-016-3750-4 PMID: 27405930
- Naguib MM, Kinne J, Chen H, Chan KH, Joseph S, Wong PC, et al. Outbreaks of highly pathogenic avian influenza HSN1 clade 2.3.2.1c in hunting falcons and kept wild birds in Dubai implicate intercontinental virus spread. J Gen Virol. 2015;96(11):3212-2. DOI: 10.1099/jgv.0.000274 PMID: 26350163
- Tassoni L, Fusaro A, Milani A, Lemey P, Awmi JA, Sedor VB, et al. Genetically Different Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza A(H5N1) Viruses in West Africa, 2015. Emerg Infect Dis. 2016;22(12):2132-6. DOI: 10.3201/eid2212.160578 PMID: 27389972
- Claes F, Morzaria SP, Donis RO. Emergence and dissemination of clade 2.3.4.4 H5Nx influenza viruses-how is the Asian HPAI H5 lineage maintained.Curr Opin Virol. 2016;16:158-63. DOI: 10.1016/j.coviro.2016.02.005 PMID: 26991931
- Lee DH, Torchetti MK, Winker K, Ip HS, Song CS, Swayne DE. Intercontinental Spread of Asian-Origin H5N8 to North America through Beringia by Migratory Birds.] Virol. 2015;89(12):6521-4. DOI: 10.1128/JVI.00728-15 PMID: 25855748
- ProMED-mail. Avian influenza H5N8 Germany. Archive. 2016;4641281(: 20161119):19. Available from: http://www. promedmail.org/post/20161119.4641281
- 20. ProMED-mail. Avian influenza H5N8 Israel. Archive. 2016;4628359(: 20161114):14. Available from: http://www. promedmail.org/post/4628359
- Munster VJ, Baas C, Lexmond P, Waldenström J, Wallensten A, Fransson T, et al. Spatial, temporal, and species variation in prevalence of influenza A viruses in wild migratory birds. PLoS Pathog. 2007;3(5):e61. DOI: 10.1371/journal.ppat.0030061 PMID: 17500589
- 22. Peiris JS, Cowling BJ, Wu JT, Feng L, Guan Y, Yu H, et al. Interventions to reduce zoonotic and pandemic risks from avian influenza in Asia. Lancet Infect Dis. 2016;16(2):252-8. DOI: 10.1016/S1473-3099(15)00502-2 PMID: 26654122
- 23. Sims LD. Intervention strategies to reduce the risk of zoonotic infection with avian influenza viruses: scientific basis, challenges and knowledge gaps.Influenza Other Respi Viruses. 2013;7(Suppl 2):15-25. DOI: 10.1111/irv.12076 PMID: 24034479
- 24. Höper D, Hoffmann B, Beer M. Simple, sensitive, and swift sequencing of complete H5N1 avian influenza virus genomes.J Clin Microbiol. 2009;47(3):674-9. DOI: 10.1128/JCM.01028-08 PMID: 19109473
- 25. European Commission (EC). 2006/437/EC: Commission Decision of 4 August 2006 approving a Diagnostic Manual for avian influenza as provided for in Council Directive 2005/94/EC (notified under document number C(2006) 3477) (Text with EEA relevance). OJ L 237, 31.8.2006, p. 1-27. Brussels: EC; 2006. Available from: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ TXT/2uri=CELEX%3A32006D0437
- 26. World Organisation for Animal Health/Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (OIE/FAO). Network of expertise on animal influenza. Influenza A Cleavage sites. Paris/Rome: OIE/FAO; 2015. [Accessed o1 Dec 2016] Available from: http://www.offlu.net/fileadmin/home/en/resourcecentre/pdf/Influenza\_A\_Cleavage\_Sites.pdf
- 27. Influenza research database (IRD). [Internet]. Highly Pathogenic H5N1 Clade Classification Tool. [Accessed 21 Nov 2016]. Available from: https://www.fludb.org/brc/ h5n1Classifier.spg?method=ShowCleanInputPage&decorator= influenza
- 28. Hoffmann B, Harder T, Lange E, Kalthoff D, Reimann I, Grund C, et al. New real-time reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reactions facilitate detection and differentiation of novel A/H1N1 influenza virus in porcine and human samples. Berl Munch Tierarztl Wochenschr. 2010;123(7-8):286-92.PMID: 20690540
- Spackman E, Senne DA, Bulaga LL, Myers TJ, Perdue ML, Garber LP, et al. Development of real-time RT-PCR for the detection of avian influenza virus. Avian Dis. 2003;47(3) Suppl;1079-82. DOI: 10.1637/0005-2086-47.S3.1079 PMID: 14575115
- 30. Hoffmann B, Hoffmann D, Henritzi D, Beer M, Harder TC. Riems influenza a typing array (RITA): An RT-qPCR-based low density array for subtyping avian and mammalian influenza a viruses.Sci Rep. 2016;6:27211. DOI: 10.1038/srep27211 PMID: 27256976
- 31. Hoffmann B, Harder T, Starick E, Depner K, Werner O, Beer M. Rapid and highly sensitive pathotyping of avian influenza A H5N1 virus by using real-time reverse transcription-PCR.J Clin Microbiol. 2007;45(2):600-3. DOI: 10.1128/JCM.01681-06 PMID: 17182758
- 32. Ampofo WK, Azziz-Baumgartner E, Bashir U, Cox NJ, Fasce R, Giovanni M, et al. , WHO Writing Group. Strengthening

the influenza vaccine virus selection and development process: Report of the 3rd WHO Informal Consultation for Improving Influenza Vaccine Virus Selection held at WHO headquarters, Geneva, Switzerland, 1-3 April 2014.Vaccine. 2015;33(56):4368-82. DOI: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.06.090 PMID: 26148877

- Wong S-S, Webby RJ. Traditional and new influenza vaccines. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2013;26(3):476-92. DOI: 10.1128/ CMR.00097-12 PMID: 23824369
- 34. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Outbreak of highly pathogenic avian influenza. A(H5N8) in Europe – 18 November 2016. Stockholm: ECDC; 2016. [Accessed 21 Nov 2016] Available from: http://ecdc.europa.eu/ en/publications/Publications/risk-assessment-avian-influenza-H5N8-europe.pdf
- 35. Kis Z, Jones J, Creanga A, Ferdinand K, Inui K, Gerloff N, et al. Real-time RT-PCR assay to differentiate clades of H5N1 avian influenza viruses circulating in Vietnam. J Virol Methods. 2013;193(2):452-8. DOI: 10.1016/j.jviromet.2013.06.023 PMID: 23850699
- 36. Abdelwhab SM, Erfan AM, Grund C, Ziller M, Arafa A-S, Beer M, et al. Simultaneous detection and differentiation by multiplex real time RT-PCR of highly pathogenic avian influenza subtype H5N1 classic (clade 2.2.1 proper) and escape mutant (clade 2.2.1 variant) lineages in Egypt. Virol J. 2010;7(1):260. DOI: 10.1186/1743-422X-7-260 PMID: 20929539

### License and copyright

This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY 4.0) Licence. You may share and adapt the material, but must give appropriate credit to the source, provide a link to the licence, and indicate if changes were made.

This article is copyright of the authors, 2017.

www.eurosurveillance.org

### 4.3 PUBLICATION III

# From low to high pathogenicity—Characterization of H7N7 avian influenza viruses in two epidemiologically linked outbreaks

Klaas Dietze<sup>1\*</sup>, Annika Graaf<sup>1\*</sup>, Timo Homeier-Bachmann, Christian Grund<sup>1</sup>, Leonie Forth<sup>1</sup>, Anne Pohlmann<sup>1</sup>, Christa Jeske<sup>2</sup>, Mattis Wintermann<sup>3</sup>, Martin Beer<sup>1</sup>, Franz J. Conraths<sup>1</sup>, Timm Harder<sup>1</sup>

\*These authors contributed equally.

<sup>1</sup> Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut, Greifswald, Germany

<sup>2</sup> Niedersächsisches Landesamt für Verbraucherschutz und Lebensmittel-sicherheit (LAVES),

Wardenburg, Germany

<sup>3</sup> Veterinäramt, Landkreis Emsland, Meppen, Germany

Transboundary and Emerging Diseases Article number: 00 (2018) doi: 10.1111/tbed.12906

Received: 22 December 2017 Revised: 9 April 2018 Accepted: 13 April 2018

#### DOI: 10.1111/tbed.12906

### ORIGINAL ARTICLE

WILEY Transboundary and Emerging Diseases

### From low to high pathogenicity—Characterization of H7N7 avian influenza viruses in two epidemiologically linked outbreaks

Klaas Dietze<sup>1\*</sup> | Annika Graaf<sup>1\*</sup> | Timo Homeier-Bachmann<sup>1</sup> | Christian Grund<sup>1</sup> | Leonie Forth<sup>1</sup> | Anne Pohlmann<sup>1</sup> | Christa Jeske<sup>2</sup> | Mattis Wintermann<sup>3</sup> | Martin Beer<sup>1</sup> | Franz J. Conraths<sup>1</sup> | Timm Harder<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut, Greifswald, Germany <sup>2</sup>Niedersächsisches Landesamt für

Verbraucherschutz und Lebensmittelsicherheit (LAVES), Wardenburg, Germany <sup>3</sup>Veterinäramt, Landkreis Emsland, Meppen,

Germany

Correspondence Klaas Dietze, Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut, Institute of Epidemiology, Südufer 10, 17493 Greifswald – Insel Riems, Germany. Email: klaas.dietze@fli.de

Funding information European Union's Horizon 2020 programme, Grant/Award Number: 643476

### Abstract

The ability of low pathogenic (LP) avian influenza viruses (AIV) of the subtypes H5 and H7 to mutate spontaneously to highly pathogenic (HP) variants is the main reason for their stringent control. On-the-spot evidence from the field of mutations in LPAIV to render the virus into nascent HP variants is scarce. Epidemiological investigations and molecular characterization of two spatiotemporally linked outbreaks caused by LP, and subsequently, HPAIV H7N7 in two-layer farms in Germany yielded such evidence. The outbreaks occurred within 45 days on farms 400 m apart. The LP progenitor virus was identified on both farms, with its putative HP inheritor cocirculating and then dominating on the second farm. As postulated before, mutations in the hemagglutinin cleavage site (HACS) proved to be the most decisive change in the genome of HPAIV, in this case, it was mutated from monobasic (LP) PEIPKGR\*GLF into polybasic (HP) PEIPKRKRR\*GLF. The full-length genome sequences of both viruses were nearly identical with only ten coding mutations outside the HACS scattered along six genome segments in the HPAIV. Five of these were already present as minor variants in the LPAIV quasispecies of the LPAI-only affected farm. H7-specific seroconversion of part of the chicken population together with the codetection of LPAIV HACS sequences in swab samples of the HPAI outbreak farm suggested an initial introduction of the LP progenitor and a subsequent switch to HPAIV H7N7 after the incursion. The findings provide rare field evidence for a shift in pathogenicity of a notifiable AIV infection and re-inforce the validity of current approaches of control measures to curtail low pathogenic H5 and H7 virus circulation in poultry.

### KEYWORDS

avian influenza, disease control, H7, molecular epidemiology, outbreak investigation, pathogenicity, quasispecies

\*These authors contributed equally.

Transbound Emerg Dis. 2018;1-12.

2 WILEY-Transboundary and Emercing Diseases

### 1 | INTRODUCTION

Avian influenza virus (AIV) infections represent one of the most dominant and complex animal health threats in global poultry production. The viruses that are grouped within the genus Orthomyxovirus of the Orthomyxoviridae family are further classified into subtypes based on antigenic properties of the hemagglutinin (HA) and the neuraminidase (NA) surface glycoproteins. Besides the antigenic HA and NA classification, AIV can be classified according to their virulence in chicken into low pathogenic avian influenza viruses (LPAIV) and high pathogenic avian influenza viruses (HPAIV). The majority of known AIV is low pathogenic causing minimal or no adverse health effects in poulty. One of the decisive events at genome level for a shift in pathogenicity is the acquisition of basic amino acids at the hemagglutinin cleavage site (HACS). So far, only H5 and H7 AI viruses, but no other subtypes, have been observed to acquire such mutations under natural circumstances (Alexander, 2000). The emergence of such mutations, leading to the conversion of a trypsin-like protease cleavage site in LPAIV to a subtilisin-sensitive one in HPAIV, may result from substitution or insertion of purine nucleobases encoding basic amino acids lysine and/or arginine at the region of the cleavage site (CS) of the HA (Abdelwhab, Veits, & Mettenleiter, 2013) or from segmental insertional recombination with similar effects (Suarez et al., 2004). With respect to function, these mutations render the HACS accessible to subtilisin-like proteases and, hence, allow systemic viral replication. In contrast, replication of LPAIV expressing a trypsin-sensitive HACS is confined to epithelia of the respiratory and gastrointestinal tracts (Spackman, 2008).

In consequence, regardless of their actual pathogenicity, occurrence of viruses belonging to the subtypes H5 and H7 is notifiable and has to be addressed with control measures aiming at the reduction of disease spread and eventually to achieve eradication (OIE, 2015a). Within the European Union, control measures addressing notifiable AI (i.e., infections with subtypes H5 and H7) are defined in Council directive 2005/94/EC (Anonymous, 2005). While the control of HPAIV is indisputably justified by their detrimental impact on poultry production, the rationale for the stringent control of LPAIV cannot directly be associated with either an immediate impact on the poultry sector or potential zoonotic implications (with the sole exception of highly zoonotic LPAIV H7N9 strains in China (Gao et al., 2013)). Instead, it is based on the evidence that H5 and H7 LPAIV may represent progenitor viruses of HPAIV variants that result from spontaneous mutations of the former. LPAIV are widely circulating among aquatic wild bird species that form the natural reservoir for these viruses (Munster & Fouchier, 2009). Wild birdlivestock interactions may lead to spillovers of infections to domestic poultry, mainly ducks and geese in first instance. At last, after a phase of adaptation, stable and efficient replication may be established including the further adaptation to gallinaceous birds, which is believed to be a prerequisite to an increased risk of mutation to HPAIV variants (Campitelli et al., 2004; Lebarbenchon & Stallknecht, 2011; Verhagen et al., 2017).

Phylogenetic analyses of subtype H5 and H7 viruses revealed the development of geospatially confined lineages within LPAIV, but not HPAIV pathotypes, supporting the hypothesis of their evolution from single-specific LP progenitors (Abdelwhab, Veits, & Mettenleiter, 2014; Lebarbenchon & Stallknecht, 2011). Monne et al. (Monne et al., 2014) have shown the evolution of LPAI viruses within a larger epizootic including the emergence of an HPAI variant rooting in the LPAIV quasispecies cloud.

In 2015, four incursions of subtype H7N7 LPAIV into poultry as well as the de novo generation of H7 HPAI viruses in two cases have been reported in Europe: two outbreaks in Germany, one outbreak each in the Netherlands and in the United Kingdom (Figure 1). The Animal and Plant Health Agency of the United Kingdom (Anonymous, 2015) published details on an H7N7 HPAI outbreak, where a combination of epidemiological and molecular data led to the conclusion that the pathogenicity shift from LPAI to HPAI had happened directly on the HPAI-infected premises. While it was possible to detect evidence of LPAI infection through serological findings and LPAI genome detection in this particular case, no epidemiologically connected active LPAI infection was found. Outbreaks caused by infections with H7N8 LPAIV and a closely related H7N8 HPAIV variant during the same epidemic have also recently been described in the United States of America (Killian et al., 2016; Lee, Torchetti, Killian, & Swayne, 2017). Phylogenetic characterization suggested the HPAI outbreak resulted from spontaneous mutation of the circulating LPAI progenitor. However, in this case, details on the LPAIV incursion on the HPAI outbreak farm are missing. A further example of indications on matching pairs of H7N7 LPAI precursor and HPAI mutant viruses was reported in Spain in 2009-2010, where the progenitors of the HPAIV strains were simultaneously circulating in wild birds yet lacking a geographic linkage (Iglesias, Martinez, Munoz, de la Torre, & Sanchez-Vizcaino, 2010). These examples underline the challenges to gather complete epidemiological and molecular evidence, whereby narrowing the spatiotemporal window to the single epidemiological event of the actual mutation from the LPAI progenitor to an emerging HPAIV variant (Abbas et al., 2010; Banks et al., 2001: Pasick et al., 2005).

The here presented study allowed us to have a closer look at a LP-to-HP emergence event in chicken layer flocks in Lower Saxony, Germany, based on detailed epidemiological and molecular investigations initiated to control a HPAI outbreak.

### 2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

### 2.1 | Epidemiological investigations and sample collection

Epidemiological investigations fulfilling the requirements of the Council Directive 2005/94/EC (Anonymous, 2005) were performed on two farms in the municipality of Herzlake in Lower Saxony, Germany, initiated in response to the notification of the local veterinary authorities of suspected AIV H7N7 infections in two-layer flocks.

### DIETZE ET AL.

#### DIETZE ET AL.





Investigations aiming at the identification of potential sources of infection comprised of an on-farm assessment of the farming structure and structured interviews with the farm manager and the local veterinarian. Additional information was retrieved from production records, invoices and movement data of transport vehicles and livestock professionals visiting the holding. Samples for official disease confirmation were collected according to the Commission Decision 2006/437/EC (Anonymous, 2006) consisting of native oropharyngeal and cloacal swabs as well as serum samples. In addition, environmental samples were taken as part of detailed epidemiological follow-up investigations. An overview of the total numbers of samples is provided in the Supplemental Table S1. All farms located in the established restriction zones underwent examination to confirm freedom of AI by the veterinary authorities after zones had been established and before they were lifted.

### 2.2 Detection, molecular sub- and pathotyping of AIV RNA

RNA was extracted from samples using the QlAamp Viral RNA Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions and stored at -20°C until use. By real-time RT-PCR (RT-qPCR), presence of the influenza A virus matrix (M) gene was confirmed using primers and probes following the protocol of Hoffmann et al. (Hoffmann et al., 2010). AIV-positive samples were further examined by means of an H7- and H5-specific RT-qPCR, respectively (Hoffmann, Hoffmann, Henritzi, Beer, & Harder, 2016). While no evidence of H5-specific RNA was obtained, H7-positive samples were pathotyped using newly developed RT-qPCRs that allow rapid differentiation between LP and HP H7 virus strains by probe-assisted detection of the HA cleavage site; amplicons produced from these RNAs by H7-specific RT-qPCR analysis were further used for sequence analysis of the H7 HACS using the H7-specific reverse primer mix for Sanger sequencing (Graaf, Beer, & Harder, 2017). The RT-qPCR reactions were performed in 25  $\mu$ l volumes using SuperScript® III One-Step RT-PCR kit with Platinum® Taq DNA Polymerase (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA) on a CFX96 thermocycler machine (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, USA).

### 2.3 Virus isolation

Virus isolation from selected cloacal and tracheal swab samples that had tested positive for AIV subtype H7 in the RT-qPCR was performed in 10-day-old specific pathogen-free (SPF) chicken eggs according to standard protocols. After five days of incubation at 37°C, allantoic fluids were assayed for haemagglutinating activity (HA) (OIE, 2015b). The identities of sub- and pathotypes were confirmed by HACS sequence analysis using pan-HA and pan-NA RT-PCR assays as described by Gall et al. (Gall, Hoffmann, Harder, Grund, & Beer, 2008). Isolates were stored at  $-70^{\circ}$ C until further use.

#### 2.4 In vivo pathotyping

Pathogenicity was determined by measuring the intravenous pathogenicity index (IVPI) test following the IVPI protocol of the OIE (OIE, 2015a). Ten specific pathogen-free (SPF) 6-week-old chickens were inoculated intravenously with 0.1 ml of the egg-passaged H7 isolates diluted 1:10 with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). For 10 days, clinical signs were monitored. At each daily observation, every chicken was scored 0 (normal/healthy), 1 (sick), 2 (severely sick) or 3 (dead). The animal trials for the standardized in vivo pathotyping were approved by the State Office for Agriculture, Food Safety and Fisheries of Mecklenburg-Wester Pomerania, Rostock, Germany (reference number: LALLF M-V/TSD/7221.3-2.2-005/11).

## 4 WILEY - Transboundary and Emergine Diseases

### 2.5 Detection of H7-specific antibodies by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and hemagglutination inhibition assay

After heat inactivation (30 min, 56°C), chicken sera obtained from both poultry holdings were tested to detect antibodies against the AIV nucleoprotein (NP) using a Influenza A Antibody Competition ELISA (ID Screen®, IDVET, Grabels, France) according to the manufacturer's instructions. To classify samples as positive or negative, the cut-off value recommended by the manufacturer was used: Percent inhibition (PI) values  $\leq$ 55% were considered as positive, PI  $\geq$  65% as negative and PI between 55% and 65% as inconclusive.

To further classify and subtype AIV, haemagglutination inhibition assays using antigens of subtypes H5 and H7, including the homologous LPAIV and HPAIV H7N7 antigen, were performed according to the diagnostic manual of the European Union (Anonymous, 2006). Inhibition at a serum dilution of at least 1/16 was regarded as positive.

### 2.6 Nucleotide sequencing analyses

### 2.6.1 | Sanger sequencing

Pathotyping was carried out by nucleotide sequence analysis of amplicons of the HACS (OIE/FAO, 2015). Amplicons were size-separated by agarose gel electrophoresis, purified using the QlAquick Gel Extraction Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) and directly used for cycle sequencing reactions (BigDye Terminator v3.1 Cycle Sequencing Kit, Applied Biosystems, Darmstadt, Germany). The reaction products were purified using NucleoSEQ columns (Macherey–Nagel GmbH & Co., Berlin, Germany) and sequenced on an ABI PRISM® 3100 Genetic Analyzer (Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany). Obtained sequences were assembled and edited manually using the Geneious software, version 10.0.09 (http://www.geneious.com (Kearse et al., 2012)).

### 2.6.2 | NGS methodology

Undirected shotgun Next Generation Sequencing (NGS) from virus isolates was performed as previously described by Juozapaitis et al. (2014).

In brief, RNA of influenza samples was extracted using Trizol LS (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, USA) and QlAamp Viral RNA Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) and used as template for cDNA synthesis with cDNA Synthesis System REF 11 117 831 001 (Roche, Mannheim, Germany). Fragmentation of the cDNA was performed with Covaris M220 ultrasonicator (Covaris Ltd, Brighton, UK) applying a target size of 300 bp. The fragmented cDNA was then converted into barcoded libraries using Illumina compatible adapters (Bioo Scientific Corp., Austin, USA) using a SPRI-TE library system (Beckman Coulter, Brea, USA) with SPRIworks Fragment Library Cartridge II (for Roche FLX DNA sequencer; Beckman Coulter) without size selection. Upper and lower size selection was performed manually using Agencourt® AMPure® XP magnetic beads (Beckman Coulter). The libraries were

then quality and quantity checked using a Bioanalyzer 2100 (Agilent Technologies, Böblingen, Germany) and Kapa Library Quantification Kit for Illumina (Kapa Biosystems, Cape Town, South Africa) on a Bio-Rad CFX96 Real-Time System (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, USA). Sequencing was performed with an Illumina MiSeq instrument with MiSeq reagent Kit v3 for 600 cycles (Illumina, San Diego, USA). Consensus sequences were generated using an iterative assembly and mapping approach performed with Newbler Genome Sequencer software (v. 3.0; Roche, Mannheim Germany) and Geneious software suite (v. 9.1.6; Biomatters, Auckland, New Zealand). The generated alignments were taken to determine minor variants using generic SNP finder of Geneious software suite with minimum variant frequency of 10%, applying parameters of maximum p-value of  $10^{-5}$  and filter for strand bias. Consensus sequences were deposited in the EpiFlu™ database (platform.gisaid.org) under accession numbers EPI\_ ISL\_191763-64 and EPI\_ISL\_191941-42. Deep sequencing information of the cleavage site was obtained by extracting RNA (see methodology described above) of a set of samples as template for generating amplicons gained with PCR primers containing IonTorrent barcodes using Invitrogen Superscript III One-Step RT-PCR (Thermo-Fisher Scientific, Waltham, USA).

(HLPAI\_H7EU\_P1\_RV HLPAI cleavage site, CCTCTCTATGGGCA GTCGGTGATCCCATCCRTTTTCRATGAWTCC; HLPAI\_H7EU\_P1\_FW, CCTCTCTATGGGCAGTCGGTGATGATGCTRGCAAMAGGRATGAA: HLPAI\_H7EU\_A\_74\_RV, CCATCTCATCCCTGCGTGTCTCCGACTC AGCGATCGGTTCGATCCCATCCRTTTTCRATGAWTCC; HLPAI\_H7 EU\_A\_73\_FW, CCATCTCATCCCTGCGTGTCTCCGACTCAGTCTGC CTGTCGATGATGCTRGCAAMAGGRATGAA; HLPAI\_H7EU\_A\_70\_RV, CCATCTCATCCCTGCGTGTCTCCGACTCAGCCTACTGGTCGATCCC ATCCRTTTTCRATGAWTCC; HLPAI\_H7EU\_A\_69\_FW, CCATCTC ATCCCTGCGTGTCTCCGACTCAGTTCAATTGGCGATGATGCTRGCA AMAGGRATGAA). These libraries were then quality checked using a Bioanalyzer 2100 (Agilent Technologies, Böblingen, Germany) and Kapa Library Quantification Kit (Kapa Biosystems, Cape Town, South Africa) on a Bio-Rad CFX96 Real-Time System (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, USA) and subsequently sequenced on an IonTorrent PGM (Thermo Fisher, Waltham, USA) with Hi-Q sequencing reagents. Raw sequence data were quality trimmed and screened for adapter, barcodes and primer contamination. Sequences were size selected and reads between 30 and 60 bp, and thereby covering the cleavage site, were extracted. These datasets were assembled with generic mapper in Geneious software suite (v. 9.1.6; Biomatters, Auckland, New Zealand) with a stringency of 100%. Consensus sequences were generated and aligned. Consensus sequences were manually evaluated and trimmed to a unique length. These sequences served as template for stringent (100%) mapping of the original entire dataset. The contigs, covering 99% of the raw data, were annotated and the cleavage site classified as HPAI or LPAI, respectively.

### 2.7 Phylogenetic and RNA structural analyses

Generated sequences were collected and edited using the Geneious software version 10.0.09 (Kearse et al., 2012). The sequences were

#### DIETZE ET AL.

#### DIETZE ET AL.

aligned with a selection of the closest related sequences (Eurasian lineage), as obtained by nucleotide megaBLAST (http://blast.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/Blast.cgi) together with other sequences selected as representatives for more distant clusters, like the Asian H7N9 lineage. Alignment and identity matrix analyses were afterwards performed using MAFFT version 7.017 (Katoh, Misawa, Kuma, & Miyata, 2002). For phylogenetic maximum likelihood analyses, the IQ-Tree software version 1.3.13 was used (Nguyen, Schmidt, von Haeseler, & Minh, 2015) using the TIM+ $\Gamma$ +G4 model according to the BIC ranking provided by the IQ-Tree. Resulting consensus trees were viewed, edited and annotated using FigTree v1.4.2 software (http://tree.bio.ed.ac. uk/software/figtree/) and Inkscape 0.48 (http://inkscape.org/en).

RNA secondary structures around the cleavage site encoding part of the HA genome segment were examined using the Quickfold (http://unafold.rna.albany.edu/?q=DINAMelt/Quickfold) and RNA fold programmes (http://rna.tbi.univie.ac.at/). Sequences of closely related H7 viruses from Germany, England and the Netherlands obtained during outbreaks in 2015 were selected for comparison.

### 3 | RESULTS

## 3.1 | Case description and epidemiological investigations

The initially affected farm (hereafter referred to as farm A) was a layer farm with 36,200 hens operating in an outdoor production system. The farm is located in the district of Emsland, Lower Saxony, in the vicinity to a river and surrounded by a prevailing watershed management of agricultural fields using open drainage, making the area attractive for wild water birds throughout the year.

A drop in egg production by 16% in the period between June 6 and 8, 2015, led to clinical inspection of the flock. No further clinical symptoms were developed. Samples taken revealed detection of AIV H7-specific RNA genome fragments in a private laboratory, and the outbreak suspicion was reported to the district veterinary office on June 9, 2015. A farm quarantine was implemented; official samples (40 combined oropharyngeal/cloacal swabs from 40 birds and 20 sera) were taken for outbreak confirmation; and epidemiological investigations were initiated. The national reference laboratory (NRL) for avian influenza confirmed on June 11, 2015, that the outbreak had been caused by LPAIV of subtype H7N7 (see laboratory results below). All chickens on the farm were culled and safely disposed. Active surveillance in the established restriction zones and investigations on farms with direct or indirect contact to the infected premises revealed no further outbreaks. Epidemiological tracing did not gather evidence for productionrelated inputs and services such as animal trade, feed, drinking water, the vehicles of suppliers and related factors as potential sources of infection. No linkages with poultry farms in the close vicinity were identified. The veterinary authorities concluded that contact to wild birds was the most likely source of infection and that the infection had most probably taken place 2 to 4 weeks prior to the first detection of clinical signs.

A second poultry farm (hereafter referred to as farm B) was located at a distance of approximately 400 metres from farm A. The overall setup of farm B, a commercial poultry holding keeping approximately 10,000 laying hens split in four different age groups, is depicted in Figure 2. The animals were kept in two stables (1 and 2) that housed two groups each (groups hereafter labelled 1a/1b and 2a/2b). The stables were connected by a building comprising the entry facility as well as the egg collection and packaging centre.

5

-WILEY-

Farm B was first sampled during active surveillance within the restriction zone 4 days after initial clinical findings on farm A (combined oropharyngeal and cloacal swabs from 20 animals and additional 20 serum samples) and subsequently 4 weeks afterwards (combined oropharyngeal and cloacal swab samples from 20 animals). All samples, taken equally distributed over the four groups, tested negative on both occasions.

The first clinical signs were observed on farm B on July 23, 16 days after the second negative surveillance testing. Mortality



**FIGURE 2** Sketch of farm B with two stables (1 and 2) consisting of two groups each (a and b) accessible through a connecting building with a hygiene lock (one-headed arrow). The status of the four layer flocks on the farm according to clinical presentation (C), virological investigations by PCR (P) and AIV-specific serology (S) is indicated for four different dates shown on top of each graph. Green colour signals absence of clinical signs, lack of detection of influenza RNA by PCR and lack of H7 seropositive chicken. Red colour indicates severe clinical signs and increased mortality, presence of animals with high viral loads of AIV H7 and detection of seropositive animals. Yellow colour stands for the presence of a few animals with low viral loads and inconclusive ELISA results

#### DIETZE ET AL.

### 6 WILEY Transboundary and Emercing Diseases (

increased overnight, that is 50 (1.85%) hens were found dead in group 2b, housing 2706 animals at that time, comparing to a total of 19 (0.69%) dead animals for the entire time between June 1 and July 22, 2015, with a maximum of two dead hens per day. The dead birds initially clustered in the part of the pen closer to the entry door. In addition, a drop in egg production, recorded at farm level only, became evident (Figure 3). With the detection of H7-specific genome fragments by a private laboratory on July 24, 2015, the farm was quarantined and sampled for official disease confirmation (20 serum samples as well as combined oropharyngeal and cloacal swabs from 40 animals, samples taken evenly from the four groups). On July 25, 2015, a further increase in animal losses was recorded (additional 100 fatalities overnight in group 2b) and mortality started to rise in group 2a (10 fatalities overnight out of a total of 2916 hens). The presence of AIV H7N7 was confirmed by the NRL on July 26, 2015 (see laboratory results below). A synopsis of the observed development of clinical signs, serological and virological results for the different animal groups is depicted in Figure 2.

Epidemiological tracing did not find any indication that trade or otherwise production-chain-related contacts of the farm were the potential route of entry for the virus. The on-farm assessment identified two key breaches of biosecurity: First, the entrance for the farm workers into the stable units failed to allow separating clean and unclean clothes or equipment, but made cross-contamination and bypassing of hygiene measures possible. Second, the ventilation of the animal facilities was lacking a wild bird-proof grid on the supply side, thus allowing wild birds to stay under the roof of the building and to act as a potential source of infection through either contamination or direct contact. In addition, a possible interaction with wild birds was supported by the presence of maize silage heaps with open access to wild birds in close vicinity to the poultry facilities on the farm premises.

As part of the outbreak control measures, a surveillance zone with 10 km radius was established around farm B. A total of 226 poultry holdings identified in the zone underwent clinical and virological examination without positive findings throughout the event.



**FIGURE 3** Box plot of daily egg production of farm B between July 1 and 25, 2015; outliers illustrate the onset of increased mortality starting on July 23, 2015

### 3.2 Virological investigations and virus characterization

Of the 39 available swab samples obtained from farm A, 11 tested positive by the AIV matrix (M) gene RT-qPCR. Presence of subtype H7 viral RNA was confirmed by a H7-specific RT-qPCR in all M-positive samples. The NA subtype was determined as N7 by sequence analysis in selected samples with a high load of viral RNA (not shown). All swab samples obtained from farm B on Day 1 and Day 29 after start of the LPAI event (active surveillance) tested negative for AIV.

From farm B, a total of 105 swab samples were taken after the onset of clinical signs. In addition, samples from the environment of stable 2a/b were obtained. The synopsis of the M- and H7-specific RT-qPCR results is depicted in Figure 2. Eighteen swab samples of farm B tested positive for HP H7 and six different ones were positive for the LP variant by a pathotype-specific RT-qPCR (Graaf et al., 2017). One of the environmental samples taken in stable 2 (A/environment/Germany/AR1527/2015) contained genome fragments of both the HP and the LP variants (Table S1).

Sanger sequencing analysis of the HACS of samples originating from farm A revealed a monobasic motif (PEIPKGR\*GLF). Samples from farm B that tested HP-positive in the pathotype-specific RTqPCR revealed multiple basic amino acids at the cleavage site due to insertion of six nucleotides and a single transitional nucleotide substitution (G to A) (PEIPKRKRR\*GLF) (see Figure 4). This confirms the molecular pathotyping results for LP and HP phenotypes obtained by RT-qPCRs. In addition to this, all obtained Sanger sequence data were identical to the later on established genome sequences based on NGS.

Furthermore, four selected swab samples with high viral loads of H7N7 according to the RT-qPCR were used for virus isolation (Table S1). The mean death time (MDT) of eggs inoculated with samples from farm A (A/chicken/Germany/AR915/2015 and A/chicken/Germany/AR942/2015) was >72 hours, while the MDT for farm B samples A/chicken/Germany/AR1385/2015 and A/chicken/Germany/AR1386/2015 was 48 hr. Pathogenicity testing in chickens of reference isolates AR915/2015 (farm A) and AR1385/2015 (farm B) revealed IVPI values of 0 and 2.8, respectively, confirming the molecular diagnosis of an LP and HP phenotype.

### 3.3 Retrospective serological investigations

Of the 20 serum samples available from farm A, 15 tested positive in the influenza NP-specific ELISA. Antibody specificity was confirmed by HI assays using the homologous H7N7 antigens of isolates AR915/ 2015 (LPAI H7N7) and AR1385/2015 (HPAI H7N7). Thirteen sera from farm A showed specific HI titres (log<sub>2</sub>), which ranged between 5 and 10. None of the ELISA-positive sera reacted with H5 antigen (H5N1 A/chicken/Scotland/1959) in the HI assay (see Figure 5).

For farm B, seven of 20 serum samples, taken 46 days after onset of disease on farm A, showed positive results by ELISA and were tested with the same antigens as serum samples obtained from



FIGURE 4 Sequencing results of the HACS of avian influenza subtype H7 LP (AR915/15) and HP (AR1385/15) viruses. Nucleotides in red indicate substitutional and insertional mutations



FIGURE 5 Results of serological investigations in farms A (LPAIV H7) and B (HPAIV) in Germany by competitive NP-specific ELISA and HI assays using the indicated antigens. HI titres are presented as the highest log<sub>2</sub> dilution step showing hemagglutination inhibition

farm A. Five of these ELISA-positive sera showed specific HI titres, which ranged between 4 and 8. None of the ELISA-positive sera reacted with H5 antigen (H5N1 A/chicken/Scotland/1959) in the HI assay.

### 3.4 | Nucleotide sequence characterization and phylogenetic analysis

The genome of four representative influenza A virus isolates originating from the LP/HPAI H7N7 outbreaks in the two-layer farms was sequenced. Molecular analysis of the four isolates confirmed the presence of an HP strain in two samples derived from farm B (insertion of the motif PEIPKRKRR\*GLF at the HA cleavage site) and identified two isolates of farm A as LP H7N7 viruses (PEIPKGR\*GLF). In addition to the cleavage site, two further nucleotide substitutions were found in the HA gene distinguishing the LP and HP virus isolates (Table 1). This included an amino acid change at position I13S of the HA protein, resulting in a homology of 99.5% between the HA proteins of the LP and the HP viruses. Undirected shotgun Next Generation Sequencing (NGS) of the HA segment of LPAIV AR915/ 15 with mean coverages of 403 reads showed no evidence for the presence of any insertions in the HACS as minor variants. Likewise, NGS sequencing of barcoded amplicons of the HA cleavage site of independent swab samples from farm A (AR915/15; AR942/15), yielding high sequencing depth with coverages of 85.606 to 234.258 reads, gave no indications for HP HACS sequences. In contrast, NGS sequencing of amplicons of the HACS from swab samples collected from farm B (AR1527/15, AR1421/15, AR1546/15) showed that the samples represented a mixture of LP and HP cleavage sites. Moreover, the two analysed HP isolates differed from the LP H7 viruses by mutations in the PB2, PB1, PA, NP, NA, M and NS genes. In each of the PB2, PB1, NP, NA, M2 and NS1 proteins, nonsynonymous mutations were deduced (Table 1). None of these mutations have been assigned to any specific functions, although the mutation N92D in NS-1 affected a position that has been associated with interferon escape (Ngunjiri et al., 2013). Five of these coding mutations were already present as minor variants in the putative LP H7 progenitor virus AR915/15 showing significant frequencies from 18% to 42% (Table 1).

For the further phylogenetic characterization, the HA nucleotide sequences of the isolates were utilized to conduct a megaBLAST search (http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi; accession date August 1, 2017) in the database "Nucleotide collection (nr/nt)" to identify closely related sequences. Highest identities at the nucleotide level were observed for AIV from the Netherlands (e.g., A/chicken/ Netherlands-Barneveld/15004745/2015; H7N7 LP) and the United Kingdom (A/chicken/England/26352/2015; H7N7 HP) originating from an outbreak in 2015. To refine these findings, phylogenetic

### BUILEY- Jarthelinkary and Environ Diverses

**TABLE 1** Mutations identified outside the hemagglutinin cleavage site in the highly pathogenic H7N7 avian influenza virus AR1385/15 in comparison with its low pathogenic AIV AR915/15 precursor isolated from outbreaks in the district of Emsland, Lower Saxony, Germany, in 2015

Gene	Mutatio 15	ons in AR1385/	Mutations as minor variants in AR915/15			
segment	Silent	Coding	Silent	Coding		
PB2	2	E123K, I147V, K355R	1 (21.3%)	E123K (22.6%), K355R (42.2%)		
PB1	2	F254C	0	F254C (18.8%)		
PA	3	K185R	0	K185R (18.2%)		
HA	1	1135	0	0		
NP	1	S478F	0	0		
NA	3	V439A	1 (23.8%)	0		
М	2	V68L (M2)	1 (19.7%)	0		
NS-1	0	N92D	0	N92D (25.1%)		

analyses were conducted using a maximum likelihood approach (IQ-Tree) based on the TIM+  $\Gamma$  +G4 model (Nguyen et al., 2015). As shown in Figure 6, the four virus isolates from the LP and HP outbreaks in Germany clustered with the Eurasian H7 lineage. They formed a distinct group defined by high bootstrap values (100%) and long branches in close relation to viruses of contemporary outbreaks in England and the Netherlands in 2015, but were clearly distinct from H7 viruses of the highly zoonotic Chinese lineage. Another H7N7 outbreak in a second holding in the UK in 2015 was phylogenetically unrelated to the cases in Germany, the Netherlands and the first case in the UK.

To further describe the relationship between the H7N7 viruses from the UK and Germany, concatenated whole-genomes of these viruses were compared. This analysis substantiated the close relationship of the isolates, but indicated also that the UK viruses were clearly different, as they contained NS gene segments with only 72.1% identity in the genome sequence indicating their origin in distinct alleles (Figure S1).

### 3.5 | RNA secondary structure analysis

A stretch of RNA nucleotides encoding the HACS was predicted to fold into a small stem-loop structure for both the LP and HP variants of the H7N7 viruses from Germany (Figure 7). For the LP sequence (AR915/15), the loop included the A- and G-rich part, which encoded the HA1-C-terminal arginine and the glycine forming the new N-terminus of the HA2 protein part after endoproteolytical processing. The closely related LP H7 Dutch and German viruses revealed the same HACS-encoding nucleotide sequence and, hence, secondary structural prediction as shown for AR915/15. This is also true for another German LPAI virus, detected in an unrelated outbreak in a turkey holding in Cuxhaven, Germany, in March 2015 (not shown). A similar structure was also predicted for the sequence of the HP phenotype (AR1385/125), where the inserted untemplated A and G residues grouped into a larger terminal bulge.

### 4 DISCUSSION

In 2015, AIV H7N7 outbreaks were reported in the European Union from Germany, the United Kingdom and the Netherlands (Figure 1). In-depth epidemiological investigations and genetic characterization of the two separately reported but spatiotemporally linked H7N7 outbreaks in Germany provided evidence of a very close evolutionary relationship of the involved viruses despite their difference in pathogenicity, that is they form a matching pair of progenitor LP and inheritor HP viruses.



FIGURE 6 Phylogenetic tree of the hemagglutinin (HA) gene (full-length coding sequence) of low and highly pathogenic avian influenza viruses (LP/HPAIV) of subtype H7 viruses derived from poultry and wild birds in Eurasia in the period from 1999 to 2015 (a). The zoomed section (b) depicts the topology of viruses detected in two chicken layer farms in Germany, 2015 (red virus designations). Phylogenetic analysis was conducted using a maximum likelihood approach (IQ-tree) based on the TIM+II+G4 model (Nguyen et al., 2015)

#### DIETZE ET AL.

DIETZE ET AL.



FIGURE 7 Comparison of secondary RNA structures of sequences encoding the hemagglutinin cleavage site of the LP (AR915/15, left) and HP (AR1385/15, right) H7N7 AIV originating from outbreaks in Germany in 2015. RNA secondary structures were generated by the Quickfold programme. Coloured lines are depicted as follow: blue—double hydrogen bond; red—triple hydrogen bond; pink-wobble-base pair

With a remaining level of uncertainty that is unavoidable in field investigations, the course of the epidemiological event is postulated as follows. Farm A became infected with LPAIV H7N7, probably through the wildlife-domestic bird interface. The incursion occurred most likely several weeks before the infection was confirmed on June 11, 2015. Until completion of the cleansing and disinfection of the premises on June 16, 2015, farm A must be considered a possible source of LPAIV infection for the surrounding area, including farm B. Identifying the time point and source of LPAIV infection of fram B is difficult given the small numbers of samples taken here before the outbreak of HPAI was suspected on 23 of July. The available limited laboratory results would suggest that farm B got infected with LPAI H7 after July 8, 2015, as animals of the farm tested negative for AIV on this day. This would bring the postulated time of LPAI infection fairly close to an anticipated time of the shift from LPAI to HPAI, as about two weeks are assumed to pass before clinical manifestation of HPAI becomes evident (Bos et al., 2007). It has to be taken into account, however, that the approach of the competent veterinary authority to consider farm B as a single epidemiological unit despite its separation in four compartments, with reduced animal contacts and interactions between compartments (Figure 2), may have significantly reduced the overall likelihood of LPAIV detection, in particular at an early stage of infection. On basis of the reported five animals that were tested per group, the detectable prevalence was only 50% at the 95% confidence level. Therefore, the introduction of LPAI on farm B before July 8, 2015, cannot

### WILEY-

be excluded. This re-emphasizes the challenges in early LPAI detection due to nonadapted sampling frames (Gonzales, Boender, Elbers, Stegeman, & de Koeijer, 2014) and, as expected from previous experience with LP H7N7 incursions, the lack of clinical manifestations allowing early detection (Probst et al., 2012). Gaps identified in the biosecurity management of farm B, which operated in a closed indoor production system, led to several hypotheses of how viruscontaminated material may have entered the stables. The introduction likely occurred in stable 2, where both groups harboured seropositive animals, whereas in stable 1, group 1a tested negative throughout the event.

Limitations of further sampling for the present study resulted from pressing needs for immediate destruction and safe disposal of animals, which was given highest priority by the veterinary authorities. Nevertheless, a series of factors strongly suggested that initially farm B was infected by LP AIV H7 and that the subsequent HP mutation event took place there. These factors entail the epidemiological context, the close genetic relationship between the two variants and the detection of both LP and HP specific genome fragments in an environmental sample of farm B. In addition to that, we observed the presence of mutations found in HP strains as minor variants in LP strains from farm A, and the seroconversion in parts of the chicken population of farm B; chickens following exposure to replication-competent HPAIV are expected to die before they seroconvert. It is interesting to note that seropositive birds could be detected not only within the group where clinical (HP) symptoms were first observed (2b), but also within two other groups (2a and 1b), indicating within-farm spread of LPAIV H7 to at least three groups. Furthermore, the observation that only part of the animals were AIV-H7 seropositive points to an early stage of LPAI virus circulation and a rapid LP-to-HP mutation, leaving a substantial number of animals susceptible to HPAIV H7 infection. An immune response to the antigenetically homologous/identical LPAI virus would have been able to protect animals from HP AIV-induced clinical symptoms (Fereidouni et al., 2009; Vergara-Alert et al., 2013). It is therefore reasonable to speculate that the emergence of HPAI requires triggering by the LP-to-HP pathogenicity conversion event itself, but also depends on the favourable competition and dynamic of spread of the HP variant within an at least partially susceptible host population.

Intensive surveillance in the vicinity of the affected farms gave no further indications for AIV circulation in either poultry or wild birds during the events. AIV H7 had not been detected in wild birds in the wider region of the federal state of Lower Saxony throughout 2015. Of 840 wild birds tested in this period, only two samples tested positive for AIV, one was positive for H5 (no further subtyping performed) and one positive for not further specified subtypes other than H5 or H7 (Wildvogelmonitoring-Datenbank (restricted access): https://ai-db.fli.de accessed July 4, 2017). Therefore, independent circulation of the two phenotypes outside farm B and separate introduction events of the LP and the HP variants within a short period appear highly unlikely. However, our analyses do not

### 10 WILEY-Transbauctory and Emerging Diseases

#### DIETZE ET AL.

give decisive evidence about the mode of LPAI virus transmission from farm A to farm B. Possible continued replication of LPAIV in undetected avian carriers presumably within the same wild bird population introducing LPAIV H7N7 into farm A before entering farm B as well as unnoticed direct farm-to-farm transmission cannot be excluded.

Approximately at the same time of these events, an HPAI H7N7 outbreak was reported from the UK. The presence of H7 seropositive poultry on the affected farm in the UK indicated previous circulation of a potential LP progenitor, which, however, could not be retrieved. The H7N7 outbreak in the Netherlands in summer 2015 remained LP. Genetically, the HA of these viruses appeared to be closely related (Figure 6). It is interesting to note that viruses of this lineage apparently had a higher propensity to mutate to the HP pathotype as this happened at two independent outbreaks in the UK and in Germany. With the exception of the NS segment, all internal genome segments of these viruses were very closely related. It is unfortunate that, no full genome sequences were available from the contemporary Dutch isolate.

In Germany, an additional isolated outbreak of LPAIV H7N7 was confirmed in March 2015 in a commercial turkey holding. No genetic information apart from the HACS sequence is available for this case. There is no indication regarding an epidemiological link between this and the layer farms outbreaks.

The availability of a matching pair of H7 LP progenitor and HP inheritor viruses derived from the field allows further insights into potential prerequisites for the acquisition of an HP phenotype. Presence of a polybasic HACS has been identified as important in this respect, although several exceptions exist (Londt, Banks, & Alexander, 2007). A stuttering mechanism of the viral replication complex when copying the sequence encoding the LP cleavage site during antigenome and/or genome replication is believed to be at the basis of the insertional mutations of untemplated A and G residues, which finally translate into a furin-sensitive cleavage site. A recent observation indicated that a small stem-loop structure involving the HACSencoding site might play a role in fostering stuttering replication activity (Nao et al., 2017). We were therefore interested to study the presence or absence of such stem loops in the investigated pair of LP and HP H7N7 viruses. A similar structure was identified in the H7 LP viruses studied here (Figure 7). However, no differences were seen between LP viruses (i.e., LP AR915/15) that eventually yielded an HP mutant (i.e., HP AR1385/15) or did not (Dutch H7 sequences of 2015). Therefore, it remains to be determined whether the presence or absence of such stem loops can be used to predict and quantify the risk of insertional mutations at this site. A number of previous studies have shown that the furin-sensitive cleavage site motif of the HA protein plays a major, yet not the sole, role in the conversion of phenotypes (Abdelwhab et al., 2016; Bottcher-Friebertshauser, Garten, Matrosovich, & Klenk, 2014; Gohrbandt et al., 2011; Munster et al., 2010). Several attempts failed to convert an LP virus into the HP phenotype by merely grafting, by reverse genetics, a polybasic HACS into the HA protein of an LP H5 or H7 virus (Schrauwen et al., 2011; Stech et al., 2009). These

investigations gave evidence that further, as yet ill-defined, arrangements in either the HA or other viral proteins are required, at least in some viruses, in addition to a polybasic HACS (Abdelwhab et al., 2013; Diederich et al., 2015; Soda et al., 2011). Scattered throughout the genome of the currently studied LP/HP pair, ten amino acid substitutions outside the HACS were detected in the consensus sequence of the HPAI virus isolates, which allowed distinguishing the HP inheritor from its LP progenitor virus (Table 1). Five of them are already present as minor variants in the LP progenitor quasispecies, pointing to a certain importance of the whole virus population for the evolution of inner segments in the context of a LP-to-HP conversion. With the exception of mutation N92D in NS-1, none of the ten nonsynonymous mutations has been associated so far with specific functions, and none of them had been encountered in a study conducted by Maruyama et al. (Maruyama, Okamatsu, Soda, Sakoda, & Kida, 2013) in which conversion of an LP H7N7 to HP was achieved after grafting a polybasic HACS and consecutive serial passaging in chickens. In line with their conclusions, the actual contribution of one or more of the mutations outside the HACS to the generation of the HP phenotype of AR1385/15 remains indistinct and requires careful studying by reverse genetic technology. The presence of a matching set of mutations as minor variants in the LP progenitor with contemporaneous absence of any variants in the HACS also supports the assumption that LP-to-HP conversion is a progressive process. A similar observation has been made for the emergence of HP H7N1 from LP precursor viruses preceding the 1999/2001 HPAI epizootic in Italy (Monne et al., 2014). At last, the emergence of an HPAI phenotype might require a combination of a selection of variants of the inner segments already present in the quasispecies population and a subsequent shift in the HACS triggered by a stuttering virus replication fostered by RNA secondary structure.

In conclusion, the detection in the field of a HPAI virus causally and epidemiologically linked to an immediate LP progenitor virus remains a very rare event. However, this causal relation is fundamental for vindicating current LPAI control measures in domestic poultry. The presented findings, resulting from virological and close-meshed epidemiological investigations as part of AI control, describe such a rarely found spatiotemporally link as evidence of in vivo transformation of LPAIV to HPAIV within a single epidemiological event. It is recommended for future scenarios, to improve sampling frames in AI surveillance and control, taking a stricter definition of epidemiological units into account to facilitate the deeper understanding of outbreak dynamics, such as spread within and between farms, at better statistical power.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank Aline Maksimov, Diana Wessler and Patrick Zitzow for excellent technical support. We are grateful to Christine Luttermann and her team for conducting the Sanger sequencing analyses. We wish to acknowledge the veterinarians and

#### DIETZE ET AL.

diagnosticians of the LAVES in Germany for submitting diagnostic samples. We acknowledge all researchers for making sequences used in this study available to the EpiFlu database of GISAID. The families managing the affected farms are acknowledged for their willingness to share information and allowing further investigations despite harsh circumstances faced at the time of the outbreaks. Part of this work (NGS Sequencing) has been funded by the European Union's Horizon 2020 programme under grant agreement No. 643476 "COMPARE."

### **CONFLICT OF INTEREST**

None.

#### ORCID

Klaas Dietze D http://orcid.org/0000-0002-6138-6707 Martin Beer http://orcid.org/0000-0002-0598-5254

#### REFERENCES

- Abbas, M. A., Spackman, E., Swayne, D. E., Ahmed, Z., Sarmento, L., Siddique, N., ... Rehmani, S. (2010). Sequence and phylogenetic analysis of H7N3 avian influenza viruses isolated from poultry in Pakistan 1995-2004. Virology Journal, 7, 137. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-422X-7-137
- Abdelwhab, E. M., Veits, J., & Mettenleiter, T. C. (2013). Genetic changes that accompanied shifts of low pathogenic avian influenza viruses toward higher pathogenicity in poultry. *Virulence*, 4, 441–452. https://doi.org/10.4161/viru.25710
- Abdelwhab, E. M., Veits, J., & Mettenleiter, T. C. (2014). Prevalence and control of H7 avian influenza viruses in birds and humans. *Epidemiology and infection*, 142, 896–920. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0950268813003324
- Abdelwhab, E. M., Veits, J., Tauscher, K., Ziller, M., Teifke, J. P., Stech, J., & Mettenleiter, T. C. (2016). A unique multibasic proteolytic cleavage site and three mutations in the HA2 domain confer high virulence of H7N1 avian influenza virus in chickens. *Journal of Virology*, *90*, 400– 411. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.02082-15
- Alexander, D. J. (2000). A review of avian influenza in different bird species. Veterinary Microbiology, 74, 3–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0378-1135(00)00160-7
- Anonymous. (2005). Community measures for the control of avian influenza. In: E. Commission (ed), COUNCIL DIRECTIVE 2005/94/EC. Brussels, Belgium: Official Journal of the European Union.
- Anonymous. (2006). COMMISSION DECISION of 4 August 2006 approving a Diagnostic Manual for avian influenza as provided for in Council Directive 2005/94/EC. In: E. Commission (ed), 2006/437/EC. Brussels, Belgium: Official Journal of the European Union.
- Anonymous. (2015). Highly pathogenic avian influenza H7N7 in table-egg laying hens. Preston: Animal and Plant Health Agency.
- Banks, J., Speidel, E. S., Moore, E., Plowright, L., Piccirillo, A., Capua, I., ... Alexander, D. J. (2001). Changes in the haemagglutinin and the neuraminidase genes prior to the emergence of highly pathogenic H7N1 avian influenza viruses in Italy. Archives of Virology, 146, 963– 973. https://doi.org/10.1007/s007050170128
- Bos, M. E. H., Boven, M. V., Nielen, M., Bouma, A., Elbers, A. R. W., Nodelijk, G., ... Jong, M. C. M. D. (2007). Estimating the day of highly pathogenic avian influenza (H7N7) virus introduction into a

## ndory and Emilian Discassifiers — WILEY 11

poultry flock based on mortality data. Veterinary Research, 38, 493-504. https://doi.org/10.1051/vetres:2007008

- Bottcher-Friebertshauser, E., Garten, W., Matrosovich, M., & Klenk, H. D. (2014). The hemagglutinin: A determinant of pathogenicity. *Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology*, 385, 3–34.
- Campitelli, L., Mogavero, E., De Marco, M. A., Delogu, M., Puzelli, S., Frezza, F., ... Donatelli, I. (2004). Interspecies transmission of an H7N3 influenza virus from wild birds to intensively reared domestic poultry in Italy. Virology, 323, 24–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2004.02.015
- Diederich, S., Berhane, Y., Embury-Hyatt, C., Hisanaga, T., Handel, K., Cottam-Birt, C., ... Pasick, J. (2015). Hemagglutinin-neuraminidase balance influences the virulence phenotype of a recombinant h5n3 influenza a virus possessing a polybasic HA(0) cleavage site. *Journal* of Virology, 89, 10724–10734. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01238-15
- Fereidouni, S. R., Starick, E., Beer, M., Wilking, H., Kalthoff, D., Grund, C., ... Harder, T. C. (2009). Highly pathogenic avian influenza virus infection of mallards with homo- and heterosubtypic immunity induced by low pathogenic avian influenza viruses. *PLoS One*, 4, e6706. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0006706
- Gall, A., Hoffmann, B., Harder, T., Grund, C., & Beer, M. (2008). Universal primer set for amplification and sequencing of HAO cleavage sites of all influenza A viruses. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 46, 2561– 2567. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00466-08
- Gao, R., Cao, B., Hu, Y., Feng, Z., Wang, D., Hu, W., ... Shu, Y. (2013). Human infection with a novel avian-origin influenza A (H7N9) virus. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 368, 1888–1897. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa1304459
- Gohrbandt, S., Veits, J., Hundt, J., Bogs, J., Breithaupt, A., Teifke, J. P., ... Stech, J. (2011). Amino acids adjacent to the haemagglutinin cleavage site are relevant for virulence of avian influenza viruses of subtype H5. Journal of General Virology, 92, 51–59. https://doi.org/10.1099/ vir.0.023887-0
- Gonzales, J. L., Boender, G. J., Elbers, A. R. W., Stegeman, J. A., & de Koeijer, A. A. (2014). Risk based surveillance for early detection of low pathogenic avian influenza outbreaks in layer chickens. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 117, 251–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. prevetmed.2014.08.015
- Graaf, A., Beer, M., & Harder, T. (2017). Real-time reverse transcription PCR-based sequencing-independent pathotyping of Eurasian avian influenza A viruses of subtype H7. Virology Journal, 14, 137. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s12985-017-0808-3
- Hoffmann, B., Harder, T., Lange, E., Kalthoff, D., Reimann, I., Grund, C., ... Beer, M. (2010). New real-time reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reactions facilitate detection and differentiation of novel A/ H1N1 influenza virus in porcine and human samples. Berliner und Munchener Tierarztliche Wochenschrift, 123, 286–292.
- Hoffmann, B., Hoffmann, D., Henritzi, D., Beer, M., & Harder, T. C. (2016). Riems influenza a typing array (RITA): An RT-qPCR-based low density array for subtyping avian and mammalian influenza a viruses. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 27211. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep27211
- Iglesias, I., Martinez, M., Munoz, M. J., de la Torre, A., & Sanchez-Vizcaino, J. M. (2010). First case of highly pathogenic avian influenza in poultry in Spain. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, 57, 282–285.
- Juozapaitis, M., Aguiar Moreira, E., Mena, I., Giese, S., Riegger, D., Pohlmann, A., ... Schwemmle, M. (2014). An infectious bat-derived chimeric influenza virus harbouring the entry machinery of an influenza A virus. *Nature Communications*, *5*, 4448.
- Katoh, K., Misawa, K., Kuma, K., & Miyata, T. (2002). MAFFT: A novel method for rapid multiple sequence alignment based on fast Fourier transform. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 30, 3059–3066. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkf436
- Kearse, M., Moir, R., Wilson, A., Stones-Havas, S., Cheung, M., Sturrock, S., ... Drummond, A. (2012). Geneious Basic: An integrated and extendable desktop software platform for the organization and analysis of sequence data. *Bioinformatics*, 28, 1647–1649. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/bioinformatics/bts199

### 12 WILEY- Transbarrdory and Emerging Diseases

- Killian, M. L., Kim-Torchetti, M., Hines, N., Yingst, S., DeLiberto, T., & Lee, D.-H. (2016). Outbreak of H7N8 low pathogenic avian influenza in commercial Turkeys with spontaneous mutation to highly pathogenic avian influenza. *Genome Announcements*, 4, e00457–00416.
- Lebarbenchon, C., & Stallknecht, D. E. (2011). Host shifts and molecular evolution of H7 avian influenza virus hemagglutinin. Virology Journal, 8, 328. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-422X-8-328
- Lee, D. H., Torchetti, M. K., Killian, M. L., & Swayne, D. E. (2017). Deep sequencing of H7N8 avian influenza viruses from surveillance zone supports H7N8 high pathogenicity avian influenza was limited to a single outbreak farm in Indiana during 2016. Virology, 507, 216–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2017.04.025
- Londt, B. Z., Banks, J., & Alexander, D. J. (2007). Highly pathogenic avian influenza viruses with low virulence for chickens in in vivo tests. Avian Pathology, 36, 347–350. https://doi.org/10.1080/03079450701589134
- Maruyama, J., Okamatsu, M., Soda, K., Sakoda, Y., & Kida, H. (2013). Factors responsible for pathogenicity in chickens of a low-pathogenic H7N7 avian influenza virus isolated from a feral duck. Archives of Virology, 158, 2473–2478. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-013-1762-z
- Monne, I., Fusaro, A., Nelson, M. I., Bonfanti, L., Mulatti, P., Hughes, J., ... Cattoli, G. (2014). Emergence of a highly pathogenic avian influenza virus from a low-pathogenic progenitor. *Journal of Virology*, 88, 4375–4388. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.03181-13
- Munster, V. J., & Fouchier, R. A. M. (2009). Avian influenza virus: Of virus and bird ecology. *Vaccine*, 27, 6340–6344. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.vaccine.2009.02.082
- Munster, V. J., Schrauwen, E. J. A., de Wit, E., van den Brand, J. M. A., Bestebroer, T. M., Herfst, S., ... Fouchier, R. A. M. (2010). Insertion of a multibasic cleavage motif into the hemagglutinin of a low-pathogenic avian influenza H6N1 virus induces a highly pathogenic phenotype. *Journal of Virology*, 84, 7953–7960. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.00449-10
- Ngunjiri, J. M., Buchek, G. M., Mohni, K. N., Sekellick, M. J., & Marcus, P. I. (2013). Influenza virus subpopulations: exchange of lethal H5N1 virus NS for H1N1 virus NS triggers de novo generation of defective-interfering particles and enhances interferon-inducing particle efficiency. *Journal of Interferon & Cytokine Research*, 33, 99–107.
- Nao, N., Yamagishi, J., Miyamoto, H., Igarashi, M., Manzoor, R., Ohnuma, A., ... Takada, A. (2017). Genetic predisposition to acquire a polybasic cleavage site for highly pathogenic avian influenza virus hemagglutinin. MBio, 8, e02298–16. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.02298-16
- Nguyen, L. T., Schmidt, H. A., von Haeseler, A., & Minh, B. Q. (2015). IQ-TREE: A fast and effective stochastic algorithm for estimating maximum-likelihood phylogenies. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 32, 268–274. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msu300
- OIE. (2015a). Avian Influenza. Retrieved from http://web.oie.int/eng/ normes/mcode/en\_chapitre\_1.10.14.pdf
- OIE. (2015b). Avian Influenza in Manual of diagnostic tests and vaccines for terrestrial animals Paris, France Retrieved from: https://www.oie. int/fileadmin/Home/eng/Health\_standards/tahm/2.03.04\_Al.pdf
- OIE/FAO. (2015). Network of expertise on animal influenza. Influenza A Cleavage sites. Paris/Rome; 2015. [Accessed 01 Dec 2016] Retrieved from http://www.offlu.net/fileadmin/home/en/resource-centre/pdf/ Influenza\_A\_Cleavage\_Sites.pdf
- Pasick, J., Handel, K., Robinson, J., Copps, J., Ridd, D., Hills, K., ... Czub, S. (2005). Intersegmental recombination between the haemagglutinin

and matrix genes was responsible for the emergence of a highly pathogenic H7N3 avian influenza virus in British Columbia. *Journal of General Virology*, 86, 727–731. https://doi.org/10.1099/vir.0.80478-0

- Probst, C., Gethmann, J. M., Petermann, H. J., Neudecker, J., Jacobsen, K., & Conraths, F. J. (2012). Low pathogenic avian influenza H7N7 in domestic poultry in Germany in 2011. *Veterinary Record*, 171, 624.
- Schrauwen, E. J., Bestebroer, T. M., Munster, V. J., de Wit, E., Herfst, S., Rimmelzwaan, G. F., ... Fouchier, R. A. (2011). Insertion of a multibasic cleavage site in the haemagglutini of human influenza H3N2 virus does not increase pathogenicity in ferrets. *Journal of General Virology*, 92, 1410–1415. https://doi.org/10.1099/vir.0.030379-0
- Soda, K., Cheng, M. C., Yoshida, H., Endo, M., Lee, S. H., Okamatsu, M., ... Kida, H. (2011). A low pathogenic H5N2 influenza virus isolated in Taiwan acquired high pathogenicity by consecutive passages in chickens. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science*, 73, 767–772. https://doi.org/10.1292/jvms.10-0532
- Spackman, E. (2008). A brief introduction to the avian influenza virus. Methods in Molecular Biology, 436, 1–6.
- Stech, O., Veits, J., Weber, S., Deckers, D., Schroer, D., Vahlenkamp, T. W., ... Stech, J. (2009). Acquisition of a polybasic hemagglutinin cleavage site by a low-pathogenic avian influenza virus is not sufficient for immediate transformation into a highly pathogenic strain. *Journal of Virology*, 83, 5864–5868. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.02649-08
- Suarez, D. L., Senne, D. A., Banks, J., Brown, I. H., Essen, S. C., Lee, C., ... Alexander, D. J. (2004). *Recombination resulting in virulence shift in avian influenza outbreak* (p. 10). Chile: Emerg Infect Dis.
- Vergara-Alert, J., Moreno, A., Zabala, J. G., Bertran, K., Costa, T. P., Cordón, I., ... Darji, A. (2013). Exposure to a low pathogenic A/ H7N2 virus in chickens protects against highly pathogenic A/H7N1 virus but not against subsequent infection with A/H5N1. *PLoS One*, 8, e58692. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0058692
- Verhagen, J. H., Lexmond, P., Vuong, O., Schutten, M., Guldemeester, J., Osterhaus, A. D., ... Fouchier, R. A. (2017). Discordant detection of avian influenza virus subtypes in time and space between poultry and wild birds; Towards improvement of surveillance programs. *PLoS* ONE, 12, e0173470. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0173470

### SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article.

How to cite this article: Dietze K, Graaf A, Homeier-Bachmann T, et al. From low to high pathogenicity— Characterization of H7N7 avian influenza viruses in two epidemiologically linked outbreaks. *Transbound Emerg Dis.* 2018;00:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.12906

### DIETZE ET AL.

### Supplemental material

**Table:** Results of real time RT-PCR (RT-qPCR) investigation using RT-qPCRs specific for a generic target (M), for subtype H7 (H7), and for the LP and HP pathotypes of H7 (H7 HP, H7 LP) in farms A (LPAIV H7) and B (HPAIV).

### (A) Swab samples

	9 June 2015			Real-time RT-PCR			R
		Farm	Stable	M PCR	H7	H7 HP	H7 LP
1	A/ck/Ger/AR909/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
2	A/ck/Ger/AR910/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
3	A/ck/Ger/AR911/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
4	A/ck/Ger/AR912/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
5	A/ck/Ger/AR913/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
6	A/ck/Ger/AR914/2015	А	N/A	30.94	37.5	N/A	36.5
7	A/ck/Ger/AR915/2015	А	N/A	29.1	31.12	neg	33.38
8	A/ck/Ger/AR916/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
9	A/ck/Ger/AR917/2015	Α	N/A	32.99	33.4	N/A	33.8
10	A/ck/Ger/AR918/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
11	A/ck/Ger/AR919/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
12	A/ck/Ger/AR920/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
13	A/ck/Ger/AR921/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
14	A/ck/Ger/AR922/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
15	A/ck/Ger/AR923/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
16	A/ck/Ger/AR924/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
17	A/ck/Ger/AR925/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
18	A/ck/Ger/AR926/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
19	A/ck/Ger/AR927/2015	Α	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
20	A/ck/Ger/AR928/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
21	A/ck/Ger/AR929/2015	А	N/A	39.79	38.8	N/A	35.66
22	A/ck/Ger/AR930/2015	Α	N/A	39.85	39.35	N/A	35.35
23	A/ck/Ger/AR931/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
24	A/ck/Ger/AR932/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
25	A/ck/Ger/AR933/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
26	A/ck/Ger/AR934/2015	А	N/A	38.58	35.56	N/A	neg
27	A/ck/Ger/AR935/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
28	A/ck/Ger/AR936/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
29	A/ck/Ger/AR937/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
30	A/ck/Ger/AR938/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
31	A/ck/Ger/AR939/2015	А	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
32	A/ck/Ger/AR940/2015	Α	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
33	A/ck/Ger/AR941/2015	Α	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
34	A/ck/Ger/AR942/2015	Α	N/A	32.01	29.84	neg	28.89
35	A/ck/Ger/AR943/2015	А	N/A	36.88	34.54	neg	34.17
36	A/ck/Ger/AR944/2015	А	N/A	37.22	34.29	neg	35.75
37	A/ck/Ger/AR945/2015	А	N/A	39.15	38.04	neg	35.08
38	A/ck/Ger/AR946/2015	А	N/A	38.59	34.92	neg	35.17
39	A/ck/Ger/AR947/2015	Α	N/A	neg	neg	N/A	N/A

Results – From low to high pathogenicity – Characterization of H7N7 avian influenza viruses in two epidemiologically linked outbreaks

	25 July 2015			Real-time RT-PCR				
	5	Farm	Stable	M PCR	H7	H7 HP	H7 LP	
40	A/ck/Ger/AR1382/2015	В	N/A	30.06	36.22	33.48	neg	
41	A/ck/Ger/AR1383/2015	В	N/A	27.95	32.95	32.33	neg	
42	A/ck/Ger/AR1384/2015	В	N/A	31.03	36.48	36.6	neg	
43	A/ck/Ger/AR1385/2015	В	N/A	18.76	27.03	19.01	neg	
44	A/ck/Ger/AR1386/2015	В	N/A	24.29	28.05	17.34	neg	
45	A/ck/Ger/AR1387/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
46	A/ck/Ger/AR1388/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
47	A/ck/Ger/AR1389/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
48	A/ck/Ger/AR1390/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
49	A/ck/Ger/AR1391/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
50	A/ck/Ger/AR1392/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
51	A/ck/Ger/AR1393/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
52	A/ck/Ger/AR1394/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
53	A/ck/Ger/AR1395/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
54	A/ck/Ger/AR1396/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
55	A/ck/Ger/AR1397/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
56	A/ck/Ger/AR1398/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
57	A/ck/Ger/AR1399/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
58	A/ck/Ger/AR1400/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
59	A/ck/Ger/AR1401/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
60	A/ck/Ger/AR1402/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
61	A/ck/Ger/AR1403/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
62	A/ck/Ger/AR1404/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
63	A/ck/Ger/AR1405/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
64	A/ck/Ger/AR1406/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
65	A/ck/Ger/AR1407/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
66	A/ck/Ger/AR1408/2015	В	N/A	37.98	N/A	neg	33.48	
67	A/ck/Ger/AR1409/2015	В	N/A	38.37	N/A	neg	32.33	
68	A/ck/Ger/AR1410/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
69	A/ck/Ger/AR1411/2015	В	N/A	38.52	N/A	neg	36.6	
70	A/ck/Ger/AR1412/2015	В	N/A	38.33	N/A	neg	36.89	
71	A/ck/Ger/AR1413/2015	В	N/A	36.77	neg	37.58	neg	
72	A/ck/Ger/AR1414/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
73	A/ck/Ger/AR1415/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
74	A/ck/Ger/AR1416/2015	В	N/A	30.12	neg	30.69	neg	
75	A/ck/Ger/AR1417/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
76	A/ck/Ger/AR1418/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
77	A/ck/Ger/AR1419/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
78	A/ck/Ger/AR1420/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
79	A/ck/Ger/AR1421/2015	В	N/A	29.88	36.23	31.14	neg	
80	A/ck/Ger/AR1422/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
81	A/ck/Ger/AR1423/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
82	A/ck/Ger/AR1424/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
83	A/ck/Ger/AR1425/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
84	A/ck/Ger/AR1426/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
85	A/ck/Ger/AR1427/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
86	A/ck/Ger/AR1428/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
87	A/ck/Ger/AR1429/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
88	A/ck/Ger/AR1430/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
89	A/ck/Ger/AR1431/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	
90	A/ck/Ger/AR1432/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A	

	25 July 2015			Real-time RT-PCR			
		Farm	Stable	M PCR	H7	H7 HP	H7 LP
91	A/ck/Ger/AR1433/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
92	A/ck/Ger/AR1434/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
93	A/ck/Ger/AR1435/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
94	A/ck/Ger/AR1436/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
95	A/ck/Ger/AR1437/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
96	A/ck/Ger/AR1438/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
97	A/ck/Ger/AR1439/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
98	A/ck/Ger/AR1440/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
99	A/ck/Ger/AR1441/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
100	A/ck/Ger/AR1442/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
101	A/ck/Ger/AR1443/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
102	A/ck/Ger/AR1444/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
103	A/ck/Ger/AR1445/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
104	A/ck/Ger/AR1446/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
105	A/ck/Ger/AR1447/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
106	A/ck/Ger/AR1448/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
107	A/ck/Ger/AR1449/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
108	A/ck/Ger/AR1450/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
109	A/ck/Ger/AR1451/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
110	A/ck/Ger/AR1452/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
111	A/ck/Ger/AR1453/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
112	A/ck/Ger/AR1454/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
113	A/ck/Ger/AR1455/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
114	A/ck/Ger/AR1456/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
115	A/ck/Ger/AR1457/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
116	A/ck/Ger/AR1458/2015	В	N/A	38.59	N/A	neg	neg
117	A/ck/Ger/AR1459/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
118	A/ck/Ger/AR1460/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
119	A/ck/Ger/AR1461/2015	В	N/A	neg	N/A	N/A	N/A
120	A/ck/Ger/AR1462/2015	В	N/A	26.28	33.92	27.43	neg

Results – From low to high pathogenicity – Characterization of H7N7 avian influenza viruses in two epidemiologically linked outbreaks

Results – From low to high pathogenicity – Characterization of H7N7 avian influenza viruses in two epidemiologically linked outbreaks

	30 July 2015			Real-time RT-PCR			
		Farm	Stable	M PCR	H7	H7 HP	H7 LP
121	A/ck/Ger/AR1536/2015	В	2b	31.17	38.14	32.17	neg
122	A/ck/Ger/AR1537/2015	В	2b	32.1	neg	33.75	N/A
123	A/ck/Ger/AR1538/2015	В	2b	neg	neg	n.d.	neg
124	A/ck/Ger/AR1539/2015	В	2b	31.04	38.76	31.4	neg
125	A/ck/Ger/AR1540/2015	В	2b	33.49	neg	34.46	neg
126	A/ck/Ger/AR1541/2015	В	2b	31.87	neg	33.18	neg
127	A/ck/Ger/AR1542/2015	В	2a	neg	neg	neg	N/A
128	A/ck/Ger/AR1543/2015	В	2a	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
129	A/ck/Ger/AR1544/2015	В	2a	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
130	A/ck/Ger/AR1545/2015	В	2a	neg	neg	N/A	neg
131	A/ck/Ger/AR1546/2015	В	2a	43008	34.7	31.46	N/A
132	A/ck/Ger/AR1547/2015	В	2a	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
133	A/ck/Ger/AR1548/2015	В	1b	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
134	A/ck/Ger/AR1549/2015	В	1b	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
135	A/ck/Ger/AR1550/2015	В	1b	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
136	A/ck/Ger/AR1551/2015	В	1b	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
137	A/ck/Ger/AR1552/2015	В	1b	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
138	A/ck/Ger/AR1553/2015	В	1b	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
139	A/ck/Ger/AR1554/2015	В	1a	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
140	A/ck/Ger/AR1555/2015	В	1a	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
141	A/ck/Ger/AR1556/2015	В	1a	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
142	A/ck/Ger/AR1557/2015	В	1a	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
143	A/ck/Ger/AR1558/2015	В	1a	neg	neg	N/A	N/A
144	A/ck/Ger/AR1559/2015	В	1a	neg	neg	N/A	N/A

### (B) Environmental samples

	29 July 2015			Real-time RT-PCR			
		Farm	Stable	M PCR	H7	H7 HP	H7 LP
145	A/env/Ger/AR1526/2015	В	2b	33.83	neg	36.34	neg
146	AA/env/Ger/R1527/2015	В	2a	32.14	neg	26.83	31.86
147	A/env/Ger/AR1528/2015	В	2a	29.37	37.85	neg	35.54
148	A/env/Ger/AR1529/2015	В	2b	29.37	neg	neg	38.03
149	A/env/Ger/AR1530/2015	В	2b	37.87	37.56	35.04	neg
150	A/env/Ger/AR1531/2015	В	2b	33.4	neg	neg	36.29
151	A/env/Ger/AR1532/2015	В	2b	34.2	N/A	neg	N/A
152	A/env/Ger/AR1533/2015	В	2b	neg	N/A	N/A	neg

Threshold cycles for RT-qPCRs M and H7 PCR: ≤40; H7 LP and H7 HP PCR: ≤38

Neg, no positive signal detected (Cq > 40),

### N/A, not applicable

Green color: positive in at least one RT-qPCR; Yellow color: positive in virus isolation

**Figures A-G:** Phylogenetic analysis by maximum likelihood of genome segments of avian influenza viruses. Representative H7N7 viruses that were sequenced in this study are indicated in red.

### (A) PB2



### (B) PB1

	100 CY138775_A_American black duck_New Brunswick_00344_2010_H7N7_PB1
	CY187035_A_American green-winged teal_Ohio_12OS5538_2012_H7N3_PB1
	KX979684.1 A greater white-fronted goose Netherlands 2_2010 H5N2
	KX979822.1 A mallard duck Netherlands 26 2010 H4N6 PB1
	KX979766.1_A_mallard duck_Netherlands_6_2013_H3N8_PB1
	A_chicken_Netherlands-Barneveld_15004745-001-005_2015_PB1
100	CY183997.1_A_mallard_Sweden_133546_2011_H10N4_PB1
100	
	A_chicken_England_2830_2015_H7N7LP_PB1
	KX979743.1_A_mallard duck_Netherlands_30_2008_H5N3_PB1
	CY184420.1_A_mallard_Sweden_79196_2008_PB1
	CY165504.1_A_mallard_Sweden_80014_2008_H4N6_PB1
	JN029541.1_A_environment_Mongolia_1-51_2007_H7N7_PB1
	CY185455.1_A_domestic duck_Republic of Georgia_1_2010_H10N7_PB1
	A_chicken_Germany_AR915_2015_H7N7LP_PB1
	100 A_chicken_Germany_AR942_2015_H7N7LP_PB1
	A_chicken_Germany_AR1385_2015_H7N7HP_PB1
	A_chicken_Germany_AR1386_2015_H7N7HP_PB1
	MF147135.1_A_mallard mallard duck_Netherlands_12_2011_H6N2_PB1
	CY121989.1_A_northern shoveler_Georgia_1_2010_H2N3_PB1
	CY183917.1_A_mallard_Sweden_105402_2009_H10N1_PB1
	CY183933.1_A_mallard_Sweden_105465_2009_H10N1_PB1
	Cy183861.1_A_mallard_Sweden_104746_2009_H10N1_PB1
	CY183845.1_A_mallard_Sweden_102087_2009_H10N1_PB1
	L CY183909.1_A_mallard_Sweden_105365_2009_H10N1_PB1
	CY183877.1_A_mallard_Sweden_105254_2009_H10N1_PB1
	CY183973.1_A_mallard_Sweden_105536_2009_H10N1_PB1
	CY183925.1_A_mallard_Sweden_105404_2009_H10N1_PB1
	<sup>'</sup> CY183949.1_A_mallard_Sweden_105486_2009_H10N1_PB1
	CY079249.1_A_avian_Japan_8KI0135_2008_H6N5_PB1
	AB593461.1_A_duck_Vietnam_G30_2008_H11N9_PB1
	IL JN029634.1_A_canvasback_Mongolia_2-69_2007_H10N6_PB1
	L1001 KJ200723.1_A_duck_Fujian_S4081_2008_H6N2_PB1
	KJ200867.1_A_duck_Hubei_S4170_2008_H6N2_PB1
	— KF260530.1_A_duck_Yunnan_87_2007_H7N6_PB1
	KT022241.1_A_chicken_Guangxi_015C10_2009_H3N2_PB1
	JX454696.1_A_wild duck_Korea_CSM4-28_2010_H4N6_PB1
	KF260469.1_A_duck_Jiangxi_3096_2009_H7N9_PB1
	JX454/59.1_A_wild duck_Korea_SH5-60_2008_H4N6_PB1
	KJ/64/86.1_A_environment_Korea_UPO218_2008_H1N6_PB1
	CY098256.1 A_aquatic bird_korea_CN9_2009_H6N8_PB1
	[ KC899/17.1_A_wild duck_SH17-34_2008_H2N3_H81
	- JX434731.1 A WIID DUCK KOFEB SH3-26 2008 H4N6 PB1

### (C) PA

100_ CY138774_A_American_black_duck_New_Brunswick_00344_2010_PA
CY187034_A_American_green-winged_teal_Ohio_12OS5538_2012_PA
r CY183577.1 A mallard Sweden 101165 2009 H8N4 PA
100 II KX978459.1 A mallard duck Netherlands 18 2010 H6N8 PA
KX979147.1 A greater white-fronted goose Netherlands 2 2011 H6N2 PA
- CY166085 1 A mallard Sweden 124228 2010 H4N6 PA
chicken Netherlands-Barneveld 15004745-001-005 2015 PA
A chicken England 26352 2015 H7N7HD DA
100 A_CHICKEII_ENgland_20552_2015_H7N7HF_FA
HQU14759.1_A_WIId_duck_Korea_SH6U_2004_H1N1_PA
FF597429.1_A_duck_liang_XI_3345_2005_H5N2_PA
' EF597405.1_A_duck_Jiang_Xi_1286_2005_H5N2_PA
CY109225.1_A_duck_Guangxi_1074_2006_H6N2_PA_
<sup>L</sup> CY109233.1_A_duck_Guangxi_1157_2006_H6N2_PA
CY185422.1_A_mallard_Republic_of_Georgia_1_2010_H10N7_PA
CY185686.1_A_mallard_Republic_of_Georgia_2_2012_H2N3_PA
CY121988.1_A_northern_shoveler_Georgia_1_2010_H2N3_PA
- CY185438.1 A mallard Republic of Georgia 3 2010 H7N3 PA
CY185406.1 A common coot Republic of Georgia 1 2010 H6N2 PA
- KE454778.1 A wild bird Mongolia 2066 2011 H5N3 PA
r ME146943.1 A mallard duck Netherlands 22 2013 H2N3
100 4 ME145875 1 A tuffed duck Georgia 1 2012 H2N3 PA
CV185344.1 A tuffed duck Republic of Georgia 1 2012 H2N3 PA
ET105544.1_A_taited_ddck_Republic_01_Geolgid_1_2012_112N3_FA
ME146196 1 A mollard duck Coordin 2 2012 H7N2 DA
ME146080.1_A_mailard_duck_Georgia_5_2012_H7N5_PA
MF145981.1_A_mailard_duck_Netherlands_2_2013_H3N6_PA
KX9/8941.1_A_greater_white-fronted_goose_Netherlands_1_2012_H1N1_PA
MF145/34.1_A_mailard_duck_Netherlands_8_2014_H/N5_PA
AB807871.1_A_duck_Vietnam_LBM300_2012_H10N2_PA
KF874480.1_A_wild_waterfowl_Dongting_C2383_2012_H1N2_PA
KJ881018.1_A_duck_Guangxi_125D17_2012_H4N2_PA
KU161042.1_A_duck_Sichuan_S4202_2011_H4N2_PA
KP658042.1_A_duck_Yunan_V286_2012_H1N2_PA
MF147788.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_18_2014_H1N1_PA
— KX000723.1 A pigeon Egypt S10409A 2014 H9N2 PA
KX014885.1 A duck France 150236 2015 H5N9 PA
A chicken Germany AR915 2015 H7N7LP PA
100 A chicken Germany AR942 2015 H7N7LP PA
A chicken Germany AR1385 2015 H7N7HP PA
A chicken Germany AP1386 2015 H7N7HP PA
E KY078751 1 A mallard duck Netherlands 24 2013 H4N6 PA
A chicken England 2020 2015 2 H7N7LD DA
ME147272.1. A mallard duck Matharlanda 24, 2014 HZN2 PA
ME147572.1_A_mailard_duck_Netherlands_24_2014_H7N5_PA
mr14/512.1_A_mailard_duck_ivelnenands_2_2014_m10N/_PA
KX9//41.1_A_mailard_duck_ivetneriands_1_2014_H10N/_PA
KX9/9472.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_13_2013_H7N7_PA
ر KX979016.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_33_2014_H10N7_PA
KX979178.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_6_2015_H10N7_PA



### **(D)** NP

	A_chicken_England_26352_2015H7N7HP_NP
	A_chicken_Netherlands-Barneveld_15004745-001-005_2015H7N7_NP
† [—	CY005462.1_A_Pigeon_Nanchang_8-142_2000_H3N6_NP
	KJ847704.1_A_Caspian_seal_Russia_T1_2012_H4N6_NP
	CY185580.1_A_mallard_Republic_of_Georgia_13_2011_H6N2_NP
	KY635636.1_A_duck_Banglades_H_26918_2015_H3N6_NP
	100 KY635678.1_A_duck_Banglades_H_25891_2015_H4N6_NP
	KF918338.1_A_Italy_3_2013_H7N7_NP
	KX979408.1_A_greater_w_Hite-fronted_goose_Netherlands_11_2009_H6N1_NP
	KX977704.1_A_greater_w_Hite-fronted_goose_Netherlands_6_2011_H6N8_NP
	MF147159.1_A_w_Hite-fronted_goose_Netherlands_5_2011_H6N8_NP
	KX978146.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_12_2012_H6N1_NP
	KX978600.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_24_2009_H6N1_NP
	JQ737214.1_A_mallard_Czech_Republic_14333-1K_2011_H3N8_NP
	100 CY149535.1_A_greylag_goose_Iceland_0980_2011_H6N8_NP
	CY149455.1_A_greylag_goose_Iceland_1474_2011_H6N8_NP
	CY149463.1_A_greylag_goose_Iceland_1482_2011_H6N8_NP
	KX228211.1_A_chicken_England_474-016250_2014_H4N6_NP
	KX979542.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_15_2011_H6N8_NP
	KX979530.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_20_2011_H6N8_NP
	KX979333.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_32_2013_H10N7
	MF146416.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_23_2013_H7N3_NP
	CY185468.1_A_common_Teal_Republic_of_Georgia_1_2011_H3N8_NP
	MF147716.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_8_2014_H7N5_NP
	F MF146131.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_18_2012_H4N2_NP
	KX979583.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_30_2014_H4N6_NP
	MF147316.1_A_barnacle_goose_Netherlands_2_2014_H3N6_NP
	KM213388.1_A_ruddy_turnstone_Iceland_2899_2013_H5N1_NP
	KX979154.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_23_2012_H11N9_NP
	KY320435.1_A_Mallard_Sweden_816_2014_H1N1_NP
	L MF146940.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_16_2012_H3N2_NP
	MF146890.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_9_2014_H6N2_NP
	A_chicken_Germany_AR1386_2015_H7N7_NP
	A_chicken_Germany_AR1385_2015_H7N7_NP
	A_chicken_Germany_AR942_2015_H7N7_NP
	A_chicken_Germany_AR915_2015_H7N7_NP
	100 KX978700.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_1_2014_H10N7_NP
	MF148099.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_2_2014_H10N7_NP
	KX979175.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_13_2013_H7N7_NP
	Achicken_England_2830_2015_H7N7LP_NP
	<ul> <li>KX977633.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_6_2015_H10N7_NP</li> </ul>

### (E) NA

	- CY187031 A American green-winged teal Obio 120S5538 2012 NA
	CY138771 A American black duck New Brunswick 00344 2010 NA
4	KP414901.1 A chicken liangxi 10784 2014 H7N7 NA
	IC121438 1 A duck Mongolia 709 2015 H10N7 NA
	LC121422.1 A duck Mongolia 626 2015 H10N7 NA
100	LC121382.1_A_duck_Mongolia_020_2015_H10N7_NA
	LC121302.1_A_duck_Mongolia_735_2015_11007_NA
	CV195297.1 A mellard Depublic of Coercia 15 2011 U10N7 NA
	CY185387.1_A_mailard_Republic_of_Georgia_15_2011_H10N7_NA
	CY185691.1_A_mailard_Republic_or_Georgia_14_2011_H10N7_NA
	CY185451.1_A_domestic_duck_Republic_of_Georgia_1_2010_H10N7_NA
	CY185459.1_A_domestic_duck_Republic_of_Georgia_2_2010_H10N7_NA
	CY185419.1_A_mailard_Republic_of_Georgia_1_2010_H10N/_NA
	KT777872.1_A_ostrich_South_Africa_KRB_2013_H7N7_NA
	KF259621.1_A_duck_Fujian_5408_2008_H7N7_NA
100	KX297775.1_A_environment_Korea_W136_2006_H7N7_NA
100	KX297777.1_A_environment_Korea_W148_2006_H7N7_NA
	KX297776.1_A_environment_Korea_W143_2006_H7N7_NA
	LC121486.1_A_duck_Hokkaido_W90_2007_H10N7NA
	FJ750866.1_A_mallard_Korea_GH170_2007_H7N7_NA
	FJ750856.1_A_magpie_Korea_YJD174_2007_H7N7_NA
	FJ959088.1_A_mallard_Korea_GH171_2007_H7N7
	KX979065.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_5_2012_H10N7_NA
	A_chicken_England_2830_2015_H7N7LP_NA
	KX978080.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_13_2013_H7N7_NA
100	MF146768.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_2_2014_H10N7_NA
	KX978673.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_1_2014_H10N7_NA
	KX978040.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_6_2015_H10N7_NA
	KX979578.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_33_2014_H10N7_NA
	KX979143.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_3_2015_H7N7_NA
	KP137832.1 A harbour seal Germany 1 2014 H10N7 NA
	KX978875.1 A mallard duck Netherlands 32 2013 H10N7 NA
	A chicken Germany AR915 2015 H7N7 NA
	A chicken Germany AR942 2015 H7N7 NA
	A chicken Germany AR1385 2015 H7N7 NA
	A chicken Germany AR1386 2015 H7N7 NA
	A chicken Netherlands-Barneveld 15004745-001-005 2015 NA
	A chicken England 26352 2015 H7N7HP NA
	KY777637.1 A mailard Netherlands 15 2015 H7N7 NA
	KY777634 1 A mallard Netherlands 16 2015 H7N7 NA
100	KY777618.1 A mallard Netherlands 18 2015 H7N7 NA
	KY777631 1 A mallard Netherlands 14 2015 H7N7 NA
	KY777616 1 A mailard Netherlands 13 2015 H7N7 NA
	KTATATATATATATATATATATATATATATATATATATA

### (F) MP



### (G) NS

100 r A_chicken_England_2830_2015_H7N7LP_NS
CY138773_A_American_black_duck_New_Brunswick_00344_2010_NS
A_chicken_England_26352_2015_H7N7HP_NS
MF147529.1_A_mallard_duck_Sweden_139752_2012H15N5_NS
MF148096.1_A_mallard_duck_Sweden_139703_2012H15N5_NS
MF146213.1_A_mallard_duck_Sweden_139899_2012H15N5_NS
۲ KX978939.1_A_greater_white-fronted_goose_Netherlands_1_2012H1N1_NS
KX979173.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_31_2013_H10N7_NS
KX977727.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_32_2013_H10N7_NS
r KX979464.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_30_2014H4N6_NS
MF145902.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_23_2013H7N3_NS
– KU310451.1_A_chicken_France_150169a_201_5H5N1_NS
r KX977799.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_5_2013H1N1_NS
MF145857.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_20_2012H1N1_NS
KX977731.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_8_2012H1N1_NS
- MF145786.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_12_2011H6N9_NS
r KX978229.1 A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_1_2012_H10N7_NS
KF260032.1_A_common_teal_Hong_Kong_MPD322_2007H11N9_NS
KF260033.1_A_northern_pintail_Hong_Kong_MPC2085_2007H11N9_NS
KF260031.1_A_wild_waterfowl_Hong_Kong_MPC729_2006H11N9_NS
GQ907290.1_A_bar_headed_goose_Mongolia_143_2005_H12N3_NS
GQ907346.1 A ruddy shelduck Mongolia P52 2005 H12N3 NS
CY185509.1_A_mallard_Republic_of_Georgia_12_2011_H10N4_NS
EU158147.1_A_duck_Jiangxi_1742_03_H7N7_NS
CY187033 A American green-winged teal Ohio 12OS5538 2012 NS
r FJ750868.1_A_mallard_Korea_GH170_2007H7N7_NS
JX454749.1 A wild duck Korea SH5-26 2008 H4N6 NS
KC609961.1_A_mallard_Korea_NHG187_2008_H7N7_NS
KC609960.1 A Northern shoveler Korea SD175 2008 H7N3 NS
KX978808.1_A_greater_white-fronted_goose_Netherlands_6_2010H6N2_NS
MF147370.1 A mallard duck Netherlands 24 2011H2N3 NS
r KX978840.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_37_2011H1N1_NS
<ul> <li>KX977679.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_5_2012_H10N7_NS</li> </ul>
r KX978338.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_6_2015_H10N7_NS
A_chicken_Germany_AR1386_2015_H7N7_NS
99 A chicken Germany AR915 2015 H7N7 NS
A_chicken_Germany_AR1385_2015_H7N7_NS
A_chicken_Germany_AR942_2015_H7N7_NS
MF147249.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_24_2014H7N3_NS
MF147393.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_6_2012H1N1_NS
KX978639.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_1_2013H7N7_NS
A_chicken_Netherlands-Barneveld_15004745-001-005_2015_NS
ل KX978242.1_A_mallard_duck_Netherlands_33_2014_H10N7_NS

### 4.4 PUBLICATION IV

A viral race for primacy:

Co-infection of a natural pair of low and highly pathogenic H7N7 avian influenza viruses in chickens and embryonated chicken eggs

Annika Graaf<sup>1</sup>, Reiner Ulrich<sup>2</sup>, Pavlo Maksimov<sup>3</sup>, David Scheibner<sup>4</sup>, Susanne Koethe<sup>1</sup>, Elsayed M. Abd El-Whab<sup>4</sup>, Thomas C. Mettenleiter<sup>4</sup>, Martin Beer<sup>1</sup>, Timm Harder<sup>1</sup>

Friedrich-Loeffler-Institute, Südufer 10, Greifswald 17493, Germany

- <sup>1</sup>Institute of Diagnostic Virology
- <sup>2</sup> Department of Experimental Animal Facilities and Biorisk Management
- <sup>3</sup>Institute of Epidemiology
- <sup>4</sup> Institute of Molecular Virology and Cell Biology

Emerging Microbes and Infections Article number: 7 (2018) doi: 10.1038/s41426-018-0204-0

Graaf et al. Emerging Microbes & Infections (2018)7:204 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41426-018-0204-0

ARTICLE

Emerging Microbes & Infections www.nature.com/emi

### **Open Access**

## A viral race for primacy: co-infection of a natural pair of low and highly pathogenic H7N7 avian influenza viruses in chickens and embryonated chicken eggs

Annika Graaf<sup>1</sup>, Reiner Ulrich<sup>2</sup>, Pavlo Maksimov<sup>3</sup>, David Scheibner<sup>4</sup>, Susanne Koethe<sup>1</sup>, Elsayed M. Abdelwhab<sup>4</sup>, Thomas C. Mettenleiter<sup>4</sup>, Martin Beer<sup>1</sup> and Timm Harder<sup>1</sup>

### Abstract

Highly pathogenic avian influenza virus (HPAIV) infection in poultry caused devastating mortality and economic losses. HPAIV of subtypes H5 and H7 emerge from precursor viruses of low pathogenicity (LP) by spontaneous mutation associated with a shift in the susceptibility of the endoproteolytic cleavage site of the viral hemagglutinin protein from trypsin- to furin-like proteases. A recently described natural pair of LP/HP H7N7 viruses derived from two spatiotemporally linked outbreaks in layer chickens was used to study how a minority of mutated HP virions after de novo generation in a single host might gain primacy. Co-infection experiments in embryonated eggs and in chickens were conducted to investigate amplification, spread and transmissionof HPAIV within a poultry population that experiences concurrent infection by an antigenically identical LP precursor virus. Simultaneous LPAIV co-infection (inoculum dose of  $10^6$  egg infectious dose 50% endpoint (ElD<sub>50</sub>)/0.5 mL) withincreasing titers of HPAIV from  $10^1$  to  $10^{5.7}$  ElD<sub>50</sub>/0.5 mL) had a significant impeding impact on HP H7 replication, viral excretion kinetics, clinical signs and histopathological lesions (in vivo) and on embryo mortality (in ovo). LP/HP co-infected chickens required a hundredfold higher virus dose (HPAIV inoculum of  $10^5$  ElD<sub>50</sub>) compared to HPAIV mono-infection (HPAIV inoculum of  $10^3$  ElD<sub>50</sub>) to develop overt clinical signs, mortality and virus spread to uninfected sentinels. Escape and spread of HP phenotypes after de novo generation in an index host may therefore be highly precarious due to significant competition with co-circulating LP precursor virus.

### Introduction

© The Author(s) 2018

Avian influenza A viruses (AIV) are classified into subtypes based on antigenic properties of their hemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA) surface glycoproteins<sup>1</sup>. A further classification into phenotypes of low and high pathogenicity (LP/HP) refers to their virulence in chickens. In the subtypes H5 and H7, the HP phenotype correlates with presence of multiple basic amino acids at the HA endoproteolytic cleavage site (HACS) rendering it accessible to subtilisin-like proteases that are ubiquitous in avian host tissues<sup>2–4</sup>. The vast majority of AIV circulating in their natural host reservoir of aquatic wild birds is identified as LP, encoding monobasic, i.e., trypsin-sensitive HACSs, and causing only minor, if any, clinical signs in avian hosts, including poultry<sup>5</sup>. LP viruses of the subtypes H5 and H7 have the ability, under natural conditions, to spontaneously mutate to the HP phenotype which is associated with conversion of the HACS from a trypsin-sensitive/monobasic to a subtilisin-sensitive/ polybasic configuration<sup>6</sup>. The concept of HPAIV emergence from LP progenitors is supported by phylogenetic

Correspondence: Timm Harder (timm.harder@fli.de)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Institute of Diagnostic Virology, Südufer 10, 17493 Greifswald, Germany <sup>2</sup>Department of Experimental Animal Facilities and Biorisk Management, Südufer 10, 17493 Greifswald, Germany

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this license, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

Graaf et al. Emerging Microbes & Infections (2018)7:204

Page 2 of 12

analyses of H5 and H7 AIV strains, which revealed the evolution of geospatially defined lineages within LPAIV, but not HPAIV phenotypes<sup>7,8</sup>. So far, only subtypes H5 and H7 AI viruses have been observed to acquire HP mutations under natural circumstances, and infection of poultry with these viruses are therefore considered to be notifiable regardless of their particular pathogenicity<sup>9,10</sup>. Control of notifiable LPAIV of subtypes H5 and H7 in poultry aims at preventing spontaneous mutation to and spread of HPAI variants associated with vast economic losses in poultry production. Some LPAIV such as the H7N9 strain in China merit control also because of their unique zoonotic propensity<sup>11</sup>.

Repeated, but epidemiologically unrelated, emergence of HPAI H7 viruses based on de novo generation from distinct LPAIV precursors was at the basis of major outbreaks in Italy 1999–2000 (H7N1; ref.<sup>12</sup>) and 2013 (H7N7; ref.<sup>13</sup>), in the Netherlands in 2003 (H7N7; refs.<sup>14,15</sup>), in Canada in 2004 (H7N3; ref.<sup>16</sup>), in the United States of America in 2016 (H7N8; ref.<sup>17</sup>) and 2017 (H7N9; ref.<sup>18</sup>), in the UK in 200819,20 and Germany in 2015 (H7N7; ref.<sup>19</sup>). H7 HPAIV detection in isolated, sporadic outbreaks was reported from the UK in 2015 (H7N7; ref.<sup>20</sup>), from Canada in 2007 (H7N3; ref.<sup>21</sup>) and from Spain in 2009/2010 (H7N7; ref.<sup>22</sup>).

Virological identification of a "matching pair" of an LPAIV progenitor and its HPAIV descendant in the field is very rare 23-25. A recent example of such a virus pair was reported from Germany where transmission of a precursor H7N7 LPAIV from chicken layer farm A to neighboring layer farm B and mutation to the HP phenotype on farm B was confirmed<sup>19</sup>.Determining the drivers of emergence of HPAIV is crucial for a better understanding why and when certain LP strains pose a risk of becoming HP. There is insufficient knowledge why, in nature, the HP phenotype emerges only in H5 and H7 subtypes and how the two AIV pathotypes interact when simultaneously infecting poultry. We conducted in vivo and in ovo co-infection experiments using a naturally occurring matching LP/HP H7N7 virus pair to further understand the processes of the initial emergence and escape of HPAIV. Our experiments attempted to mimic the situation of the de novo emergence and spread of an HPAIV infection in a chicken population in which LPAIV is circulating.

### Results

In order to mimic the status nascendi, when an HP phenotype variant emerges by spontaneous mutation from an LP precursor virus in an avian host that is infected by the LP phenotype, groups of ten 6-week-old specific pathogen free (SPF) chickens or five SPF embryonated chicken eggs (ECEs) of either 10-days or 14-days of incubation, respectively, were co-inoculated with

an HP/LP virus mixture containing increasing titers of HPAIV H7N7 AR1385from  $10^1$  to  $10^{5.7}$  EID<sub>50</sub>/animal (groups C1-C5.7, C = co-infected, number =  $\log_{10}$  virus titer) in a constant background titer ( $10^6$  EID<sub>50</sub> /animal) of the LPAIV H7N7 AR915 precursor. As a comparison, similar inoculation of chickens and eggs were carried out with corresponding HPAIV doses without concomitantLPAIV infection (HP mono (M)-infected groups M1-M6). In addition, we also included a group which solely received the LPAIV precursor (group B).

### In vivo experiment

### Clinical score and survival rate of chickens reveal interference of LP with low titer HP H7N7 infection

Neither morbidity (quantitative measure: clinical score; Fig. 1a) nor mortality (quantitative measure: survival probability, Fig. 1b) was observed in any bird of group B inoculated with 106 EID50 of LPAIV H7N7 AR915 as a mono-infection (Fig. 1a, b: B vs. M6, blacklines). Dosedependent morbidity and mortality was evident in groups that received an inoculum of HPAIV H7N7 AR1385, the HP successor of LPAIV AR915, as a mono-infection (groups M1-M6, Fig. 1a, b, turquoise lines). Animals of group M6 which received the highest HPAIV dose (10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>/0.5 mL) presented with severe lethargy, anorexia and neurological signs leading to a moribund status as defined in humane termination criteria (see Materials and Methods) of all inoculated birds within 3 to 4 days post infection (dpi) (mean clinical score = 2.1). As expected, highly significant differences between the control groups LP B and HP M6 in survival rates and clinical scores of inoculated animals were observed (each p < 0.001) which confirms the validity of the inoculation and scoring system (Fig. 1a, b, B vs. M6, supplemental Table 1a, b).

Average clinical scores of other HPAIV challenged groups decreased with decreasing inoculum titers from 2.0 (in group M5.7), 1.9 (in group M5) and 1.6 (in group M4) to 1.4 (group M3). A delay in mortality but no difference in the terminal severity of clinical signs was observed for the groups M3 and M4 compared to groups M5, M5.7, and M6 (Fig. 1a, b, turquoise lines). However, mortality did not reach 100% in groups M3 and M4 and, thus, survival probability in groups M3 and M4 was significantly higher (each, p < 0.001) than in M5-M6. In group M1, in contrast, neither clinical signs nor mortality were observed. In conclusion, as a mono-infection, at least  $10^3$  EID50 of the HPAIV AR1385 inoculum per animal were required to induce robust infection, clinical signs and mortality.

Chicken groups C1-C5.7 (Fig. 1a, b, orange lines) had been co-infected with an inoculum containing a constant amount of LP AR915 ( $10^6$  EID<sub>50</sub>/animal) and varying titers of HP AR1385 matching those of the mono-infected groups. Compared to the HPAIV mono-infected
Page 3 of 12



Page 4 of 12

(see figure on previous page)

Fig. 1 a-b: Clinical scores (a) and survival probability (b) of chickens after co-infection with LP/HPAN H7N7 (groups C1-C5.7, orange lines) compared with titer-matched HP H7N7 mono-infected groups (M1-M5.7, turquoise lines), and comparison between titer-matched LP (B, black line) and HP H7N7 (M6, turquoise line) mono-infected groups. Continuous lines represent inoculated animals; dashed lines depict sentinels. c-d: Oropharyngeal (OP) and cloacal (L) shedding of HPAIV H7N7-specific RNA by infected (c), and sentinel (d) chickens after co-infection with LP/HPAIV H7N7 (groups C1-C5.7, orange lines) compared with titer-matched HP H7N7 mono-infected groups (M1-M5.7, turquoise lines), and comparison between titer-matched LP (B, black line) and HPAIV H7N7-specific RNA by infected (c), and sentinel (d) chickens after co-infection with LP/HPAIV H7N7 (groups C1-C5.7, orange lines) compared with titer-matched HP H7N7 mono-infected groups (M1-M5.7, turquoise lines), and comparison between titer-matched LP (B, black line) and HP H7N7 (M6, turquoise line) mono-infected groups. A pathotype-specific RT-qPCR was used to generate Cq values (Graaf, 2017). The shedding index (Y-axes) was calculated by computing the mean average of Cq values of all animals sampled at the indicated dpi in a specific group and subtracting this value from 38, the threshold of detection of the HP H7 RT-qPCR. Thus, if all animals were negative for HP H7 RNA, the group scored with a value of zero

groupsthey showed an attenuated course of disease: HPAIV added to the LPAIV inoculum at doses of  $10^1$  EID<sub>50</sub> (group C1) and also  $10^3$  EID<sub>50</sub> (group C3) did not induce any signs of disease or mortality. Thus, there was a significant difference between group C3 (no morbidity/ mortality) vs. M3 (9/10 birds died) regarding survival probability and clinical scores (each p < 0.001). An HPAIV co-infection dose of  $10^4$  EID<sub>50</sub> (group C4) infrequently caused very discrete clinical signs in chickens. Spontaneous mortality was induced in two inoculated birds of this group at 4 and 5 dpi that did not show any preceding clinical signs (C4, meanclinical score = 0.6; Fig. 1a, b, orange lines); this reveals a highly significant difference to group M4 (survival probability p = 0.002; clinical score p = 0.002) (supplementalTable 1a, b).

High morbidity and mortality rates, evidently indistinguishable (survival probability and clinical scores p > 0.2) from HPAIV mono-infection, were induced by mixed inocula containing  $10^5$  and  $10^{5.7}$  EID<sub>50</sub> HPAIV in groups C5 and C5.7 (Fig. 1a, b; supplemental Table 1a, b), respectively.

The only significant difference emerged within the survival rates between groups C5 vs. M5 in inoculated animals ( $p \ll 0.001$ ). In conclusion, when compared to HPAIV mono-infections, an attenuated course of disease was evident when less than  $10^5 \text{ EID}_{50}$  of the HPAIV were mixed with an inoculum of  $10^6 \text{ EID}_{50}$  of the LPAIV.

# HP H7N7 virus shedding is impeded by LP co-infection

Oropharyngeal (OP) and cloacal (CL) viral shedding patterns were examined by generic AIV-M-specific and pathotype-specific H7 LP and H7 HP RT-qPCRs (Hoffmann, 2001; Graaf et al., 2017). The total number of positive swabs, the viral loads and the duration of virus shedding varied among the groups (Fig. 1c and supplemental Table 2). The threshold distinguishing positive and negative samples was set at Cq = 40 for the M- and at 38 for both, the H7 LP and HP specific PCRs. The latter PCRs were found to be slightly less sensitive leading to more M-positive versus H7-positive samples (supplemental Table 2). No H7 LPAIV-specific RNA was detected in any of the HPAIV mono-infected groups M1-M6, and likewise, no H7 HPAIV-specific RNA was detected in the LPAIV mono-infected group B, confirming the purity of the virus preparations and effective isolation of animal units.

All virus-inoculated chickens with the exception of group M1 and a single inoculated chicken in group M3 excreted AIV RNA in OP and/or CL swabs (supplemental Table 2). Chickens of the LPAIV mono-infected group B shed virus orally and cloacally starting from 1 and 2 dpi, respectively, and virus excretion in this group peaked at 4 dpi; even at 13 dpi, minor amounts of viral RNA were excreted by three out of ten chickens of this group (supplemental Table. 2). Virus excretion kineticsfor the HPAIV mono-infected chickens of group M6 (Fig. 1c, b vs. M6) showed a steady increase of virus shedding until death of the animals within 6 days. In co-infected groups, shedding of both LP-specific and HP-specific H7 RNA was evident, with the exception of group M1 where neither LP nor HP shedding was detected; with increasing amounts of HPAIV in the inoculation mixture, less LP H7-specific RNA was excreted (supplemental Table. 2).

In groups C1 and C3 no HP shedding was observed (C1 not shown in Fig. 1c, supplemental Table 2). Groups C5 and C5.7 did not shed statistically significant lower amounts of HPAIV RNA as compared to the HPAIV mono-infected groups M5 and M5.7 (Fig. 1c, supplemental Table 3b). Group C4 showed a singular HP excretion pattern with HPAIV RNA shedding receding to undetectable levels after a peak at 6 dpi; obviously co-infected chickens in this group cleared the HPAIV infection within the observation period. This is corroborated by the clinical picture where 6/8 inoculated birds survived.

# HP H7N7 virus transmission from LP-co-infected donors to sentinel chickens requires higher HP inoculum doses

Virus transmission kinetics were assessed by co-housing four sentinel chickens with each of the groups at 1 dpi. Two sentinels each were sacrificed for immunohistochemistry (IHC) at 2 dpi. Effective transmissionwas evaluated by the development of morbidity/mortality (Fig. 1a, b dashed lines), presence of AIV RNA in OP and

Page 5 of 12

CL swab samples (Fig. 1d), and by seroconversion (supplemental Fig. 1) of the two remaining sentinels.

All contact chickens of HPAIV groups M and C, except those of groups C1-C4 and M1, excreted HPAIV (Fig. 1d and supplemental Table. 2), developed clinical signs and succumbed to the infection (Fig. 1a, b). Transmission of LPAIV as judged by virus excretion of sentinels was evidentby LP H7 pathotype-specific RT-qPCR in groups B, and C1-C5. No LPAIV excretion could be demonstrated in sentinels of group C5.7 (Fig. 1d, supplemental Table 2).

In summary, highly significant differences between the control groups B and M6 in survival and clinical score of sentinel animals were observed (each p < 0.001) (Fig. 1a, b). Furthermore, groups C3 vs. M3 and C4 vs. M4 showed a significant difference in survival (p < 0.001), while clinical scores did not differ significantly (p > 0.05). No statistical differences were observed in the remaining groupsC1 vs. M1, C5 vs.M5, and C5.7 vs. M5.7.

Results of the AIV NP antibody-specific seroconversion are shown in supplemental Fig. 3. All chickens found to be infected by molecular means and surviving until the end of the observation period (13 dpi) seroconverted.

# Lack of macroscopic and histopathological findings in LP H7N7 infected chickens but characteristic lesions in HP H7N7 inoculated chickens at day 2 post infection

Necropsy of four chickens of each group (two inoculated and two sentinel birds) sacrificed at 2 dpi revealed no conspicuous pathological signs for AIV infection in either inoculated or contact chickens. This includes birds of all HPAIV mono-infected groups. Chickens inoculated with LPAIV and sacrificed at 2 dpi revealed no viral antigen-positive cells and no obvious histopathological alterations (supplemental Fig. 3).

In HPAIV infected chickens, in contrast, the most abundant histopathological finding at 2 dpi was mild to moderate, focal to multifocal, acute necrotizing rhinitis with epithelial degeneration and necrosis (groups M5-M6 and C4-C5.7; Fig. 2a; supplemental Fig. 2). Less frequently present was mild oligofocal, acute degeneration and necrosis of individual caecal crypt epithelia (Fig. 2c; supplemental Fig. 2) and mild oligo-focal to multifocal, acute, necrotizing polioencephalitis (Fig. 2e; supplemental Fig. 2a), respectively. Further mild to moderate lesions in other tissues are shown in Fig. 2g; supplemental Fig. 2b and 2d.

These results were corroborated by IHC revealing most abundant, oligofocal to coalescing influenza A matrixprotein-positive epithelial cells within the nasal cavities (Fig. 2b; supplemental Fig. 2c), caecal crypt epithelia (Fig. 2d; supplemental Fig. 2c), and the brains of chickens with polioencephalitis, respectively (Fig. 2f; supplemental Fig. 2c). Oligofocal, immunoreactive round cells interpreted as macrophages were present within the spleens of one to two chickens of groups M5.7, M6, and C5.7 (Fig. 2h; supplemental Fig. 2c). Other organs with scant focal immunoreactive parenchyma in individual chickens of groups M5-M6 were heart, lungs, and liver (supplemental Fig. 3C).

## In ovo experiment

ECEs at both 10 and 14 days of age were inoculated with either H7N7 LP AR915 or HP H7N7 AR1385 or mixtures thereof in 0.2 mL per egg as shown in Table 1b.

# LP H7N7 interferes with HP infection of embryonatedchicken eggs

Mean death time (MDT) values within an observation period of 4 days and viral load in amnio-allantoic fluids (AAFs) were used to compare mono- and co-infection groups. Significantly increased mortality and shortened MDT in groups M6 versus B, representing mono-infections with HP AR1385 and LP AR915 (inoculum each of 10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>), was evident (p < 0.0001; quantitative measure: survival probability, Fig. 3a, B vs. M6, supplemental Table 4a,b). No significant (p > 0.5) difference was observed when comparing 10-day old and 14-day old eggs for each of these groups. Examination of virus loads in AAFs by generic AIV-M and pathotype-specific H7 LP- and H7 HP RT-qPCRs revealed pure LP and HP infections in the mono-infected groups B and M6, respectively (Fig. 3b, supplemental Table 5).

Independent of the virus dose at inoculation, the MDT of HP mono-infected ECEs was always significantly shorter, i.e., they died earlier, compared to LP/HP co-infected eggs (Fig. 3a, supplemental Table 4b). In addition, HP virus yield in all co-infected groups was strikingly lower compared to mono-infectionsbut increased with increasing HP inoculum titers, whereas no significant differences (p > 0.05) in LP virus load of co-infected groups was evident; interference of HP virus by LP co-infection was particularly dominant in 10-day old ECEs (Fig. 3b, supplemental Table 5). The only exceptions are groups C1 and M1 where no embryos died in M1, although all M1 eggs became infected (Fig. 3a, supplemental Table 5). In contrast, the death of all 5 (10-day old ECEs) and 3 of 5 ECEs (14-day old) in C1 must have been attributable mainly to LP replication as confirmed by pathotypespecific RT-qPCR (Fig. 3b, supplemental Table 5). ECEs inoculated at 10 days of incubation had a significantly shorter MDT compared to 14-day old ones in the co-infected but not in the mono-infected groups (Fig. 3a, supplemental Table 4b). However, this correlation was blurred by HPAIV mono-infections, and HP virus yield in AAFs did not vary with the inoculum dose and age of the ECE (Fig. 3b, supplemental Table 5).

## Endotheliotropic-vascular systemic virus spread is characteristic for HP H7N7 in ECEs

The trilamellar structure of the chorioallantoic membrane (CAM; inner layer = allantoic epithelium,

Page 6 of 12



intermediate mesenchymal layer and outer layer = chorionic epithelium) was clearly discernable in all investigated eggs/embryos<sup>26</sup>. Overall distribution patterns of virus antigen in the CAM and embryonal organs displayed a comparable pattern in 10-day old and 14-day old eggs (Fig. 4), and were attributable to the viral pathotype: Infection with LPAIV (embryos of group B) was mostly confined to the allantoic epithelium of the CAM (Fig. 4). In contrast, infection with HPAIV affected both the allantoic and chorionic epithelial layers, as well as endothelial cells within blood vessels of the mesenchymal layer of the CAM (Fig. 4, supplemental Figs. 4C and 4E). Furthermore, endotheliotropic systemic virus dissemination via the vascular system in embryos co-infected with HPAIV (groups C1-C5.7) was prominent with viral antigen present in endothelial and parenchymal cells of various internal organs (CNS, lung, liver, gizzard, and various parts of the gastrointestinal tract, and in some cases in the kidneys) (supplemental Fig. 3, supplemental Fig. 4C-F).

Examination of embryonic parenchymal organs (brain, liver, heart) by H7 pathotype-specific RT-qPCR revealed H7 LP RNA in a minority of tissue samples, mainly of 10day old ECEs of some co-infection groups (C1-C5.7; supplemental Table 6a, red-colored values). Contamination from AAF during preparation cannot be fully excluded although no LP H7 RNA was detected in embryonic tissues of group B (LP H7 mono-infection). Presence of HPAIV RNA wasconfirmed in heart, brain and, liver tissues of both, 10-day old and 14-day old ECEs (supplemental Table 6a) but not in embryos of group B.

### Discussion

A shift of the susceptibility of the HACS from trypsinto furin-like endoproteases essentially governs the

Page 7 of 12



emergence of an HP variant from its LP pre-cursor<sup>13,19,20,22,27,28</sup>. Insertion of multiple basic amino acids<sup>29-31</sup> but also intersegmental recombination and insertion of amino acids that fostered a bulging of the HACS<sup>25,32,33</sup> mediated this switch in pathogenicity. Factors remained unknown that govern the likelihood of such spontaneous LP-to-HP mutations and skew the initial amplification and spread of the HP variant to ensure primacy over its LP precursor in the index bird. As we deeply studied the mutations of the applied LP/ HPAIV matching pair in a former study, none of these mutations have been assigned to any specific functions, although the mutation N92D in NS-1 affected a position that has been associated with interferon escape<sup>19</sup>. We therefore performed co-infection experiments of LP and HP H7 viruses in chickens in vivo and in ovo to mimic the initial moments of amplification and spread following the de novo generation of HP variants. Subsequently, the HP variant must be transmitted within a chicken population, where a concurrent infection of the antigenically identical LP precursor is likely on-going as

was the case in the layer flock from which our HP H7 variant originated<sup>19</sup>.

Our results demonstrated interference between LP and HP viruses that turned out to be highly unfavorable for the HP phenotype to gain primacy at LP/HP ratios exceeding 100:1. The factors responsible for interference have not been elucidated here but it seems likely to suspect that innate immune mechanisms such as interferon activity are involved<sup>34</sup>.We speculate that a switch to the HP phenotype has to occur very early after LPAIV infection to avoid interference by high loads of replicating LPAIV. In these cases, as mimicked by our co-infected groups C5 and C5.7, the HP variant prevailed, and substantial amounts of HP sufficient to infect sentinel animals were excreted. In contrast, in other co-infected groups receiving an inoculum with an unfavorable LP/HP ratio, such as C3 and C4, hampered HP virus excretion resulted, and transmission to sentinels failed. In these cases. HP mutants seemed to be unable to spread from the index animalwhile LP virus was excreted via oropharyngeal secretions and feces (groups C3 and C4).

Page 8 of 12



Escape of HP would depend on the death of the bird and exposure of susceptible hosts to systemically infected tissues. Such can be envisioned, e.g., by picking on decomposing carcasses<sup>35</sup>, contact with infected feather cones<sup>36–38</sup>, eggs<sup>39,40</sup> or on mechanical transmission by hematophagous ectoparasites such as *Dermanyssus spp*<sup>41</sup>.

At the population level, transmission of HP mutants after escape from index birds depends on the presence of

susceptible hosts. As former studies already showed, LPAIV precursor-specific immunity effectively reduced susceptibility to homologous HP infection and grossly decreasedHP transmission efficacy<sup>42–44</sup> resembling immunization with a perfectly matching modified live virus vaccine. At flock level, the emerging HP variant would benefit from (i) a low prevalence of LP-specific adaptive immunity to avoid specific immune interference,

### Page 9 of 12

and (ii) a low incidence of active LP precursor virus infection to prevent direct competition. Populations showing high seroconversion rates should be unlikely to propagate HP and may pose a low risk from an animaldisease-control perspective.

The in ovo experiment mirrored the inhibitory effects of an LP infection on the replication kinetics of coinoculated HPAIV. We decided to compare 10-day old and 14-day old embryos due to developmental features in the embryo (e.g., new physical and functional barriers like the trilamellar structure of the CAM, access to tryptic proteases, etc.), that in turn may modify the distribution of AIV in embryonic tissues<sup>45,46</sup>. Characteristic differences regarding sites of replication of LP and HPAIVs in ECEs<sup>47-50</sup> were confirmed for the current natural LP/HP pair of subtype H7N7. In particular, IHC analyses of the trilamellar CAM allowed an easy and clear-cut distinction between LP (infection of allantoic epithelium only) and HPAIV (cells of all three lamellae affected with characteristic endotheliotropism and vasculitis). Rarely, in embryos of group B (mono-infected by LP), immunelabeled cells were also found in the surface epithelia of the skin, nasal cavity, respiratory, and upper alimentary upper alimentary tract including the stomach; this pattern is suggestive for a canalicular spread of virus provided it had reached the amniotic cavity. Although inoculation was targeted to the allantoic sac, accidental lesion of the amnion cannot be excluded<sup>50,51</sup>. We confirmed previous results suggesting an increased resistance of 14-day old versus 10-day old ECEs to AIV infection<sup>29,52,53</sup>.

Considering all impediments that hamper HP variants to gain primacy over its LP precursor, the de novo emergence of HP viruses is likely a very rare event. Nevertheless, several de novo HP outbreakshave been detected during the last decade $^{8,17-19}$ . It is challenging to speculate that LP-to-HP mutation events in vivo actually might occur more frequently in LP-infected poultry flocksthan anticipated. Often, however, such conversion events might escape detection because HP virus remained trapped in the index birds or failed to spread in the population. Experimental LP-to-HP conversion of H7 virusesby serial passaging of LPAIVs has been successful<sup>24,54</sup>. Although HP phenotypes were generated eventually in several<sup>29,55,56</sup> but not all attempts, a high number of passages was usually required. Yet, the true conversion rate of LP-to-HP may be underestimated.

The presented clinical, pathological and virological data, obtained by in ovo and in vivo co-infection experiments using a natural pair of LP and HP H7N7 viruses, revealed an intricate interference between the two phenotypes. HP variants generated by de novo mutation need to overcome a series of obstacles both in the index bird and in the index population to gain primacy. The in ovo model showed potential to determine, by IHC, tissue tropism and pathogenicity of AI viruses. Exploring different routes of inoculation (e.g., allantoic versus amniotic versus vascular) in 14-day old ECEs and subsequent deep sequencing of selected embryo tissues may also be appropriate to select pathogenicity variantsgenerated de novo or propagated from a minority population in the quasispecies of an isolate.

# Materials and methods

# Ethics statement

All experiments were carried out in biosafety level-3 (BSL-3) laboratory and animal facilities at the Friedrich-Loeffler-Institute (FLI, Germany) with permission of the FLI biorisk committee in accordance with a protocol legally approved by the Ethics Commission of the Ministry of Agriculture and the Environment of the State of Mecklenburg-Vorpommern, Germany (LALLF MV 7221.3–1.1–039/17).

## Virus origin and propagation

Viruses originated from two epidemiologically linked outbreaks in chicken layer farms in Germany in summer 2015. The two reference viruses constitute a natural pair of an LP precursor (A/chicken/Germany/AR915/2015 H7N7, AR915) and its HP descendant (A/chicken/Germany/AR1385/2015 H7N7, AR1385), differing, outside the HACS, by only very few mutations<sup>19</sup>. Infectivity titers are expressed as mean embryo infectious doses (EID<sub>50</sub>/ mL) using isolates at passage level 2 in ECEs.

# Experimental design

## In vivo co-infection experiment

In total, 168 white leghorn chickens, hatched from SPF ECEs (Lohmann Animal Health, Cuxhaven, Germany), were randomly assigned to 12 groups of 14 birds each at 6 weeks of age. Groups were housed in separate animal rooms. Each group tested AI-negative by serological and virological means (see below). Six groups (group M1-M6) were used to titrate clinical and pathohistological effects of the H7N7 HPAIV isolate AR1385 at doses of 10<sup>1</sup> (group M1), 10<sup>3</sup> (group M3), 10<sup>4</sup> (group M4), 10<sup>5</sup> (group M5), 10<sup>5.7</sup> (group M5.7), or 10<sup>6</sup> (group M6) EID<sub>50</sub> in 0.5 mL inoculum per bird. Another five groups (group C1-C5.7) received mixtures of a constant dose of H7N7 LP (10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>) and HP viruses at different concentrations as shown in Table 1a. Finally, one group (B) received 10° EID<sub>50</sub> in 0.5 mL per bird of the LPAIV H7N7 AR915 as a mono-infection. Oculo-oronasal inoculation mimicked a natural infection route in 10 chickens per group; four further chickens served as sentinels and were associated on dpi 1.

## Clinical score and survival rate

During the study period of 13 days, chickens were monitored and scored threetimes a day for clinical signs: 0

Page 10 of 12

Table 1a	EID <sub>50</sub> /0.5 mL	per	chicken	used	for	the in vivo	,
experimen	nt						

Group	EID <sub>50</sub> /0.5 mL									
	10 <sup>1</sup>	10 <sup>3</sup>	10 <sup>4</sup>	10 <sup>5</sup>	10 <sup>5.7</sup>	10 <sup>6</sup>				
C (+10 <sup>6</sup> LP)	Ċ1	C3	C4	C5	C5.7	-				
M	M1	M3	M4	M5	M5.7	M6				
В	-	-	-	-	-	В				

Table 1b EID<sub>50</sub>/0.2 mL per egg used for the in ovo experiment

Group	EID <sub>50</sub> /0.2 mL									
	10 <sup>1</sup>	10 <sup>3</sup>	10 <sup>4</sup>	10 <sup>5</sup>	10 <sup>5.7</sup>	10 <sup>6</sup>				
C (+10 <sup>6</sup> LP)	C1	C3	C.4	C.5	C5.7	_				
М	M1	M3	M4	M5	M5.7	M6				
В	_	-	-	-	_	В				

Experimental design (classification of the groups), 1a in vivo, 1b in ovo experiment. EID<sub>50</sub> values refer to the HPAIV infection doses (groups C and M) and the LPAIV mono-infection dose (group B), respectively

(normal/healthy), 1 (sick), 2 (severely sick), or 3 (dead). The highest score obtained at each day for a bird was used for statistical comparisons. Sick chickens showed one of the following symptoms: mild depression/tiredness and ruffled feathers, mild respiratory manifestations, facial edema, tentative feed intake or mild neurological signs. Severely sick birds showed two or more signs as described above and, in addition, cyanosis of the comb and the wattles, diarrhea, severe neurological signs (such as paralysis or convulsions). Moribund chickens reaching humane termination criteria were permanently drowsy and recumbent, could not be urged to move or showed severe dyspneic movement of the sternum. Such birds were humanely killed and registered as "3" (=dead) the day after. Morbidity and mortality indices were calculated according to the O.I.E. regulations for the Intravenous Pathogenicity Index (IVPI)<sup>10</sup>.

At dpi 2, four chickens per group (each two inoculated and two sentinel chickens) were sacrificed in deep isoflurane anesthesia and subjected to postmortem examination. These animals were not considered for mortality index calculations. At dpi 13, surviving chickens were finally bled.

### Sampling strategy

Serum samples were taken before virus exposure (dpi 0) and at 2 (birds sacrificed for histopathology), 6, and 13 dpi. Oropharyngeal (OP) and cloacal (CL) swabs to be collected from all virus-inoculated as well as all sentinel chickens were scheduled for dpi 0, 1, 2, 4, 6, 9, and 13 to assess virus shedding via the respiratory and digestive tracts. Birds were also swabbed when found dead or when they met the termination criteria. OP and CL swab samples were collected in 1 mL of serum-free cell culture medium and kept cooled at 4 °C until processed within 2 h after collection. Remaining swab supernatant was kept frozen at -70 °C.

## In ovo experiment

A similar co-infection experiment of LP AR915 and HP AR1385 H7N7 viruses was carried out in ovo using two C = co-infection, M = mono-infection, B = mono LPAIV-infection

series of 10-day old and 14-day old SPF ECEs. Infection of five eggs per group was done by the allantoic route according to standard protocols<sup>10,47,57</sup>. Inoculation doses of mono-infected and co-infected ECEs (groups M1-5.7 and C1-5.7 and B) are shown in Table 1b. Eggs were incubated at 37 °C and candled daily for embryonic vitality. After embryonic death or a maximum of 96 h of incubation eggs were chilled at 4 °C for a minimum of 4 h. Amnio-allantoic fluids (AAFs) were harvested and assayed for HA as described<sup>10</sup>. Only eggs that were hemagglutination-positive in the AAF were considered for mean-death-time (MDT) calculations. Eggs with no HA titer (i.e., "no AIV-related death") or which did not die within 4 days scored a value of 120 h post inoculation (hpi). In addition, RNA extracted from AAF was tested by RT-qPCR as described below.

Furthermore, the embryo and the allantoic epithelium of two of the five eggs was dissected following the techniques described by Seekings<sup>58</sup> and immersed in 10% neutral buffered formalin for histopathological analysis. Further embryonic tissues (brain, liver, and heart) of two eggs per group were sampled for RT-qPCR analysis. Virus present in AAF that was in contact with the embryo's skin was removed by washing the embryos repeatedly and extensively in phosphate-buffered saline before incision for tissue removal.

# Detection of viral shedding and molecular pathotyping of AIV RNA

Viral RNA was extracted from swab fluids (chickens), AAF and tissue samples (ECE) using the NucleoMag<sup>®</sup>VET Kit (Macherey-Nagel GmbH & Co. KG, Düren, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions and stored at -20 °C until use. By using quantitative real-time RT-PCR (RT-qPCR), presence of RNA of the influenza A virus matrix (M) gene was confirmed by the protocol of Hoffmann, et al.<sup>59</sup>. M-positive samples were further subtyped by H7 pathotype-specific RT-qPCRs, which allowed probeassisted differentiation of the mono-basic and polybasic HACS of the LP and HP H7 pathotype<sup>60</sup>. All RT-qPCR reactions were performed in 25 µL volumes using the

### Page 11 of 12

AgPath-ID RT-PCR kit (Ambion, Austin, TX, USA) and run on a CFX96 thermocycler machine (Bio-Rad).

### Serology

After heat inactivation for 120 min at 56 °C (safety precautions), all sera were examined for antibodies against the AIV nucleoprotein (NP) using an Influenza A Antibody Competition enzyme-linked-immunosorbent assay (ELISA) (ID Screen<sup>®</sup>, IDVET, Grabels, France) according to the manufacturer's recommendations.

## Histopathology and immunohistochemistry

Selected tissues and three cross sections of the skull (nasal cavity and paranasal sinuses) from chickens sacrificed at 2 dpi as well as tissue samples from the in ovo experiments were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin, and processed for hematoxylin and eosin staining. The severity of necrotizing inflammation, epithelial degeneration and/or necrosis in the nasal mucosa, as well as lymphatic necrosis, apoptosis and/or depletion in the lymphatic organs was scored on an ordinal 4-step scale (0 = unchanged, 1 = mild, 2 = moderate, 3 = severe).

IHC was performed on serial sections to detect influenza A virus antigen using the avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex method (Vectastain PK 6100; Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA) with citric buffer (10 mM, pH 6.0) pretreatment. Antigen detection was achieved with a monoclonal antibody (mAb) directed against an epitope of the influenza A matrixprotein (ATCC clone HB-64). 3-amino-9-ethylcarbazol served as the chromogen (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA), and hematoxylin counterstaining. Validated positive and negative archival tissues, as well as replacement of the specific antibody by Tris-Buffered-Saline (TBS) served as controls. The distribution of parenchymal, as well as endothelial influenza A matrixprotein was evaluated on an ordinal 4-step scale (0 = none, 1 = focal/oligofocal,2 =multifocal, 3 =coalescing/diffuse).

### Statistical analyses

The Mantel-Haenszel logrank test and the Mann Whitney test were used to compare survival rates and morbidity index as well as MDT values, respectively, applying the R software environment and the following packages: "stats", "survival", "survminer", "gridExtra" and "ggplot2". *P* values < 0.05 were considered significant. For comparisons between the total amount of virus shedding of HPAIV in the mono-infected and co-infected groups, area-under-the-curvegraphs were computed by using R software packages "stats", "survival", "survminer", and "ggplot2". The mean average of Cq values of all animals sampled at the indicated dpi in a specific group were calculated and used to draw the curves. Animals negative in RT-qPCR at that date scored with a value of 40. The authors thank Aline Maksimov, Diana Parlow, and Sylvia Schuparis for excellent technical support. We are grateful to all animal caretakers. This study was in part supported by the "DEITA-FLU" project, funded by the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under grant agreement no. 72/922.

### Author details

Acknowledgements

<sup>1</sup>Institute of Diagnostic Virology, Südufer 10, 17493 Greifswald, Germany.
<sup>2</sup>Department of Experimental Animal Facilities and Biorisk Management,
Südufer 10, 17493 Greifswald, Germany.
<sup>3</sup>Institute of Epidemiology, Südufer 10, 17493 Greifswald, Germany.
Südufer 10, 17493 Greifswald, Germany.

## Author contribution

MB, T.C.M., and T.C.H. devised the project and the main conceptual ideas. A.G., D.S., S.K., and T.C.H. carried out the infection experiments. R.U. and A.G. performed the pathological and histopathological investigations. A.G. and T.C. H. processed the experimental data, performed the initial analysis, drafted the manuscript with input from E.A. and designed the figures. P.M. carried out the statistical analyses and generated the figures. All authors contributed to the interpretation of the results. All authors approved the final manuscript.

### Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

#### Publisher's note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Supplementary Information accompanies this paper at (https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41426-018-0204-0).

# Received: 26 July 2018 Revised: 14 October 2018 Accepted: 17 November 2018

Published online: 05 December 2018

#### References

- Spackman, E. A brief introduction to the avian influenza virus. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 436, 1–6 (2008).
- Bottcher-Friebertshauser, E, Garten, W, Matrosovich, M. & Klenk, H. D. The hemagglutinin: a determinant of pathogenicity. *Curr. Top. Microbiol* 385, 3–34 (2014).
- Horimoto, T., Nakayama, K., Smeekens, S. P. & Kawaoka, Y. Proproteinprocessing endoproteases Pc6 and furin both activate hemaggiutinin of virulent avian influenza-viruses. *J. Virol.* 68, 6074–6078 (1994).
- Stienekegrober, A. et al. Influenza-virus hemagglutinin with multibasic cleavage site is activated by furin, a subtilisin-like endoprotease. *EMBO J.* 11, 2407–2414 (1992).
- Webster, R. G. et al. Evolution and ecology of influenza-a viruses. *Microbiol Rev.* 56, 152–179 (1992).
- Alexander, D. J. A review of avian influenza in different bird species. Vet. Microbiol. 74, 3–13 (2000).
- Abdelwhab, E. M., Veits, J. & Mettenleiter, T. C. Prevalence and control of H7 avian influenza viruses in birds and humans. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 142, 896–920 (2014).
- Monne, I. et al. Emergence of a highly pathogenic avian influenza virus from a low-pathogenic progenitor. J. Virol. 88, 4375–4388 (2014).
- Anonymous. Community measures for the control of avian influenza. In: COUNCIL DIRECTIVE 2005/94/EC (ed. Commission, E) Official Journal of the European Union. (2005).
- OIE. Avian influenza (infection with Avian Influenza Viruses). https://www.cie.int/ fileadmin/Home/eng/Health\_standards/tahm/20304\_Alpdf. Accessed on 15 July 2018 (2015).
- Gao, R. B. et al. Human infection with a novel avian-origin influenza A (H7N9) Virus. New Engl. J. Med. 368, 1888–1897 (2013).
- Capua, I. et al. The 1999 2000 avian influenza (H7N1) epidemic in Italy: veterinary and human health implications. *Acta Trop.* 83, 7–11 (2002).

## Page 12 of 12

- Bonfanti, L. et al. Highly pathogenic H7N7 avian influenza in Italy. Vet. Rec. 174, 382 (2014).
- Elbers, A. R. W. et al. The highly pathogenic avian influenza A (H7N7) virus epidemic in the Netherlands in 2003 - Lessons learned from the first five outbreaks. Avian Dis. 48, 691–705 (2004).
- Van Borm, S. et al. Molecular epidemiological analysis of the transboundary transmission of 2003 highly pathogenic avian influenza H7N7 outbreaks between the netherlands and belgium. *Transbound. Emerg. Dis.* **61**, 86–90 (2014).
- Hirst, M. et al. Novel avian influenza H7N3 strain outbreak, British Columbia. Ernerg. Infect. Dis. 10, 2192–2195 (2004).
- Killan, M. L. et al. Outbreak of H7N8 low pathogenic avian influenza in commercial turkeys with spontaneous mutation to highly pathogenic avian influenza. *Genome Announc* 4, e00457–00416 (2016).
- Lee, D. H., Torchetti, M. K., Killian, M. L. & Swayne, D. E. Deep sequencing of H7N8 avian influenza viruses from surveillance zone supports H7N8 high pathogenicity avian influenza was limited to a single outbreak farm in Indiana during 2016. *Virology* **507**, 216–219 (2017).
- Dietze, K. et al. From low to high pathogenicity—Characterization of H7N7 avian influenza viruses in two epidemiologically linked outbreaks. *Transbound. Ernerg. Dis.* **00**, 1–12 (2018).
- Defra. Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza H7N7 (AM2015/02; formerly AIV SOS2015/0001). In Table-egg Laying Hens, Preston, July 2015. Situation at 11:00 on Friday 28 August 2015. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/ uploads/attachment\_data/fie/469948/ai-epi-report-july-2015.pdf Accessed 8 Jan 2017 (2015).
- Pasick, J. et al. Diagnostic test results and pathology associated with the 2007 Canadian H7N3 highly pathogenic avian influenza outbreak. *Avian Dis.* 54, 213–219 (2010).
- Iglesias, I. et al. First case of highly pathogenic avian influenza in poultry in Spain. *Transbound. Emerg. Dis.* 57, 282–285 (2010).
- Abbas, M. A. et al. Sequence and phylogenetic analysis of H7N3 avian influenza viruses isolated from poultry in Pakistan 1995-2004. Virol. J. 7, 137 (2010).
- Banks, J. et al. Changes in the haemagglutinin and the neuraminidase genes prior to the emergence of highly pathogenic H7N1 avian influenza viruses in Italy. Arch. Virol. 146, 963–973 (2001).
- Pasick, J. et al. Intersegmental recombination between the haemagglutinin and matrix genes was responsible for the emergence of a highly pathogenic H7N3 avian influenza virus in British Columbia. J. General. Virol. 86, 727–731 (2005).
- Fáncsi, T. & Fehér, Gy Ultrastructural studies of chicken embryos chorioallantoic membrane during incubation. *Zbl. Vet. Med. C. Anat. Histol. Embryol.* 8, 151–159 (1978).
- Defra. Highly pathogenic avian influenza–H7N7 in egg laying poultry in Oxfordshire. *Epidemiology Report, situation at 2 July 2008*. Nobel House, Smith Square, London, SW1P 3JR, UK Version 1, Released July 2008. http:// webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130402151656/http:/archive.defra.gov. uk/foodfarm/farmanimal/diseases/atoz/ai/documents/epireport-080711.pdf Accessed 26 Sep 2016 (2008).
- Garten, W. & Klenk, H. D. Cleavage activation of the influenza virus hemagglutinin and its role in pathogenesis. in *Avian Influenza* (eds. Klenk, H-D, Matrosovich, M. N., Stech, J.) *Monogr Virol.*, Basel, Karger, **27** 156–167 (2008).
- Horimoto, T. & Kawaoka, Y. Molecular-changes in virulent mutants arising from avirulent avian influenza-viruses during replication in 14-day-old embryonated eggs. Virology 206, 755–759 (1995).
- Nao, N. et al. Genetic predisposition to acquire a polybasic cleavage site for highly pathogenic avian influenza virus hemagglutinin. *Mbio* 8, e02298-16 (2017).
- Spackman, E., Senne, D. A., Davison, S. & Suarez, D. L. Sequence analysis of recent H7 avian influenza viruses associated with three different outbreaks in commercial poultry in the United States. J. Virol. 77, 13399–13402 (2003).
- Maurer-Stroh, S., Lee, R. T., Gunalan, V. & Eisenhaber, F. The highly pathogenic H7N3 avian influenza strain from July 2012 in Mexico acquired an extended cleavage site through recombination with host 28S rRNA. *Virol. J.* **10**, 139 (2013).
- Suarez, D. L. et al. Recombination resulting in virulence shift in avian influenza outbreak, Chile. *Energ. Infect. Dis.* 10, 693–699 (2004).
- Tanikawa, T., Uchida, Y. & Saito, T. Replication of a low-pathogenic avian influenza virus is enhanced by chicken ubiquitin-specific protease 18. J. General. Virol. 98, 2235–2247 (2017).

- Yamamoto, Y., Nakamura, K. & Mase, M. Survival of highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1 virus in tissues derived from experimentally infected chickens. *Appl. Environ. Microb.* 83, e00604–e00617 (2017).
- Bertran, K. et al. Pathogenesis and transmissibility of highly (H7N1) and low (H7N9) pathogenic avian influenza virus infection in red-legged partridge (Alectoris rufa). Ver. Res. 42, 24 (2011).
- Busquets, N. et al. Persistence of highly pathogenic avian influenza virus (H7N1) in infected chickens: feather as a suitable sample for diagnosis. J. General. Virol. 91, 2307–2313 (2010).
- Yamamoto, Y. et al. Avian influenza virus (H5N1) replication in feathers of domestic waterfowl. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 14, 149–151 (2008).
- Uchida, Y. et al. Transmission of an H5N8-Subtype Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus from Infected Hens to Laid Eggs. Avian Dis. 60, 450–453 (2016).
- Cappucci, D. T. et al. Isolation of avian influenza-virus (Subtype-H5N2) from chicken eggs during a natural outbreak. *Avian Dis.* 29, 1195–1200 (1985).
- Sommer, D. et al. Role of the Poulty Red Mite (Dermanyssus gallinae) in the Transmission of Avian Influenza A Virus. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nin.gov/ pubmed/26830386 Accessed on 13 July 2018 (2016).
- Jones, Y. L. & Swayne, D. E. Comparative pathobiology of low and high pathogenicity H7N3 Chilean avian influenza viruses in chickens. *Avian Dis.* 48, 119–128 (2004).
- Nickbakhsh, S. et al. Modelling the impact of co-circulating low pathogenic avian influenza viruses on epidemics of highly pathogenic avian influenza in poultry. *Epidemics* 17, 27–34 (2016).
- Seo, S. H. & Webster, R. G. Cross-reactive, cell-mediated immunity and protection of chickens from lethal H5N1 influenza virus infection in Hong Kong poultry markets. J. Virol. 75, 2516–2525 (2001).
- Rott, R. The pathogenic determinant of influenza-virus. Vet. Microbiol. 33, 303–310 (1992).
- Zarkov, I. S. Studies upon the possibilities of avian influenza viruses' cultivation in chick embryos at different age. *Bulg. J. Vet. Med.* 9, 43–49 (2006).
- Feldmann, A., Schafer, M. K. H., Garten, W. & Klenk, H. D. Targeted infection of endothelial cells by avian influenza virus A/FPV/Rostock/34 (H7N1) in chicken embryos. J. Virol. 74, 8018–8027 (2000).
- Horimoto, T. & Kawaoka, Y. A possible mechanism for selection of virulent avian influenza A viruses in 14-day-old embryonated eggs. J. Vet. Med Sci. 60, 273–275 (1998).
- Klenk, H. D., Garten, W., Bosch, F. X. & Rott, R. Viral glycoproteins as determinants of pathogenicity. *Med Microbiol Immun.* **170**, 145–153 (1982).
- Rott, R., Reinacher, M., Orlich, M. & Klenk, H. D. Cleavability of hemagglutinin determines spread of avian influenza viruses in the chorioallantoic membrane of chicken embryo. *Arch. Virol.* 65, 123–133 (1980).
- Rüsse, I. Fruchthüllen des Vogels. In Lehrbuch der Embryologie der Haustiere. (eds. Rüsse, I., Sinowatz, F.), Paul Parey, Berlin, Hamburg 204–218 (1991).
- Perdue, M. L., Wainright, P. O. & Brugh, M. Effects of chicken-embryo age on time to death following infection by avian influenza-viruses - implications for distinguishing highly pathogenic isolates. *Virus Res* 16, 137–152 (1990).
- Perdue, M. L., Wainright, P., Palmieri, S. & Brugh, M. In ovo competition between distinct virus populations in an avian influenza isolate. *Avian Dis.* 33, 695–706 (1989).
- Abdelwhab, E. M., Veits, J. & Mettenleiter, T. C. Genetic changes that accompanied shifts of low pathogenic avian influenza viruses toward higher pathogenicity in poultry. *Virulence* 4, 441–452 (2013).
- Brugh, M. Highly pathogenic virus recovered from chickens infected with mildly pathogenic 1986 isolates of H5n2 avian influenza-virus. *Avian Dis.* 32, 695–703 (1988).
- Li, S. Q., Orlich, M. & Rott, R. Generation of seal influenza-virus variants pathogenic for chickens, because of hemagglutinin cleavage site changes. J. Virol. 64, 3297–3303 (1990).
- OIE. Infection with Avian Influenza Viruses. http://www.oie.int/fileadmin/Home/ eng/Health\_standards/tahc/current/chapitre\_avian\_influenza\_viruses.pdf Accessed 26 July 2017 (2017).
- Seekings, A. H. Emergence of H7 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus from Low Pathogenicity Avian Influenza Virus. PhD thesis. Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, Imperial College London. (2017).
- Hoffmann, E. et al. Universal primer set for the full-length amplification of all influenza A viruses. Arch. Virol. 146, 2275–2289 (2001).
- Graaf, A., Beer, M. & Harder, T. Real-time reverse transcription PCR-based sequencing-independent pathotyping of Eurasian avian influenza A viruses of subtype H7. Virol. J. 14, 137 (2017).

# Supplemental material

Supplemental Table 1a. P-values of clinical scores (supplement to Figure 1a).

Group	infected	sentinel
C1 vs M1	NA	0.331753367
C3 vs. M3	5.58E-09	0.066627494
C4 vs. M4	2.35E-05	0.290733828
C5 vs. M5	0.8287837	0.333533006
C5.7 vs. M5.7	0.2372944	0.886651032
B vs. M6	2.78E-11	0.00038952

Supplemental Table 1b. P-values of survival probabilities (supplement to Figure 1b).

Group	infected	sentinel
C1 vs M1	1	1
C3 vs. M3	4.16E-07	0.0000374
C4 vs. M4	2.08E-03	0.0000585
C5 vs. M5	0.000666797	0.1631753
C5.7 vs. M5.7	0.037529348	0.0101169
B vs. M6	3.22E-18	0.0000527

aro						Real-tim	e RT-PCR		
group C1	dpi	status	animal ID	M1.2 OP	M1.2 CL	H7 LP OP	H7 LP CL	H7 HP OP	H7 HP CL
1	1	inoculated	C1-1	29.14	neg	30.72	neg	neg	neg
2	1	inoculated	C1-2	33.51	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
3	1	inoculated	C1-3	28.74	neg	31.55	neg	neg	neg
4	1	inoculated	C1-4	26.12	nea	28.06	nea	nea	nea
5	1	inoculated	C1-5	35.54	nea	nea	nea	nea	nea
6	1	inoculated	C1-6	33.07	neg	35.99	nea	neg	neg
7	1	inoculated	C1-7	34 48	neg	nea	neg	neg	neg
8	1	inoculated	C1-8	31.06	neg	37.61	neg	neg	neg
9	1	inoculated	C1-9	38.36	neg		neg	neg	neg
10	1	inoculated	C1-10	30.30	neg	22.11	neg	neg	neg
11	1	continol	C1-11	00.00	neg		neg	neg	neg
12	1	sentinel	C1-11	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
12	1	sentinel	C1-12	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
13	1	Sentinel	C1-13	11eg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
14		senunei	01-14	30.40	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
15	2	inoculated	C1-1	31.94	neg	32.85	neg	neg	neg
16	2	inoculated	C1-2	31.23	neg	33.55	neg	neg	neg
17	2	inoculated	C1-3	32.14	39.71	32.42	neg	neg	neg
18	2	inoculated	C1-4	29.05	neg	30.90	neg	neg	neg
19	2	inoculated	C1-5	32.21	neg	33.67	neg	neg	neg
20	2	inoculated	C1-6	31.76	neg	33.19	neg	neg	neg
21	2	inoculated	C1-7	33.19	neg	34.90	neg	neg	neg
22	2	inoculated	C1-8	31.11	neg	34.07	neg	neg	neg
23	2	inoculated	C1-9	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
24	2	inoculated	C1-10	36.42	neq	neq	neq	neq	neq
25	2	sentinel	C1-11	nea	nea	nea	nea	nea	nea
26	2	sentinel	C1-12	neg	neg	nea	nea	neg	neg
27	2	sentinel	C1-13	neg	neg	neg	nea	neg	neg
28	2	sentinel	C1-14	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
30	4	inoculated	C1-2	34.59	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
31	4	inoculated	C1-2	32.35	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
31	4	inoculated	C1-3	24.11	20 11	neg	neg	neg	neg
32	4	inculated	C1-4	34.11	20.11	neg	neg	neg	neg
33	4	Inoculated	01-5	28.12	36.32	30.66	neg	neg	neg
34	4	Inoculated	C1-6	29.08	37.20	35.08	neg	neg	neg
35	4	inoculated	C1-7	36.78	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
36	4	inoculated	C1-8	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
37	4	inoculated	C1-9	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
38	4	inoculated	C1-10	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
41	4	sentinel	C1-13	38.09	37.07	neg	neg	neg	neg
44	6	inoculated	C1-2	35.17	36.66	neg	neg	neg	neg
45	6	inoculated	C1-3	37.45	28.20	neg	30.47	neg	neg
46	6	inoculated	C1-4	34.66	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
47	6	inoculated	C1-5	34.06	35.20	neg	37.24	neg	neg
48	6	inoculated	C1-6	nea	32.00	nea	nea	nea	nea
49	6	inoculated	C1-7	neg	25.06	neg	31.38	neg	neg
50	6	inoculated	C1-8	37 52	33 24	35.82	nea	nea	nea
51	6	inoculated	C1-9	nea	nea	nea	nea	nea	nea
53	6	sentinel	C1-10	nea	37 13	nea	neg	neg	nea
55	6	sentinel	C1-13	27.85	nea	32.00	neg	neg	neg
59	0	incontated	C1 0	21.00	20 51	02.00	neg	neg	neg
50	9	inoculated	01-2	38 66	33.01	neg	24 00	neg	neg
59	9	inoculated	01-3	30.00	25.10	neg	34.09	neg	neg
00	9	inoculated	01-4	neg	33.24	neg	neg	neg	neg
10	9	inoculated	01-5	neg	37.04	neg	neg	neg	neg
62	9	inoculated	01-6	neg	34.89	neg	neg	neg	neg
63	9	inoculated	01-7	neg	34.55	neg	neg	neg	neg
64	9	inoculated	C1-8	neg	32.66	neg	33.25	neg	neg
65	9	inoculated	C1-9	neg	33.87	neg	neg	neg	neg
68	9	sentinel	C1-10	neg	32.75	neg	neg	neg	neg
69	9	sentinel	C1-13	31.12	31.16	36.05	neg	neg	neg
72	13	inoculated	C1-2	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
73	13	inoculated	C1-3	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
74	13	inoculated	C1-4	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
75	13	inoculated	C1-5	nea	nea	nea	nea	nea	nea
76	13	inoculated	C1-6	nea	nea	nea	nea	nea	nea
77	13	inoculated	C1-7	nea	32 07	nea	nea	nea	nea
78	13	inoculated	C.1-8	nea	nea	nea	nea	nea	nea
70	13	inoculated	C1_0	ner	neg	nea	neg	neg	ner
82	10	continel	C1 10	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
02	10	Serilinei	01-10	neg	11eg	neg		neg	neg
83	13	sentinel	C1-13	neg	32.16	neg	36.84	neg	neg

# Supplemental Table 2. RT-qPCR results of *in vivo* experiments (supplement to Figure 1c).

				Real-time RT-PCR					
group C3	dpi	status	animal ID	M1.2 OP	M1.2 CL	H7 LP OP	H7 LP CL	H7 HP OP	H7 HP CL
1	1	inoculated	C3-1	32.39	neg	35.10	neg	neg	neg
2	1	inoculated	C3-2	30.04	neg	32.86	neg	neg	neg
3	1	inoculated	C3-3	32.03	neg	36.32	neg	neg	neg
4	1	inoculated	C3-4	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
5	1	inoculated	C3-5	27.66	neg	31.80	neg	neg	neg
6	1	inoculated	C3-6	28.42	neg	31.09	neg	neg	neg
7	1	inoculated	C3-7	24.03	neg	27.29	neg	neg	neg
8	1	inoculated	C3-8	26.45	36.65	29.80	neg	neg	neg
9	1	inoculated	C3-9	23.39	35.03	20.07	neg	neg	neg
10	1	sentinel	C3-10	34.43	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
12	1	sentinel	C3-12	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
13	1	sentinel	C3-13	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
14	1	sentinel	C3-14	nea	nea	nea	nea	nea	nea
15	2	inoculated	C3-1	28.51	36.06	30.82	neg	nea	neg
16	2	inoculated	C3-2	31.24	neg	30.24	neg	neg	neg
17	2	inoculated	C3-3	29.77	neg	31.80	neg	neg	neg
18	2	inoculated	C3-4	31.28	35.70	34.02	neg	neg	neg
19	2	inoculated	C3-5	29.64	neg	33.02	neg	neg	neg
20	2	inoculated	C3-6	29.63	neg	31.75	neg	neg	neg
21	2	inoculated	C3-7	30.96	32.26	33.62	neg	neg	neg
22	2	inoculated	C3-8	31.99	21.13	neg	23.85	neg	neg
23	2	inoculated	C3-9	30.30	38.88	33.91	neg	neg	neg
24	2	inoculated	C3-10	31.66	neg	34.66	neg	neg	neg
25	2	sentinel	C3-11	38.46	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
20	2	sentinel	C2 12	38.22	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
28	2	sentinel	C3-14	31.02	38.23	34.70	neg	neg	neg
20	1	inoculated	C3-1	30.02	00.20	neg	neg	neg	neg
30	4	inoculated	C3-2	nea	38.63	neg	36.51	neg	neg
32	4	inoculated	C3-4	36.95	nea	neg	nea	neg	neg
33	4	inoculated	C3-5	27.22	nea	30.79	neg	neg	neg
34	4	inoculated	C3-6	30.83	35.46	30.27	neg	neg	neg
35	4	inoculated	C3-7	31.85	38.25	35.80	neg	neg	neg
37	4	inoculated	C3-9	27.55	30.85	31.39	neg	neg	neg
38	4	inoculated	C3-10	26.26	31.02	30.16	neg	neg	neg
39	4	sentinel	C3-11	34.42	27.13	neg	neg	neg	neg
42	4	sentinel	C3-14	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
43	6	inoculated	C3-1	38.92	30.81	neg	31.91	neg	neg
44	6	inoculated	C3-2	33.37	neg	37.08	neg	neg	neg
46	6	inoculated	C3-4	29.11	neg	31.99	neg	neg	neg
47	6	inoculated	C3-6	27.27	35.45	30.12	neg	neg	neg
40	6	inoculated	C3-7	35.14	22 78	neg	24.03	neg	neg
51	6	inoculated	C3-9	31.23	38.33	35.81	nea	neg	neg
52	6	inoculated	C3-10	37.43	36.51	36.09	36.32	nea	neg
53	6	sentinel	C3-11	33.31	neg	37.51	neg	neg	neg
56	6	sentinel	C3-14	38.19	29.17	neg	30.39	neg	neg
57	9	inoculated	C3-1	neg	24.17	neg	29.50	neg	neg
58	9	inoculated	C3-2	neg	38.00	neg	neg	neg	neg
60	9	inoculated	C3-4	35.20	37.99	neg	neg	neg	neg
61	9	inoculated	C3-5	neg	38.03	neg	neg	neg	neg
62	9	inoculated	C3-6	36.29	neg	38.99	neg	neg	neg
63	9	inoculated	C3-7	neg	35.00	neg	neg	neg	neg
65	9	inoculated	03-9	35.68	32.73	neg	37.46	neg	neg
67	9	septinol	C3-10	11eg 36.27	31.5Z	neg	neg	neg	neg
70	9 Q	sentinel	C3-14	JU.∠1 n≏r	32.61	nea	38.16	nea	neg
71	13	inoculated	C3-1	nea	33 57	neg	nea	nea	nea
72	13	inoculated	C3-2	34,83	nea	35.31	nea	nea	nea
74	13	inoculated	C3-4	37.86	37.80	nea	nea	nea	nea
75	13	inoculated	C3-5	neq	neq	neq	neq	neq	neq
76	13	inoculated	C3-6	35.95	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
77	13	inoculated	<u>C3-</u> 7	neg	<u>34.3</u> 8	neg	neg	neg	neg
79	13	inoculated	C3-9	neg	37.87	neg	neg	neg	neg
80	13	inoculated	C3-10	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
81	13	sentinel	C3-11	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
82	13	sentinel	C3-14	neg	31.80	neg	33.46	neg	neg

				Real-time RT-PCR					
group C4	dpi	status	animal ID	M1.2 OP	M1.2 CL	H7 LP OP	H7 LP CL	H7 HP OP	H7 HP CL
1	1	inoculated	C4-1	24.51	nea	30.15	nea	28.36	nea
2	1	inoculated	C4-2	20.65	neg	23.44	neg	neg	neg
3	1	inoculated	C4-3	23.66	neg	27.28	neg	neg	neg
4	1	inoculated	C4-4	26.50	neg	29.56	neg	neg	neg
5	1	inoculated	C4-5	26.07	neg	29.49	neg	neg	neg
6	1	inoculated	C4-6	23.88	35.79	25.75	neg	neg	neg
7	1	inoculated	C4-7	26.08	neg	28.70	neg	neg	neg
8	1	inoculated	C4-8	26.43	neg	29.86	neg	neg	neg
9	1	inoculated	C4-9	33.63	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
10	1	inoculated	C4-10	25.34	neg	27.13	neg	neg	neg
11	1	sentinel	C4-11	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
12	1	sentinel	C4-12	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
13	1	sentinel	C4-13	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
14	1	sentinel	C4-14	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
15	2	inoculated	C4-1	28.41	neg	neg	neg	29.29	neg
16	2	inoculated	C4-2	30.11	neg	30.27	30.86	neg	neg
17	2	inoculated	C4-3	29.22	neg	30.35	neg	neg	neg
10	2	inoculated	C4-4	30.04	37.10	32.42	neg	neg	11eg
19	2	inoculated	C4-5	32.46	22.02	neg	neg	neg	27.29
20	2	inoculated	C4-0	28.19	neg	30.36	neg	neg	neg
22	2	inoculated	C4-8	27.55	neg	29.28	neg	neg	neg
23	2	inoculated	C4-9	34 15	neg	nea	neg	neg	neg
24	2	inoculated	C4-10	26.32	37 41	28.07	neg	neg	neg
25	2	sentinel	C4-11	35.64	nea	nea	neg	neg	neg
26	2	sentinel	C4-12	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
27	2	sentinel	C4-13	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
28	2	sentinel	C4-14	29.63	neg	33.89	neg	neg	neg
29	4	inoculated	C4-1	neg	24.23	neg	neg	neg	30.31
30	4	inoculated	C4-2	38.10	35.09	neg	30.37	33.24	neg
31	4	inoculated	C4-3	35.25	35.63	36.07	neg	32.34	34.35
32	4	inoculated	C4-4	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
33	4	inoculated	C4-5	33.07	36.27	37.03	neg	neg	neg
34	4	inoculated	C4-8	36.42	32.77	31.78	neg	neg	neg
35	4	inoculated	C4-9	29.38	25.97	neg	neg	neg	neg
36	4	inoculated	C4-10	23.03	29.12	25.44	27.17	neg	neg
37	4	sentinel	C4-11	33.13	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
38	4	sentinei	04-14	27.20	22.54	neg	neg	27.99	neg
39	5	inoculated	04-3	26.56	26.45	neg	neg	23.40	24.96
40	6	inoculated	C4-2	33.30	26.04	neg	27.33	neg	neg
41	6	inoculated	C4-4	34.60	38.32	37.53	neg	neg	neg
42	6	inoculated	C4-3	33.47	33.82	37.01	neg	neg	neg
43	6	inoculated	C4-0	neg	00.02 neg	ned	neg	neg	neg
45	6	inoculated	C4-10	36.33	32.02	36.26	33.93	neg	neg
46	6	sentinel	C4-11	36.20	22.72	nea	25.94	nea	nea
47	6	sentinel	C4-14	35.78	27.06	neq	30.10	neq	neq
48	9	inoculated	C4-2	neq	32.18	neq	34.75	neq	neg
50	9	inoculated	C4-4	38.24	38.17	neg	neg	neg	neg
51	9	inoculated	C4-5	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
52	9	inoculated	C4-8	neg	39.93	neg	neg	neg	neg
53	9	inoculated	C4-9	36.88	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
54	9	sentinel	C4-10	34.40	32.50	neg	37.80	neg	neg
55	9	sentinel	C4-11	35.64	30.24	neg	36.10	neg	neg
56	9	sentinel	C4-14	neg	31.81	neg	35.01	neg	neg
57	13	inoculated	C4-2	neg	33.13	neg	34.68	neg	neg
58	13	inoculated	C4-4	neg	37.92	neg	neg	neg	neg
59	13	inoculated	C4-5	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
60	13	inoculated	C4-8	neg	39.15	neg	neg	neg	neg
61	13	inoculated	C4-9	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
62	13	sentinel	04-10	neg	31.04	neg	31.14	neg	neg
64	13	sentinel	04-11	37.90	34.39	neg	neg	neg	neg
04	13	sentinei	64-14	neg	<b>ა</b> 0.პპ	neg	neg	neg	neg

						Real-tim	e RT-PCR	-	
group C5	dpi	status	animal ID	M1.2 OP	M1.2 CL	H7 LP OP	H7 LP CL	H7 HP OP	H7 HP CL
1	1	inoculated	C5-1	23.54	36.09	27.67	neg	28.02	neg
2	1	inoculated	C5-2	25.23	neg	30.44	neg	28.71	neg
3	1	inoculated	C5-3	23.08	35.12	28.94	neg	23.79	neg
4	1	inoculated	C5-4	28.20	neg	neg	neg	29.48	neg
5	1	inoculated	C5-5	25.02	neg	32.15	neg	25.87	neg
6	1	inoculated	C5-6	25.61	neg	36.91	neg	26.62	neg
7	1	inoculated	C5-7	24.48	neg	28.94	neg	25.66	neg
8	1	inoculated	C5-8	25.01	38.78	neg	neg	26.67	neg
9	1	inoculated	C5-9	24.30	neg	30.85	neg	25.43	neg
10	1	inoculated	C5-10	24.56	neg	34.27	neg	25.98	neg
11	1	sentinel	C5-11	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
12	1	sentinel	C5-12	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
13	1	sentinel	C5-13	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
14	1	sentinel	C5-14	nea	neg	neg	nea	nea	nea
15	2	inoculated	C5-1	30.11	28.38	neg	28 80	neg	neg
16	2	inoculated	C5-2	27.52	37.03	35.66	35.32	30.42	neg
17	2	inoculated	C5-3	27 54	29.76	nea	nea	29.78	35.16
18	2	inoculated	C5-4	29.20	33.24	neg	neg	32.09	neg
19	2	inoculated	C5-5	29.87	27.02	35.44	neg	nea	28.61
20	2	inoculated	C5-6	29.64	37.07	nea	neg	32 78	ned
21	2	inoculated	C5-7	31.50	22.61	neg	27.48	32.35	22.91
22	2	inoculated	C5-8	29.53	26.89	neg	nea	33.10	27.59
23	2	inoculated	C5-9	30.34	35.58	neg	neg	32.39	neg
24	2	inoculated	C5-10	28.24	31.97	neg	neg	29.66	neg
25	2	sentinel	C5-11	38 15	nea	neg	neg	nea	neg
26	2	sentinel	C5-12	34 54	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
27	2	sentinel	C5-13	35.83	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
28	2	sentinel	C5-14	38.47	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
29	3	inoculated	05-3	28.65	29.32	neg	neg	30.60	32.54
20	4	inoculated	C5-1	24.71	26.34	20.17	neg	24.58	27.77
32	4	inoculated	C5-2	24.85	26.86	31 30	neg	30.09	30.19
33	4	inoculated	C5-5	24.00	20.00	31.38	neg	00.03	00.13
34	4	inoculated	C5-6	24.20	28.76	01.00	30.31	neg	25.41
35	4	inoculated	C5-8	28.50	27.90	31.02	00.01	27.23	26.11
36	4	inoculated	C5-9	25.26	21.30	32.06	neg	26.44	20.11
37	4	inoculated	C5-10	25.20	23.60	31.39	neg	28.94	30.09
38	4	inoculated	C5-11	28.94	20.03	3/ 33	neg	20.34	00.03
39	4	sentinel	C5-13	23.94	31.56	33.06	neg	38.00	33.30
41	5	inoculated	C5-1	23.33	27.65	27.97	20.70	20.07	25.50
41	5	inoculated	C5-2	24.71	25.43	28.30	23.13	20.97	23.33
42	5	inoculated	C5-8	24.00	20.43	20.00	neg	27.00	20.70
	5	inoculated	C5-0	neg	23.17	nog	neg	2/ 80	25.03
44	5	inoculated	C5-10	25.1/	3/ 35	neg	neg	24.03	20.42
45	5	inoculated	C5-11	20.02	04.00	21.92	neg	24.20	29.00
40	5	sontinel	0.5-11	22.05	neg	33.06	neg	00.01	neg
47	5 6	Senuriel	C5 11	20.30	24.22	33.00	neg	20.75	25.26
40	0	senunel	00-11	30.71	34.33	neg	neg	30.75	33.20

GROUP CE 7						Real-tim	e RT-PCR		
group C5.7	dpi	status	animal ID	M1.2 OP	M1.2 CL	H7 LP OP	H7 LP CL	H7 HP OP	H7 HP CL
1	1	inoculated	C5.7-1	23.16	36.77	neg	neg	24.37	neg
2	1	inoculated	C5.7-2	24.72	neg	33.32	neg	25.21	neg
3	1	inoculated	C5.7-3	25.61	neg	33.86	neg	26.37	neg
4	1	inoculated	C5.7-4	29.10	neg	36.15	neg	neg	neg
5	1	inoculated	C5.7-5	23.42	neg	neg	neg	24.56	neg
6	1	inoculated	C5.7-6	25.39	neg	neg	neg	26.29	neg
7	1	inoculated	C5.7-7	26.57	39.75	neg	neg	27.46	neg
8	1	inoculated	C5.7-8	28.62	38.78	neg	neg	30.09	neg
9	1	inoculated	C5.7-9	25.28	neg	36.21	neg	26.38	neg
10	1	inoculated	C5.7-10	22.15	neg	neg	neg	22.17	neg
11	1	sentinel	C5.7-11	37.73	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
12	1	sentinel	C5.7-12	neg	27.18	neg	32.80	neg	neg
13	1	sentinel	C5.7-13	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
14	1	sentinel	C5.7-14	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
15	2	inoculated	C5.7-1	28.64	neg	neg	neg	29.05	35.36
16	2	inoculated	C5.7-2	29.26	32.98	neg	neg	29.65	neg
17	2	inoculated	C5.7-3	28.22	37.08	neg	neg	29.08	neg
18	2	inoculated	C5.7-4	28.41	26.37	36.73	neg	35.34	neg
19	2	inoculated	C5.7-5	26.75	20.21	neg	neg	27.99	neg
20	2	inoculated	C5.7-6	30.35	35.99	neg	neg	35.77	neg
21	2	inoculated	C5.7-7	28.13	35.44	neg	neg	29.66	neg
22	2	inoculated	C5.7-8	29.09	34.09	neg	neg	29.38	21.47
23	2	inoculated	C5.7-9	31.80	34.36	neg	neg	34.84	28.13
24	2	inoculated	C5.7-10	33.24	34.17	neg	neg	neg	neg
25	2	sentinel	C5.7-11	32.26	31.00	neg	neg	neg	neg
26	2	sentinel	C5.7-12	neg	28.38	neg	neg	neg	neg
27	2	sentinel	C5.7-13	neg	31.53	neg	neg	neg	neg
28	2	sentinel	C5.7-14	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
29	4	inoculated	C5.7-1	23.28	19.29	neg	neg	24.19	20.54
30	4	inoculated	C5.7-3	23.98	24.82	neg	neg	24.42	24.48
31	4	inoculated	C5.7-4	25.39	24.46	neg	neg	25.62	25.23
32	4	inoculated	C5.7-5	22.51	23.13	neg	neg	24.01	24.63
33	4	inoculated	C5.7-7	25.46	26.38	neg	37.46	26.06	28.14
34	4	inoculated	C5.7-8	22.67	24.78	neg	neg	23.32	26.43
35	4	inoculated	C5.7-9	21.10	24.39	38.20	neg	21.81	25.22
36	4	inoculated	C5.7-10	28.16	29.33	neg	neg	28.39	29.22
37	4	sentinel	C5.7-11	29.29	neg	neg	neg	29.86	neg
38	4	sentinel	C5.7-12	29.25	37.34	35.31	neg	31.09	21.74
39	5	inoculated	C5.7-7	29.22	33.04	neg	neg	22.47	23.61
40	5	inoculated	C5.7-10	24.27	23.14	neg	neg	27.40	22.76
41	6	sentinel	C5.7-11	27.27	25.51	neg	neg	29.40	29.73
42	6	sentinel	C5.7-12	21.56	25.82	neg	neg	24.50	26.02
43	7	sentinel	C5.7-11	26.26	25.49	neg	neg	28.68	26.74

				Real-time RT-PCR						
group M1	dpi	status	animal ID	M1.2 OP	M1.2 CL	H7 LP OP	H7 LP CL	H7 HP OP	H7 HP CL	
1	1	inoculated	M1-1	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
2	1	inoculated	M1-2	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
3	1	inoculated	M1-3	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
4	1	inoculated	M1-4	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
5	1	inoculated	M1-5	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
6	1	inoculated	M1-6	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
7	1	inoculated	M1-7	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
8	1	inoculated	M1-8	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
9	1	inoculated	M1-9	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
10	1	Inoculated	M1 11	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
12	1	sentinel	M1-12	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
12	1	sentinel	M1-13	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
14	1	sentinel	M1-14	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
15	2	inoculated	M1-1	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
16	2	inoculated	M1-2	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
17	2	inoculated	M1-3	nea	nea	nea	neg	nea	neg	
18	2	inoculated	M1-4	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
19	2	inoculated	M1-5	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
20	2	inoculated	M1-6	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
21	2	inoculated	M1-7	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
22	2	inoculated	M1-8	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
23	2	inoculated	M1-9	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
24	2	inoculated	M1-10	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
25	2	sentinel	M1-11	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
26	2	sentinel	M1-12	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
27	2	sentinel	M1-13	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
28	2	sentinei	M1-14	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
29	4	inoculated	M1 0	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
30	4	inoculated	M1 2	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
32	4	inoculated	M1_4	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
33	4	inoculated	M1-4	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
34	4	inoculated	M1-6	nea	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
35	4	inoculated	M1-9	nea	nea	neg	neg	nea	neg	
36	4	inoculated	M1-10	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
37	4	sentinel	M1-11	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
38	4	sentinel	M1-12	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
39	6	inoculated	M1-1	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
40	6	inoculated	M1-2	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
41	6	inoculated	M1-3	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
42	6	inoculated	M1-4	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
43	6	inoculated	M1-5	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
44	6	inoculated	M1-6	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
45	6	inoculated	M1 10	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
40	6	continol	M1-11	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
48	6	sentinel	M1-12	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
49	9	inoculated	M1-1	nea	nea	nea	nea	nea	nea	
50	9	inoculated	M1-2	nea	nea	nea	nea	nea	nea	
51	9	inoculated	M1-3	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
52	9	inoculated	M1-4	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
53	9	inoculated	M1-5	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
54	9	inoculated	M1-6	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
55	9	inoculated	M1-9	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
56	9	inoculated	M1-10	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
57	9	sentinel	M1-11	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
58	9	sentinel	M1-12	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
59	13	inoculated	M1-1	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
60	13	inoculated	M1-2	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
62	13	inoculated	IVI1-3	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
62	13	inoculated	IVI I -4 M1_5	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
64	13	inoculated	M1_6	nea	neg	neg	neg	nea	neg	
65	13	inoculated	M1-9	nea	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	
66	13	inoculated	M1-10	neg	neg	nea	neg	neg	neg	
67	13	sentinel	M1-11	nea	nea	nea	nea	nea	nea	
68	13	sentinel	M1-12	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	

#### influenza viruses in chickens and embryonated chicken eggs Real-time RT-PCR group M3 animal ID M1.2 OP M1.2 CL H7 LP OP H7 LP CL H7 HP OP H7 HP CL dpi status M3-1 1 inoculated nea nea nea nea nec neo 2 1 M3-2 inoculated neg neg neg neg neg neg 3 1 inoculated M3-3 neg neg neg neg neg neg 4 1 inoculated M3-4 neg neg neg neg neg neg 5 1 M3-5 inoculated neg neg neg neg neg neg 6 1 M3-6 inoculated neg neq nec neg neq neg 1 M3-7 7 inoculated neg neg neg neg neg neg 8 1 inoculated M3-8 neg neg neg neg neg neg 9 1 inoculated M3-9 38.36 neg neg neg neg neg 10 1 M3-10 inoculated neg neg neg neg neg neg 11 1 M3-11 sentinel neg neg neg neg neg neg 12 1 M3-12 sentinel neg nea neg neg neg neg 13 1 M3-13 sentinel neg neg neg neg neg neg 1 14 sentinel M3-14 neg neg neg neg neg neg 15 2 inoculated M3-1 neg neg neg neg neg neg 16 2 M3-2 inoculated neg neg neg neg neg neg 17 2 M3-3 inoculated neg neg neg neg neg neg 18 2 M3-4 inoculated neg neg neg neg neg neg 2 19 inoculated M3-5 neg neg neg neg neg neg inoculated neg neg 20 2 M3-6 neg neg neg neg 21 2 M3-7 inoculated neg neg neg neg neg neg 22 2 inoculated M3-8 neg neg neq neg neq neg 23 2 M3-9 39.91 35.86 inoculated nec neg neq nec 2 24 M3-10 inoculated neg neg neg neg neg neg 25 2 sentinel M3-11 neg neg neg neg neg

M3-12

M3-13

M3-14

M3-2

M3-3

M3-4

M3-5

M3-7

M3-8

M3-9

M3-10

M3-11

M3-12

M3-2

M3-3

M3-4

M3-5

M3-7

M3-8

M3-9

M3-10

M3-11

M3-12

M3-9

M3-3

M3-5

M3-7

M3<u>-8</u>

M3-10

M3-2

M3-4

M3-2

neg

neg

nea

neg

32.46

38.37

38.28

33.25

30.35

31.61

32.06

38.40

34.03

34.49

34.43

36.05

30.96

32.49

32.07

28.16

32.43

24.62

27.21

25.93

27.29

24.25

26.72

24.94

25.86

37.53

27.07

36.95

neg

neg

nea

neg

37.18

neg

neg

neg

neg

29.82

neg

neg

neq

neg

22.21

31.84

35.11

31.95

29.83

20.35

25.97

26.30

24.53

23 07

26.35

26.85

24.44

28.02

28.56

neg

29.10

nea

neg

neg

nec

neg

neg

neg

neg

neg

neg

neg

neg

neg

nec

neg

neg

neg

neg

neg

neg

neg

neg

neg

nec

neg

neg

neg

neg

neg

neg

neg

nec

nec

sentinel

sentinel

sentinel

inoculated

inoculated

inoculated

inoculated

inoculated

inoculated

inoculated

inoculated

sentinel

sentinel

inoculated

inoculated

inoculated

inoculated

inoculated

inoculated

inoculated

inoculated

sentinel

sentinel

inoculated

inoculated

inoculated

inoculated

inoculated

inoculated

inoculated

inoculated

inoculated

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

42

43

44

45

46

47

48

49

50

51

52

53

54

55

56

57

2

2

2

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

7

8

8

8

8

8

9

9

10

neg

neg

neg

neo

neg

neo

neg

neg

nea

neg

34.60

neg

neg

neg

30.08

32.79

neg

neg

neq

neg

neg

neg

34.02

39.19

neg

28.49

37.30

24.39

28.06

28 21

27.36

25.18

27.54

24.51

26.18

neg

neq

nea

neg

neg

nea

neg

neg

neg

neg

neg

neg

30.47

neg

neg

neg

neg

22.73

neg

neg

37.07

31.62

21.55

27.03

27.44

24.82

24 19

27.15

29.00

25.40

29.23

31.29

neg

29.18

nea

# Results - A viral race for primacy: Co-infection of a natural pair of low and highly pathogenic H7N7 avian

avaura M4						Real-tim	e RT-PCR		
group M4	dpi	status	animal ID	M1.2 OP	M1.2 CL	H7 LP OP	H7 LP CL	H7 HP OP	H7 HP CL
1	1	inoculated	M4-1	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
2	1	inoculated	M4-2	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
3	1	inoculated	M4-3	31.51	neg	neg	neg	35.61	neg
4	1	inoculated	M4-4	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
5	1	inoculated	M4-5	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
6	1	inoculated	M4-6	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
7	1	inoculated	M4-7	26.37	neg	neg	neg	26.55	neg
8	1	inoculated	M4-8	33.97	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
9	1	inoculated	M4-9	28.97	neg	neg	neg	28.83	neg
10	1	inoculated	M4-10	29.52	neg	neg	neg	30.52	neg
11	1	sentinel	M4-11	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
12	1	sentinel	M4-12	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
13	1	sentinel	M4-13	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
14	1	sentinel	M4-14	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
15	1	inoculated	M4-1	nea	nea	nea	nea	nea	nea
16	1	inoculated	M4-2	25.93	nea	nea	neg	27.27	neg
17	1	inoculated	M4-3	32.70	neg	neg	neg	38.80	neg
18	1	inoculated	M4-4	nea	neg	neg	nea	nea	nea
19	1	inoculated	M4-5	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
20	1	inoculated	M4-6	neg	37.46	neg	neg	neg	neg
21	1	inoculated	M4-7	28.99	35.40	neg	neg	31.12	neg
22	1	inoculated	M4-8	34.07	nea	neg	neg	nea	neg
23	1	inoculated	M4-9	29.36	27.60	neg	neg	33.10	31.52
20	1	inoculated	M4-10	27.68	33.17	neg	neg	28.87	nea
25	1	sentinel	M4-11		nea	neg	neg		neg
26	1	sentinel	M4-12	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
20	1	sentinel	M4-12	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
28	1	sentinel	M4-14	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
20	1	incoulated	M4 1	26.16	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
29	4	incoulated	IVI4-1	30.10	11eg	neg	neg	11eg	11eg
30	4	inoculated	IVI4-3	30.65	29.53	neg	neg	32.79	29.55
31	4	inoculated	1014-4	34.04	40.45	neg	neg	neg	neg
32	4	Inoculated	M4-5	36.20	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
33	4	Inoculated	M4-6	34.08	32.42	neg	neg	neg	neg
34	4	Inoculated	M4-8	30.42	25.98	neg	neg	32.81	26.62
35	4	inoculated	IVI4-9	31.90	27.92	neg	neg	neg	29.07
30	4	inoculated	IVI4-10	22.51	25.98	neg	neg	22.21	25.75
3/	4	sentinei	IVI4-11	37.54	33.11	neg	neg	neg	33.54
38	4	sentinel	IVI4-12	37.12	32.63	neg	neg	neg	32.67
39	6	inoculated	M4-1	35.02	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
40	6	inoculated	M4-3	26.04	29.14	neg	neg	26.71	30.98
41	6	inoculated	M4-4	32.80	33.81	neg	neg	neg	neg
42	6	inoculated	M4-5	37.29	35.20	neg	neg	neg	neg
43	6	sentinel	M4-11	24.68	31.12	neg	neg	24.64	26.12
44	6	sentinel	M4-12	32.47	32.27	neg	neg	neg	27.59
45	7	sentinel	M4-12	28.19	25.45	neg	neg	28.89	25.85
46	8	inoculated	M4-3	35.00	30.86	neg	neg	neg	24.03
47	8	inoculated	M4-4	23.21	22.80	neg	neg	23.83	neg
48	9	inoculated	M4-1	neg	24.91	neg	neg	neg	26.32
49	9	inoculated	M4-5	neg	30.10	neg	neg	neg	32.11
50	10	inoculated	M4-5	30.06	27.60	nea	nea	29.43	28 85

arour ME						Real-tim	e RT-PCR		
group wis	dpi	status	animal ID	M1.2 OP	M1.2 CL	H7 LP OP	H7 LP CL	H7 HP OP	H7 HP CL
1	1	inoculated	M5-1	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
2	1	inoculated	M5-2	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
3	1	inoculated	M5-3	38.97	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
4	1	inoculated	M5-4	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
5	1	inoculated	M5-5	31.43	neg	neg	neg	32.30	neg
6	1	inoculated	M5-6	35.49	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
7	1	inoculated	M5-7	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
8	1	inoculated	M5-8	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
9	1	inoculated	M5-9	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
10	1	inoculated	M5-10	28.39	neg	neg	neg	29.17	neg
11	1	sentinel	M5-11	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
12	1	sentinel	M5-12	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
13	1	sentinel	M5-13	33.29	neg	neg	neg	31.22	neg
14	1	sentinel	M5-14	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
15	2	inoculated	M5-1	31.86	37.46	neg	neg	35.73	neg
16	2	inoculated	M5-2	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
17	2	inoculated	M5-3	32.68	neg	neg	neg	36.79	neg
18	2	inoculated	M5-4	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
19	2	inoculated	M5-5	31.73	25.57	neg	neg	37.93	26.70
20	2	inoculated	M5-6	38.47	38.30	neg	neg	neg	neg
21	2	inoculated	M5-7	neg	39.86	neg	neg	neg	neg
22	2	inoculated	M5-8	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
23	2	inoculated	M5-9	39.07	neg	neg	neg	28.62	neg
24	2	inoculated	M5-10	26.53	36.27	neg	neg	neg	neg
25	2	sentinel	M5-11	33.82	28.18	neg	neg	neg	32.59
26	2	sentinel	M5-12	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
27	2	sentinel	M5-13	32.04	36.18	neg	neg	34.27	neg
28	2	sentinel	M5-14	34.74	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
29	4	inoculated	M5-1	31.17	33.07	nea	nea	30.59	nea
30	4	inoculated	M5-2	33.68	27.44	nea	nea	nea	28.28
31	4	inoculated	M5-3	27.64	30.64	nea	nea	26.86	32.14
32	4	inoculated	M5-4	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
33	4	inoculated	M5-5	25.46	27.13	neg	neg	25.66	26.23
34	4	inoculated	M5-7	30.62	28.00	neg	neg	31.63	28.23
35	4	inoculated	M5-8	32.98	34.17	neg	neg	neg	neg
36	4	sentinel	M5-9	31.56	33.39	neg	neg	31.77	neg
37	4	sentinel	M5-11	27.29	27.15	neg	neg	26.66	28.36
38	4	sentinel	M5-13	26.08	25.32	neg	neg	26.15	25.27
39	5	inoculated	M5-1	27.08	28.86	neg	neg	28.48	26.73
40	5	inoculated	M5-3	26.52	24.55	nea	nea	26.08	28.36
41	5	sentinel	M5-11	28.00	nea	nea	neg	24.55	23.44
42	6	inoculated	M5-2	28.39	27 50	nea	nea	27 60	27 16
43	6	inoculated	M5-4	25.87	26.82	nea	neg	26.36	27.15
40	6	inoculated	M5-7	27.20	20.02	neg	neg	26.40	26.41
45	6	inoculated	M5-8	28.02	27.52	neg	neg	20.40	26.33
46	6	inoculated	M5-0	27.60	20.10	neg	neg	27.77	20.00
40	7	inoculated	M5-7	10.55	29.19	neg	neg	10.14	20.19
47	7	noculated		19.00	20.10	neg	neg	19.14	20.04

		Real-time RT-PCR										
group M5.7	dpi	status	animal ID	M1.2 OP	M1.2 CL	H7 LP OP	H7 LP CL	H7 HP OP	H7 HP CL			
1	1	inoculated	M5.7-1	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg			
2	1	inoculated	M5.7-2	23.01	neg	neg	neg	25.27	neg			
3	1	inoculated	M5.7-3	33.19	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg			
4	1	inoculated	M5.7-4	23.87	35.23	neg	neg	27.07	neg			
5	1	inoculated	M5.7-5	25.00	neg	neg	neg	27.49	neg			
6	1	inoculated	M5.7-6	25.43	38.44	neg	neg	27.30	neg			
7	1	inoculated	M5.7-7	24.65	38.05	neg	neg	27.06	neg			
8	1	inoculated	M5.7-8	26.57	neg	neg	neg	28.58	neg			
9	1	inoculated	M5.7-9	21.50	36.21	neg	neg	22.79	neg			
10	1	inoculated	M5.7-10	22.69	33.09	neg	neg	23.90	neg			
11	1	sentinel	M5.7-11	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg			
12	1	sentinel	M5.7-12	36.30	36.57	neg	neg	neg	neg			
13	1	sentinel	M5.7-13	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg			
14	1	sentinel	M5.7-14	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg			
15	2	inoculated	M5.7-1	38.65	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg			
16	2	inoculated	M5.7-2	29.51	24.67	neg	neg	30.74	26.43			
17	2	inoculated	M5.7-3	38.13	25.03	neg	neg	neg	neg			
18	2	inoculated	M5.7-4	30.83	24.15	neg	neg	36.54	neg			
19	2	inoculated	M5.7-5	29.42	35.06	neg	neg	29.97	25.59			
20	2	inoculated	M5.7-6	26.64	24.47	neg	neg	27.01	25.22			
21	2	inoculated	M5.7-7	30.86	27.18	neg	neg	33.94	neg			
22	2	inoculated	M5.7-8	28.07	35.30	neg	neg	29.72	26.10			
23	2	inoculated	M5.7-9	31.02	35.63	neg	neg	37.01	30.20			
24	2	inoculated	M5.7-10	29.44	31.76	neg	neg	neg	neg			
25	2	sentinel	M5.7-11	neg	37.42	neg	neg	neg	neg			
26	2	sentinel	M5.7-12	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg			
27	2	sentinel	M5.7-13	36.71	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg			
28	2	sentinel	M5.7-14	38.17	neg	neg	neg	33.96	neg			
29	3	inoculated	M5.7-7	26.59	25.05	neg	neg	27.77	25.37			
30	3	inoculated	M5.7-9	25.15	25.40	neg	neg	26.55	26.28			
31	3	inoculated	M5.7-10	26.10	29.20	neg	neg	27.27	30.08			
32	4	inoculated	M5.7-1	26.36	24.17	neg	27.96	32.17	24.44			
33	4	inoculated	M5.7-4	28.50	28.20	neg	neg	26.20	25.06			
34	4	inoculated	M5.7-5	23.37	22.88	neg	neg	28.25	28.46			
35	4	inoculated	M5.7-6	27.58	neg	neg	neg	33.22	24.06			
36	4	inoculated	M5.7-7	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg			
37	4	inoculated	M5.7-8	21.08	26.31	neg	neg	neg	26.28			
38	4	inoculated	M5.7-9	neg	neg	neg	neg	21.00	27.05			
39	4	sentinel	M5.7-12	neg	39.62	neg	neg	neg	neg			
40	4	sentinel	M5.7-13	neg	37.15	neg	neg	neg	neg			
41	5	inoculated	M5.7-4	24.26	28.06	neg	neg	26.84	26.48			
42	5	inoculated	M5.7-6	17.33	24.50	neg	neg	16.25	23.57			
43	6	inoculated	M5.7-1	26.54	23.44	neg	neg	25.41	22.13			
44	6	sentinel	M5.7-12	31.08	32.77	nea	nea	32.87	nea			
45	6	sentinel	M5.7-13	36.01	36.41	neg	neg	neg	neg			
46	8	sentinel	M5.7-12	27.77	27.45	nea	nea	27.37	27.31			
47	9	sentinel	M5.7-13	24.63	34.20	nea	nea	23.47	nea			

group M6						Real-tim	e RT-PCR		
	dpi	status	animal ID	M1.2 OP	M1.2 CL	H7 LP OP	H7 LP CL	H7 HP OP	H7 HP CL
1	1	inoculated	M6-1	32.49	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
2	1	inoculated	M6-2	31.82	neg	neg	neg	34.12	24.45
3	1	inoculated	M6-3	38.26	neg	neg	neg	neg	34.34
4	1	inoculated	M6-4	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
5	1	inoculated	M6-5	31.54	neg	neg	neg	32.88	neg
6	1	inoculated	M6-6	37.54	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
7	1	inoculated	M6-7	24.11	neg	neg	neg	24.10	neg
8	1	inoculated	M6-8	30.29	neg	neg	neg	31.22	neg
9	1	inoculated	M6-9	22.13	37.44	neg	neg	neg	neg
10	1	inoculated	M6-10	33.41	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
11	1	sentinel	M6-11	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
12	1	sentinel	M6-12	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
13	1	sentinel	M6-13	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
14	1	sentinel	M6-14	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
15	2	inoculated	M6-1	35.28	35.60	neg	neg	neg	neg
16	2	inoculated	M6-2	31.63	36.07	neg	neg	35.08	neg
17	2	inoculated	M6-3	36.01	39.55	neg	neg	neg	neg
18	2	inoculated	M6-4	31.10	35.87	neg	neg	32.45	neg
19	2	inoculated	M6-5	34.89	36.06	neg	neg	neg	neg
20	2	inoculated	M6-6	31.68	29.47	neg	neg	34.42	34.16
21	2	inoculated	M6-7	23.07	29.20	neg	neg	23.26	35.23
22	2	inoculated	M6-8	35.71	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
23	2	inoculated	M6-9	28.54	26.72	neg	neg	29.72	27.05
24	2	inoculated	M6-10	31.54	35.22	neg	neg	32.02	neg
25	2	sentinel	M6-11	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
26	2	sentinel	M6-12	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
27	2	sentinel	M6-13	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
28	2	sentinel	M6-14	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
29	3	inoculated	M6-4	27.11	28.04	neg	neg	28.54	28.98
30	3	inoculated	M6-5	28.87	31.31	neg	neg	30.04	32.90
31	3	inoculated	M6-6	28.47	30.49	neg	neg	30.04	33.28
32	4	inoculated	M6-1	29.22	27.83	neg	neg	30.14	30.73
33	4	inoculated	M6-2	26.82	23.61	neg	neg	26.66	25.15
34	4	inoculated	M6-3	29.60	30.52	neg	neg	29.59	neg
35	4	inoculated	M6-7	25.01	35.29	neg	neg	25.62	neg
36	4	inoculated	M6-10	27.71	27.06	neg	neg	28.54	29.24
37	4	sentinel	M6-12	29.37	27.62	neg	neg	30.21	28.54
38	4	sentinel	M6-14	34.01	33.25	neg	neg	neg	neg
39	5	inoculated	M6-2	26.21	26.11	neg	neg	25.04	25.08
40	5	inoculated	M6-7	25.00	25.26	neg	neg	23.35	24.68
41	6	inoculated	M6-3	25.05	25.45	neg	neg	24.74	24.29
42	6	inoculated	M6-10	22.06	28.53	neg	neg	20.92	26.55
43	6	sentinel	M6-12	32.83	34.68	neg	neg	35.27	neg
44	6	sentinel	M6-14	32.69	28.30	nea	nea	nea	27.45

group B						Real-tim	e RT-PCR		
5 1	dpi	status	animal ID	M1.2 OP	M1.2 CL	H7 LP OP	H7 LP CL	H7 HP OP	H7 HP CL
1	1	inoculated	B-1	30.29	neg	34.61	neg	neg	neg
2	1	inoculated	B-2	25.81	38.69	29.43	neg	neg	neg
3	1	inoculated	B-3	22.24	36.74	26.40	neg	neg	neg
4	1	inoculated	B-4	23.24	38.38	26.30	neg	neg	neg
5	1	inoculated	B-5	25.97	neg	29.14	neg	neg	neg
6	1	inoculated	B-6	25.68	36.66	29.37	neg	neg	neg
7	1	inoculated	B-7	22.44	neg	27.66	neg	neg	neg
8	1	inoculated	B-8	32.16	neg	36.07	neg	neg	neg
9	1	inoculated	B-9	27.61	neg	31.17	neg	neg	neg
10	1	continol	D-10 B-11	25.59	neg	30.63	neg	neg	neg
12	1	sentinel	B-12	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
13	1	sentinel	B-13	nea	nea	nea	nea	neg	neg
14	1	sentinel	B-14	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
15	2	inoculated	B-1	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
16	2	inoculated	B-2	37.42	31.98	33.80	neg	neg	neg
17	2	inoculated	B-3	neg	38.04	neg	neg	neg	neg
18	2	inoculated	B-4	35.38	35.24	neg	neg	neg	neg
19	2	inoculated	B-5	27.12	neg	30.64	neg	neg	neg
20	2	inoculated	B-6	30.09	38.42	37.29	34.56	neg	neg
21	2	inoculated	B-/	35.09	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
22	2	inoculated	D-Ö B.O	20.45	neg	11eg	neg	neg	neg
23	2	inoculated	B-10	26.72	21.09	32 91	neg	neg	neg
25	2	sentinel	B-11	31.72	28.05	nea	neg	neg	neg
26	2	sentinel	B-12	38.20	nea	nea	neg	neg	neg
27	2	sentinel	B-13	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
28	2	sentinel	B-14	neg	38.13	neg	neg	neg	neg
29	4	inoculated	B-2	26.98	36.86	30.41	neg	neg	neg
30	4	inoculated	B-3	29.08	37.00	30.88	neg	neg	neg
31	4	inoculated	B-4	27.67	24.65	31.41	30.47	neg	neg
32	4	inoculated	B-5	27.45	32.79	32.30	32.68	neg	neg
33	4	inoculated	B-6	26.44	24.38	33.11	29.05	neg	neg
34	4	inoculated	B-7	30.28	24.92	31.03	29.52	neg	neg
35	4	inoculated	B-8	27.70	neg	34.64	neg	neg	neg
37	4	sentinel	B-10 B-12	36.22	29.00	33.52	26.42	neg	neg
38	4	sentinel	B-12	37.27	30.83	00.09 neg	20.42 neg	neg	neg
39	6	inoculated	B-2	nea	33.80	neg	neg	neg	neg
40	6	inoculated	B-3	34.95	nea	nea	neg	neg	neg
41	6	inoculated	B-4	35.87	30.08	neg	35.61	neg	neg
42	6	inoculated	B-5	30.42	35.42	29.07	neg	neg	neg
43	6	inoculated	B-6	31.55	33.76	31.58	neg	neg	neg
44	6	inoculated	B-7	32.24	32.57	34.91	neg	neg	neg
45	6	inoculated	B-8	neg	36.46	neg	neg	neg	neg
46	6	inoculated	B-10	35.15	neg	34.19	neg	neg	neg
4/	6	sentinel	B-12	35.34	37.45	neg	neg	neg	neg
40	0	inoculated	B.2	JO.49	00.24	neg	neg	neg	neg
-+9 50	9 Q	inoculated	B-3	nea	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
51	9	inoculated	B-4	nea	33.58	nea	nea	nea	nea
52	9	inoculated	B-5	37.96	31.35	nea	nea	nea	neq
53	9	inoculated	B-6	neg	31.64	neg	neg	neg	neg
54	9	inoculated	B-7	40.90	30.61	neg	37.34	neg	neg
55	9	inoculated	B-8	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
56	9	inoculated	B-10	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
57	9	sentinel	B-12	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
58	9	sentinel	B-13	neg	37.80	neg	neg	neg	neg
59	13	inoculated	B-2	neg	38.10	neg	neg	neg	neg
60	13	inoculated	B-3	neg	37.02	neg	neg	neg	neg
62	13	inoculated	B-4	20 50	38.22	1 neg	30.92	neg	neg
63	13	inoculated	B-0	23.03	34.26	01.09 nen	38.03	neg	neg
64	13	inoculated	B-7	neg	nea	neg	nea	neg	neg
65	13	inoculated	B-8	nea	38.85	nea	nea	nea	nea
66	13	inoculated	B-10	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
67	13	sentinel	B-12	neg	35.23	neg	neg	neg	neg
68	13	sentinel	B-13	neg	25.30	neg	31.71	neg	neg

**Supplemental Table 3a.** Area-under-curve (AUC) values from viral shedding analyses of the inoculated chickens (supplement to Figure 1c).

		AU	IC values		
Group	Shedding*	Co-infection group	Mono-infection group		
C1 & M1	OP	0	0		
C3 & M3	OP	0	35.206		
C4 & M4	OP	46.7115	40.1555		
C5 & M5 OP		36.48566667	48.637375		
<b>C5.7 &amp; M5.7</b> OP		48.68225	58.0387619		
B & M6	OP	0	53.929		
C1 & M1	CL	0	0		
C3 & M3	CL	0	46.4385		
C4 & M4	CL	41.435	46.377		
C5 & M5	CL	25.95425	43.797		
C5.7 & M5.7	CL	35.434125	55.40552381		
B & M6	CL	0	41.0825		

\*OP = oropharyngeal swab; \*CL = cloacal swab

Supplemental Table 3b. P-values of viral shedding analyses (supplement to Figure 1c).

Group	CL*	OP*
C3 vs. M3	0.02913886	0.06293646
C4 vs. M4	0.16270325	0.14744695
C5 vs. M5	0.58302491	0.79220779
C5.7 vs. M5.7	0.83066424	0.76190476
B vs. M6	0.00277843	0.00277843

\*OP = oropharyngeal swab; \*CL = cloacal swab

**Supplemental Table 4a.** Mean death time calculations of 10-and 14-day old embryonated chicken eggs (supplement to Figure 3a).

Crown	Embruo	MDT (hpi)					
Group	Embryo	10-day-old ECE	14-day-old ECE				
	C1-1	72	72				
	C1-2	72	72				
C1	C1-3	72	120				
	C1-4	72	96				
	C1-5	72	120				
	M1-1	120	120				
	M1-2	120	120				
M1	M1-3	120	120				
	M1-4	120	120				
	M1-5	120	120				
	C3-1	48	96				
	C3-2	72	48				
C3	C3-3	72	72				
	C3-4	48	96				
	C3-5	48	72				
	M3-1	48	48				
	M3-2	42	48				
M3	M3-3	48	48				
	M3-4	48	48				
	M3-5	48	48				
	C4-1	48	76				
	C4-2	72	76				
C4	C4-3	72	72				
••	C4-4	72	72				
	C4-5	48	72				
	M4-1	40	42				
	M4-2	24	42				
M4	M4-3	42	42				
	M4-4	42	42				
	M4-5	42	42				
	C5-1	52	76				
	C5-2	52	76				
C5	C5-3	18	76				
	C5-4	48	24				
	C5-5	48	48				
	M5-1	28	40				
	M5-2	20	42				
M5	M5-3	42	42				
1115	M5-4	42	42				
	M5-5	28	42				
	C5 7-1	48	42				
	C5 7-2	48	48				
C5 7	05.7-2	24	76				
00.1	C5 7-4	48	76				
	05.7-4	40	48				
	M5 7-1	28	40				
	M5 7-2	20	42				
M5 7	M5 7-3	20	42				
110.17	M5 7-4	12	24				
	M5 7-5	42	42				
	B-1	96	96				
	B-7	96	120				
R	B-3	48	76				
	B-3	120	120				
	B 5	120	76				
	M6-1	24	24				
	M6.2	24	<u>4</u> 12				
Me	M6 2	20	+∠ 24				
	M6-4	20	24				
	Me F	<u>4</u>	<u>24</u> 10				
	C-OIVI	42	42				

**Supplemental Table 4b.** P-values of *in ovo* experiments: (A) comparison of MDTs between co- and mono-infection groups in 10- and 14-day old embryonated chicken eggs (Mantel-Haenszel-logrank test) and (B) comparison of MDTs of each of the mono- and co-infection groups within 10- and 14-day old ECEs (supplement to Figure 3a).

(A)

	E	CEs
Group	10-day old	14-day old
C1 vs. M1	9.63E-07	0.023185644
C3 vs. M3	0.01332194	4.94E-05
C4 vs. M4	9.34E-06	3.41E-07
C5 vs. M5	1.60E-05	0.000315491
C5.7 vs. M5.7	0.00402611	9.34E-06
B vs. M6	1.60E-09	4.63E-09

(B)

	10- vs. 14-day old
Group	ECEs
C1	0.00134865
C3	0.010914202
C4	0.016791821
C5	0.014158931
C5.7	0.006742087
M1	1
M3	0.291840545
M4	0.28274546
M5	0.026888454
M5.7	0.235044451
M6	0.67087816
В	0.919851039

**Supplemental Table 5.** RT-qPCR results of harvested amnio-allantoic fluids of 10-and 14-day old embryonated chicken eggs infected with LP and/or HPAIV (*in ovo* experiment) (supplement to Figure 3b).

EaglD	10	)-day-old EC	E	14-day-old ECE				
Egg ID	M1.2	H7 LP	H7 HP	M1.2	H7 LP	H7 HP		
C1-1	14.83	20.14	32.32	17.69	21.17	neg		
C1-2	13.47	18.97	nea	17.01	20.16	nea		
C1-3	15.39	20.02	neg	17.09	20.47	nea		
C1-4	13.77	19.66	nea	16.39	19.36	nea		
C1-5	18.31	23.2	nea	18.95	22.09	neg		
C3-1	13.87	20.04	neg	17.51	21.63	neg		
C3-2	14.05	19.41	25.22	nea	20.51	neg		
C3-3	14 75	20.02	nea	nea	21.66	neg		
C3-4	21.08	26.37	neg	15.86	19.66	neg		
C3-5	16.64	19.03	neg	18.07	22.29	neg		
C4-1	13 99	19.51	neg	15.06	17.84	34.07		
C4-2	13.1	18.77	neg	14.4	17.01	31.23		
C4-3	13 15	19.18	26.91	17.01	19.7	nea		
C4-4	13.23	18.36	nea	15.64	18.35	neg		
C4-5	13.48	18.48	neg	15.01	18.00	neg		
C5-1	13.6	19.49	neg	17.99	21.23	24.76		
C5-2	13.11	18.3	neg	16.78	19.68	28.83		
C5-3	14.4	20.04	neg	21.98	25.95	20.00 nea		
C5-4	13.2	18.40	neg	18.05	22.50	35.52		
C5-5	13 11	18.33	31 45	13.96	17 42	nea		
C5 7-1	13.82	19.53	nea	15.00	18.69	25.58		
C5 7-2	14.32	19.55	32.5	18.17	20.89	34.47		
C5 7-3	13.03	19.07	52.5 nea	18.12	22.05	29.19		
C5 7-4	13.30	19.02	34.20	18.74	22.00	23.15		
C5 7-5	34.23	19.4 neg	04.23	17.66	23.40	34.18		
M1_1	14 78	neg	19.55	14.56	21.5 nea	20.13		
M1_2	13.86	neg	18.21	14.67	neg	20.13		
M1-2	13.00	neg	17.58	13.64	neg	18 72		
M1_4	13.63	neg	16.65	14.63	neg	10.72		
M1-5	14.36	neg	16.00	14.38	neg	20.18		
M3-1	14.64	neg	17.69	14.04	neg	19.79		
M3-2	13.12	neg	17.03	14.61	neg	20.29		
M3-3	13.91	neg	18.25	13.97	neg	19.25		
M3-4	13.24	neg	18.87	13.44	neg	19.02		
M3-5	13.33	neg	17.58	15.15	neg	19.64		
M4-1	16.639	neg	19.75	15.63	neg	20.53		
M4-2	13.98	neg	19.2	13.94	neg	19.2		
M4-3	14.97	neg	20.82	14.54	neg	20.82		
M4-4	15.98	neg	17 72	16.21	nea	17.72		
M4-5	15.61	neg	15.54	14.36	nea	15.54		
M5-1	13.64	neg	15.01	14.64	neg	16.57		
M5-2	13.86	neg	15 78	15.8	neg	17.99		
M5-3	14.18	neg	15.58	16.06	nea	17.89		
M5-4	13.99	nea	14.68	13.76	nea	15.68		
M5-5	14.36	nea	16.74	15.52	nea	17.46		
M5.7-1	15.72	nea	17.56	16.92	nea	18.4		
M5.7-2	14.33	nea	15.26	15.16	nea	16.86		
M5.7-3	15.69	nea	16.11	15.28	nea	16.66		
M5.7-4	14.25	nea	15.09	15.01	nea	17.06		
M5.7-5	14.39	nea	16.63	15.48	nea	17.53		
M6-1	14.83	nea	15.15	14.53	nea	16.47		
M6-2	15.88	nea	21.26	18.07	nea	19.26		
M6-3	15.97	nea	18.67	16.29	nea	18.37		
M6-4	14.11	nea	15.45	14.71	nea	16.62		
M6-5	14.21	nea	16.52	15.29	nea	17.78		
B-1	15.82	19.02	nea	18.15	21.13	nea		
B-2	14.28	18.08	nea	17.58	21.21	nea		
B-3	15.43	18.51	nea	17.75	21.12	nea		
B-4	15.07	18.38	neq	17.65	21.41	neq		
B-5	19.6	23.29	neg	14.54	18.09	neg		

**Supplemental Table 6.** RT-qPCR results of tissues selected from of 10-and 14-day old embryonated chicken eggs infected with LP/HPAIV (*in ovo* experiment; co-infections).

10-day-old ECE

			heart			brain			liver	
Group	embryo ID	M1.2	H7 LP	H7 HP	M1.2	H7 LP	H7 HP	M1.2	H7 LP	H7 HP
	C1-1	22.16	neg	neg	20.08	neg	27.89	20.38	26.84	neg
C1	C1-2	20.37	neg	neg	22.13	neg	25.35	20.78	26.74	neg
	C1-3	20.34	neg	neg	20.56	neg	27.31	20.63	neg	neg
	C3-1	15.79	20.4	19.12	15.5	20.66	21.08	15.82	23.65	18.85
C3	C3-2	13.93	25.45	16.9	13.13	19.38	17.53	15.11	neg	19.34
	C3-3	14.71	neg	17.24	15.25	neg	18.11	16.4	neg	19.38
	C4-1	17.87	25.59	22.11	16.74	23.98	28.78	19.12	25.42	27.74
C4	C4-2	13.87	neg	16.86	13.75	neg	17.23	16.44	34	20.55
	C4-3	13.27	neg	15.55	14.8	25.75	18.2	15.87	21.62	19.55
	C5-1	15.14	neg	18.42	14.24	neg	18.96	13.94	neg	17
C5	C5-2	15.17	neg	16.6	14.69	neg	17.07	16.06	neg	18.45
	C5-3	13.95	neg	16.69	14.52	neg	18.13	15.33	neg	18.78
	C5.7-1	12.79	neg	15	14.84	neg	16.56	13.55	neg	16.16
C5.7	C5.7-2	16.75	neg	18.48	18.29	neg	20.09	17.4	neg	20.05
	C5.7-3	13.47	neg	15.55	14.56	neg	17.51	14.47	neg	19.2
	B-1	neg								
В	B-2	37.3	neg							
	B-3	neg	neg	neg	38.05	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg

## 14-day-old ECE

			heart			brain			liver	
Group	embryo ID	M1.2	H7 LP	H7 HP	M1.2	H7 LP	H7 HP	M1.2	H7 LP	H7 HP
	C1-1	33.74	neg	neg	27.21	neg	neg	30.55	neg	neg
C1	C1-2	27.22	neg	neg	23.03	26.61	neg	26.6	neg	neg
	C1-3	31.75	neg	neg	28.74	neg	neg	30.04	neg	neg
	C3-1	31.85	neg	neg	25.27	neg	neg	27.54	neg	36.7
C3	C3-2	30.9	neg	neg	24.94	neg	neg	25.1	35.69	neg
	C3-3	30.7	neg	neg	25.87	neg	neg	26.23	neg	neg
	C4-1	18.13	neg	19.41	17.49	neg	18.42	21.4	neg	24.49
C4	C4-2	18.54	neg	20	17.74	neg	19.13	20.25	neg	22.55
	C4-3	17.21	neg	18.17	17.45	neg	18.09	19.42	neg	20.61
	C5-1	17.63	neg	18.64	18.1	neg	18.85	19.11	neg	19.16
C5	C5-2	25.12	neg	25.58	23.84	neg	neg	24.2	neg	31.27
	C5-3	25.63	neg	24.4	19.57	neg	21.41	31.1	neg	28.95
	C5.7-1	18.22	neg	19.36	18.93	neg	19.5	20.22	neg	21.65
C5.7	C5.7-2	16.37	neg	17.42	18.15	neg	19.64	19.86	neg	21.16
	C5.7-3	16.31	neg	17.31	19.48	neg	20.46	19.86	neg	19.85
	B-1	neg	neg	neg	38.38	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
В	B-2	neg								
	B-3	neg								



**Supplemental Figure 1.** Serologic reactions after infection with AIVs of subtypes H7N7 LP and/or HPAIV based on indirect NP-ELISA (OD650. IDEXX) on day 2, 6 and 13 pi. (A) shows co-infection groups C1-C5.7, (B) mono-infection groups M1-M5.7 and (C) control groups B (LP) and M6

**Supplemental Figures 2a-d**. Histopathological findings and virus tropism as revealed by IHC in inoculated chickens sacrificed at 2 dpi.

# (a) Severitiy of necrotizing inflammation.

0 = negative; 1 = mild; 2 = moderate; 3 = severe.



# (b) Severity of lymphocytic apoptosis.

0 = negative; 1 = mild; 2 = moderate; 3 = severe.



# (c) Distribution of parenchymal influenza A matrixprotein.

0 = negative; 1 = focal/oligofocal; 2 = multifocal; 3 = coalesing/diffuse.



# (d) Distribution of endothelial influenza A matrixprotein.

0 = negative; 1 = focal/oligofocal; 2 = multifocal; 3 = coalesing/diffuse.



**Supplemental Figure 3.** Light microscopy revealed no obvious pathological findings in chicken infected with low pathogenic avian influenza (supplement to Figure 2).



(A) Chicken, P17-884, group B, scheduled euthanasia at 2 dpi, respiratory mucosa. The respiratory mucosa is characterized by a pseudostratified columnar epithelium with prominent apical cilia (arrow) and multifocal intraepithelial mucous glands. The submucosa contains unremarkable blood vessels and nerves (arrowhead). (B) Chicken, P17-884, group B, scheduled euthanasia at 2 dpi, respiratory mucosa. The respiratory epithelial cells which can be identified based on their ciliated apical border (arrow) and the submucosal nerve fascicles (arrowhead) display no influenza A virus-matrixprotein immunoreactivity. (C) Chicken, P17-887, group B, scheduled euthanasia at 2 dpi, caecum. The caecal crypts extend deeply into the lymphoreticular tissue of the caecal tonsil and are lined by a columnar epithelium with typical brush border (arrow). (D) Chicken, P17-887, group B, scheduled euthanasia at 2 dpi, caecum. The lymphoreticular tissue of the caecal tonsils as well as the mucosa of the caecal crypts display no influenza A virus-matrixprotein immunoreactivity. (E) Chicken, P17-885,

group B, scheduled euthanasia at 2 dpi, brain. Neurons and glia within the brain show no obvious pathological alterations. **(F)** Chicken, P17-885, group B, scheduled euthanasia at 2 dpi, brain. There is no influenza A virus-matrixprotein immunoreactivity within the brain. **(G)** Chicken. P17-887. group B scheduled euthanasia at 2 dpi, spleen. A small artery (arrowhead) is surrounded by small differentiated lymphocytes with round,, heterochromatic nuclei (arrows) forming the periarteriolar lymphoid sheath. **(H)** Chicken, P17-887, group B scheduled euthanasia at 2 dpi, spleen. There are no influenza A virus-matrixprotein immunoreactivity cells within the lymphoreticular tissue of the spleen. A. C. E. G: Hematoxylin eosin. B. D. F. H: Influenza A virus-matrixprotein IHC, avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex method, using as first antibody a murine monoclonal antibody directed against the matrixprotein of anti-influenza A virus (strain PR8 (A/PR/8/34. H1 N1); clone M2-1C6-4R3 (ATCC<sup>®</sup> HB-64<sup>TM</sup>). American Type Culture Collection. Manassas. USA), 3-amino-9-ethyl-carbazol as chromogen and hematoxylin counterstain. A-F: bar = 50 µm. G. H: bar = 20 µm.

**Supplemental Figure 4a-f.** Histopathological findings and virus tropism in chorioallantoic membrane and embryonal organs (supplement to Figure 4).

# (a) 10-day old chicken embryos; Severity of necrotizing inflammation.

0 = negative; 1 = mild; 2 = moderate; 3 = severe.


### (b) 14-day old chicken embryos; Severity of necrotizing inflammation.

0 = negative; 1 = mild; 2 = moderate; 3 = severe.



# (c) 10-day old chicken embryos; Distribution of parenchymal and epithelial influenza A matrixprotein.



### (d) 10-day old chicken embryos; Distribution of endothelial influenza A matrixprotein.



# (e) 14-day old chicken embryos; Distribution of parenchymal and epithelial influenza A matrixprotein.



### (f) 14-day-old chicken embryos; Distribution of endothelial influenza A matrixprotein.



### **Statistical analyses**

The Mantel-Haenszel logrank test and the Mann Whitney test were used to compare survival rates and morbidity index as well as MDT values, respectively, applying the R software environment and the following packages: "stats", "survival", "survminer", "gridExtra" and "ggplot2". P values <0.05 were considered significant. For comparisons between the total amount of virus shedding of HPAIV in the mono- and co-infected groups, area-under-the-curve graphs were computed by using R software packages "stats", "survival", "survival", "survminer" and "ggplot2". The mean average of Cq values of all animals sampled at the indicated dpi in a specific group were calculated and used to draw the curves. Animals negative in RT-qPCR at that date scored with a value of 40.

## **CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION**

### V. DISCUSSION

Over the past decades, both sporadic and enzootic outbreaks of notifiable LP as well as HP infections of AIV subtypes H5 and H7 continue worldwide causing devastating losses in poultry production. In some cases of zoonotic AIV, they also represent a significant public health problem by increasing the likelihood of sustained human-to-human transmission of avian-derived IAV which may spark a new human influenza pandemic (FAO, 2018; Kim et al., 2016; Peiris et al., 2007; Zanin et al., 2017). The most compelling approach to curtail such pandemic threats is to effectively control AIV in poultry (Peiris et al., 2016). In this line, the present study was designed to improve crucial steps in the diagnostic algorithm for subtypes H5 and H7 and to achieve a better understanding of the processes involved in the emergence of HPAIV from LPAIV precursors of these subtypes.

# **5.1 Diagnostic challenges – Developing improved tools for more effective surveillance** (Study objective 1; chapters 4.1, 4.2, pp. 39-52, 53-66)

Apart from preventive measures, including in particular heightened biosecurity for poultry holdings, thorough surveillance and early detection of virus incursions are the main prerequisites for timely control. Swift diagnosis with rapid pathotype classification is of utmost importance to arrange for pondered, appropriate notification and control measures. Along with intravenous pathogenicity testing (IVPI) by an animal experiment, pathotyping of AIV is classically based on the nucleotide sequence analysis of the hemagglutinin cleavage site (HACS) encoding either single- (LP) or multibasic (HP) amino acid (aa) sequences using time consuming Sanger sequencing.

Here, rapid sequencing-independent assays targeting the HACS were developed to distinguish LP and HP variants of subtypes H7 and H5, respectively, by RT-qPCRs (chapters 4.1 and 4.2). The performance characteristics of these RT-qPCRs were determined to be closely similar to the generic M-specific PCR (Hoffmann et al., 2010), and PCR pathotyping of field samples led to the same results obtained with nucleotide sequencing. Nonetheless, the introduced pathotyping PCRs cannot be used generically but, owing to the sequence variability at the HACS especially of HP H7 viruses (see list of HACS motifs obtained from

outbreaks around the world published by the "OIE FAO network of expertise on animal influenza" (OFFLU et al., 2018)), require tailoring especially of the probe sequence to the respective strains in circulation. In cases when probe mismatches interfere with real time detection, nucleotide sequencing is still possible to confirm the pathotype by using the amplificates generated with the broadly reacting primers of these RT-qPCRs (chapter 4.1). A similar method and conclusions for RT-qPCR-directed pathotyping for gs/GD H5 viruses of clade 2.2 had been published earlier (Gall et al., 2009). Based on the pathotyping RT-qPCRs, we here propose an updated workflow for the molecular diagnosis of HPAIV H5 or H7 circulating in Europe: Firstly, the generic M-gene-specific RT-qPCR by Hoffmann et al. (2010) confirms the presence of influenza A viral RNA; several additional IAV generic RT-qPCRs can be used alternatively or in addition (M - Nagy et al. (2010), NP - Fereidouni et al. (2012), PB1 -Grund et al. (2018)). Secondly, subtype identification (for H5 and H7) using specific subtyping RT-qPCRs which are also embedded in the so called "RITA" (Riems influenza A typing array) is conducted (Hoffmann et al., 2016). If positive for H5 or H7, pathotyping is carried out by use of the newly developed pathotype-specific RT-qPCRs (chapter 4.1 and 4.2).

# **5.2** How HPAIV emerge – Investigating the relationship of LPAIV precursor and HPAIV effector viruses using newly developed diagnostic tools (Study objective 2; chapter 4.3, pp. 67-91)

There is convincing evidence from outbreaks and *in vitro* experiments that suggest HPAIV evolves from subtype H5 and H7 LP precursor viruses once introduced from wild birds into poultry (Alexander, 2007; Banks et al., 2001; Bean et al., 1985; Berhane et al., 2009; Capua et al., 2000a; Garcia et al., 1996; Perdue et al., 2003; Rohm et al., 1995; Rojas et al., 2002). Wild birds, especially aquatic birds act as reservoirs for AIV (Webster et al., 1992a). AIV mutation rates in chickens seem to be higher than in wild birds but it is unknown whether this and/or other factors also increase the likelihood of LP-to-HP mutations in this species (Fourment et al., 2015). For these reasons, all LPAIV H5 and H7 infections in poultry are notifiable and subject to statutory control as if HPAIV had been detected already. On-the-spot-evidence of spontaneous LP-to-HP mutations in the field is rare (Iglesias et al., 2010; Killian et al., 2016;

Monne et al., 2014; Seekings et al., 2018) or failed (de Wit et al., 2010a), and in most cases the precise source of LP introduction had been difficult to identify.

Here, a matching LP/HPAI virus pair was identified in specimens obtained from an H7N7 outbreak in two neighboring layer chicken farms in Germany in 2015 (chapter 4.3). The newly developed pathotyping RT-qPCRs in concert with next-generation sequencing (NGS) aided in confirming the emergence of the HP variant in a single epidemiological unit of the second farm following transmission of the LP variant from the first holding (chapter 4.3).

Mutation from LP to HPAIV appears to be governed by both viral and host-specific factors including host species, age, the immunological status of the host, genetic and environmental pressures etc. (Capua et al., 2013a; Vandegrift et al., 2010). The presence of an MBCS in the HA protein remains the main genetic determinant of HPAIV (Horimoto et al., 1994a; Klenk et al., 1975; Soda et al., 2011a). In the case of the German LP/HP H7N7 matching virus pair, the insertion of six nucleotides at the HACS as well as a single transitional nucleotide substitution were sufficient to convert the HACS from a single- to a multibasic pattern (chapter 4.3). Most probably, a stuttering mechanism of the viral replication complex when copying the sequence encoding the SBCS during antigenome and/or genome replication is at the basis of the insertional mutations of untemplated A and G residues, which finally translate into an MBCS (Pasick et al., 2005).

Experimental *in vitro, in vivo* and *in ovo* induction of LP-to-HP mutations by serial passaging of LPAIV or genetically engineering of an MBCS into the HA of LPAIV have been conducted and were successful in converting LPAIV to HPAIV in several but not all attempts (Abdelwhab et al., 2013; Abdelwhab et al., 2016a; Abdelwhab et al., 2016b; Abolnik et al., 2009; Banks et al., 2001; Bottcher-Friebertshauser et al., 2014; Brugh, 1988; Gohrbandt et al., 2011; Horimoto et al., 1994a, 1995a; Howard et al., 2007; Ito et al., 2001; Khatchikian et al., 1989; Li et al., 1990; Munster et al., 2010; Orlich et al., 1994; Orlich et al., 1990; Schrauwen et al., 2011; Soda et al., 2011b; Stech et al., 2009; Veits et al., 2012). However, presence of a MBCS was not always associated with a HP phenotype indicating that other viral factors within the HA gene segment or other gene segments have an influence on the HP phenotype expression (Abolnik et al., 2009; Londt et al., 2007).

NGS technology enables a sensitive detection of variants in quasispecies genomes of

influenza A viruses (Monne et al., 2014; Van den Hoecke et al., 2015), and thus depicts diversity in viral populations more accurately compared to Sanger sequencing methods. In our study (chapter 4.3, page 69), presence of mutations distinguishing LP from HP H7N7 outside the HACS were found by NGS as minor variants already in the LP progenitor quasispecies. We suggested that the emergence of the HP phenotype requires both, a selection of variants of the inner genome segments already present in the LP quasispecies population and a subsequent mutational shift in the HACS triggered by a stuttering RdRp. A similar mechanism has been furnished for the emergence of HPAIV H7N1 from LP precursor viruses during the Italian epizootic in 1999-2001 (Monne et al., 2014).

It has been proposed that the RNA secondary structure immediately distal of the HACS may be involved in fostering RdRp stuttering (Nao et al., 2017), and a similar stem loop structure was also identified in the LP precursor virus in our study (chapter 4.3, page 70). However, in our analyses, no differences in this part of the genome were seen between LP viruses that eventually yielded a HP mutant or did not give rise to such phenotype (chapter 4.3). Moreover, limited published data is available on the characterization of viruses possessing a di-basic CS (DBCS or also referred to as "mid-length" or intermediate HACS) (Luczo et al., 2018; Seekings, 2017). These studies speculated whether such DBCS is a requirement for further stepwise mutations towards a full MBCS since a DBCS has been shown to contribute to enhanced cleavage of HA, resulting in increased pathogenicity for poultry (Bashiruddin et al., 1992; Metreveli et al., 2010). No DBCS, however, has been identified in the quasispecies of our LP and HPAIV H7N7 viruses.

In addition to the HACS, other sides within the HA protein but outside the HACS were shown to enhance pathogenicity in poultry (Abdelwhab et al., 2013; Bogs et al., 2010; Diederich et al., 2015; Long et al., 2013; Post et al., 2013; Stech et al., 2009; Veits et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2010). For instance, the HP phenotype may be possibly modulated by an interrelationship between the number of N-linked glycosylation sites on the HA1 and NA stalk length (Matrosovich et al., 1999). Both mechanisms are believed to facilitate adaptation to gallinaceous poultry (Banks et al., 2001; Byrd-Leotis et al., 2017; de Wit et al., 2010b), but ultimate proof is lacking whether such factors are directly related to an increase in pathogenicity (Banks et al., 2003; Banks et al., 2001; Fouchier et al., 2004; Jonges et al., 2011).

Thus, no predictive markers are currently available nor could they be deduced from our study that would aid in assessing the risk of a certain LP H5/H7 virus to mutate to the HP phenotype. Deeper insights into the mutation processes and pathomechanisms governing the emergence of HPAIV would help to develop improved risk-based intervention strategies for notifiable LPAIV infections. So far, restriction measures must be taken for all LP H5 and H7 infected poultry (e.g. slaughter or culling of birds). Availability of quantifiable prognostic markers rendering a given LPAIV unlikely to progress to the HP phenotype would prevent culling of the affected flock. Although our pathotyping RT-qPCRs are a significant step forward in detecting LP/HPAIV variants, no such predictive markers emerged from our study.

# **5.3 "The winner takes it all" - Understanding the early processes after** *de novo* emergence **of HPAIV from LP precursor viruses** (Study objective 3, chapter 4.4, pp. 93-138)

Understanding the patterns and dynamics of HPAIV emergence from a poultry population in which LPAIV is circulating, its transmission to other birds and further spread within flocks is important to select appropriate counteracting measures. In order to identify conditions that favor the spread and transmission of HPAIV over LPAIV and to understand how a minority of HP virions after *de novo* generation in a single host might gain primacy over LPAIV, co-infection studies in chapter 4.4 were initiated employing again the pathotyping tools of chapter 4.1 and the natural LP/HP matching virus pair of chapter 4.3. We attempted to mimic the initial moments of HPAIV emergence after *de novo* generation by an antigenically identical LP precursor virus, as was the case in the layer hen flock from which our LP and HP H7 variants originated (chapter 4.3).

In the individual bird or ECE, direct and immediate interference between LP and HPAI H7N7 viruses was evident. HPAIV replication and, hence, its spread in the infected individual bird and excretion via the oropharynx and cloaca was severely hampered in the presence of an at least 100fold excess of antigenically identical LPAIV (chapter 4.4, page 91). This was confirmed both in co-infected chickens and ECEs. The factors responsible for the interference have not been studied here, but it seems likely that innate immune mechanisms such as interferon activity play a role (Tanikawa et al., 2017). In order to "avoid"

such LPAIV excess and to allow the HP phenotype to gain primacy, we assumed that LP-to-HP mutations should occur very early after LPAIV infection. Transmission from the index bird in which the HP phenotype emerged is not limited to oropharyngeal and cloacal secretions: due to the systemic course of HPAIV infection, infectious virus has been shown to be present in a multitude of tissues including muscle, feather cones, and eggs. Therefore, ingestion after picking on such tissues or mechanical transmission by haematophagous ectoparasites may be sufficient (Bertran et al., 2011; Sommer et al., 2016; Uchida et al., 2016; van den Brand et al., 2015; Yamamoto et al., 2017).

Since the LPAIV precursor-specific immunity just like immunization with a perfectly matching modified live virus vaccine effectively reduces susceptibility to homologous HPAIV infection and decreases HPAIV transmission efficacy (Nickbakhsh et al., 2016; Seo et al., 2001a; Van der Goot et al., 2003; van der Goot et al., 2005), spread in flocks of HP mutants after escape from an index bird depends on the presence of hosts that remain susceptible, i.e. non-exposed to the LP variant.

Therefore, at poultry flock level, the emerging HP phenotype would profit from a low prevalence of LP-specific adaptive immunity to avoid specific interference through adaptive immunity, and a low incidence of active LP precursor virus infection to prevent direct competition. Populations showing high seroconversion rates pose a low risk from an animal-disease-control perspective.

Our *in ovo* studies mirrored similar hampering effects of LPAIV infection on the replication kinetics of HPAIV co-infected embryos. In addition to this, the *in ovo* model further verified pathotype definitions such as endotheliotropism, a characteristic of HPAIV (Feldmann et al., 2000; Horimoto et al., 1998; Rott et al., 1980).

Considering all the obstacles that impede HP variants to gain primacy over its LP precursor, the *de novo* emergence of HP viruses at flock level is likely a very rare event. Nevertheless, several such HPAIV outbreaks have been described during the last two decades. It is tempting to speculate that conversely, many further LP-to-HP mutations may have remained undetected as the HP variants remained captured in the index birds or failed to spread in the population. Hence, it would be interesting to screen more LPAIV-positive field samples from regions where LPAIV has been circulating using our newly developed tools (chapter 4.1, 4.2)

and NGS technology to see whether HACS conversion events have occurred silently. In this line, the ECE infection model may be useful to study the LP-to-HP mutation frequency of different LPAIV *in ovo*.

#### 5.4 Outlook on improved control of AIV in Europe and worldwide

Early-warning systems essentially require swift diagnosis facilitated by our newly developed diagnostic tools. These help to speed up measures aimed at repressing the spread of (potentially zoonotic) notifiable LPAIV and HPAIV. The relevance and versatility of these RTqPCRs has been proven during HPAIV H7 emergence (chapter 4.1), continuing HPAIV H5 outbreaks (chapter 4.2) in the field as well as in pathogenesis research (chapters 4.3 and 4.4). As risks of new incursions into poultry are perpetuating due to the annual presence of LPAIV subtypes in wild bird populations, a long-term strategy with clearly defined goals is required. Essential steps consist of

- intensification of syndrome surveillance to provide targeted, appropriate and timely intervention in LPAI infected poultry. Thus, the spread of an emerging virus with altered clinical and pathological as well as zoonotic potential must be prevented.
- 2) continuing adaptations and further developments of diagnostic tools.
- depopulation of infected premises of all birds, once AI infection with notifiable subtypes H5 and H7 is confirmed. Financial compensation offered to poultry farmers is essential to build trust between the authorities and the poultry keepers.
- However, due e.g. to limited financial resources, a stamping out policy alone cannot be used in endemically infected countries.
- 5) a "one health" approach including unified efforts from both veterinary and public health authorities for surveillance at the animal-human interface. Close contacts at the human-animal interface should be mitigated to decrease potential human exposure as well as possible subsequent human-to-human transmission. Public awareness concerning biosafety measures is mandatory.
- reduction of transport of live poultry. This bears enhanced risks of virus spread.
   Biosecurity measures and poultry farming procedures must be tailored to the actual

epidemiologic situation. This includes wherever and whenever possible, housing of poultry indoor and situated away from open water sources to minimize possible interactions with wild birds.

7) the use of vaccination as a further tool depending on the epidemiological framework. It is important, however, that the pros and cons of a vaccination strategy are assessed individually beforehand. Vaccination alone is insufficient to eradicate AIV from an endemically infected population.

In general, these goals must all be flexibly selected and adapted according to epidemiology, poultry population structure and regional socio-cultural traditions.

## CHAPTER VI: SUMMARY

### VI. SUMMARY

Avian influenza viruses (AIV) are one of the most dominating and complex animal health threats in poultry production globally. Due to the zoonotic propensity of some AIV strain they may also have public health significance. According to their virulence in chickens, AIV can be distinguished into low pathogenic (LP) and highly pathogenic (HP) AIV. LPAIV of subtypes H5 and H7 have the ability to mutate into HP phenotypes through spontaneous insertional mutations in the hemagglutinin (HA) gene. The replication of LPAIV H5 or H7 in galliform poultry seems to be a prerequisite for the development of LP-to-HP mutations. There are continuing risks of new LPAIV incursions from the wild bird population as well as lateral spread of LP and HPAIV in domestic poultry and their re-transmission into wild bird populations. The continuing adaptation of appropriate diagnostic, control and prevention measures to meet viral evolution is of utmost importance. The work collected in this thesis presents the development of improved diagnostic methods for pathotyping. By using realtime quantitative polymerase chain reactions (RT-qPCRs) that characterize the HACS of AIV subtypes H5 and H7, we are capable to differentiate LP and HPAIV based on the HACS nucleotide sequences. They represent an alternative to animal experiments and sequencingdependent pathotyping and thus aid in speeding up time-to-diagnosis and reduce reaction times of veterinary authorities in the context of notifiable outbreak infection events. In addition to this, the suitability of the newly developed diagnostic tools as a routine method in the field at the population level was applied in molecular-epidemiological follow-up studies of a combined LP/HPAIV H7N7 outbreak in two laying hen holdings in Germany in 2015. Using the H7 pathotyping RT-qPCRs, detection of LP/HP co-infections in swab specimens of the HPAI outbreak farm was achieved and, along with full-genome sequencing and H7-specific seroconversion of parts of the chicken population, a LP progenitor virus and its de novo mutant HP successor were demonstrated in the field. Finally, the new pathotyping diagnostic tools also proved advantageous in pathogenesis research on the spread of LP and HPAI viruses in tissues of experimentally co-infected chickens and embryonated chicken eggs (ECE). For this purpose, the recently detected natural LP/HP H7N7 pair of viruses was used to mimic the development and amplification of HPAIV mutants in LPAIV-infected animals. Chickens or ECE were co-infected with a constant amount of LPAIV and increasing HPAIV titres. Pathotype-specific RT-qPCRs were used to demonstrate that LP co-infection had a significant inhibitory effect on HP H7 replication, viral excretion kinetics, and viral transmission to non-infected contact animals. Clinical, immunohistological and serological data confirmed these observations and revealed that HP variants arising *de novo* in an animal already infected with the antigenically identical LP precursor have to overcome obstacles related to direct viral interference, innate and adaptive immunity in order to be spread to other chickens. The methods developed here add an important optimization to the diagnosis of AI infections in birds. In addition, they contribute as tools in research to a deeper understanding of basic processes in the *de novo* generation and spread of HPAIV from LPAIV precursors. Nevertheless, the described diagnostic tests have limitations and are intended to be used mainly in screening programs, especially in regions with longer-term AI infection waves. When it comes to the initial recognition and characterization of new AIV outbreaks, the new pathotyping RT-qPCRs may need to be adapted based on the specific CS sequence of the actual virus strain in circulation.

## CHAPTER VII: ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

### VII. ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Influenzaviren (AIV) stellen eine der dominantesten und komplexesten Aviäre Tiergesundheitsgefahren in der weltweiten Geflügelproduktion dar und können aufgrund ihres teilweise zoonotischen Charakters auch Bedeutung für die öffentliche Gesundheit erlangen. Nach ihrer Virulenz in Hühnern werden niedrig- (LP) und hoch pathogene (HP) AIV unterschieden. LPAIV der Subtypen H5 und H7 können durch spontane insertionelle Mutationen im HA Gen zu HP Phänotypen mutieren. Die Replikation von LPAIV H5 bzw. H7 in galliformen Hausgeflügel scheint eine Voraussetzung für das Entstehen der LP-zu-HP Mutationen darzustellen. Es bestehen kontinuierliche Risiken neuer LPAIV Einträge aus der Wildvogelpopulation sowie der lateralen Verbreitung einmal entstandener HPAIV in Hausgeflügel und deren Rückübertragung in Wildvogelpopulationen. Die stete Anpassung geeigneter Diagnose-, Kontroll- und Präventionsmaßnahmen an die virale Evolution ist von äußerster Wichtigkeit. Die in dieser Dissertation zusammengefassten Arbeiten betreffen die Entwicklung verbesserter diagnostischer Verfahren zur Pathotypisierung. Mithilfe von quantitativen Echtzeit-Polymerase-Kettenreaktionen (RT-qPCRs), welche die Hämagglutinin Spaltstelle von AIV der Subtypen H5 und H7 charakterisieren, ist es möglich, die LP- und HPtypische Nukleotidsequenzen in diesem Bereich zu differenzieren. Sie stellen eine Alternative zur tierversuchs- und sequenzierungs-abhängigen Pathotypisierung dar und beschleunigen somit die Diagnose und reduzieren die Reaktionszeiten im Rahmen anzeigepflichtiger Infektionsgeschehen. Außerdem konnte die Eignung der entwickelten diagnostischen Tests als Routinemethode im Feld auf Populationsebene durch Anwendung in der molekular-epidemiologischen Aufarbeitung eines LP/HPAIV H7N7 Ausbruchsgeschehens in zwei Legehennenbeständen in Deutschland im Jahr 2015 belegt werden. So gelang der Nachweis eines LP-Vorläufervirus und dessen mutierter HP-Version in Tupferproben der HPAI Ausbruchsfarm mittels der pathotypspezifischen RT-qPCR, Vollgenomsequenzen und H7-spezifischen serologischen Tests. Ein weiterer Einsatz der neuen diagnostischen Verfahren ergab sich in der Pathogeneseforschung zur Ausbreitung von LPAIV und HPAIV in Geweben experimentell infizierter Hühner und embryonierten Hühnereiern. Dazu wurden Ko-Infektionen unter Verwendung des beschriebenen natürlichen LP/HP H7N7 Viruspaares durchgeführt. Hierdurch sollte die Entstehung von HP

155

Mutanten in mit LP Virus infizierten Tieren simuliert werden. Hühner bzw. embryonierte Hühnereier wurden mit einer konstanten LPAIV-Inokulumdosis und steigenden HPAIV Titern ko-infiziert. U.a. mittels pathotyp-spezifischer RT-qPCRs konnte gezeigt werden, dass die LP-Ko-Infektion einen signifikant hemmenden Einfluss auf die HP H7-Replikation, die virale Ausscheidungskinetik sowie die Virusübertragung auf nicht infizierte Kontakttiere zur Folge hatte. Klinische, immunhistologische und serologische Daten bestätigten diese Beobachtungen. Es konnte gezeigt werden, dass HP-Varianten, die *de novo* in einem bereits mit dem antigenetisch identischen LP-Vorläufer infizierten Tier entstehen, Hindernisse in Bezug auf direkt virale Interferenz, angeborene und adaptive Immunität überwinden müssen, um auf andere Hühner überzutragen zu werden.

Die hier erarbeiteten Methoden stellen eine wichtige Optimierung der Diagnostik von Al Infektionen dar. Darüber hinaus konnten die neuen Techniken als Forschungs-Werkzeuge hin zu einem tieferen Verständnis grundlegender Prozesse in der *de novo* Entstehung von HPAIV aus LPAIV Vorläufern beitragen. Die beschriebenen diagnostischen Tests weisen dennoch Limitationen auf und sind hauptsächlich für den Einsatz in Screening-Programmen, insbesondere in Regionen mit längerfristig ablaufenden Al-Infektionswellen, vorgesehen. Wenn es um die Ersterkennung und -charakterisierung neuer AIV-Ausbrüche geht, müssen die neu entwickelten Tests ggf. anhand der spezifischen Spaltstellensequenz adaptiert werden.

## CHAPTER VIII: REFERENCES

### **VIII. REFERENCES**

- Abbas, M.A., Spackman, E., Swayne, D.E., Ahmed, Z., Sarmento, L., Siddique, N., Naeem, K., Hameed, A., Rehmani, S., 2010. Sequence and phylogenetic analysis of H7N3 avian influenza viruses isolated from poultry in Pakistan 1995-2004. Virology Journal 7, 137.
- Abdelwhab, E.M., Veits, J., Mettenleiter, T.C., 2013. Genetic changes that accompanied shifts of low pathogenic avian influenza viruses toward higher pathogenicity in poultry. Virulence 4, 441-452.
- Abdelwhab, E.M., Veits, J., Mettenleiter, T.C., 2014a. Prevalence and control of H7 avian influenza viruses in birds and humans. Epidemiology and Infection 142, 896-920.
- Abdelwhab, E.M., Veits, J., Mettenleiter, T.C., 2014b. Prevalence and control of H7 avian influenza viruses in birds and humans -ERRATUM. Epidemiology and Infection 142, 921-921.
- Abdelwhab, E.M., Veits, J., Tauscher, K., Ziller, M., Teifke, J.P., Stech, J., Mettenleiter, T.C.,
   2016a. A Unique Multibasic Proteolytic Cleavage Site and Three Mutations in the HA2
   Domain Confer High Virulence of H7N1 Avian Influenza Virus in Chickens. Journal of
   Virology 90, 400-411.
- Abdelwhab, E.M., Veits, J., Ulrich, R., Kasbohm, E., Teifke, J.P., Mettenleiter, T.C., 2016b. Composition of the Hemagglutinin Polybasic Proteolytic Cleavage Motif Mediates Variable Virulence of H7N7 Avian Influenza Viruses. Scientific Reports 6, 39505.
- Abolnik, C., Londt, B.Z., Manvell, R.J., Shell, W., Banks, J., Gerdes, G.H., Akol, G., Brown, I.H., 2009. Characterisation of a highly pathogenic influenza A virus of subtype H5N2 isolated from ostriches in South Africa in 2004. Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses 3, 63-68.
- Adlhoch, C., Gossner, C., Koch, G., Brown, I., Bouwstra, R., Verdonck, F., Penttinen, P., Harder, T., 2014. Comparing introduction to Europe of highly pathogenic avian influenza viruses A(H5N8) in 2014 and A(H5N1) in 2005. Eurosurveillance 19, 2-6.
- Alexander, D.J., 2000. A review of avian influenza in different bird species. Vet Microbiol 74, 3-13.
- Alexander, D.J., 2007. An overview of the epidemiology of avian influenza. Vaccine 25, 5637-5644.
- Alexander, D.J., Brown, I.H., 2009. History of highly pathogenic avian influenza. Revue Scientifique Et Technique-Office International Des Epizooties 28, 19-38.
- Amorij, J.P., Huckriede, A., Wischut, J., Frijlink, H.W., Hinrichs, W.L.J., 2008. Development of stable influenza vaccine powder formulations: Challenges and possibilities. Pharmaceutical Research 25, 1256-1273.
- Anonymous, 2005. Community measures for the control of avian influenza. In: E. Commission (ed), COUNCIL DIRECTIVE 2005/94/EC. Official Journal of the European Union. Available from: http://extwprlegs1.fao.org/docs/pdf/eur61410.pdf. [Accessed July 2018].
- Anonymous, 2007. Avian influenza A/(H7N2) outbreak in the United Kingdom. Euro Surveillance 12, E070531.070532.
- Anonymous 2015. Avian Influenza. Iowa State University, Institute for International Cooperation in Animal Biologies. Available from:
  - http://www.cfsph.iastate.edu/Factsheets/pdfs/highly\_pathogenic\_avian\_influenza-citations.pdf. [Accessed August 2018].

- Area, E., Martin-Benito, J., Gastaminza, P., Torreira, E., Valpuesta, J.M., Carrascosa, J.L., Ortin, J., 2004. 3D structure of the influenza virus polymerase complex: Localization of subunit domains. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 101, 308-313.
- Assaad, F.A., Bres, P., Chi-Ming, C., Dowdle, W.R., 1980. A revision of the system of nomenclature for influenza viruses: a WHO memorandum. Bull World Health Organ 58(4), 585-591.
- Baigent, S.J., McCauley, J.W., 2003. Influenza type A in humans, mammals and birds: determinants of virus virulence, host-range and interspecies transmission. Bioessays 25, 657-671.
- Banks, J., Plowright, L., 2003. Additional glycosylation at the receptor binding site of the hemagglutinin (HA) for H5 and H7 viruses may be an adaptation to poultry hosts, but does it influence pathogenicity? Avian Diseases 47, 942-950.
- Banks, J., Speidel, E.S., Moore, E., Plowright, L., Piccirillo, A., Capua, I., Cordioli, P., Fioretti, A., Alexander, D.J., 2001. Changes in the haemagglutinin and the neuraminidase genes prior to the emergence of highly pathogenic H7N1 avian influenza viruses in Italy. Arch Virol 146, 963-973.
- Bashiruddin, J.B., Gould, A.R., Westbury, H.A., 1992. Molecular Pathotyping of 2 Avian Influenza-Viruses Isolated during the Victoria 1976 Outbreak. Australian Veterinary Journal 69, 140-142.
- Baum, L.G., Paulson, J.C., 1990. Sialyloligosaccharides of the Respiratory Epithelium in the Selection of Human Influenza-Virus Receptor Specificity. Acta Histochemica 40, 35-38.
- Bean, W.J., Kawaoka, Y., Wood, J.M., Pearson, J.E., Webster, R.G., 1985. Characterization of Virulent and Avirulent a-Chicken-Pennsylvania-83 Influenza-a Viruses - Potential Role of Defective Interfering Rnas in Nature. Journal of Virology 54, 151-160.
- Belser, J.A., Bridges, C.B., Katz, J.M., Tumpey, T.M., 2009. Past, Present, and Possible Future Human Infection with Influenza Virus A Subtype H7. Emerg Infect Dis 15, 859-865.
- Belser, J.A., Lu, X., Maines, T.R., Smith, C., Li, Y., Donis, R.O., Katz, J.M., Tumpey, T.M., 2007. Pathogenesis of avian influenza (H7) virus infection in mice and ferrets: Enhanced virulence of Eurasian H7N7 viruses isolated from humans. Journal of Virology 81, 11139-11147.
- Berhane, Y., Hisanaga, T., Kehler, H., Neufeld, J., Manning, L., Argue, C., Handel, K., Hooper-McGrevy, K., Jonas, M., Robinson, J., Webster, R.G., Pasick, J., 2009. Highly
   Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus A (H7N3) in Domestic Poultry, Saskatchewan, Canada, 2007. Emerg Infect Dis 15, 1492-1495.
- Bertran, K., Perez-Ramirez, E., Busquets, N., Dolz, R., Ramis, A., Darji, A., Abad, F.X., Valle, R., Chaves, A., Vergara-Alert, J., Barral, M., Hofle, U., Majo, N., 2011. Pathogenesis and transmissibility of highly (H7N1) and low (H7N9) pathogenic avian influenza virus infection in red-legged partridge (Alectoris rufa). Veterinary Research 42, 24.
- Blohm, U., Weigend, S., Preisinger, R., Beer, M., Hoffmann, D., 2016. Immunological Competence of Different Domestic Chicken Breeds Against Avian Influenza Infection. Avian Diseases 60, 262-268.
- Bogs, J., Veits, J., Gohrbandt, S., Hundt, J., Stech, O., Breithaupt, A., Teifke, J.P., Mettenleiter, T.C., Stech, J., 2010. Highly Pathogenic H5N1 Influenza Viruses Carry Virulence Determinants beyond the Polybasic Hemagglutinin Cleavage Site. PLoS One 5, e11826.

- Bonfanti, L., Monne, I., Tamba, M., Santucci, U., Massi, P., Patregnani, T., Piccolomini, L.L., Natalini, S., Ferri, G., Cattoli, G., Marangon, S., 2014. Highly pathogenic H7N7 avian influenza in Italy. Veterinary Record 174, 382.
- Boni, M.F., 2008. Vaccination and antigenic drift in influenza. Vaccine 26, C8-C14.
- Bottcher-Friebertshauser, E., Garten, W., Matrosovich, M., Klenk, H.D., 2014. The Hemagglutinin: A Determinant of Pathogenicity. Influenza Pathogenesis and Control -Vol I 385, 3-34.
- Boulo, S., Akarsu, H., Ruigrok, R.W.H., Baudin, F., 2007. Nuclear traffic of influenza virus proteins and ribonucleoprotein complexes. Virus Research 124, 12-21.
- Bouvier, N.M., Palese, P., 2008. The biology of influenza viruses. Vaccine 26, D49-D53.
- Brown, E.G., 2000. Influenza virus genetics. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy 54, 196-209.
- Brown, J., Poulson, R., Carter, D., Lebarbenchon, C., Pantin-Jackwood, M., Spackman, E., Shepherd, E., Killian, M., Stallknecht, D., 2012. Susceptibility of Avian Species to North American H13 Low Pathogenic Avian Influenza Viruses. Avian Diseases 56, 969-975.
- Brugh, M., 1988. Highly Pathogenic Virus Recovered from Chickens Infected with Mildly Pathogenic 1986 Isolates of H5n2 Avian Influenza-Virus. Avian Diseases 32, 695-703.
- Bui, C., Bethmont, A., Chughtai, A.A., Gardner, L., Sarkar, S., Hassan, S., Seale, H., MacIntyre, C.R., 2016. A Systematic Review of the Comparative Epidemiology of Avian and Human Influenza A H5N1 and H7N9-Lessons and Unanswered Questions. Transbound Emerg Dis 63, 602-620.
- Busquets, N., Abad, F.X., Alba, A., Dolz, R., Allepuz, A., Rivas, R., Ramis, A., Darji, A., Majo, N., 2010. Persistence of highly pathogenic avian influenza virus (H7N1) in infected chickens: feather as a suitable sample for diagnosis. Journal of General Virology 91, 2307-2313.
- Byrd-Leotis, L., Cummings, R.D., Steinhauer, D.A., 2017. The Interplay between the Host Receptor and Influenza Virus Hemagglutinin and Neuraminidase. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 18, 1541.
- Cappucci, D.T., Johnson, D.C., Brugh, M., Smith, T.M., Jackson, C.F., Pearson, J.E., Senne, D.A., 1985. Isolation of Avian Influenza-Virus (Subtype-H5n2) from Chicken Eggs during a Natural Outbreak. Avian Diseases 29, 1195-1200.
- Capua, I., Alexander, D.J., 2007. Avian influenza infections in birds a moving target. Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses 1, 11-18.
- Capua, I., Alexander, D.J., 2013a. Control of influenza in animals. Textbook of Influenza. Webster, R. G., Monto, A. S., Braciale, T. J. & Lamb, R. A. (eds.), 337-351.
- Capua, I., Marangon, S., 2000a. The avian influenza epidemic in Italy, 1999-2000: a review. Avian Pathology 29, 289-294.
- Capua, I., Munoz, O., 2013b. Emergence of influenza viruses with zoonotic potential: open issues which need to be addressed. A review. Vet Microbiol 165, 7-12.
- Capua, I., Mutinelli, F., 2001. Mortality in Muscovy ducks (Cairina moschata) and domestic geese (Anser anser var. domestica) associated with natural infection with a highly pathogenic avian influenza virus of H7N1 subtype. Avian Pathology 30, 179-183.
- Capua, I., Mutinelli, F., Marangon, S., Alexander, D.J., 2000b. H7N1 avian influenza in Italy (1999 to 2000) in intensively reared chickens and turkeys. Avian Pathology 29, 537-543.

- Capua, I., Mutinelli, F., Pozza, M.D., Donatelli, I., Puzelli, S., Cancellotti, F.M., 2002. The 1999-2000 avian influenza (H7N1) epidemic in Italy: veterinary and human health implications. Acta Trop 83, 7-11.
- Carrat, F., Flahault, A., 2007. Influenza vaccine: The challenge of antigenic drift. Vaccine 25, 6852-6862.
- Causey, D., Edwards, S.V., 2008. Ecology of avian influenza virus in birds. Journal of Infectious Diseases 197, S29-S33.
- Chatziprodromidou, I.P., Arvanitidou, M., Guitian, J., Apostolou, T., Vantarakis, G.,
   Vantarakis, A., 2018. Global avian influenza outbreaks 2010–2016: a systematic review of their distribution, avian species and virus subtype. Systematic Reviews 7, 17.
- Chen, B.J., Leser, G.P., Jackson, D., Lamb, R.A., 2008. The Influenza Virus M2 Protein Cytoplasmic Tail Interacts with the M1 Protein and Influences Virus Assembly at the Site of Virus Budding. Journal of Virology 82, 10059-10070.
- Chen, H., Smith, G., Zhang, S., Qin, K., Wang, J., Li, K., Webster, R., Peiris, J., Guan, Y., 2005. Avian flu H5N1 virus outbreak in migratory waterfowl. Nature 436, 191-192.
- Chen, H.Y., Yuan, H., Gao, R.B., Zhang, J.X., Wang, D.Y., Xiong, Y., Fan, G.Y., Yang, F., Li, X.D.,
  Zhou, J.F., Zou, S.M., Yang, L., Chen, T., Dong, L.B., Bo, H., Zhao, X., Zhang, Y., Lan, Y.,
  Bai, T., Dong, J., Li, Q., Wang, S.W., Zhang, Y.P., Li, H., Gong, T., Shi, Y., Ni, X.S., Li, J.X.,
  Zhou, J., Fan, J.Y., Wu, J.W., Zhou, X.F., Hu, M.H., Wan, J.G., Yang, W.Z., Li, D.X., Wu,
  G.Z., Feng, Z.J., Gao, G.F., Wang, Y., Jin, Q., Liu, M.B., Shu, Y.L., 2014. Clinical and
  epidemiological characteristics of a fatal case of avian influenza A H10N8 virus
  infection: a descriptive study. Lancet 383, 714-721.
- Chen, J., Lee, K.H., Steinhauer, D.A., Stevens, D.J., Skehel, J.J., Wiley, D.C., 1998. Structure of the hemagglutinin precursor cleavage site, a determinant of influenza pathogenicity and the origin of the labile conformation. Cell 95, 409-417.
- Chen, R.B., Holmes, E.C., 2006. Avian influenza virus exhibits rapid evolutionary dynamics. Molecular Biology and Evolution 23, 2336-2341.
- Chen, W.S., Calvo, P.A., Malide, D., Gibbs, J., Schubert, U., Bacik, I., Basta, S., O'Neill, R., Schickli, J., Palese, P., Henklein, P., Bennink, J.R., Yewdell, J.W., 2001. A novel influenza A virus mitochondrial protein that induces cell death. Nature Medicine 7, 1306-1312.
- Cheung, T.K., Poon, L.L., 2007. Biology of influenza a virus. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1102, 1-25.
- Ciminski, K., Thamamongood, T., Zimmer, G., Schwemmle, M., 2017. Novel insights into bat influenza A viruses. Journal of General Virology 98, 2393-2400.
- Cohen, M., Zhang, X.Q., Senaati, H.P., Chen, H.W., Varki, N.M., Schooley, R.T., Gagneux, P., 2013. Influenza A penetrates host mucus by cleaving sialic acids with neuraminidase. Virology Journal 10, 321.
- Connor, R.J., Kawaoka, Y., Webster, R.G., Paulson, J.C., 1994. Receptor Specificity in Human, Avian, and Equine H2 and H3 Influenza-Virus Isolates. Virology 205, 17-23.
- Crescenzo-Chaigne, B., Barbezange, C., van der Werf, S., 2013. The Panhandle Formed by Influenza A and C Virus NS Non-Coding Regions Determines NS Segment Expression. PLoS One 8, e81550.
- de Wit, E., Munster, V.J., van Riel, D., Beyer, W.E., Rimmelzwaan, G.F., Kuiken, T., Osterhaus, A.D., Fouchier, R.A., 2010a. Molecular determinants of adaptation of highly pathogenic avian influenza H7N7 viruses to efficient replication in the human host. J Virol 84, 1597-1606.

- de Wit, E., Munster, V.J., van Riel, D., Beyer, W.E.P., Rimmelzwaan, G.F., Kuiken, T., Osterhaus, A.D.M.E., Fouchier, R.A.M., 2010b. Molecular Determinants of Adaptation of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza H7N7 Viruses to Efficient Replication in the Human Host. Journal of Virology 84, 1597-1606.
- Defra, 2008. Highly pathogenic avian influenza H7N7 in egg laying poultry in Oxfordshire. Epidemiology Report, situation at 2 July 2008. Nobel House, Smith Square, London, SW1P 3JR, UK. Version 1, Released July 2008. Available from: http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130402151656/http:/archive.defra.gov .uk/foodfarm/farmanimal/diseases/atoz/ai/documents/epireport-080711.pdf [Accessed July 2018].
- Defra, 2015. Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza H7N7 (AIV2015/02; formerly AIV SOS2015/0001). In Table-egg Laying Hens, Preston, July 2015. Situation at 11:00 on Friday 28 August 2015. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/46
- 9948/ai-epi-report-july-2015.pdf [Accessed June 2018]. Deshpande, K.L., Fried, V.A., Ando, M., Webster, R.G., 1987. Glycosylation Affects Cleavage of an H5n2 Influenza-Virus Hemagglutinin and Regulates Virulence. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 84, 36-40.
- Dhingra, M.S., Artois, J., Dellicour, S., Lemey, P., Dauphin, G., Von Dobschuetz, S., Van Boeckel, T.P., Castellan, D.M., Morzaria, S., Gilbert, M., 2018. Geographical and Historical Patterns in the Emergences of Novel Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (HPAI) H5 and H7 Viruses in Poultry. Frontiers in Veterinary Science 5, 84.
- Dias, A., Bouvier, D., Crepin, T., McCarthy, A.A., Hart, D.J., Baudin, F., Cusack, S., Ruigrok, R.W.H., 2009. The cap-snatching endonuclease of influenza virus polymerase resides in the PA subunit. Nature 458, 914-918.
- Diederich, S., Berhane, Y., Embury-Hyatt, C., Hisanaga, T., Handel, K., Cottam-Birt, C.,
   Ranadheera, C., Kobasa, D., Pasick, J., 2015. Hemagglutinin-Neuraminidase Balance
   Influences the Virulence Phenotype of a Recombinant H5N3 Influenza A Virus
   Possessing a Polybasic HA(0) Cleavage Site. Journal of Virology 89, 10724-10734.
- Dietze, K., Graaf, A., Homeier-Bachmann, T., Grund, C., Forth, L., Pohlmann, A., Jeske, C., Wintermann, M., Beer, M., Conraths, F.J., Harder, T., 2018. From low to high pathogenicity—Characterization of H7N7 avian influenza viruses in two epidemiologically linked outbreaks. Transbound Emerg Dis. 00, 1–12.
- Domingo, E., 2010. Mechanisms of viral emergence. Veterinary Research 41, 38.
- ECDC, 2016. Outbreak of highly pathogenic avian influenza A(H5N8) in Europe. Available from:

https://ecdc.europa.eu/sites/portal/files/media/en/publications/Publications/riskassessment-avian-influenza-H5N8-europe.pdf . [Accessed July 2018].

EFSA, Panel, A.H.a.W., More, S., Bicout, D., Bøtner, A., Butterworth, A., Calistri, P., Depner, K., Edwards, S., Garin-Bastuji, B., Good, M., Gortazar Schmidt, C., Michel, V., Miranda, M.A., Nielsen, S.S., Raj, M., Sihvonen, L., Spoolder, H., Thulke, H.-H., Velarde, A., Willeberg, P., Winckler, C., Breed, A.C., Brouwer, A., Guillemain, M., Harder, T., Monne, I., Roberts, H., Baldinelli, F., Barrucci, F., Fabris, C., Martino, L., Mosbach-Schulz, O., Verdonck, F., Morgado, J., Stegeman, J., 2017. Avian Influenza. EFSA Journal 15, 499. Available from: https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2017.4991. [Access date 14 December 2017]

- Eisfeld, A.J., Neumann, G., Kawaoka, Y., 2015. At the centre: influenza A virus ribonucleoproteins. Nature Reviews Microbiology 13, 28-41.
- Elbers, A.R.W., Fabri, T.H.F., de Vries, T.S., de Wit, J.J., Pijpers, A., Koch, G., 2004. The highly pathogenic avian influenza A (H7N7) virus epidemic in the Netherlands in 2003 -Lessons learned from the first five outbreaks. Avian Diseases 48, 691-705.
- Elbers, A.R.W., Koch, G., Bourna, A., 2005. Performance of clinical signs in poultry for the detection of outbreaks during the avian influenza A (H7N7) epidemic in The Netherlands in 2003. Avian Pathology 34, 181-187.
- Fáncsi, T., Fehér, Gy., 1978. Ultrastructural Studies of Chicken Embryos Chorioallantoic Membrane during Incubation. Zbl. Vet. Med. C. Anat. Histol. Embryol. 8, 151-159
- FAO, 2012. Highly pathogenic avian influenza in Mexico (H7N3) A significant threat to poultry production not to be underestimated. EMPRES WATCH, Vol. 26, August 2012, Rome. Available from: http://www.fao.org/3/a-an395e.pdf [Accessed July 2018].
- FAO 2018. H7N9 situation update. Available from: http://www.fao.org/ag/againfo/programmes/en/empres/H7N9/Situation\_update.ht ml. [Accessed June 2018].
- Feldmann, A., Schafer, M.K.H., Garten, W., Klenk, H.D., 2000. Targeted infection of endothelial cells by avian influenza virus A/FPV/Rostock/34 (H7N1) in chicken embryos. Journal of Virology 74, 8018-8027.
- Fereidouni, S.R., Harder, T.C., Gaidet, N., Ziller, M., Hoffmann, B., Hammoumi, S., Globig, A., Starick, E., 2012. Saving resources: Avian influenza surveillance using pooled swab samples and reduced reaction volumes in real-time RT-PCR. Journal of Virological Methods 186, 119-125.
- Flutrackers, 2017. Global Cumulative H9N2 Partial Case List 1998-2017. Available from: https://flutrackers.com/forum/forum/flutrackers-high-pathogenic-h5n1-h1n08h5n8-h5n6- h5n3-tracking-outbreaks-spread/745429-flutrackers-global-cumulativeh9n2-partial-case-list- 1998-2017. [Accessed June 2018].
- Fodor, E., Crow, M., Mingay, L.J., Deng, T., Sharps, J., Fechter, P., Brownlee, G.G., 2002. A single amino acid mutation in the PA subunit of the influenza virus RNA polymerase inhibits endonucleolytic cleavage of capped RNAs. Journal of Virology 76, 8989-9001.
- Fodor, E., Pritlove, D.C., Brownlee, G.G., 1994. The Influenza-Virus Panhandle Is Involved in the Initiation of Transcription. Journal of Virology 68, 4092-4096.
- Fouchier, R.A.M., Schneeberger, P.M., Rozendaal, F.W., Broekman, J.M., Kemink, S.A.G., Munstert, V., Kuiken, T., Rimmelzwaan, G.F., Schutten, M., van Doornum, G.J.J., Koch, G., Bosman, A., Koopmans, M., Osterhaus, A.D.M.E., 2004. Avian influenza A virus (H7N7) associated with human conjunctivitis and a fatal case of acute respiratory distress syndrome. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 101, 1356-1361.
- Fourment, M., Holmes, E.C., 2015. Avian influenza virus exhibits distinct evolutionary dynamics in wild birds and poultry. Bmc Evolutionary Biology 15, 120.
- Franca, M.S., Brown, J.D., 2014. Influenza Pathobiology and Pathogenesis in Avian Species. Influenza Pathogenesis and Control - Vol I 385, 221-242.
- Freidl, G.S., Meijer, A., de Bruin, E., de Nardi, M., Munoz, O., Capua, I., Breed, A.C., Harris, K.,
  Hill, A., Kosmider, R., Banks, J., von Dobschuetz, S., Stark, K., Wieland, B., Stevens, K.,
  van der Werf, S., Enouf, V., van der Meulen, K., van Reeth, K., Dauphin, G.,
  Koopmans, M., Consortium, F., 2014. Influenza at the animal-human interface: a

review of the literature for virological evidence of human infection with swine or avian influenza viruses other than A(H5N1). Eurosurveillance 19, 8-26.

- Fusaro, A., Monne, I., Salviato, A., Valastro, V., Schivo, A., Amarin, N.M., Gonzalez, C., Ismail, M.M., Al-Ankari, A.R., Al-Blowi, M.H., Khan, O.A., Ali, A.S.M., Hedayati, A., Garcia, J.G., Ziay, G.M., Shoushtari, A., Al Qahtani, K.N., Capua, I., Holmes, E.C., Cattoli, G., 2011. Phylogeography and Evolutionary History of Reassortant H9N2 Viruses with Potential Human Health Implications. Journal of Virology 85, 8413-8421.
- Gall, A., Hoffmann, B., Harder, T., Grund, C., Ehricht, R., Beer, M., 2009. Rapid haemagglutinin subtyping and pathotyping of avian influenza viruses by a DNA microarray. Journal of Virological Methods 160, 200-205.
- Gambaryan, A.S., Matrosovich, T.Y., Philipp, J., Munster, V.J., Fouchier, R.A.M., Cattoli, G., Capua, I., Krauss, S.L., Webster, R.G., Banks, J., Bovin, N.V., Klenk, H.D., Matrosovich, M.N., 2012. Receptor-Binding Profiles of H7 Subtype Influenza Viruses in Different Host Species. Journal of Virology 86, 4370-4379.
- Gambaryan, A.S., Tuzikov, A.B., Bovin, N.V., Yamnikova, S.S., Lvov, D.K., Webster, R.G., Matrosovich, A.N., 2003. Differences between influenza virus receptors on target cells of duck and chicken and receptor specificity of the 1997 H5N1 chicken and human influenza viruses from Hong Kong. Avian Diseases 47, 1154-1160.
- Gamblin, S.J., Skehel, J.J., 2010. Influenza Hemagglutinin and Neuraminidase Membrane Glycoproteins. Journal of Biological Chemistry 285, 28403-28409.
- Gao, R.B., Cao, B., Hu, Y.W., Feng, Z.J., Wang, D.Y., Hu, W.F., Chen, J., Jie, Z.J., Qiu, H.B., Xu, K., Xu, X.W., Lu, H.Z., Zhu, W.F., Gao, Z.C., Xiang, N.J., Shen, Y.Z., He, Z.B., Gu, Y., Zhang, Z.Y., Yang, Y., Zhao, X., Zhou, L., Li, X.D., Zou, S.M., Zhang, Y., Li, X.Y., Yang, L., Guo, J.F., Dong, J., Li, Q., Dong, L.B., Zhu, Y., Bai, T., Wang, S.W., Hao, P., Yang, W.Z., Zhang, Y.P., Han, J., Yu, H.J., Li, D.X., Gao, G.F., Wu, G.Z., Wang, Y., Yuan, Z.H., Shu, Y.L., 2013. Human Infection with a Novel Avian-Origin Influenza A (H7N9) Virus. New England Journal of Medicine 368, 1888-1897.
- Garcia-Sastre, A., 2001. Inhibition of interferon-mediated antiviral responses by influenza A viruses and other negative-strand RNA viruses. Virology 279, 375-384.
- Garcia, M., Crawford, J.M., Latimer, J.W., RiveraCruz, E., Perdue, M.L., 1996. Heterogeneity in the haemagglutinin gene and emergence of the highly pathogenic phenotype among recent H5N2 avian influenza viruses from Mexico. Journal of General Virology 77, 1493-1504.
- Garten, R.J., Davis, C.T., Russell, C.A., Shu, B., Lindstrom, S., Balish, A., Sessions, W.M., Xu, X.Y., Skepner, E., Deyde, V., Okomo-Adhiambo, M., Gubareva, L., Barnes, J., Smith, C.B., Emery, S.L., Hillman, M.J., Rivailler, P., Smagala, J., de Graaf, M., Burke, D.F., Fouchier, R.A.M., Pappas, C., Alpuche-Aranda, C.M., Lopez-Gatell, H., Olivera, H., Lopez, I., Myers, C.A., Faix, D., Blair, P.J., Yu, C., Keene, K.M., Dotson, P.D., Boxrud, D., Sambol, A.R., Abid, S.H., George, K.S., Bannerman, T., Moore, A.L., Stringer, D.J., Blevins, P., Demmler-Harrison, G.J., Ginsberg, M., Kriner, P., Waterman, S., Smole, S., Guevara, H.F., Belongia, E.A., Clark, P.A., Beatrice, S.T., Donis, R., Katz, J., Finelli, L., Bridges, C.B., Shaw, M., Jernigan, D.B., Uyeki, T.M., Smith, D.J., Klimov, A.I., Cox, N.J., 2009. Antigenic and Genetic Characteristics of Swine-Origin 2009 A(H1N1) Influenza Viruses Circulating in Humans. Science 325, 197-201.
- Garten, W., Klenk, H.-D., 2008a. Avian Influenza. Cleavage activation of the influenza virus hemagglutinin and its role in pathogenesis. Monogr Virol. 27, 156–167.

- Garten, W., Klenk, H.D., 2008b. Cleavage Activation of the Influenza Virus Hemagglutinin and Its Role in Pathogenesis. Klenk H-D, Matrosovich MN, Stech J (eds): Avian Influenza 27, 156–167.
- Globig, A., Starick, E., Homeier, T., Pohlmann, A., Grund, C., Wolf, P., Zimmermann, A., Wolf, C., Heim, D., Schlosser, H., Zander, S., Beer, M., Conraths, F.J., Harder, T.C., 2017.
  Epidemiological and Molecular Analysis of an Outbreak of Highly Pathogenic Avian
  Influenza H5N8 clade 2.3.4.4 in a German Zoo: Effective Disease Control with Minimal
  Culling. Transbound Emerg Dis 64, 1813-1824.
- Gohrbandt, S., Veits, J., Hundt, J., Bogs, J., Breithaupt, A., Teifke, J.P., Weber, S., Mettenleiter, T.C., Stech, J., 2011. Amino acids adjacent to the haemagglutinin cleavage site are relevant for virulence of avian influenza viruses of subtype H5. Journal of General Virology 92, 51-59.
- Gomez-Puertas, P., Albo, C., Perez-Pastrana, E., Vivo, A., Portela, A., 2000. Influenza virus matrix protein is the major driving force in virus budding. Journal of Virology 74, 11538-11547.
- Gorman, O.T., Bean, W.J., Kawaoka, Y., Webster, R.G., 1990. Evolution of the nucleoprotein gene of influenza A virus. J Virol 64, 1487-1497.
- Graaf, A., Beer, M., Harder, T., 2017. Real-time reverse transcription PCR-based sequencingindependent pathotyping of Eurasian avian influenza A viruses of subtype H7. Virology Journal 14, 137.
- Grund, C., Hoffmann, D., Ulrich, R., Naguib, M., Schinkothe, J., Hoffmann, B., Harder, T.,
   Saenger, S., Zscheppang, K., Tonnies, M., Hippenstiel, S., Hocke, A., Wolff, T., Beer,
   M., 2018. A novel European H5N8 influenza A virus has increased virulence in ducks
   but low zoonotic potential. Emerging Microbes & Infections 7, 132.
- Guan, Y., Smith, G.J.D., Webby, R., Webster, R.G., 2009. Molecular epidemiology of H5N1 avian influenza. Revue Scientifique Et Technique-Office International Des Epizooties 28, 39-47.
- Guinat, C., Nicolas, G., Vergne, T., Bronner, A., Durand, B., Courcoul, A., Gilbert, M., Guerin, J.L., Paul, M.C., 2018. Spatio-temporal patterns of highly pathogenic avian influenza virus subtype H5N8 spread, France, 2016 to 2017. Eurosurveillance 23, 2-11.
- Guo, Z., Chen, L.M., Zeng, H., Gomez, J.A., Plowden, J., Fujita, T., Katz, J.M., Donis, R.O., Sambhara, S., 2007. NS1 protein of influenza A virus inhibits the function of intracytoplasmic pathogen sensor, RIG-I. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology 36, 263-269.
- Hagag, I.T., Mansour, S.M.G., Zhang, Z.R., Ali, A.A.H., Ismaiel, E.B.M., Salama, A.A., Cardona, C.J., Collins, J., Xing, Z., 2015. Pathogenicity of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza
   Virus H5N1 in Naturally Infected Poultry in Egypt. PLoS One 10, e0120061.
- Halvorson, D.A. 2008. Control of low pathogenicity avian influenza. In Avian influenza (Blackwell Publishing, Swayne , D.E.), 513-536.
- Harder, T.C., Buda, S., Hengel, H., Beer, M., Mettenleiter, T.C., 2016. Poultry food products-a source of avian influenza virus transmission to humans. Clinical Microbiology and Infection 22, 141-146.
- Hassan, K.E., Ali, A., Shany, S.A.S., El-Kady, M.F., 2017. Experimental co-infection of infectious bronchitis and low pathogenic avian influenza H9N2 viruses in commercial broiler chickens. Research in Veterinary Science 115, 356-362.
- Hatada, E., Fukuda, R., 1992. Binding of Influenza-a Virus Ns1 Protein to Dsrna Invitro. Journal of General Virology 73, 3325-3329.

- Hause, B.M., Collin, E.A., Liu, R.X., Huang, B., Sheng, Z.Z., Lu, W.X., Wang, D., Nelson, E.A., Li,
   F., 2014a. Characterization of a Novel Influenza Virus in Cattle and Swine: Proposal for a New Genus in the Orthomyxoviridae Family. MBio 5, e00031-00014.
- Hause, B.M., Collin, E.A., Liu, R.X., Huang, B., Sheng, Z.Z., Lu, W.X., Wang, D., Nelson, E.A., Li,
   F., 2014b. Characterization of a Novel Influenza Virus in Cattle and Swine: Proposal for a New Genus in the Orthomyxoviridae Family. MBio 5, e00031-14.
- Hayashi, T., MacDonald, L.A., Takimoto, T., 2015. Influenza A Virus Protein PA-X Contributes to Viral Growth and Suppression of the Host Antiviral and Immune Responses. Journal of Virology 89, 6442-6452.
- Herfst, S., Imai, M., Kawaoka, Y., Fouchier, R.A.M., 2014. Avian Influenza Virus Transmission to Mammals. Influenza Pathogenesis and Control Vol I 385, 137-155.
- Herfst, S., Schrauwen, E.J.A., Linster, M., Chutinimitkul, S., de Wit, E., Munster, V.J., Sorrell, E.M., Bestebroer, T.M., Burke, D.F., Smith, D.J., Rimmelzwaan, G.F., Osterhaus, A.D.M.E., Fouchier, R.A.M., 2012. Airborne Transmission of Influenza A/H5N1 Virus Between Ferrets. Science 336, 1534-1541.
- Hirst, M., Astell, C.R., Griffith, M., Coughlin, S.M., Moksa, M., Zeng, T., Smailus, D.E., Holt,
  R.A., Jones, S., Marra, M.A., Petric, M., Krajden, M., Lawrence, D., Mak, A., Chow, R.,
  Skowronski, D.M., Tweed, S.A., Goh, S., Brunham, R.C., Robinson, J., Bowes, V.,
  Sojonky, K., Byrne, S.K., Li, Y., Kobasa, D., Booth, T., Paetzel, M., 2004. Novel avian
  influenza H7N3 strain outbreak, British Columbia. Emerg Infect Dis 10, 2192-2195.
- Hoffmann, B., Harder, T., Lange, E., Kalthoff, D., Reimann, I., Grund, C., Oehme, R.,
   Vahlenkamp, T.W., Beer, M., 2010. New real-time reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reactions facilitate detection and differentiation of novel A/H1N1 influenza virus in porcine and human samples. Berliner Und Munchener Tierarztliche Wochenschrift 123, 286-292.
- Hoffmann, B., Hoffmann, D., Henritzi, D., Beer, M., Harder, T.C., 2016. Riems influenza a typing array (RITA): An RT-qPCR-based low density array for subtyping avian and mammalian influenza a viruses. Scientific Reports 6, 27211.
- Hoffmann, E., Stech, J., Guan, Y., Webster, R.G., Perez, D.R., 2001. Universal primer set for the full-length amplification of all influenza A viruses. Arch Virol 146, 2275-2289.
- Holmes, E., 2003. Phylogenetic analysis reveals a low rate of homologous recombination in negative-sense RNA viruses. Journal of General Virology 84, 2691-2703.
- Horimoto, T., Kawaoka, Y., 1994a. Reverse Genetics Provides Direct Evidence for a Correlation of Hemagglutinin Cleavability and Virulence of an Avian Influenza-a Virus. Journal of Virology 68, 3120-3128.
- Horimoto, T., Kawaoka, Y., 1995a. Molecular-Changes in Virulent Mutants Arising from Avirulent Avian Influenza-Viruses during Replication in 14-Day-Old Embryonated Eggs. Virology 206, 755-759.
- Horimoto, T., Kawaoka, Y., 1998. A possible mechanism for selection of virulent avian influenza A viruses in 14-day-old embryonated eggs. Journal of Veterinary Medical Science 60, 273-275.
- Horimoto, T., Kawaoka, Y., 2001. Pandemic threat posed by avian influenza A viruses. Clinical Microbiology Reviews 14, 129-149.
- Horimoto, T., Kawaoka, Y., 2005. Influenza: Lessons from past pandemics, warnings from current incidents. Nature Reviews Microbiology 3, 591-600.

- Horimoto, T., Nakayama, K., Smeekens, S.P., Kawaoka, Y., 1994b. Proprotein-Processing Endoproteases Pc6 and Furin Both Activate Hemagglutinin of Virulent Avian Influenza-Viruses. Journal of Virology 68, 6074-6078.
- Horimoto, T., Rivera, E., Pearson, J., Senne, D., Krauss, S., Kawaoka, Y., Webster, R.G., 1995b.
   Origin and Molecular-Changes Associated with Emergence of a Highly Pathogenic
   H5n2 Influenza-Virus in Mexico. Virology 213, 223-230.
- Howard, W., Hayman, A., Lackenby, A., Whitelel, A., Londt, B., Banks, J., McCauley, J., Barclay, W., 2007. Development of a reverse genetics system enabling the rescue of recombinant avian influenza virus A/Turkey/England/50-92/91 (H5N1). Avian Diseases 51, 393-395.
- ICTV 2017. International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses. Available from: https://talk.ictvonline.org/taxonomy/. [Accessed July 2018].
- Iglesias, I., Martinez, M., Munoz, M.J., de la Torre, A., Sanchez-Vizcaino, J.M., 2010. First case of highly pathogenic avian influenza in poultry in Spain. Transbound Emerg Dis 57, 282-285.
- Imai, M., Herfst, S., Sorrell, E.M., Schrauwen, E.J.A., Linster, M., De Graaf, M., Fouchier, R.A.M., Kawaoka, Y., 2013. Transmission of influenza A/H5N1 viruses in mammals. Virus Research 178, 15-20.
- Imai, M., Watanabe, T., Hatta, M., Das, S.C., Ozawa, M., Shinya, K., Zhong, G.X., Hanson, A., Katsura, H., Watanabe, S., Li, C.J., Kawakami, E., Yamada, S., Kiso, M., Suzuki, Y., Maher, E.A., Neumann, G., Kawaoka, Y., 2012. Experimental adaptation of an influenza H5 HA confers respiratory droplet transmission to a reassortant H5 HA/H1N1 virus in ferrets. Nature 486, 420-428.
- IRD, T.I.R.D. 2018. Influenza Strain Details for A/Germany/767/95(H3N2). Available from: https://www.fludb.org/brc/fluStrainDetails.spg?strainName=A/Germany/767/95(H3 N2)&decorator=influenza. [Accessed July 2018].
- Ito, T., 2000. Interspecies transmission and receptor recognition of influenza A viruses. Microbiology and Immunology 44, 423-430.
- Ito, T., Goto, H., Yamamoto, E., Tanaka, H., Takeuchi, M., Kuwayama, M., Kawaoka, Y.,
   Otsuki, K., 2001. Generation of a highly pathogenic avian influenza A virus from an avirulent field isolate by passaging in chickens. Journal of Virology 75, 4439-4443.
- Ito, T., Suzuki, Y., Mitnaul, L., Vines, A., Kida, H., Kawaoka, Y., 1997. Receptor specificity of influenza A viruses correlates with the agglutination of erythrocytes from different animal species. Virology 227, 493-499.
- Jagger, B.W., Wise, H.M., Kash, J.C., Walters, K.A., Wills, N.M., Xiao, Y.L., Dunfee, R.L., Schwartzman, L.M., Ozinsky, A., Bell, G.L., Dalton, R.M., Lo, A., Efstathiou, S., Atkins, J.F., Firth, A.E., Taubenberger, J.K., Digard, P., 2012. An Overlapping Protein-Coding Region in Influenza A Virus Segment 3 Modulates the Host Response. Science 337, 199-204.
- Johnson, N.P.A.S., Mueller, J., 2002. Updating the accounts: global mortality of the 1918-1920 "Spanish" influenza pandemic. Bulletin of the History of Medicine 76, 105-115.
- Jones, Y.L., Swayne, D.E., 2004. Comparative pathobiology of low and high pathogenicity H7N3 Chilean avian influenza viruses in chickens. Avian Diseases 48, 119-128.
- Jonges, M., Bataille, A., Enserink, R., Meijer, A., Fouchier, R.A.M., Stegeman, A., Koch, G., Koopmans, M., 2011. Comparative Analysis of Avian Influenza Virus Diversity in Poultry and Humans during a Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza A (H7N7) Virus Outbreak. Journal of Virology 85, 10598-10604.
- Jourdain, E., Gunnarsson, G., Wahlgren, J., Latorre-Margalef, N., Brojer, C., Sahlin, S., Svensson, L., Waldenstrom, J., Lundkvist, A., Olsen, B., 2010. Influenza Virus in a Natural Host, the Mallard: Experimental Infection Data. PLoS One 5, e8935.
- Kalthoff, D., Globig, A., Beer, M., 2010. (Highly pathogenic) avian influenza as a zoonotic agent. Vet Microbiol 140, 237-245.
- Kawaoka, Y., Yamnikova, S., Chambers, T.M., Lvov, D.K., Webster, R.G., 1990. Molecular Characterization of a New Hemagglutinin, Subtype-H14, of Influenza-a Virus. Virology 179, 759-767.
- Khatchikian, D., Orlich, M., Rott, R., 1989. Increased Viral Pathogenicity after Insertion of a 28s Ribosomal-Rna Sequence into the Hemagglutinin Gene of an Influenza-Virus. Nature 340, 156-157.
- Kilbourne, E.D., 2006. Influenza pandemics of the 20th century. Emerg Infect Dis 12, 9-14.
- Killian, M.L., Kim-Torchetti, M., Hines, N., Yingst, S., DeLiberto, T., Lee, D.H., 2016. Outbreak of H7N8 Low Pathogenic Avian Influenza in Commercial Turkeys with Spontaneous Mutation to Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza. Genome Announc 4, e00457–00416.
- Kim, S.H., 2018. Challenge for One Health: Co-Circulation of Zoonotic H5N1 and H9N2 Avian Influenza Viruses in Egypt. Viruses-Basel 10, 121.
- Kim, Y.I., Kim, S.W., Si, Y.J., Kwon, H.I., Park, S.J., Kim, E.H., Kim, S.M., Lee, I.W., Song, M.S., Choi, Y.K., 2016. Genetic diversity and pathogenic potential of low pathogenic H7 avian influenza viruses isolated from wild migratory birds in Korea. Infection Genetics and Evolution 45, 268-284.
- Klenk, H.D., Garten, W., Bosch, F.X., Rott, R., 1982. Viral Glycoproteins as Determinants of Pathogenicity. Medical Microbiology and Immunology 170, 145-153.
- Klenk, H.D., Rott, R., Orlich, M., Blodorn, J., 1975. Activation of Influenza-a Viruses by Trypsin Treatment. Virology 68, 426-439.
- Koopmans, M., Wilbrink, B., Conyn, M., Natrop, G., van der Nat, H., Vennema, H., Meijer, A., van Steenbergen, J., Fouchier, R., Osterhaus, A., Bosman, A., 2004. Transmission of H7N7 avian influenza A virus to human beings during a large outbreak in commercial poultry farms in the Netherlands. Lancet 363, 587-593.
- Krug, R.M., 2014. Viral Proteins That Bind Double-Stranded RNA: Countermeasures Against Host Antiviral Responses. Journal of Interferon and Cytokine Research 34, 464-468.
- Kuiken, T., 2013. Is low pathogenic avian influenza virus virulent for wild waterbirds? Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 280, 20130990.
- Lai, S.J., Qin, Y., Cowling, B.J., Ren, X., Wardrop, N.A., Gilbert, M., Tsang, T.K., Wu, P., Feng, L.Z., Jiang, H., Peng, Z.B., Zheng, J.D., Liao, Q.H., Li, S., Horby, P.W., Farrar, J.J., Gao, G.F., Tatem, A.J., Yu, H.J., 2016. Global epidemiology of avian influenza A H5N1 virus infection in humans, 1997-2015: a systematic review of individual case data. Lancet Infectious Diseases 16, E108-E118.
- Lam, T.T.Y., Wang, J., Shen, Y.Y., Zhou, B.P., Duan, L., Cheung, C.L., Ma, C., Lycett, S.J., Leung, C.Y.H., Chen, X.C., Li, L.F., Hong, W.S., Chai, Y.J., Zhou, L.L., Liang, H.Y., Ou, Z.H., Liu, Y.M., Farooqui, A., Kelvin, D.J., Poon, L.L.M., Smith, D.K., Pybus, O.G., Leung, G.M., Shu, Y.L., Webster, R.G., Webby, R.J., Peiris, J.S.M., Rambaut, A., Zhu, H.C., Guan, Y., 2013. The genesis and source of the H7N9 influenza viruses causing human infections in China. Nature 502, 241-244.
- LaRussa, P., 2011. Pandemic novel 2009 H1N1 influenza: what have we learned? Semin Respir Crit Care Med 32, 393-399.

- Latorre-Margalef, N., Tolf, C., Grosbois, V., Avril, A., Bengtsson, D., Wille, M., Osterhaus, A.D.M.E., Fouchier, R.A.M., Olsen, B., Waldenstrom, J., 2014. Long-term variation in influenza A virus prevalence and subtype diversity in migratory mallards in northern Europe. Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 281, 20140098.
- Lee, D.H., Torchetti, M.K., Killian, M.L., Swayne, D.E., 2017. Deep sequencing of H7N8 avian influenza viruses from surveillance zone supports H7N8 high pathogenicity avian influenza was limited to a single outbreak farm in Indiana during 2016. Virology 507, 216-219.
- Lee, H.J., Kwon, J.S., Lee, D.H., Lee, Y.N., Youn, H.N., Lee, Y.J., Kim, M.C., Jeong, O.M., Kang, H.M., Kwon, J.H., Lee, J.B., Park, S.Y., Choi, I.S., Song, C.S., 2010. Continuing Evolution and Interspecies Transmission of Influenza Viruses in Live Bird Markets in Korea. Avian Diseases 54, 738-748.
- Li, Q., Zhou, L., Zhou, M.H., Chen, Z.P., Li, F.R., Wu, H.Y., Xiang, N.J., Chen, E.F., Tang, F.Y., Wang, D.Y., Meng, L., Hong, Z.H., Tu, W.X., Cao, Y., Li, L.L., Ding, F., Liu, B., Wang, M., Xie, R.H., Gao, R.B., Li, X.D., Bai, T., Zou, S.M., He, J., Hu, J.Y., Xu, Y.T., Chai, C.L., Wang, S.W., Gao, Y.J., Jin, L.M., Zhang, Y.P., Luo, H.M., Yu, H.J., He, J.F., Li, Q., Wang, X.J., Gao, L.D., Pang, X.H., Liu, G.H., Yan, Y.S., Yuan, H., Shu, Y.L., Yang, W.Z., Wang, Y., Wu, F., Uyeki, T.M., Feng, Z.J., 2014. Epidemiology of Human Infections with Avian Influenza A(H7N9) Virus in China. New England Journal of Medicine 370, 520-532.
- Li, S.Q., Orlich, M., Rott, R., 1990. Generation of Seal Influenza-Virus Variants Pathogenic for Chickens, Because of Hemagglutinin Cleavage Site Changes. Journal of Virology 64, 3297-3303.
- Liu, M.B., Li, X.D., Yuan, H., Zhou, J.F., Wu, J.W., Bo, H., Xia, W., Xiong, Y., Yang, L., Gao, R.B., Guo, J.F., Huang, W.J., Zhang, Y., Zhao, X., Zou, X.H., Chen, T., Wang, D.Y., Li, Q., Wang, S.W., Chen, S.G., Hu, M.H., Ni, X.S., Gong, T., Shi, Y., Li, J.X., Zhou, J., Cai, J., Xiao, Z.K., Zhang, W., Sun, J., Li, D.X., Wu, G.Z., Feng, Z.J., Wang, Y., Chen, H.Y., Shu, Y.L., 2015. Genetic Diversity of Avian Influenza A (H10N8) Virus in Live Poultry Markets and Its Association with Human Infections in China. Scientific Reports 5, 7632.
- Londt, B., Nunez, A., Banks, J., Nili, H., Johnson, L.K., Alexander, D.J., 2008. Pathogenesis of highly pathogenic avian influenza A/turkey/Turkey/1/2005 H5N1 in Pekin ducks (Anas platyrhynchos) infected experimentally. Avian Pathology 37, 619-627.
- Londt, B.Z., Banks, J., Alexander, D.J., 2007. Highly pathogenic avian influenza viruses with low virulence for chickens in in vivo tests. Avian Pathol 36, 347-350.
- Long, J.S., Howard, W.A., Nunez, A., Moncorge, O., Lycett, S., Banks, J., Barclay, W.S., 2013. The Effect of the PB2 Mutation 627K on Highly Pathogenic H5N1 Avian Influenza Virus Is Dependent on the Virus Lineage. Journal of Virology 87, 9983-9996.
- Luczo, J.M., Tachedjian, M., Harper, J.A., Payne, J.S., Butler, J.M., Sapats, S.I., Lowther, S.L., Michalski, W.P., Stambas, J., Bingham, J., 2018. Evolution of high pathogenicity of H5 avian influenza virus: haemagglutinin cleavage site selection of reverse-genetics mutants during passage in chickens. Scientific Reports 8, 11518.
- Luo, G.X., Chung, J., Palese, P., 1993. Alterations of the Stalk of the Influenza-Virus Neuraminidase - Deletions and Insertions. Virus Research 29, 141-153.
- Lupiani, B., Reddy, S.M., 2009. The history of avian influenza. Comparative Immunology Microbiology and Infectious Diseases 32, 311-323.

- Mair, C.M., Ludwig, K., Herrmann, A., Sieben, C., 2014. Receptor binding and pH stability -How influenza A virus hemagglutinin affects host-specific virus infection. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Biomembranes 1838, 1153-1168.
- Manzoor, R., Igarashi, M., Takada, A., 2017. Influenza A Virus M2 Protein: Roles from Ingress to Egress. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 18, 2649.
- Matrosovich, M., Zhou, N., Kawaoka, Y., Webster, R., 1999. The surface glycoproteins of H5 influenza viruses isolated from humans, chickens, and wild aquatic birds have distinguishable properties. Journal of Virology 73, 1146-1155.
- Matrosovich, M.N., Krauss, S., Webster, R.G., 2001. H9N2 influenza a viruses from poultry in Asia have human virus-like receptor specificity. Virology 281, 156-162.
- Matrosovich, M.N., Matrosovich, T.Y., Gray, T., Roberts, N.A., Klenk, H.D., 2004a. Human and avian influenza viruses target different cell types in cultures of human airway epithelium. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 101, 4620-4624.
- Matrosovich, M.N., Matrosovich, T.Y., Gray, T., Roberts, N.A., Klenk, H.D., 2004b. Neuraminidase is important for the initiation of influenza virus infection in human airway epithelium. Journal of Virology 78, 12665-12667.
- Maurer-Stroh, S., Lee, R.T., Gunalan, V., Eisenhaber, F., 2013. The highly pathogenic H7N3 avian influenza strain from July 2012 in Mexico acquired an extended cleavage site through recombination with host 28S rRNA. Virology Journal 10, 139.
- McAuley, J.L., Hornung, F., Boyd, K.L., Smith, A.M., McKeon, R., Bennink, J., Yewdell, J.W., McCullers, J.A., 2007. Expression of the 1918 influenza A virus PB1-F2 enhances the pathogenesis of viral and secondary bacterial pneumonia. Cell Host & Microbe 2, 240-249.
- McDonald, S.M., Nelson, M.I., Turner, P.E., Patton, J.T., 2016. Reassortment in segmented RNA viruses: mechanisms and outcomes. Nature Reviews Microbiology 14, 448-460.
- Mehle, A., 2014. Unusual Influenza A Viruses in Bats. Viruses-Basel 6, 3438-3449.
- Metreveli, G., Zohari, S., Ejdersund, A., Berg, M., 2010. Phylogenetic Analysis of the Hemagglutinin Gene of Low Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus H7N7 Strains in Mallards in Northern Europe. Avian Diseases 54, 453-456.
- Min, J.Y., Krug, R.M., 2006. The primary function of RNA binding by the influenza A virus NS1 protein in infected cells: Inhibiting the 2 '-5 ' oligo (A) synthetase/RNase L pathway. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103, 7100-7105.
- Monne, I., Fusaro, A., Nelson, M.I., Bonfanti, L., Mulatti, P., Hughes, J., Murcia, P.R., Schivo, A., Valastro, V., Moreno, A., Holmes, E.C., Cattolia, G., 2014. Emergence of a Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus from a Low-Pathogenic Progenitor. Journal of Virology 88, 4375-4388.
- Monne, I., Hussein, H.A., Fusaro, A., Valastro, V., Hamoud, M.M., Khalefa, R.A., Dardir, S.N., Radwan, M.I., Capua, I., Cattoli, G., 2013. H9N2 influenza A virus circulates in H5N1 endemically infected poultry population in Egypt. Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses 7, 240-243.
- Moorthy, N.S.H.N., Poongavanam, V., Pratheepa, V., 2014. Viral M2 Ion Channel Protein: A Promising Target for Anti-influenza Drug Discovery. Mini-Reviews in Medicinal Chemistry 14, 819-830.
- Morens, D.M., Taubenberger, J.K., Folkers, G.K., Fauci, A.S., 2010. Pandemic Influenza's 500th Anniversary. Clinical Infectious Diseases 51, 1442-1444.

Munster, V.J., Baas, C., Lexmond, P., Waldenstrom, J., Wallensten, A., Fransson, T.,
 Rimmelzwaan, G.F., Beyer, W.E.P., Schutten, M., Olsen, B., Osterhaus, A.D.M.E.,
 Fouchier, R.A.M., 2007. Spatial, temporal, and species variation in prevalence of
 influenza A viruses in wild migratory birds. Plos Pathogens 3, 630-638.

- Munster, V.J., Schrauwen, E.J.A., de Wit, E., van den Brand, J.M.A., Bestebroer, T.M., Herfst, S., Rimmelzwaan, G.F., Osterhaus, A.D.M.E., Fouchier, R.A.M., 2010. Insertion of a Multibasic Cleavage Motif into the Hemagglutinin of a Low-Pathogenic Avian Influenza H6N1 Virus Induces a Highly Pathogenic Phenotype. Journal of Virology 84, 7953-7960.
- Naguib, M.M., 2017. Studies on evolutionary dynamics, pathobiology and zoonotic propensities of recent Egyptian H5N1 and H9N2 avian influenza viruses. PhD thesis. Veterinary virology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Leipzig. Available from:

https://portal.dnb.de/opac.htm?method=simpleSearch&cqlMode=true&query=idn% 3D1147708061. [Accessed July 2018].

- Nagy, A., Vostinakova, V., Pirchanova, Z., Cernikova, L., Dirbakova, Z., Mojzis, M., Jirincova, H., Havlickova, M., Dan, A., Ursu, K., Vilcek, S., Hornickova, J., 2010. Development and evaluation of a one-step real-time RT-PCR assay for universal detection of influenza A viruses from avian and mammal species. Arch Virol 155, 665-673.
- Nao, N., Yamagishi, J., Miyamoto, H., Igarashi, M., Manzoor, R., Ohnuma, A., Tsuda, Y.,
   Furuyama, W., Shigeno, A., Kajihara, M., Kishida, N., Yoshida, R., Takada, A., 2017.
   Genetic Predisposition To Acquire a Polybasic Cleavage Site for Highly Pathogenic
   Avian Influenza Virus Hemagglutinin. MBio 8, e02298-02216.
- Napp S, M., Majo, N., Sanchez-Gonzalez, R., Vergara-Alert, J., 2017. Emergence and spread of highly pathogenic avian influenza A (H5N8) in Europe in 2016-2017. Transbound Emerg Dis. 00, 1-10.
- Nayak, D.P., 1969. Influenza virus: structure, replication and defectiveness. Fed Proc 28, 1858-1866.
- Nayak, D.P., Balogun, R.A., Yamada, H., Zhou, Z.H., Barman, S., 2009. Influenza virus morphogenesis and budding. Virus Research 143, 147-161.
- Negovetich, N.J., Feeroz, M.M., Jones-Engel, L., Walker, D., Alam, S.M.R., Hasan, K., Seiler, P., Ferguson, A., Friedman, K., Barman, S., Franks, J., Turner, J., Krauss, S., Webby, R.J., Webster, R.G., 2011. Live Bird Markets of Bangladesh: H9N2 Viruses and the Near Absence of Highly Pathogenic H5N1 Influenza. PLoS One 6, e19311.
- Neumann, G., 2015. H5N1 influenza virulence, pathogenicity and transmissibility: what do we know? Future Virology 10, 971-980.
- Nguyen-Van-Tam, J., Nair, P., Acheson, P., Baker, A., Barker, M., Bracebridge, S., Croft, J., Ellis, J., Gelletlie, R., Gent, N., Ibbotson, S., Joseph, C., Mahgoub, H., Monk, P., Reghitt, TW., Sundkvist, T., Sellwood, C., Simpson, J., Smith, J., Watson, JM., Zambon, M., Lightfoot, N., Incident Response Team, 2006a. Outbreak of low pathogenicity H7N3 avian influenza in UK, including associated case of human conjunctivitis. Euro Surveillance 11, 2952.
- Nguyen-Van-Tam, J.S., 2006b. Influenza related hospital admissions in children: evidence about the burden keeps growing but the route to policy change remains uncertain. Archives of Disease in Childhood 91, 5-7.
- Nickbakhsh, S., Hall, M.D., Dorigatti, I., Lycett, S.J., Mulatti, P., Monne, I., Fusaro, A., Woolhouse, M.E.J., Rambaut, A., Kao, R.R., 2016. Modelling the impact of co-

circulating low pathogenic avian influenza viruses on epidemics of highly pathogenic avian influenza in poultry. Epidemics 17, 27-34.

- O'Neill, R.E., Talon, J., Palese, P., 1998. The influenza virus NEP (NS2 protein) mediates the nuclear export of viral ribonucleoproteins. EMBO J 17, 288-296.
- OFFLU, OIE/FAO 2018. Network of expertise on animal influenza. Influenza A Cleavage sites. Paris/Rome: OIE/FAO. Available from: http://www.offlu.net/fileadmin/home/en/resource-

centre/pdf/Influenza A Cleavage Sites.pdf [Accessed June 2018].

- Ohuchi, M., Orlich, M., Ohuchi, R., Simpson, B.E.J., Garten, W., Klenk, H.D., Rott, R., 1989. Mutations at the Cleavage Site of the Hemagglutinin Alter the Pathogenicity of Influenza Virus-a Chick Penn 83 (H5n2). Virology 168, 274-280.
- OIE, 2015a. AVIAN INFLUENZA (Infection with Avian Influenza Viruses). Available from: https://www.oie.int/fileadmin/Home/eng/Health\_standards/tahm/2.03.04\_AI.pdf. [Accessed August 2018].
- OIE 2017. INFECTION WITH AVIAN INFLUENZA VIRUSES. Available from: http://www.oie.int/fileadmin/Home/eng/Health\_standards/tahc/current/chapitre\_a vian\_influenza\_viruses.pdf [Accessed July 2018].
- OIE, 2018a. Update on avian influenza in animals (types H5 and H7). Available from: http://www.oie.int/en/animal-health-in-the-world/update-on-avian-influenza/2018/ [Accessed August 2018].
- OIE, 2018b. WAHIS portal: Animal Health Data. Available from: http://www.oie.int/en/animal-health-in-the-world/wahis-portal-animal-health-data/ [Accessed August 2018].
- OIE, W.O.f.A.H., 2015b. Avian Influenza. in Manual of diagnostic tests and vaccines for terrestrial animals Paris, France: OIE; Available from: https://www.oie.int/fileadmin/Home/eng/Health standards/tahm/2.03.04 AI.pdf.
- Olsen, B., Munster, V.J., Wallensten, A., Waldenstrom, J., Osterhaus, A.D.M.E., Fouchier, R.A.M., 2006. Global patterns of influenza A virus in wild birds. Science 312, 384-388.
- Orlich, M., Gottwald, H., Rott, R., 1994. Nonhomologous Recombination between the Hemagglutinin Gene and the Nucleoprotein Gene of an Influenza-Virus. Virology 204, 462-465.
- Orlich, M., Khatchikian, D., Teigler, A., Rott, R., 1990. Structural Variation Occurring in the Hemagglutinin of Influenza Virus-a Turkey Oregon 71 during Adaptation to Different Cell-Types. Virology 176, 531-538.
- Oxford J, E.R., Mann A, Lambkin R., 2003. Influenza the chameleon virus. 52-83
- Pantin-Jackwood, M.J., Suarez, D.L., Spackman, E., Swayne, D.E., 2007. Age at infection affects the pathogenicity of Asian highly pathogenic avian influenza H5NI viruses in ducks. Virus Research 130, 151-161.
- Parrish, C.R., Murcia, P.R., Holmes, E.C., 2015. Influenza Virus Reservoirs and Intermediate Hosts: Dogs, Horses, and New Possibilities for Influenza Virus Exposure of Humans. Journal of Virology 89, 2990-2994.
- Pasick, J., Berhane, Y., Hisanaga, T., Kehler, H., Hooper-McGrevy, K., Handel, K., Neufeld, J., Argue, C., Leighton, F., 2010. Diagnostic Test Results and Pathology Associated with the 2007 Canadian H7N3 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Outbreak. Avian Diseases 54, 213-219.
- Pasick, J., Berhane, Y., Joseph, T., Bowes, V., Hisanaga, T., Handel, K., Alexandersen, S., 2015. Reassortant Highly Pathogenic Influenza A H5N2 Virus Containing Gene Segments

Related to Eurasian H5N8 in British Columbia, Canada, 2014. Scientific Reports 5, 9484.

- Pasick, J., Handel, K., Robinson, J., Copps, J., Ridd, D., Hills, K., Kehler, H., Cottam-Birt, C., Neufeld, J., Berhane, Y., Czub, S., 2005. Intersegmental recombination between the haemagglutinin and matrix genes was responsible for the emergence of a highly pathogenic H7N3 avian influenza virus in British Columbia. Journal of General Virology 86, 727-731.
- Peiris, J.S.M., Cowling, B.J., Wu, J.T., Feng, L.Z., Guan, Y., Yu, H.J., Leung, G.M., 2016. Interventions to reduce zoonotic and pandemic risks from avian influenza in Asia. Lancet Infectious Diseases 16, 252-258.
- Peiris, J.S.M., de Jong, M.D., Guan, Y., 2007. Avian influenza virus (H5N1): a threat to human health. Clinical Microbiology Reviews 20, 243-267.
- Perdue, M.L., Crawford, J., Garcia, M., Latimer, J.E., Swayne, D., 2003. Occurrence and Possible Mechanisms of Cleavage-Site Insertions in the Avian Influenza Hemagglutinin Gene. Avian Diseases 47, 182-193.
- Perdue, M.L., Garcia, M., Senne, D., 1997. Virulence-associated sequence duplication at the hemagglutinin cleavage site of avian influenza viruses. Virus Research 49, 173-186.
- Perdue, M.L., Wainright, P., Palmieri, S., Brugh, M., 1989. In Ovo Competition between Distinct Virus Populations in an Avian Influenza Isolate. Avian Diseases 33, 695-706.
- Perdue, M.L., Wainright, P.O., Brugh, M., 1990. Effects of Chicken-Embryo Age on Time to Death Following Infection by Avian Influenza-Viruses - Implications for Distinguishing Highly Pathogenic Isolates. Virus Research 16, 137-152.
- Perkins, L.E.L., Swayne, D.E., 2003. Comparative susceptibility of selected avian and mammalian species to a Hong Kong-origin H5N1 high-pathogenicity avian influenza virus. Avian Diseases 47, 956-967.
- Perroncito, C.E., 1878. Typhoid epizootic in gallinaceous birds.(Epizoozia tifoide nei gallinacei). Torino: Ann. Accad. . Agricol. 21, 87–126.
- Pohlmann, A., Starick, E., Harder, T., Grund, C., Höper, D., Globig, A., Staubach, C., Dietze, K., Strebelow, G., Ulrich, R.G., Schinkothe, J., Teifke, J.P., Conraths, F.J., Mettenleiter, T.C., Beer, M., 2017. Outbreaks among Wild Birds and Domestic Poultry Caused by Reassorted Influenza A(H5N8) Clade 2.3.4.4 Viruses, Germany, 2016. Emerg Infect Dis 23, 633-636.
- Post, J., Peeters, B., Cornelissen, J.B.W.J., Vervelde, L., Rebel, J.M.J., 2013. Contribution of the NS1 Gene of H7 Avian Influenza Virus Strains to Pathogenicity in Chickens. Viral Immunology 26, 396-403.
- Presti, R.M., Zhao, G.Y., Beatty, W.L., Mihindukulasuriya, K.A., da Rosa, A.P.A.T., Popov, V.L., Tesh, R.B., Virgin, H.W., Wang, D., 2009. Quaranfil, Johnston Atoll, and Lake Chad Viruses Are Novel Members of the Family Orthomyxoviridae. Journal of Virology 83, 11599-11606.
- Puzelli, S., Di Trani, L., Fabiani, C., Campitelli, L., De Marco, M.A., Capua, I., Aguilera, J.F., Zambon, M., Donatelli, I., 2005. Serological analysis of serum samples from humans exposed to Avian H7 influenza viruses in Italy between 1999 and 2003. Journal of Infectious Diseases 192, 1318-1322.
- Puzelli, S., Di Trani, L., Fabiani, C., Campitelli, L., De Marco, M.A., Capua, I., Aguilera, J.F., Zambon, M., Donatelli, I., 2006. Human illness and isolation of low-pathogenicity avian influenza virus of the H7N3 subtype in British Columbia, Canada - Reply. Journal of Infectious Diseases 193, 900-901.

- Puzelli, S., Rizzo, C., Fabiani, C., Facchini, M., Gaibani, P., Landini, M.P., Gagliotti, C., Moro, M.L., Rangoni, R., Piccolomini, L.L., Finarelli, A.C., Tamba, M., Rezza, G., Declich, S., Donatelli, I., Castrucci, M.R., 2016. Influenza A (H7N7) Virus among Poultry Workers, Italy, 2013. Emerg Infect Dis 22, 1512-1513.
- Puzelli, S., Rossini, G., Facchini, M., Vaccari, G., Di Trani, L., Di Martino, A., Gaibani, P.,
  Vocale, C., Cattoli, G., Bennett, M., McCauley, J.W., Rezza, G., Moro, M.L., Rangoni,
  R., Finarelli, A.C., Landini, M.P., Castrucci, M.R., Donatelli, I., Force, I.T., 2014. Human
  Infection with Highly Pathogenic A(H7N7) Avian Influenza Virus, Italy, 2013. Emerg
  Infect Dis 20, 1745-1749.

RG., W., WG., L., 1975. Chapter: Antigenic variation of influenza viruses. In: Kilbourne, ED. The influenza viruses and influenza. Academic Press

Academic Press.

- Richard, M., Fouchier, R., Monne, I., Kuiken, T., 2017. Mechanisms and risk factors for mutation from low to highly pathogenic avian influenza virus. Available from: https://efsa.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.2903/sp.efsa.2017.EN-1287. [Accessed August 2018].
- Rohm, C., Horimoto, T., Kawaoka, Y., Suss, J., Webster, R.G., 1995. Do Hemagglutinin Genes of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza-Viruses Constitute Unique Phylogenetic Lineages. Virology 209, 664-670.
- Rohm, C., Zhou, N.A., Suss, J.C., Mackenzie, J., Webster, R.G., 1996. Characterization of a novel influenza hemagglutinin, H15: Criteria for determination of influenza a subtypes. Virology 217, 508-516.
- Rojas, H., Moreira, R., Avalos, P., Capua, I., Marangon, S., 2002. Avian influenza in poultry in Chile. Veterinary Record 151, 188-188.
- Rossman, J.S., Lamb, R.A., 2011. Influenza virus assembly and budding. Virology 411, 229-236.
- Rott, R., 1992. The Pathogenic Determinant of Influenza-Virus. Vet Microbiol 33, 303-310.
- Rott, R., Reinacher, M., Orlich, M., Klenk, H.D., 1980. Cleavability of hemagglutinin determines spread of avian influenza viruses in the chorioallantoic membrane of chicken embryo. Arch Virol 65 123-133.
- Rüsse, I., 1991. Fruchthüllen des Vogels. Lehrbuch der Embryologie der Haustiere. 204-218.
- Samji, T., 2009. Influenza A: understanding the viral life cycle. . Yale J Biol Med 82, 153-159.
- Samy, A., Naguib, M., 2018. Avian Respiratory Coinfection and Impact on Avian Influenza Pathogenicity in Domestic Poultry: Field and Experimental Findings. Veterinary Sciences. 5, 23.
- Schäfer, W., 1955. Vergleichende sero-immunologische Untersuchungen über die Viren der Influenza und klassischen Geflügelpest. Zeitschrift Fur Naturforschung Part B-Chemie Biochemie Biophysik Biologie Und Verwandten Gebiete 10, 81-91.
- Scholtissek, C., 1990. Pigs as 'mixing vessels' for the creation of new pandemic influenza A viruses. Medical Principles and Practice 2, 65-71.
- Scholtissek, C., 1995. Molecular evolution of influenza viruses. Virus genes 11, 209-215.
- Schrauwen, E.J.A., Bestebroer, T.M., Munster, V.J., de Wit, E., Herfst, S., Rimmelzwaan, G.F., Osterhaus, A.D.M.E., Fouchier, R.A.M., 2011. Insertion of a multibasic cleavage site in the haemagglutinin of human influenza H3N2 virus does not increase pathogenicity in ferrets. Journal of General Virology 92, 1410-1415.
- Schrauwen, E.J.A., Fouchier, R.A.M., 2014. Host adaptation and transmission of influenza A viruses in mammals. Emerging Microbes & Infections 3, e9.

Seekings, A.H., 2017. Emergence of H7 highly pathogenic avian influenza virus from low pathogenicity avian influenza virus. PhD thesis. Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, Imperial College London. Available from: http://hdl.handle.net/10044/1/52910 [Accessed July 2018].

- Seekings, A.H., Slomka, M.J., Russell, C., Howard, W., A., Choudhury, B., Nuñéz, A., Löndt,
  B.Z., Cox, W., Ceeraz, V., Thorén, P., Irvine, R.M., Manvell, R.J., Banks, J., Brown, I.H.,
  2018. Direct evidence of H7N7 avian influenza virus mutation from low to high
  virulence on a single poultry premises during an outbreak in free range chickens in
  the UK, 2008. Infection, Genetics and Evolution 5, 13-31.
- Selman, M., Dankar, S.K., Forbes, N.E., Jia, J.J., Brown, E.G., 2012. Adaptive mutation in influenza A virus non-structural gene is linked to host switching and induces a novel protein by alternative splicing. Emerging Microbes and Infections 1, e42.
- Seo, S.H., Hoffmann, E., Webster, R.G., 2012. Editorial note: Lethal H5N1 influenza viruses escape host antiviral cytokine responses (vol 8, pg 950, 2002). Nature Medicine 18, 1592-1592.
- Seo, S.H., Webster, R.G., 2001a. Cross-reactive, cell-mediated immunity and protection of chickens from lethal H5N1 influenza virus infection in Hong Kong poultry markets. Journal of Virology 75, 2516-2525.
- Seo, S.H., Webster, R.G., 2001b. Cross-reactive, cell-mediated immunity and protection of chickens from lethal H5N1 influenza virus infection in Hong Kong poultry markets. Journal of Virology 75, 2516-2525.
- Shao, W.H., Li, X.X., Goraya, M.U., Wang, S., Chen, J.L., 2017. Evolution of Influenza A Virus by Mutation and Re-Assortment. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 18, 1650.
- Shi, J.Z., Deng, G.H., Kong, H.H., Gu, C.Y., Ma, S.J., Yin, X., Zeng, X.Y., Cui, P.F., Chen, Y., Yang, H.L., Wan, X.P., Wang, X.R., Liu, L.L., Chen, P.C., Jiang, Y.P., Liu, J.X., Guan, Y.T., Suzuki, Y., Li, M., Qu, Z.Y., Guan, L.Z., Zang, J.K., Gu, W.L., Han, S.U., Song, Y.M., Hu, Y.Z., Wang, Z., Gu, L.L., Yang, W.Y., Liang, L.B., Bao, H.M., Tian, G.B., Li, Y.B., Qiao, C.L., Jiang, L., Li, C.J., Bu, Z.G., Chen, H.L., 2017. H7N9 virulent mutants detected in chickens in China pose an increased threat to humans. Cell Research 27, 1409-1421.
- Shinya, K., Ebina, M., Yamada, S., Ono, M., Kasai, N., Kawaoka, Y., 2006. Avian flu: Influenza virus receptors in the human airway. Nature 440, 435-436.
- Shortridge, K.F., Zhou, N.N., Guan, Y., Gao, P., Ito, T., Kawaoka, Y., Kodihalli, S., Krauss, S., Markwell, D., Murti, K.G., Norwood, M., Senne, D., Sims, L., Takada, A., Webster, R.G., 1998. Characterization of avian H5N1 influenza viruses from poultry in Hong Kong. Virology 252, 331-342.
- Smith, G.J.D., Donis, R.O., World, W.H.O., 2015. Nomenclature updates resulting from the evolution of avian influenza A(H5) virus clades 2.1.3.2a, 2.2.1, and 2.3.4 during 2013-2014. Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses 9, 271-276.
- Soda, K., Asakura, S., Okamatsu, M., Sakoda, Y., Kida, H., 2011a. H9N2 influenza virus acquires intravenous pathogenicity on the introduction of a pair of di-basic amino acid residues at the cleavage site of the hemagglutinin and consecutive passages in chickens. Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses 5, 272-276.
- Soda, K., Cheng, M.C., Yoshida, H., Endo, M., Lee, S.H., Okamatsu, M., Sakoda, Y., Wang, C.H., Kida, H., 2011b. A Low Pathogenic H5N2 Influenza Virus Isolated in Taiwan Acquired High Pathogenicity by Consecutive Passages in Chickens. Journal of Veterinary Medical Science 73, 767-772.

Sommer, D., U., H.-R., Köhler, K., Lierz, M., Kaleta, E., 2016. Role of the poultry red mite (Dermanyssus gallinae) in the transmission of avian influenza A virus .Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26830386 [Accessed August 2018].

- Spackman, E., 2008. A brief introduction to the avian influenza virus. Methods Mol Biol. 436, 1–6.
- Spackman, E., Senne, D.A., Davison, S., Suarez, D.L., 2003. Sequence analysis of recent H7 avian influenza viruses associated with three different outbreaks in commercial poultry in the United States. Journal of Virology 77, 13399-13402.
- Stech, O., Veits, J., Weber, S., Deckers, D., Schroer, D., Vahlenkamp, T.W., Breithaupt, A., Teifke, J., Mettenleiter, T.C., Stech, J., 2009. Acquisition of a Polybasic Hemagglutinin Cleavage Site by a Low-Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus Is Not Sufficient for Immediate Transformation into a Highly Pathogenic Strain. Journal of Virology 83, 5864-5868.
- Steel, J., Lowen, A.C., 2014. Influenza A Virus Reassortment. Influenza Pathogenesis and Control - Vol I 385, 377-401.
- Steinhauer, D.A., 1999. Role of hemagglutinin cleavage for the pathogenicity of influenza virus. Virology 258, 1-20.
- Stienekegrober, A., Vey, M., Angliker, H., Shaw, E., Thomas, G., Roberts, C., Klenk, H.D., Garten, W., 1992. Influenza-Virus Hemagglutinin with Multibasic Cleavage Site Is Activated by Furin, a Subtilisin-Like Endoprotease. Embo Journal 11, 2407-2414.
- Sturm-Ramirez, K.M., Ellis, T., Bousfield, B., Bissett, L., Dyrting, K., Rehg, J.E., Poon, L., Guan,
  Y., Peiris, M., Webster, R.G., 2004. Reemerging H5N1 influenza viruses in Hong Kong in 2002 are highly pathogenic to ducks. Journal of Virology 78, 4892-4901.
- Su, S., Gu, M., Liu, D., Cui, J., Gao, G.F., Zhou, J.Y., Liu, X.F., 2017. Epidemiology, Evolution, and Pathogenesis of H7N9 Influenza Viruses in Five Epidemic Waves since 2013 in China. Trends in Microbiology 25, 713-728.
- Suarez, D.L. 2016. Influenza A virus, In: Swayne, D.E. (Ed.) Animal Influenza. Chapter 1, Common aspects of animal influenza.
- Suarez, D.L., Senne, D.A., 2000. Sequence analysis of related low-pathogenic and highly pathogenic H5N2 avian influenza isolates from United States live bird markets and poultry farms from 1983 to 1989. Avian Diseases 44, 356-364.
- Suarez, D.L., Senne, D.A., Banks, J., Brown, I.H., Essen, S.C., Lee, C.W., Manvell, R.J., Mathieu-Benson, C., Moreno, V., Pedersen, J.C., Panigrahy, B., Rojas, H., Spackman, E., Alexander, D.J., 2004. Recombination resulting in virulence shift in avian influenza outbreak, Chile. Emerg Infect Dis 10, 693-699.
- Sun, Y.P., Liu, J.H., 2015. H9N2 influenza virus in China: a cause of concern. Protein & Cell 6, 18-25.
- Swayne, D.E., unkown. Avian Influenza: HPAI Outbreaks and Control Methods. Available from:
  - https://www.aphis.usda.gov/animal\_health/vet\_biologics/publications/Public%20Me eting%202008/Swayne,%20AI%20vaccines%20CVB%204-2008.pdf [Accessed: August 2018].
- Swayne, D.E., Suarez, D.L., 2000. Highly pathogenic avian influenza. Revue Scientifique Et Technique De L Office International Des Epizooties 19, 463-482.
- Swieton, E., Jozwiak, M., Minta, Z., Semietanka, K., 2018. Genetic characterization of H9N2 avian influenza viruses isolated from poultry in Poland during 2013/2014. Virus Genes 54, 67-76.

- Tanikawa, T., Uchida, Y., Saito, T., 2017. Replication of a low-pathogenic avian influenza virus is enhanced by chicken ubiquitin-specific protease 18. Journal of General Virology 98, 2235-2247.
- Taubenberger, J.K., Morens, D.M., 2009. Pandemic influenza including a risk assessment of H5N1. Revue Scientifique Et Technique-Office International Des Epizooties 28, 187-202.
- Thomas, J.K., Noppenberger, J., 2007. Avian influenza: A review. American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy 64, 149-165.
- To, K.K.W., Ng, K.H.L., Que, T.L., Chan, J.M.C., Tsang, K.Y., Tsang, A.K.L., Chen, H.L., Yuen, K.Y., 2012. Avian influenza A H5N1 virus: a continuous threat to humans. Emerging Microbes & Infections 1, e25.
- Tong, S., Zhu, X., Li, Y., Shi, M., Zhang, J., Bourgeois, M., Yang, H., Chen, X., Recuenco, S.,
  Gomez, J., Chen, L.M., Johnson, A., Tao, Y., Dreyfus, C., Yu, W., McBride, R., Carney,
  P.J., Gilbert, A.T., Chang, J., Guo, Z., Davis, C.T., Paulson, J.C., Stevens, J., Rupprecht,
  C.E., Holmes, E.C., Wilson, I.A., Donis, R.O., 2013a. New world bats harbor diverse
  influenza A viruses. PLoS Pathog 9, e1003657.
- Tong, S.X., Zhu, X.Y., Li, Y., Shi, M., Zhang, J., Bourgeois, M., Yang, H., Chen, X.F., Recuenco, S., Gomez, J., Chen, L.M., Johnson, A., Tao, Y., Dreyfus, C., Yu, W.L., McBride, R., Carney, P.J., Gilbert, A.T., Chang, J., Guo, Z., Davis, C.T., Paulson, J.C., Stevens, J., Rupprecht, C.E., Holmes, E.C., Wilson, I.A., Donis, R.O., 2013b. New World Bats Harbor Diverse Influenza A Viruses. Plos Pathogens 9, e1003657.
- Turrell, L., Lyall, J.W., Tiley, L.S., Fodor, E., Vreede, F.T., 2013. The role and assembly mechanism of nucleoprotein in influenza A virus ribonucleoprotein complexes. Nature Communications 4, 1591.
- Uchida, Y., Takemae, N., Tanikawa, T., Kanehira, K., Saito, T., 2016. Transmission of an H5N8-Subtype Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus from Infected Hens to Laid Eggs. Avian Diseases 60, 450-453.
- Umar, S., Guerin, J.L., Ducatez, M.F., 2017. Low Pathogenic Avian Influenza and Coinfecting Pathogens: A Review of Experimental Infections in Avian Models. Avian disesaes 61, 3-15.
- Van Borm, S., Jonges, M., Lambrecht, B., Koch, G., Houdart, P., van den Berg, T., 2014.
   Molecular Epidemiological Analysis of the Transboundary Transmission of 2003
   Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza H7N7 Outbreaks Between The Netherlands and
   Belgium. Transbound Emerg Dis 61, 86-90.
- van den Brand, J.M.A., Krone, O., Wolf, P.U., van de Bildt, M.W.G., van Amerongen, G., Osterhaus, A.D.M.E., Kuiken, T., 2015. Host-specific exposure and fatal neurologic disease in wild raptors from highly pathogenic avian influenza virus H5N1 during the 2006 outbreak in Germany. Veterinary Research 46, 24.
- van den Brand, J.M.A., Verhagen, J.H., Kroeze, E.J.B.V., van de Bildt, M.W.G., Bodewes, R., Herfst, S., Richard, M., Lexmond, P., Bestebroer, T.M., Fouchier, R.A.M., Kuiken, T., 2018. Wild ducks excrete highly pathogenic avian influenza virus H5N8 (2014-2015) without clinical or pathological evidence of disease. Emerging Microbes and Infections 7, 67.
- Van den Hoecke, S., Verhelst, J., Vuylsteke, M., Saelens, X., 2015. Analysis of the genetic diversity of influenza A viruses using next-generation DNA sequencing. Bmc Genomics 16, 79.

- Van der Goot, J.A., De Jong, M.C.M., Koch, G., Van Boven, M., 2003. Comparison of the transmission characteristics of low and high pathogenicity avian influenza A virus (H5N2). Epidemiology and Infection 131, 1003-1013.
- van der Goot, J.A., Koch, G., de Jong, M.C.M., van Boven, M., 2005. Quantification of the effect of vaccination on transmission of avian influenza (H7N7) in chickens. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102, 18141-18146.
- Vandegrift, K.J., Sokolow, S.H., Daszak, P., Kilpatrick, A.M., 2010. Ecology of avian influenza viruses in a changing world. Year in Ecology and Conservation Biology 2010 1195, 113-128.
- Veit, M., Thaa, B., 2011. Association of Influenza Virus Proteins with Membrane Rafts. Advances in Virology 2011, 14.
- Veits, J., Weber, S., Stech, O., Breithaupt, A., Graber, M., Gohrbandt, S., Bogs, J., Hundt, J., Teifke, J.P., Mettenleiter, T.C., Stech, J., 2012. Avian influenza virus hemagglutinins H2, H4, H8, and H14 support a highly pathogenic phenotype. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 109, 2579-2584.
- Viruses, T.G.C.f.H.N.a.R.I., 2016. Role for migratory wild birds in the global spread of avian influenza H5N8. Science 354, 213-217.
- Wagner, R., Matrosovich, M., Klenk, H.D., 2002. Functional balance between haemagglutinin and neuraminidase in influenza virus infections. Reviews in Medical Virology 12, 159-166.
- Wan, H., Perez, D.R., 2007. Amino acid 226 in the hemagglutinin of H9N2 influenza viruses determines cell tropism and replication in human airway epithelial cells. Journal of Virology 81, 5181-5191.
- Wang, Z.F., Robb, N.C., Lenz, E., Wolff, T., Fodor, E., Pleschka, S., 2010. NS Reassortment of an H7-Type Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus Affects Its Propagation by Altering the Regulation of Viral RNA Production and Antiviral Host Response. Journal of Virology 84, 11323-11335.
- Watanabe, Y., Ibrahim, M.S., Ellakany, H.F., Kawashita, N., Mizuike, R., Hiramatsu, H.,
   Sriwilaijaroen, N., Takagi, T., Suzuki, Y., Ikuta, K., 2011. Acquisition of Human-Type
   Receptor Binding Specificity by New H5N1 Influenza Virus Sublineages during Their
   Emergence in Birds in Egypt. Plos Pathogens 7, e1002068.
- Webster, R.G., Bean, W.J., Gorman, O.T., Chambers, T.M., Kawaoka, Y., 1992a. Evolution and Ecology of Influenza-a Viruses. Microbiological Reviews 56, 152-179.
- Webster, R.G., Bean, W.J., Gorman, O.T., Chambers, T.M., Kawaoka, Y., 1992b. Evolution and ecology of influenza A viruses. Microbiological Reviews 56, 152-179.
- Wei, S.H., Yang, J.R., Wu, H.S., 2013. Human infection with avian influenza A H6N1 virus: an epidemiological analysis (vol 1, pg 771, 2013). Lancet Respiratory Medicine 1, 761-761.
- Werner, O., Harder, T.C. . 2006. Chapter 2: Avian Influenza, In: Kamps, B.S., Hoffmann, C., Preiser, W. (Ed.) Influenza Report 2006. Flying Publisher, http://www.influenzareport.com.
- WHO 2018a. Antigenic and genetic characteristics of zoonotic influenza viruses and development of candidate vaccine viruses for pandemic preparedness. Available from: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/272271/WER9312-142-152.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y&ua=1 WEEKLY EPIDEMIOLOGICAL RECORD, NO 12. [Accessed August 2018].

WHO 2018b. Cumulative Number of confirmed human cases for avian Influenza A (H5N1) reported to WHO, 2003-2018. Available from:

http://www.who.int/influenza/human\_animal\_interface/2018\_05\_28\_tableH5N1.pd f?ua=1 . [Accessed August 2018 ].

WHO 2018c. Influenza at the human-animal interface. Summary and assessment. Available from:

http://www.who.int/influenza/human\_animal\_interface/Influenza\_Summary\_IRA\_H A\_interface\_12\_07\_2017.pdf. [Accessed August 2018].

- Wilks, S., de Graaf, M., Smith, D.J., Burke, D.F., 2012. A review of influenza haemagglutinin receptor binding as it relates to pandemic properties. Vaccine 30, 4369-4376.
- Wong, F.Y.K., Phommachanh, P., Kalpravidh, W., Chanthavisouk, C., Gilbert, J., Bingham, J., Davies, K.R., Cooke, J., Eagles, D., Phiphakhavong, S., Shan, S.H., Stevens, V., Williams, D.T., Bounma, P., Khambounheuang, B., Morrissy, C., Douangngeun, B., Morzaria, S., 2015. Reassortant Highly Pathogenic Influenza A(H5N6) Virus in Laos. Emerg Infect Dis 21, 511-516.
- Wong, S.S.Y., Yuen, K., 2006. Avian influenza virus infections in humans. Chest 129, 156-168.
- Wood, G.W., Banks, J., Strong, I., Parsons, G., Alexander, D.J., 1996. An avian influenza virus of H10 subtype that is highly pathogenic for chickens, but lacks multiple basic amino acids at the haemagglutinin cleavage site. Avian Pathology 25, 799-806.
- Wood JM, W.R., Nettles VF, 1985. Host range of A/Chicken/Pennsylvania/83 (H5N2) influenza virus. Avian Dis. 29(1), 198-207.
- Wu, H.B., Lu, R.F., Peng, X.R., Xu, L.H., Cheng, L.F., Lu, X.Y., Jin, C.Z., Xie, T.S., Yao, H.P., Wu, N.P., 2015. Novel reassortant highly pathogenic H5N6 avian influenza viruses in poultry in China. Infection Genetics and Evolution 31, 64-67.
- Yamamoto, Y., Nakamura, K., Mase, M., 2017. Survival of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza H5N1 Virus in Tissues Derived from Experimentally Infected Chickens. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 83, e00604-00617.
- Yamamoto, Y., Nakamura, K., Okamatsu, M., Yamada, M., Mase, M., 2008. Avian influenza virus (H5N1) replication in feathers of domestic waterfowl. Emerg Infect Dis 14, 149-151.
- Yamayoshi, S., Fukuyama, S., Yamada, S., Zhao, D.M., Murakami, S., Uraki, R., Watanabe, T., Tomita, Y., Neumann, G., Kawaoka, Y., 2015. Amino acids substitutions in the PB2 protein of H7N9 influenza A viruses are important for virulence in mammalian hosts. Scientific Reports 5, 8039.
- Yan, Z.Q., Li, H.Y., Chen, F., 2014. Novel Influenza A (H6N1) Virus That Infected a Person in Taiwan. Iranian Journal of Public Health 43, 1582-1584.
- Yasuda, J., Nakada, S., Kato, A., Toyoda, T., Ishihama, A., 1993. Molecular Assembly of Influenza-Virus - Association of the Ns2 Protein with Virion Matrix. Virology 196, 249-255.
- Yoon, S.W., Webby, R.J., Webster, R.G., 2014. Evolution and ecology of influenza A viruses. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 385, 359-375.
- Zanin, M., Kocer, Z.A., Poulson, R.L., Gabbard, J.D., Howerth, E.W., Jones, C.A., Friedman, K., Seiler, J., Danner, A., Kercher, L., McBride, R., Paulson, J.C., Wentworth, D.E., Krauss, S., Tompkins, S.M., Stallknecht, D.E., Webster, R.G., 2017. Potential for Low-Pathogenic Avian H7 Influenza A Viruses To Replicate and Cause Disease in a Mammalian Model. Journal of Virology 91, e01934-01916.

Zarkov, I.S., 2006. Studies upon the possibilities of avian influenza viruses' cultivation in chick embryos at different age. Bulgarian Journal of Veterinary Medicine 9, 43-49.

Zhao, H.J., Zhou, J., Jiang, S.B., Zheng, B.J., 2013. Receptor binding and transmission studies of H5N1 influenza virus in mammals. Emerging Microbes & Infections 2, e85.

## CHAPTER IX: SUPPLEMENT

### IX. SUPPLEMENT

#### **1. LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS**

Aa	Amino acid
AI	Avian influenza
AIV	Avian influenza virus
BLAST	Basic local alignment search tool
cRNA	complementary ribonucleic acid
CPSF30	Cleavage and polyadenylation specificity factor 30
CS	Cleavage site
Ct	Cycle threshold
Cq	Cyle of quantification
ds	double-stranded
Dpi	Days post infection
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ECE	Embryonated chicken egg
EFE	Embryonated fowl egg
EID50	50% egg infectious dose
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
FLI	Friedrich-Loeffler-Institute
GISAID	Global initiative on sharing all influenza data
Gs/GD	Goose/Guangdong
НА	Hemagglutinin
HACS	Hemagglutinin cleavage site
HAU	Hemagglutinating units
ні	Hemagglutinin inhibition assay
HP	Highly pathogenic
HPAI	High pathogenic avian influenza
HPAIV	High pathogenic avian influenza virus
Нрі	Hours post infection
IAV	Influenza A virus

IHC	Immunohistochemistry
IVPI	Intravenous pathogenicity index
К	Lysine
Кbp	Kilo base pair
LBM	Live bird market
LP	Low pathogenic
LPAI	Low pathogenic avian influenza
LPAIV	Low pathogenic avian influenza virus
М	Matrix gene
MB	Multi-basic
MBCS	Multi-basic cleavage site
MDT	Mean death time
mRNA	messenger RNA
NA	Neuraminidase
NCBI	National center for biotechnology
NEP	Nuclear export protein
NGS	Next generation sequencing
NP	Nucleoprotein
NS	Non-structural protein
Nt	Nucleotide
2´-5´OAS	2'-5' oligoadenylate synthetase
OFFLU	OIE/FAO Influenza Network
OIE	World Organization for Animal Health
PA	Polymerase acidic protein
PABPII	polyadenine binding protein II
PB1	Polymerase basic-1 protein
PB2	Polymerase basic-2 protein
PBS	Phosphate buffer saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
R	Arginine
RIG-I	Retinoic acid-inducible gene I

RBD	Receptor binding domain
RBS	Receptor binding site
RdRp	RNA-dependent RNA-polymerase
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNP	Ribonucleoprotein
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RT-qPCR	Quantitative real time RT-PCR
SA	Sialic acid
SBCS	Single basic cleavage site
SPF	Specific pathogen free
SS	single-stranded
TCID	Tissue culture infectious dose
vRNA	viral ribonucleic acid
vRNP	viral ribonucleoprotein
WHO	World Health Organization

#### 2. LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 – The structure of influenza A virus	8
Figure 2 – Structure of the hemagglutinin monomer or trimer	11
Figure 3 – Geographic distribution of highly pathogenic avian influenza H5 and H	7 outbreaks
among poultry and wild birds in 2017	19
Figure 4 – Hemagglutinin cleavage sites of LP and HPAIV subtypes H7 and H5	28

#### 3. LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 – The gene segments of avian influenza virus and their encoded proteins	13
Table 2 – Outbreaks in poultry of subtype H7 avian influenza viruses of low (LP) a	and high
pathogenicity in Europe, 1999–2016	22
Table 3 – Naturally occurring HPAIV emergence from a known LPAIV	32

#### 4. PERMISSIONS FOR REPRODUCTION

Figure 1 – A letter of permission for reproduction was obtained from the Copyright Clearance Center's RightsLink<sup>®</sup> service.

Figure 2 – The article published in this thesis are distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-commercial License 2.0 which permits any non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/2.0/).

# CHAPTER X: ACKNOWLEDGMENT

#### X. ACKNOWLEDGMENT

#### DANKSAGUNG

Herrn Prof. Dr. Gerd Sutter und den Gutachtern möchte ich allen voran für die Beurteilung dieser Arbeit danken.

Vielen Dank an meinen Mentor Herrn Prof Dr. Martin Beer für die Ermöglichung, meine Dissertation am Institut für Virusdiagnostik zu erarbeiten. Danke für das geduldige Lesen und die konstruktiven Kommentare zu den Manuskripten und dieser Arbeit.

Mein besonders herzlicher Dank gilt Herrn Prof Dr. Timm Harder, der mich im Al-Labor stets geduldig in die Forschungsarbeit eingeführt hat. Vielen Dank für das Korrigieren der Manuskripte, die Ratschläge in allen Fragen; den Optimismus in Zeiten, in denen nicht alles nach Plan lief – und nicht zuletzt auch für seine unermüdliche, immerwährende Unterstützung bei der Fertigstellung dieser Arbeit.

Besonders bedanken möchte ich mich auch bei Aline Maksimov, Diana Parlow und Dr. Mahmoud Mohamed Naguib. Vielen Dank für eure zuverlässige, beratende und stets geduldige Unterstützung bei der täglichen Laborarbeit und die herzliche Atmosphäre im Al-Labor.

Ein weiterer herzlicher Dank geht an alle Tierpfleger des FLI sowie PD Dr. Christian Grund für das geduldige Beantworten meiner organisatorischen Fragen rund um die Tierversuche und die Mithilfe im Stall.

Bedanken möchte ich mich auch bei allen Ko-Autoren, die an dieser Arbeit beteiligt waren.

Und nicht zuletzt: mein besonderer Dank gilt meinen Freunden und meiner Familie, insbesondere meinen Eltern & meiner Schwester für Ihre immerwährende Unterstützung in jeglicher Hinsicht, ihr Vertrauen in mich und ihren dauerhaften Rückhalt sowohl während des Studiums als auch bei der Anfertigung dieser Arbeit.